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Chapter One
Introduction

WHY NEGOTIATION?

Since World War Two, there has been a global trend of increasing political
activism of indigenous peoples. This resurgence has sustained an impor-
tant dialogue in the post-war global rights revolution! that explores the
tensions inherent in the recognition by liberal individualist states of the
collective rights of indigenous peoples to self-determination. At the core
of this resurgence, there is a demand for a decolonization of relations
between indigenous peoples, the “nations within,” and settler states. The
global narrative in this decolonization of relations is to achieve an inter-
nal reconfiguration of power where collective rights of indigenous peoples
are recognized and given force within philosophical and legal regimes that
give normative priority to individual rights.

At the heart of indigenous grievances, there is a call for a reallocation
of power on the basis of collective rights. These grievances must be put in
real world terms, in the form of political demands that can at once mobi-
lize indigenous energies and be processed and understood within the real
world political context. This requires policy demands that are actionable.
The challenge for indigenous activism is to operationalize a demand for
power sharing and a recognition of collective rights that simultaneously
mobilize indigenous peoples and elicit a supportive (or at least benign)
response from the broader society. This challenge is to move demands
from the lofty realm of political theory to the grubby world of policy.
How these narratives are told is not without consequence. Care must be
taken in how claims are packaged, since “whatever else might be said
about the character of indigenous rights, they are ‘mediated rights’: the
recognition of indigenous interests in land as legal or political rights inevi-
tably transforms those interests.”? The challenge for indigenous activists
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is to make an actionable claim for recognition to governments in the form
of a reasonable policy alternative that the state can understand, digest,
accept, and institute.

In this study, I focus on how policy-makers respond to the critical
actionable demand made by indigenous peoples worldwide to recognize
their land rights and resolve their land claims. These are claims regarding
both historical dispossession and continuing land ownership and use. This
study asks the following question: Why do governments choose to negoti-
ate land claims rather than resolve claims through some other means? In
this study, I am not concerned with why a government might choose to
negotiate one claim at a given time. Rather, I am interested in exploring
why a government would choose to implement a negotiation policy, com-
mitting itself to a long-run strategy of negotiation over a number of claims
and over a significant course of time. Answering this question requires an
analysis of policy options open to a government at a given opportunity
and of the conditions which facilitate or mitigate its choice to negotiate.
This study examines the emergence of a particular type of policy response
and the institutions that support it.

Why is the negotiation outcome interesting? If policy-makers are to
choose a negotiation policy, they must reach two prior conclusions: 1) that
they will recognize indigenous special land and political rights claims by
enshrining the principle of indigenous consent in the policy process, and
2) that policy-makers will not divorce themselves politically from the out-
comes of negotiation by delegating their decision-making power to another
party. To negotiate is to recognize collective rights while inviting possible
blame for policy outcomes that will likely prove unpopular. Therefore,
negotiation is actually a politically risky strategy. After all, “ . . . indige-
nous peoples’ claims to continued sovereignty over their territories question
the source and legitimacy of state authority.”® To some degree, engaging in
a negotiation process legitimizes the claim that the authority of the state
rests on shaky ground, and opens up the Pandora’s Box of historical wrongs
perhaps best left undisturbed. In other respects, policy-makers’ usual pay-
offs for engaging with social groups are arguably too minimal to be worth
the potential costs: little opportunity to win over a significant set of voters
in return for some risk of electoral backlash, and a high risk of creating
uncertainty among well-entrenched property interests over the ability of the
state to act as their guarantor.

To understand what drives policy-makers to the negotiating table, I
base my analysis on its normative underpinnings. The recognition of indig-
enous collective rights, at the heart of the negotiation choice, challenges
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deeply held notions of national citizenship. The western liberal ideal
has been that all citizens in a political community should be equal mem-
bers of that community, where equality is defined by a common par-
cel of rights which every citizen shares. At any given point in time, the
story of indigenous land claims shows that policy responses are reflec-
tions of how government actors believe aboriginal people and the rights
they claim can fit within a national dialogue on citizenship. In discussing
land claims, policy-makers stake out the conditions under which collec-
tive cultural or property rights can coexist within a national citizenship
regime. The key to understanding the emergence of negotiation policies
is to trace the factors that push and prod this dialogue about citizenship
within governments.

In this study, I lay out policy-makers’ conceptual frameworks, and
I examine how their predispositions on the issues of civilization and citi-
zenship color their evaluations of a negotiation policy’s political accept-
ability and administrative feasibility. This focuses on whether and how
policy-makers’ conceptual underpinnings shift prior to a negotiation choice
being made, and before the point where concrete outcomes of the policy
become clear. T also take care to understand how ideology is constrained
by the more practical pressures that lead policy-makers to privilege one
policy option over another. This calls for an analysis of relative risks, costs,
and benefits across policy options. Policy-makers may be ideologically pre-
disposed to accept some policy choices but be jostled by circumstances to
institute others. To gain a firm grasp on policy change generally, and on the
emergence of negotiation policies specifically, one must examine how pol-
icy-makers’ expectations about future policies develop. Herein lies the chal-
lenge of pressure politics for any social group: to engage with state actors
not only to persuade and effect a profound attitudinal change, but also to
create conditions where state actors respond in a manner in line with that
group’s policy preferences.

This project reaches out to address questions of interest to polit-
ical scientists who may have never cast an interested eye on the poli-
tics of indigenous peoples. An important objective of this research is to
understand how politically and economically marginalized communities
engage the state to achieve policy outcomes that threaten entrenched
norms, economic interests and the interests of the state itself. The project
speaks to the effectiveness and the limitations of political and judicial
strategies available to these communities in seeking leverage over govern-
ment action. In contexts where groups have limited electoral resources
or opportunities to build coalitions with other groups in order to pursue
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smaller and more targeted policy goals, the ability of social groups to
build communities of interests within and across the state is critically
important.

The Cases: Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States

The development of indigenous land claims politics is examined in four
countries, primarily since the Second World War: Australia, Canada, New
Zealand, and the United States. A wide comparative analysis necessarily
takes the eye away from important nuances; however, by widening the
geographic scope of this study, I achieve key methodological aims. First,
variation on the dependent variable is maximized. Just as indigenous peo-
ples have always pressed for recognition of their land rights and claims,
states have always responded. States have experienced three broad stages
in indigenous policy development, ranging from dispossession, assimila-
tion, to self-determination. The responses of states have varied in form,
timing, intent, and effects. Governments in each of the countries noted
above faced key decision-making opportunities at different times, and
only by widening the study’s perspective to include countries around the
globe can one appreciate the full range of options theoretically available
to policy-makers. I ask what factors in each country truncated the set of
considered policy options, and whether the negotiation option was among
them. I examine the legacies of previous policy choices in light of the set
of options available at later choice opportunities. Also, when looking at
negotiation outcomes, a wider scope provides an appreciation of both
intra- and inter-national variation.

How do these cases array on the dependent variable? Who has imple-
mented a negotiation policy and who has not? Both Canada and New
Zealand have embraced land claim negotiation policies that have included
a wide range of claimant groups and involved all regions of the country.
These policies are national in scope and are considered institutionalized
alternatives to litigation. Canada adopted its negotiation policy in 1973,
with New Zealand following in 1989. Prior to its negotiation policy and
after 1951, Canada allowed Indians to pursue land claims in the courts.
In New Zealand prior to 1989, there was little effective remedy for claims
until the creation, in 1975, of a strictly advisory body called the Waitangi
Tribunal. From 1975 until 1989, the New Zealand government engaged
in some negotiations on an ad hoc basis, but it was not until 1989 that the
formal negotiation policy was implemented.

Canada and New Zealand stand in contrast to the other two cases.
Australia represents a case of halted and gradual negotiation. The Australian
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Commonwealth instituted a negotiation policy in 1976, but this effort
was limited to the one area of the continent where the Commonwealth
has exclusive jurisdiction—the Northern Territory. An attempt by the
Hawke Labor government to extend the negotiation policy to the States
failed in the mid 1980s. However, in 1993, a limited national negotia-
tion policy was implemented under the Commonwealth’s Native Title
Act. Only recently, since approximately 2000, have attempts at regional
agreement-making begun to emerge. Finally, there is the United States.
The United States represents the non-negotiation case. Since the formal
end of treaty-making in 1871, the United States has preferred litigation
and special-party arbitration to negotiation. From 1863 to 1946, Indian
tribes were allowed to sue the United States in the Court of Claims once
they petitioned Congress and received a special jurisdictional act. In
1946, Congress created the Indian Claims Commission to litigate a back-
log of historical claims, while allowing tribes to bring claims arising from
actions after 1946 to the Court of Claims. With the closure of the Indian
Claims Commission in 1978, the courts have once again been the arena in
which claims resolution is pursued. While a few claims have been negoti-
ated on an ad hoc basis and after protracted litigation (e.g. Maine and
Florida settlement agreements), no formal or institutionalized alternative
to litigation has emerged.

These cases form a useful universe for comparison. First, each is
a settler state with a history of British colonialism. Each has a developed
common law legal system with independent judiciaries. Each is a developed
industrialized state with administrative capacity and has shared similar
assimilationist philosophies regarding indigenous peoples. However, the sit-
uation varies as to when courts became active players in developing indige-
nous rights jurisprudence. In each case, except the United States, indigenous
people had mobilized politically before key judicial decisions examining the
status of their rights under the common law were made. These four coun-
tries also vary in key institutional respects. The three federal states and one
unitary state (New Zealand) have different jurisdictional rules governing
the roles of national and sub-national governments in indigenous affairs.
Also, in the cases of Canada and Australia, the federal government is the
sole sovereign over internal territories (the Northwest, Yukon, Nunavut,
and Northern Territories), creating an interesting situation where unitary
“islands” exist within the boundaries of federal states. Only the United
States has a presidential system of separated powers, where both the leg-
islative and executive branches play significant roles in policy formulation
and implementation.
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CONCLUSIONS

A critical task of this study is to parse out the relative weight of judi-
cial versus other arguments in explaining executive negotiating behavior.
Scholars point to the judicialization of politics as one of the “most sig-
nificant trends in the late-twentieth and early-twenty-first century gov-
ernment.”* Catalytic court decisions recognizing indigenous property
rights for the first time are most often identified as the primary causal
force behind the advent of land claim negotiations. While I explore the
important role that courts play, I insist on explaining the emergence of
negotiation policies in conjunction with the ability of indigenous groups
to leverage potential and actual judicial changes into political gains. I
explain the emergence of negotiation policies by the interaction between
judicial change and indigenous political mobilization, and not judicial
change alone. Specifically, the sequencing of political mobilization prior
to judicial determinations of indigenous land rights significantly changes
policy-makers’ evaluations of their policy alternatives. Political mobili-
zation before significant court decisions means that policy-makers must
make policy choices in a context where indigenous people can credibly
threaten to impose future political costs. Political mobilization changes
policy-makers’ long-run payoffs, and this increases the likelihood that
negotiation will emerge.

Before the political mobilization and organized public protest of
indigenous peoples that began seriously in the mid 1960s, the aboriginal
policy agenda in these four polities was largely defined by non-indigenous
advocates firmly wedded to an assimilationist or integrationist agenda.
While non-indigenous advocates for aboriginal policy reform were impor-
tant supporters for the extension of equal citizenship rights to indigenous
individuals, their support did not extend to the recognition of special
indigenous rights. Policy-makers, most markedly in Canada and the United
States, believed that delegation of land grievances to the courts was appro-
priate because all citizens, indigenous or not, should have recourse to the
judicial branch. Policy-makers reasoned that they would win some and
lose some in the courts, and should the courts deny a claim, that there
would be no subsequent political repercussions. Delegation to the courts
was not so much a blame-avoidance strategy as a means of inculcating
indigenous people to act as proper citizens. Use of the courts served assim-
ilationist principles, and was associated with a greater dialogue of equal
and undifferentiated citizenship that held little sympathy for indigenous
peoples’ special rights.
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Examination of cabinet memoranda and records of cabinet discus-
sions reveal that land rights were forced onto the cabinet agenda only
through the representations of indigenous peoples. The mid-1960s marked
an important qualitative change in indigenous political history across all
the countries in this study. During this decade of the civil rights movement,
indigenous political organizations expanded their repertoires to include
collective action through public protest. Land rights became the central
symbol around which disparate indigenous groups could unite. Once indig-
enous peoples demonstrated publicly that they could unite behind a com-
mon agenda, indigenous peoples began to matter in the policy process as
never before. The key effect of indigenous political mobilization, in the mid
1960s, was to make policy-makers aware for the first time that indigenous
peoples could be political entities on their own terms, and could impose
potential costs on policy-makers in the future.

The engine behind the emergence of negotiation policies is politi-
cal mobilization before judicial change. I demonstrate how this argument
applies across all four countries. However, this study’s cross-national design
has allowed me to identify two variables which condition policy-mak-
ers’ evaluations of the negotiation option. These variables are: 1) politi-
cal norms that affect policy-makers’ underlying preference for delegation;
and 2) federalism, specifically the allocation of legislative competence over
aboriginal affairs and resource management.

Even in the presence of judicial change and political mobilization,
policy-makers may be restrained from delegating political decisions to
courts by internal norms over the appropriateness of judicial policy-mak-
ing and review. I find the effect of this political norm in the two extreme
cases: the United States (pro-delegation) and New Zealand (anti-del-
egation). In the United States, a fundamental narrative in the American
political project is the role of the judiciary in ensuring the Constitution’s
integrity. The Supreme Court, not Congress nor the President, is the ulti-
mate arbiter of justice. In this political culture, to provide a policy alterna-
tive outside of the court system is to risk thwarting fundamental justice.
This norm privileges the delegation of policy-making functions to the judi-
ciary. In contrast, the norm of parliamentary sovereignty as it is expressed
in New Zealand holds the opposite. In New Zealand, governments tradi-
tionally view judicial review as fundamentally undemocratic, and resist the
delegation of policy-making functions from Parliament to the courts. In
the New Zealand political dialogue, the legitimacy of non-judicial dispute
resolution mechanisms is much higher, and a negotiation policy is, ceteris
paribus, more likely to emerge.
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This study also explores how one particular institutional variable,
federalism, impacts the probability that a negotiation policy will emerge
and diffuse across state borders. Federalism matters in so far as it involves
a sub-national government, as the owner of public lands and the govern-
ment in charge of natural resource development, as a party to the negotia-
tions.® In the context of modern land claim negotiations, this assignment
of jurisdictions between the federal and sub-national governments means
that to conclude a land claims settlement involving more than strictly
cash compensation, sub-national governments are necessary parties to
the agreement and, as such, are veto players. I conclude that on balance,
federalism hinders the development of policies that recognize and protect
indigenous rights. Indigenous people are, in almost all cases, intra-state
minorities. Sub-national states are much more likely than central govern-
ments to protect established economic interests in the context of indige-
nous protest. Land and resource management is important to sub-national
governments. They jealously guard their power in this jurisdiction and are
disinclined to impose costs on concentrated interests due to fears of inter-
state economic competition.® Attempts by central governments to impose
negotiation policies on sub-national governments will, almost certainly,
meet staunch resistance. Therefore, central governments weigh the bene-
fits of protecting indigenous rights at the cost of risking intergovernmental
relations. This calculation is serious, and often the protection of indig-
enous rights is lost.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE LITERATURE

A contribution of this study is the focus on decision-making in the executive
branch (as well as the legislative branch in the American case) in the develop-
ment of a negotiation response to indigenous land claims. The literature on
indigenous land rights policies betrays a fragmented treatment of the state.
This study is an effort to redress that fragmentation by turning a concerted
eye to the workings of key public policy decision-makers. This fragmenta-
tion of the state in land rights literature is due, in part, to the theoretical
preoccupations of the intellectual disciplines most involved with this sub-
ject area: law and anthropology.

Any academic discipline approaches a subject with a given set of
questions or biases about what is of interest. From the law perspective,
it is natural to consider land claims politics on the basis of the judicial
branch in order to understand the development of an indigenous rights
jurisprudence. Legal scholars have focused on how a received body of law,
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grounded in a Western theory of liberal rights and state sovereignty, can be
reconciled with the aspirations and legal structures of indigenous peoples
and their organizations.” Within this literature, the non-judicial branches
of the state feature only occasionally, and if their appearance is requested,
it is to prevail upon them to use their policy-making powers in the interests
of greater justice. The analysis is usually limited to exhorting executives
and legislators to incorporate developing judicial principles within their
policy frameworks.

Even in recent work, which attributes significant changes in land
claims policy to the catalytic power of judicial decisions, the view of
executive action is simplistically treated. The causal chain presented
is that only when courts find favorably for indigenous land rights are
policy-makers provoked to deliver negotiation policies. A closer look at
key judicial decisions quickly indicates that court judgments often yield
unclear and contradictory signals from which policy-makers could hope
to chart a new course. More often than not, judicial judgments raise more
questions than they answer. While judicial decisions may spur govern-
ments past inertia, these decisions do not provide the whole story of how
governments respond. There is little analysis done within the legal treat-
ment of indigenous land rights issues to understand how policy-makers
within the executive branch view the risks that judicial developments
place in front of existing policy choices. Critically, more attention needs
to be given to how they weigh the relative risks of their policy options,
given changes within the judicial branch and other constraints within the
political landscape. How executives and their administrators go about
doing this (or not) is left under-explored.

From within anthropology, the interest in land claims politics has pri-
marily been to document historical patterns of indigenous social structure
and land tenure as well as indigenous strategies of resistance to state domi-
nation. The role of anthropology in the development of land claims juris-
prudence has been substantial, and giving evidence in court of historical
indigenous land use tenure systems has been its particular preserve. Interest
in the development of land claims policies from within the policy-making
structures has been tangential to the core pursuits of this discipline as well.
However, in the instances anthropologists have turned their skills to look at
the administrative state itself, the products of their efforts demonstrate the
worth of the enterprise.® The influence of a sustained academic interest in
indigenous politics by law and anthropology has certainly resulted in a rich
set of literatures, but greater attention needs to be allocated to the decision-
making environments of executive and administrative actors.
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The contemporary study of the state has also been conditioned by
the dominant conceptual framework for the analysis of indigenous-state
relations: colonialism. This conceptual framework cuts across academia’s
disciplinary boundaries. Indigenous-settler relationships have been charac-
terized by patterns of colonial domination and resistance. The colonialism
literature has been used to convey the role of the state in the oppression
and attempted assimilation of indigenous communities the world over.
It has been a powerful paradigm used to good effect in the international
mobilization and resurgence of indigenous activism over the last thirty
years.” One consequence, however, of this intellectual tradition has been
a privileging of state power. The view of the state in this intellectual tra-
dition is one of almost overwhelming force. What is emphasized is the
degree to which all parts of the state speak with the same voice and work
to reinforce the colonial and paternalistic patterns of the other. A danger
of this tradition is to neglect looking at the state in a critical and differ-
entiated way to find contestation within it. It is arguable that, prior to
welfare state expansionism of the post-war era, the relatively small size of
governments and limited scope for administrative action facilitated ideo-
logical uniformity and limited contestation of policy goals across the state
itself, hence limiting the usefulness of a more concerted look at the execu-
tive branch. This, however, is no longer the case. The executive deserves
renewed attention.

OUTLINE

From September 2000 to December 2001, I conducted the fieldwork
on which this analysis is based. I rely on a variety of sources, including
approximately 60 interviews with policy-makers and indigenous activists
in Canada, New Zealand, and Australia. Individuals were assured of their
personal confidentiality, and the references in the following chapters are
based on my notes of those interviews. Much of the work is historical, and
as much as possible I have drawn my conclusions from primary sources.
I relied heavily on the collections of the National Archives of Canada
(Ottawa), Archives New Zealand (Wellington), the National Archives of
Australia (Canberra), and the National Archives and Records Administra-
tion (Washington D.C.). I have also used the Taos Blue Lake archival col-
lection at Princeton University’s Seeley-Mudd Library.

Chapter Two gives a detailed examination of the study’s theoreti-
cal background. I delve more closely into the literatures on institutional
emergence, bargaining, and social movements within comparative poli-
tics. Chapters Three through Five are empirical case studies of cabinet
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decision-making in Canada, New Zealand, and Australia respectively.
Each of these chapters ends with the implementation of a negotiation pol-
icy. Chapter Six is an examination of the non-negotiation case: the United
States. In Chapter Seven, I conclude with final thoughts on the outcomes
of the land claims negotiation process.






Chapter Two
Negotiation: Of Recognition
and Delegation

INTRODUCTION

A politics of recognition reflects a change from a politics of equal dignity
among individuals to a politics of difference based on the need to recognize
explicit cultural and collective rights.! The demand is made on the basis
that a politics of equal dignity, while important and hard fought, is insuf-
ficient to rectify institutionalized patterns of cultural delegitimation. There-
fore, the demand for recognition is highly normative, and is often framed
in terms of historic oppression and injustice. Minority cultural groups the
world over justify a demand for recognition on the basis that to withhold
such recognition perpetuates their oppression and thus inflicts collective
harm.? Indigenous people, as first occupants, have been a key constituency
in the global politics of recognition. Many indigenous people argue that the
recognition of their collective rights is a prerequisite for a truly post-colo-
nial relationship with the state. The larger project of indigenous politics
has been for countries to recognize indigenous peoples as legitimate self-
determining and sovereign communities. As part of this larger post-colo-
nial political project, indigenous peoples have demanded that governments
recognize their land rights and engage in a dialogue to resolve historic and
continuing grievances. The demand that the state recognize indigenous land
rights makes it clear that the recognition sought involves not only a state’s
symbolic approval of collective rights, but also the recognition of a funda-
mental and enforceable property right to land.

Theorists have focused primarily on the philosophical and historical
roots of the emergence of a demand for recognition from “below.” Impor-
tant debates have flourished on the challenges facing those demanding
recognition, particularly on the strategic dilemmas that arise when groups
wish to pursue potentially competing goals, such as cultural recognition

13
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versus economic distribution.’> However, the normative literature on rec-
ognition has devoted comparatively little attention to the supply side of
the recognition equation.* If recognition by the state of collective rights is
indeed a public good, then one may ask why, and under what conditions,
do states supply the recognition that some groups demand? Like any other
public good that holds real consequences for people’s lives, recognition
must have an impact on the distribution of social, economic, or ideologi-
cal resources across social groups. To this distribution of social power the
state is rarely neutral. If one accepts the central notion that recognition by
the state distributes good as well as harm, then one must ask whether the
state itself has an interest in whether, and how, this distribution occurs. In
the specific case of indigenous land rights, the state has never shown itself
to be a disinterested player. The rights in question relate to possibly the
most central of its economic assets and involve peoples often economically
and socially marginalized.

This study examines a key policy choice in this politics of recogni-
tion. It examines the emergence of land claim negotiations, a policy choice
where governments explicitly recognize the validity of indigenous collective
claims to land as well as indigenous communities’ equal standing as par-
ties to an agreement. These negotiations provide settings where indigenous
peoples engage the executive outside of the usual institutional spaces that
have regulated indigenous-settler relations. Unlike other institutional spaces
where indigenous-state relations are fashioned, such as courts or social ser-
vice agencies, land claim negotiations accord indigenous peoples and indig-
enous authority structures an explicit recognition of their role as strategic
political actors involved in a dialogue with the government. Hence, land
claim negotiations are both symbolically and substantively important. They
are also controversial. At best, land claim negotiations are bargaining sites
where the state and an indigenous group enter into a good faith effort to
address past wrongs and build an enduring basis for a beneficial future. At
worst, they make a mockery of good relationship building, where one party
is forced by a lack of bargaining strength to accept a bad deal that will taint
future prospects for good relations. However, these negotiations are always
about testing the practical worth of legal rights and hard fought political
protest, and refashioning the political linkages between indigenous and set-
tler societies. Thus, land claim negotiations are critical venues for the nego-
tiation of “ . . . the nature and extent of [indigenous peoples’] ongoing
membership in provincial or territorial communities and the nature of their
citizenship in the [national] community.”’

Negotiation is an important outcome in a politics of recognition, but its
theoretical relevance is not limited to this normative dimension. Negotiation
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is also interesting since, by entering into a public process of bargaining with
indigenous communities as co-signatories to a mutual agreement, govern-
ments, in effect, deny themselves whatever future political deniability might
come by allowing others, such as a court or an arbitrator, to make deci-
sions in their stead. On this normative dimension referred to in this study as
the delegation dimension, negotiation is a policy choice where governments
spurn the political value of insulating themselves from future political out-
comes of a controversial process.

For a negotiation decision to occur, the executive must come to two
prior conclusions. First, the executive will recognize collective indigenous
rights and not simply guarantee indigenous individuals the array of civil
liberties that citizens in modern democracies have come to expect. Sec-
ond, the executive will sit at the bargaining table with indigenous groups,
and thereby not insulate itself from future blame should settlement agree-
ments either not be reached or become politically unpopular in the future.
To negotiate indigenous land rights is a risky strategy that gives credence
to controversial rights claims, while accepting a clear measure of political
responsibility for policy outcomes which may threaten established eco-
nomic interests. In this study, I ask: Why do governments, particularly the
executive branch, choose to negotiate in lieu of other ways of resolving
indigenous land disputes? Why would an executive choose to negotiate
indigenous land claims instead of implementing other policy alternatives?
These alternatives include doing nothing, pursuing active litigation, choos-
ing arbitration, or simply legislating away indigenous land rights.

This study focuses primarily on the executive branch of the state. As
the state is not a unitary actor, branches of the state of particular inter-
est must be identified. I focus on the executive because it is both demo-
cratically accountable and ultimately responsible for the overall direction
of state policy-making. It is the leading agent within the state for policy
change and implementation.® This is particularly true in parliamentary sys-
tems, but is also true in presidential systems, except in the rare circum-
stances of legislative override. The executive is elected with a mandate to
drive the policy agenda and, within the limits of constitutional review, can
overrule the judiciary. Therefore, the executive branch’s role in the provi-
sion of public goods is central.

This study addresses the recognition indigenous land rights by the
executive branch in Australia, Canada, and New Zealand. On the basis of
an in-depth analysis of these three cases, I conclude by examining the gen-
eralizability of my findings to the United States, where both the legislative
and executive branches are involved in policy formulation. To summarize,
Canada chose to implement a full national negotiation policy in 1973; New
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Zealand followed in 1989. Australia adopted a limited and partial nego-
tiation response in 1976 that did not expand to address all of Australia’s
aboriginal claims until 1993. Australia’s is a case of halting and hesitant
negotiation. The United States adopted an arbitration model in 1946, but
aside from a few isolated and ad hoc negotiations in the 1970s and 1980s,
has not implemented a land rights negotiation policy in the modern era. In
Australia, Canada, and New Zealand, each executive had a number of prior
opportunities to implement a negotiation policy and deliberately chose not
to. Those “missed” opportunities provide valuable insights into the intra-
national timing of negotiation responses.

The polities are also interesting for what they have in common. They
are each developed industrialized democracies with independent judiciaries.
The presence of a legitimate independent judiciary is an important charac-
teristic of the executive’s policy-making environment. Executives in each of
these countries make policy decisions knowing that indigenous people have
the choice of pursuing grievances in the courts. In polities with legitimate
and independent judiciaries, the executive has an alternative to pursuing a
negotiation policy. The executive may choose to litigate every indigenous
rights grievance that comes its way. The executive’s choice to negotiate land
claims is interesting precisely when negotiation is a departure from the com-
mon method of resolving grievances between the state and its citizens: the
courts. Courts do not have to be neutral arbiters, but they must be seen by
all possible litigants to reach judicial conclusions without concern that their
independence will be eroded in the future. The lack of an independent court
system would severely undermine the comparison of negotiation strategies
across polities, as the dynamic interplay between the judicial and executive
branches would be different.

These polities are similar in that the indigenous population is in the
minority. While the relative size of the indigenous minority varies across the
four polities, the common dynamic remains one where a culturally and his-
torically defined minority demands the majority to recognize a particular
collective property right that may redistribute economic power from a larger
number of people. The provision of recognition in these four countries is one
where the majority recognizes collective indigenous rights at some immedi-
ate cost to itself. Therefore, the majority must grapple with a demand for
recognition that challenges a simplistic view of democracy. The minoritarian
dynamic makes the land claims context in Canada and Australia significantly
different from that, for instance, in Zimbabwe, Bolivia, or Guatemala.

In this chapter, I undertake the following tasks. First, to fully charac-
terize the study’s dependent variable, I lay out the range of dispute resolution
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policies from which governments can choose, outlining the key distinctions
between them according to the normative dimensions of recognition and
delegation. Second, I engage the literature in political science in order to
generate a series of plausible explanatory variables. Departing from the lit-
erature on the politics of recognition, I reinsert the question of land claims
politics within the larger debate on institutional change and emergence
within comparative politics. Normative theories of recognition politics offer
and evaluate the arguments on which an executive or legislative or judi-
cial branch may justify a choice to provide recognition. However, normative
political theory alone cannot explain why, when, or how a branch of the
state provides the recognition as demanded. Just as the demand for racial
equality was necessary, but insufficient, to procure policies of racial deseg-
regation, a demand for indigenous recognition cannot sufficiently explain a
government’s decision to recognize indigenous land rights. Normative polit-
ical theory cannot explain how policy-makers evaluate the merit of recogni-
tion demands, or how policy-makers make tradeoffs between recognition
and other imperatives, including the incentive to delegate decision-making
authority. We must look to the literature on institutional change and emer-
gence to explore the provision of recognition policies and the institutions
which underpin them. Underneath this theoretical umbrella of institutional
change and emergence, 1 engage literatures specific to courts, collective
action, federalism, and bargaining.

This chapter presents the arguments I demonstrate in the empirical
chapters that follow. I argue that executive policy-makers implemented
land claim negotiation policies once indigenous peoples demonstrated
they were capable of acting as players in a game theoretic sense. Once
indigenous peoples mobilized politically, were able to demonstrate the
ability to commit collectively to a political strategy, and were able to dem-
onstrate the ability to change the political environment by influencing
mainstream opinion, policy-makers grudgingly accepted or were other-
wise persuaded that an aboriginal policy based on the denial of aborigi-
nal collective rights would incur future and long-run political costs. The
credible threat, that aboriginal people could exact future political costs,
decreased executives’ long-run utility for a delegation strategy, since legal
or arbitrated solutions would not fix the larger political problem. I argue
that key court decisions, whether they legitimate aboriginal rights claims
or not, predict the timing of significant policy change because they moti-
vate policy-makers to re-examine policy. However, court decisions do not
in and of themselves determine the kind of policy solutions that execu-
tives ultimately choose.
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THE DEPENDENT VARIABLE:
NEGOTIATION AND ITS POLICY COMPETITORS

A land claim is a dispute over the rights of indigenous people to the
use, enjoyment, and ownership of particular lands, and these rights are
defined and resolved in relation to the rights of other property rights
holders. A key normative question facing the government, when it consid-
ers a response to a land claim, is how to deal with this underlying dispute.
The range on the dependent variable, or the type of response, is the set of
options available to the executive branch to resolve the issue of compet-
ing land rights. Since the executive branch is a key landowner as well as
a creator of property rights in land, the selection of a dispute resolution
option is important because the government has an interest in how the
dispute is handled.

Policy options for dispute resolution vary in important ways. Policy
options rest on normative foundations. Consequently, the emergence of
policy institutions cannot be divorced from the norms that underpin them.
Dispute resolution has two dimensions: recognition and delegation. The
recognition dimension asks whether the executive will recognize indig-
enous collective rights in future policies. It also relates to the formal sta-
tus accorded the indigenous party vis-a-vis the executive and the symbolic
credence given to indigenous peoples’ fundamental political claims. For
instance, a dispute resolution process that casts the indigenous party as the
executive’s equal symbolically recognizes the fundamental political claim
that indigenous people are collective (and potentially sovereign) political
actors. In contrast, an executive who is not willing to recognize indigenous
peoples’ collective claims is better served by those policy options that cast
the indigenous claimant in a role as a non- sovereign player.

Options that delegate decision-making authority to another party,
such as courts or third-party arbitration, have the disputing parties cede
a measure of control over the resolution process. The basic trade off is
ceding a measure of control in return for resolution by an independent
party. The independence of a third party may help legitimize an outcome,
and it may also provide disputants with the cover of plausible deniability
should the imposed solution prove unpopular or controversial. Delega-
tion is what Kent Weaver calls the “pass the buck” blame avoidance strat-
egy.” Figure 1 presents my view of a policy-maker’s decision tree, making
it visually clear how policy-makers would arrive at a negotiation deci-
sion. This is not a game in the strict sense, since there is no second player
interacting with the executive in a specified series of moves. The decision
tree does show, however, that in some series of potential and unspecified
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Figure 1. The Executive’s Choices

moves with other actors, the executive’s essential choices amount to the
following two main questions:

1. Recognize / Do not delegate. This is the negotiation option, where
the parties bargain to reach a settlement which is endorsed by each party.
All parties to a negotiated agreement “own” the outcome to an extent
which cannot be replicated through other policy options. The accordance
of veto status to indigenous actors in this choice option renders negotiation
the highest on the symbolic recognition scale. There is important poten-
tial that by pursuing a negotiation choice, the recognition conferred goes
beyond a nod to indigenous peoples as holding particular property rights
to implicitly acknowledging them as sovereign actors acting for a defined
community. The negotiation outcome suggests that policy-makers came to
accept the reversal, symbolically if not always in substance, of long-held
assimilationist norms. These assimilationist norms hold that a government’s
recognition of indigenous collective rights will impede indigenous integra-
tion into the body politic.

The degree to which the negotiation option is institutionalized and
formalized by governments varies. At its most simple, a government
negotiates with groups in an ad hoc manner and on a case by case basis.
Few institutional structures may be established to distinguish negotia-
tion from reaching an out of court settlement. This is the example of the
east coast land claim settlements (e.g. Maine and Rhode Island) in the
United States during the mid-1980s. In other cases, governments may
develop overarching negotiation principles and procedures which nor-
malize the bargaining process across negotiation tables and cement the
perception that a government’s negotiation policy is a real alternative
to a court based solution. This institutionalized negotiation policy is the
dependent variable on which I focus in this study. An institutionalized
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negotiation policy has occurred in Canada since 1973 and in New Zea-
land since 1989. The Australian Commonwealth implemented a partial
negotiation policy in 1976 that was limited to the Northern Territory. The
status of negotiation across Australia has varied since the implementation
of the Native Title Act (1993).

2. Recognize / Delegate. Governments have a choice to provide insti-
tutional mechanisms for the resolution of grievances outside the regular
court system. Special third-party arbitration is the closest alternative to a
court based model. An arbitrator makes a binding decision for the disput-
ing parties. However, the full array of judicial rules and practices do not
apply to restrict either the process by which the grievance is presented or
the process by which the decision is made. Indeed, flexibility in the rules
governing the institutional environment is one of the great reasons and
advantages for providing this institutional mechanism versus allowing the
court to remain the default arbitrator. The closest example of this option
was the American Indian Claims Commission, which operated from 1946
to 1976. New Zealand’s Waitangi Tribunal also operates as a special third-
party arbitrator for a limited number of claims since 1987.

On a symbolic level, the creation of a special arbitration mechanism
recognizes that a group’s grievances merit special attention and their reso-
lution is better achieved outside normal judicial procedures. The existence
of a third party imposing binding decisions on both parties allows either
party to point to an independent actor as the source of any outcomes,
while exercising more control over procedural questions than is afforded
in a regular court of law.

3. Do not recognize / Do not delegate. These options have executives
retaining control over policy outcomes while treating the indigenous party
as any other social group. The option which completely sidelines indigenous
voices is the imposed solution, where an executive may respond to a land
claim by introducing legislation to impose a policy response. This response
is legislative fiat, where the indigenous party has no formal role other than
as an on-looker. One example is the attempt by the Western Australian
State government to legislate away indigenous land rights in 1995.

An executive may not choose such a hostile tactic, and may instead
choose to do nothing. Doing nothing is essentially a choice to neglect indig-
enous demands to deal constructively with their claims. However, the do
nothing option may not be cost or risk free, particularly in cases where
indigenous people have the ability to test the validity of their rights claims
in court. In countries with institutionalized and independent judiciaries, an
executive’s choice to do nothing is essentially an invitation to bring on liti-
gation and to allow delegation (to courts) through passive means.
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The executive may also choose to create a consultative body. In the
game of institutional supply, executives have the choice of providing insti-
tutions that address indigenous grievances while reserving the discretion
to act on those grievances. Examples include the Canadian Indian Claims
Commissioner (1969-1976) and New Zealand’s Waitangi Tribunal (1975).
While a third party may be given the responsibility of addressing the legiti-
macy of indigenous grievances and making recommendations for govern-
ment action, the recommendations remain non-binding on the government.
The government protects its discretion and control over the outcomes of the
process while according minimal recognition of indigenous grievances. The
formal role of indigenous peoples in this model is limited to one of consul-
tation, where the final discretion over outcomes is out of their hands.

4. Do not recognize / Delegate. This is the litigation option. A govern-
ment can find itself in court either by actively pursuing litigation or if an
indigenous party starts legal proceedings. While an executive has privileged
access to legal resources and expertise which makes it a dominant party
in legal proceedings, it has no greater control over key aspects of the legal
environment than any other legal disputant. The government is bound by
the same rules, schedule, and procedures as other parties to a legal action.
Litigation casts the predominant relationship between the government and
the indigenous applicant as legal disputants, as a relationship like any other
that can be held between a government and its citizens. Since indigenous
peoples are accorded no different role or relationship vis-a-vis the executive
than any other citizen or group, this option is in harmony with an ideologi-
cal commitment to undifferentiated citizenship and the equality of rights
under the law. In this regard, litigation is a non-recognition option. A key
example of this strategy is the United States before 1946 and since 1976.
Prior to 1946, Indian claimants seeking resolution of their historic land
grievances needed to seek congressional leave allowing them to pursue their
cases in court. After the close of the Indian Claims Commission in 1976,
the United States has allowed Indian tribes to continue to use the courts
without providing extra-judicial dispute resolution processes.

LAND CLAIM NEGOTIATIONS AND THEORIES OF
INSTITUTIONAL EMERGENCE

This study seeks to explain the emergence of a particular kind of policy
response: negotiation. I have established that inherently, this policy out-
come involves policy-makers addressing two issues: whether to recognize
indigenous collective rights and whether to seek political cover from poten-
tial blame for resolving indigenous peoples’ property rights disputes. By
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framing the outcome of interest as a product of this simple decision tree,
one can appreciate the central task of this study: to understand those fac-
tors that drove executive policy-makers to change their thinking at each
decision node. The heuristic of the policy-maker’s decision tree enforces
a basic contention of this study. To understand the emergence of negotia-
tion as an institutionalized policy response, the causal mechanisms must
directly address whether and how policy-makers’ norms about indigenous
collective rights and delegation came to be challenged, and how this chal-
lenge produced a change in policy behavior. The study begins with the
maxim that “ . . . informal rules form the basis for the intentional devel-
opment of formal institutions . . . as the context in which new formal
institutions are established.”®

By asking why governments choose to resolve indigenous land dis-
putes through negotiation and not through other means, I address the
larger literature in comparative politics regarding why some institutions
emerge rather than others. In the short survey below, I have chosen theo-
retical insights which I find compelling, and underline my own contribution
to the larger theoretical and methodological questions of explaining institu-
tional emergence.

Punctuated Equilibria and Institutional Change:
The Explanatory Limits of Judicial Shocks

The punctuated equilibrium model of institutional change supposes insti-
tutional stasis where actors within the state, economy, and society mutu-
ally adapt to the institutional incentive structure. They have little reason
to challenge these institutions until some exogenous event shocks the sys-
tem, and upsets the status quo. In this view of institutional change, new
institutions arise to solve coordination problems. Actors adapt to a new
equilibrium, and once again, adapt to the prevailing incentives. Those hop-
ing for more change must await another exogenous shock. In the field of
land claims politics, the closest thing to a punctuated equilibrium model of
institutional change is what I call the judicial shock assumption. According
to this assumption, governments instituted negotiation policies after high
courts recognized the validity of indigenous land rights. Judicial change, in
the form of high court decisions, is a key independent variable in explaining
the emergence of land rights negotiation policies because the judicial shock
spurred governments to accept a negotiation equilibrium.

As iconic evidence of the judicial shock hypothesis, scholars often
point to the Canadian and New Zealand cases. Canada publicly announced
its new land claims negotiation policy seven months after the Supreme
Court’s Calder decision (1973),” in which the court accepted the legal
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legitimacy of aboriginal property rights. The Canadian aboriginal policy
literature draws a clear and strong causal line between the Calder deci-
sion and the Trudeau government’s decision to implement a negotiation
policy. The following citation is representative of the literature: «

As a result of the [Calder] decision, Trudeau redirected federal policy to
allow the Nisga’a and other non-treaty groups to negotiate directly with
the federal government.”!” Similarly, New Zealand announced its inten-
tion to negotiate Maori claims after the Court of Appeal’s Lands Case of
1987.'1 Mason Durie writes that . . . as ordered by the court, the New
Zealand Maori Council and the Crown entered into negotiations.”!? The
causal logic of the judicial shock thesis is that cabinets choose to recog-
nize aboriginal collective rights and spurn a delegation strategy as a result
of judicial activism. The assumption is that above all other variables in
the political environment, executives are particularly responsive to direc-
tion from the judiciary. The theoretical implication for indigenous peoples
wishing to force governments to a bargaining table is that they are best
served by allocating their finite energies and resources to a judicial strat-
egy. The assumption posits little complication on the road from judicial
victory to negotiation outcome.

The difficulty with the judicial shock story as a causal explanation
for the emergence of negotiation policies rests with its causal scope. A solid
causal argument needs to meet three conditions. It needs to address timing
(X must precede Y), correlation (changes in X must relate to changes in Y),
and rival explanations (there is no other variable doing the work). It is not
problematic to verify that high court decisions often precede significant pol-
icy change, but a wider cross-national survey of the empirical record renders
it problematic to assume that negotiation policies (versus its policy competi-
tors) are destined to emerge once the judicial dust settles. For instance, in
1941, the United States Supreme Court ruled that an indigenous land claim
could be based on land rights not previously recognized through a treaty
or other legislative means.!3 In 1946, Congress responded by establishing
an arbitration mechanism, the Indian Claims Commission, whose decisions
were appealed in the federal Court of Claims. Within the context of the
Indian Claims Commission process, the United States refused to negotiate
Indian claims and insisted that the Commission rule on every one of the
nearly 500 claims that came before it. In the 1992 Mabo decision,'* the
Australian High Court recognized for the very first time that aboriginal land
rights could exist in the common law, but the Commonwealth’s subsequent
policy response (the Native Title Act) provided a whole range of policy
options: mediation, arbitration to a specialist tribunal, and negotiation.
Interestingly, the Australian Commonwealth implemented a negotiation
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framework in the Northern Territory after a 1971 court decision!”® refused to
recognize the legal validity of common law aboriginal land rights. There are
also instances where policy-makers deliberated and instituted policy change
without the benefit of a critical court decision. In 1975, the New Zealand
government established the Waitangi Tribunal to hear Maori claims, and to
make recommendations for claims resolution.

The empirical record suggests that the judicial shock thesis is an insuf-
ficient explanation for the emergence of government negotiation policies.
Judicial change is a good predictor, but not the sole determinant, of policy
change. A reasonable hypothesis explaining why judicial change is a predic-
tor of policy change is that judicial uncertainty over indigenous land rights,
by extension, uncertainty over a critical component of a nation’s property
rights regime, induces risk averse executives to act.'® However, current
thinking on courts and negotiation offers little guidance on the link between
court action and subsequent policy outcomes. Little theoretical work asks
what type of response a policy-maker would choose in the face of judicial
uncertainty. Bargaining theory in labor economics supports the hypothesis
that high levels of judicial uncertainty induce parties to reach negotiated
decisions outside of court.!” Unfortunately, for the present research agenda,
this literature has not considered the design of extra-judicial decision-mak-
ing arenas as a function of judicial uncertainty. In the absence of a clear
judicial order that “the government shall negotiate,” the link between judi-
cial change and policy-makers’ choice to negotiate is underspecified. Even
if such a bold judicial pronouncement was forthcoming, one must ask why
the executive would cast off its discretion over policy and move in lock step
with the judicial branch. One must look to non-judicial explanations to
understand why governments choose one policy option over others. A more
satisfactory approach to understanding the emergence of negotiation poli-
cies lies in appreciating the interaction between judicial and non-judicial
variables. Attention to the relative causal importance of judicial and non-
judicial factors in explaining intra and cross-national policy change allows
for a bridge between two literatures normally ignorant of each other: judi-
cial and comparative politics.'®

With Thelen, I argue that the judicial shock explanation is inherently
limited since, like all punctuated equilibrium approaches to institutional
change, it theoretically divorces institutional change from institutional sta-
sis by treating institutional change as “extraordinary politics.”! To do so
is to undervalue analytically the degree to which groups continually contest
institutional structures. By undervaluing the continuance of contestation,
the punctuated equilibrium approach risks hiding from view less apoca-
lyptic opportunities for change, or moments when actors did have a choice



Negotiation 25

to make and perhaps did not, or chose differently. The exogenous shock
approach to institutional change also risks undervaluing the degree to which
the institutions that emerge are conditioned by those that came before.

Beyond the Judicial Shock Assumption:
Alternative Explanations and Arguments

Political Mobilization: Getting Back to Collective Action

Thelen’s response to punctuated equilibrium type arguments is to assert
that scholars would be more ably served by paying closer empirical atten-
tion to the ideational and material bases on which institutions rest.?? The
scholar’s task is then to tease out how changes in social structures, other
institutions, and attitudes upset these bases in a plausible causal chain. This
approach has the advantage of linking theories of institutional stasis with
those of change, focusing our comparative gaze not just on one outcome
of the dependent variable. It allows one to appreciate when change was
possible, did not happen, or did not happen as expected. To link the empiri-
cal investigation of institutional change to institutional stasis heightens
our awareness that so-called “critical junctures” for change are not only
those usually visible forks in the road where institutional change was the
outcome, but also those less visible forks where actors’ mutual choices led
down the path of the status quo.

An important set of explanations linking both the temporal pattern of
institutional change and the types of institutions that emerge are rooted in
the literature on interest groups and collective action. In policy areas char-
acterized by strong ideological or normative frameworks, how are policy-
makers’ norms challenged? Do policy-makers abandon a policy principle
when the cost of holding onto it rises beyond what they are prepared to
pay? An agency based approach to policy-makers’ normative change puts
political contestation on the front burner. It is hard to imagine how policy-
makers came to recognize indigenous rights, and agreed to bargain, with-
out examining the capacity of indigenous peoples to put their land rights on
the policy agenda in the first place.

Some hypotheses link the ability of a social or interest group to
impact the policy agenda to the group’s strength. One indicator of a group’s
agenda setting power is the size of a group’s membership base. The idea
is that policy-makers will pay attention to those groups that can deliver
electoral support through a large membership base or through coalitions
with other groups.?' Large membership bases are also indicators of group
power if a group can tap that base for financial resources, and deliver
those resources to political decision-makers. However, the likelihood that
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indigenous communities can deliver electoral or financial gains to policy-
makers is generally low, due to their small size, general geographic remote-
ness, and persistent economic marginalization. The simple link between
the relative size of an indigenous population and its ability to force a gov-
ernment response to its claims is tenuous. In Australia, Canada and the
United States, indigenous people represent less than 5% of the national
population. In New Zealand, where it can be argued that minority politics
is Maori politics, the government only instituted a direct negotiation policy
in 1989, almost fifty years after the establishment of the American claims
commission process. Given the demographic size of the indigenous popu-
lations in question, and their at-times significant reliance on the state to
subsidize political organizations, interest group arguments relating politi-
cal strength to population size are not compelling hypotheses explaining
the comparative emergence of negotiation policies.

Instead, interest group or collective action type arguments need to link
indigenous political mobilization with policy-makers’ changing perceptions
of a policy option’s relative feasibility. In his theory of institutional emer-
gence, Jack Knight makes this linkage by focusing on the central lesson of
sub-game perfection in non-cooperative game theory.??> Sub-game perfec-
tion is the formal term given for the common intuition that one’s current
choices are conditioned by expectations of what other players would do
if they had the opportunity to make choices in the future. By implication,
new behaviors or institutions emerge when one can change an opponent’s
expectation of one’s future behavior. Perhaps ironically, a key way to dem-
onstrate the capacity to credibly commit to a future strategy is to demon-
strate one’s current ability to change. This emphasis on players’ ability to
change expectations of future behavior grounds institutional emergence not
on radical exogenous changes to the structure of the game (i.e. punctuated
equilibrium theories), but on the capacities of players to change their own
behavior. This is where institutional emergence and theories of collective
action come together.

Knight’s approach suggests that governments did not change their
land claims policies until indigenous groups demonstrated their potential
to commit to a future political strategy. The ability to commit to a future
political strategy is not necessarily dependent on the size of a group’s
membership base. This means that a causal explanation in this study may
rest on when indigenous political actors were able to act collectively and
cohesively. A non-unitary actor’s ability to maintain cohesiveness and to
make reasoned judgments (conditioned on available information) about the
probabilities of future scenarios is the hallmark characteristic of a player
in the game-theoretic sense. Political mobilization concerns the ability of
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those organizations claiming to represent indigenous interests to unite, put
forward an actionable agenda, and influence others. Paying attention to
policy-makers’ perceptions of indigenous groups’ demonstrated capacity to
commit to future strategies also has an important theoretical implication. It
implies that in the politics of minority rights, the most important resource
for minorities to mobilize in the struggle for policy change is their own col-
lective energies; influencing others or winning the approbation of outside
groups is important, yet secondary.

Game theory usually accepts players as given, but an empirical study
of institutional emergence cannot. Along with judicial explanations of insti-
tutional change, this study evaluates the impact of indigenous group vari-
ables on policy-makers’ acceptance of the negotiation option. The political
mobilization of national and regional indigenous lobbies and the ability of
indigenous communities to act as cohesive negotiating parties are collective
action variables that compete with judicial variables to explain executive
negotiation behavior.

The Main Argument:
The Sequencing of Judicial Change and Indigenous Political Mobilization

A critical task of this study is to parse out the relative weight of judi-
cial versus other arguments in explaining executive negotiating behavior.
The advent of catalytic court decisions recognizing indigenous property
rights for the first time is most often identified as the primary causal force
behind the advent of land claim negotiations. While this study explores
the important role that courts play, it insists on explaining the emergence
of negotiation policies in conjunction with the ability of indigenous groups
to leverage potential and actual judicial change into political gain. The pri-
mary argument is that the emergence of negotiation policies is explained
by the interaction between judicial change and indigenous political mobi-
lization, not judicial change alone. Specifically, negotiation policies are
most likely to emerge when indigenous communities are politically mobi-
lized prior to the advent of crucial court decisions.

Before serious political mobilization and organized public protest
by indigenous people in the mid-1960s, non-indigenous advocates firmly
wedded to an assimilationist or integrationist agenda largely defined the
aboriginal policy agenda. In many ways, policy-makers’ political constitu-
ency in aboriginal policy reform were churches, farmers, miners, and oth-
ers, but rarely indigenous people. While non-indigenous advocates for
aboriginal policy reform were important supporters for the extension of
equal citizenship rights to indigenous individuals, their support did not
extend to the recognition of special indigenous rights.
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The mid-1960s marked an important qualitative change in indigenous
political history across all the countries considered in this study. During
this decade, indigenous political organizations expanded their repertoires
to include collective action through public protest. Land rights became the
central symbol around which disparate indigenous groups and organiza-
tions could unite and find a common voice. The key effect of indigenous
political mobilization, starting in the mid-1960s, was to make policy-mak-
ers aware for the first time that indigenous peoples could matter. Indig-
enous political mobilization began to make it clear to policy-makers that
any aboriginal policy reform would require some measure of indigenous
cooperation, which would come at the price of addressing indigenous land
rights. Indigenous political mobilization both challenged the normative
underpinnings of assimilationist policies and forced policy-makers to evalu-
ate the political cost of continuing with a non-recognition strategy.

If indigenous political mobilization increases policy-makers’ aware-
ness that non-recognition could be costly, it also decreases the attractive-
ness of delegated policy solutions. The key mechanism linking political
mobilization to the attractiveness of delegated solutions is policy-makers’
changing evaluations of what would happen should the government win its
case in court. In the advent of an adverse decision, a mobilized indigenous
group could credibly threaten to impose costs on the government in the
political sphere until the claim was settled to some level of satisfaction. In
other words, in the presence of a mobilized group, winning in court would
provide a government no political resolution. This finding turns the classic
blame avoidance thesis on its head, which predicts that as issues become
more politically controversial, policy-makers should prefer to delegate deci-
sion-making power.

A critical consequence is that when a government faces numerous out-
standing claims, political mobilization lowers the long run benefit of engaging
in a litigation or arbitration strategy. This effect holds even under conditions
of judicial change, which may affect the probability that the government will
win in court. However, the most important immediate repercussion of a court
decision is whether it sparks further mobilization of indigenous protest.

The main reason why high court decisions were catalytic and ushered
policy change is that they eliminated the executive’s option to do noth-
ing. In systems that privilege the rule of law, high court decisions can-
not be ignored. Just as court decisions can further galvanize social forces,
high court decisions galvanize the executive branch to provide a policy
response. There are many reasons why policy responses languish within
an administration’s policy system, including the sheer size of government
bureaucracies, and the many competing demands for cabinet attention. In
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parliamentary systems, one difficulty in achieving significant policy change
stems from the doctrine of collective cabinet responsibility. This doctrine
puts a premium on reaching a broad consensus at the cabinet table. In
instances of deep polarization or normative disagreement across key cabi-
net members, the executive is more likely to do nothing than push through
a policy position that some ministers could not publicly support. The cabi-
net debate, like the social debate, on indigenous land rights is often polar-
ized, and archival evidence shows that the pressure of a high court decision
provided allies (or detractors) of indigenous land rights the opportunity to
reach an agreement across the table where otherwise, an agreement would
be impossible.

High court decisions appear to predict a negotiation response because
in Australia, Canada, and New Zealand, precedent-setting high court rul-
ings on indigenous land rights occurred after indigenous peoples demon-
strated their capacity to mobilize and act collectively in the public sphere.
The sequencing of pan-tribal political mobilization (and increasing sup-
port across mainstream opinion for indigenous land rights) before judicial
activism meant that governments were more likely to consider negotiation
as a preferred policy than had the reverse scenario held true. The coun-
terfactual is that the United States Supreme Court recognized indigenous
land rights in the common law in 1823,23 far before Native Americans were
organized politically and could protect their judicial gains from Congress
or the President. When Congress chose to arbitrate native land claims in
1946, it did so partly because Native Americans had no political leverage to
impose any serious political costs, or to demand anything other than mon-
etary compensation for their historic losses. The Indian Claims Commis-
sion only needed to determine if a claim had merit, and identify a financial
award for compensation.

Political Norms and Underlying Preferences over Delegation

Even in the presence of judicial change and political mobilization, policy-
makers may be restrained from delegating political decisions to courts
by internal norms over the appropriateness of judicial policy-making
and review. In polities where governments hold judicial review as funda-
mentally undemocratic, the legitimacy of non-judicial dispute resolution
mechanisms is that much higher, and a negotiation policy is more likely
to emerge. The effect of this political norm is most evident in the United
States and New Zealand. Although debates about the legitimacy of courts
as policy-makers are not foreign to the American political psyche, they are
far less vociferous than in New Zealand, where the doctrine of parliamen-
tary supremacy holds fast. Thus this study shows that government-held
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norms regarding the role of courts in a robust democracy go some way in
explaining reluctance or willingness to provide negotiation policies, thus
linking cross-national variation in such norms to the emergence of particu-
lar policies.

Federalism: A Mediating Variable?

Judicial change and political mobilization variables can change relatively
quickly, and can account for changes in the dependent variable within
countries over time. The value of a cross-national comparison, however,
is to evaluate whether largely stable institutional structures and given his-
torical legacies can significantly shape the dance between social forces and
key decision-makers. Comparative institutional scholars have often come
to the conclusion that stable institutional configurations can account for
policy divergence across countries. We should therefore look to institutions
as important mediating variables.

Structural opportunities theorists in the social movement literature
present the argument that political opportunity structures, such as institu-
tional design, account for cross-national differences in policy outcomes. 2
As such, the ability of interest groups to influence governments to respond
to their demands is at least partly a function of institutional variables that
are beyond their control. The argument is compelling, but the political
opportunity structure argument, if not carefully specified, risks being car-
ried by an amalgam of institutional particularities of any given case, with
few a priori hypotheses about which institutional variables interact to cre-
ate an “opportunity structure.” The following empirical questions must
be resolved: Which domestic institutions shaped policy-makers’ evalua-
tions of the relative feasibility of their options? Did institutional legacies
shape or truncate the set of feasible policy alternatives in a consistent way
across time?

Federalism is one important and unavoidable institutional variable in
a cross-national study of land claims negotiation policies. The theoretical
literature disagrees on whether one should expect federalism to help or hin-
der the emergence of negotiation policies. In studies on federalism, a basic
theoretical metaphor often used is the “container.” Federalism is important
because it creates a series of discrete institutional spaces where similar politi-
cal battles are fought, but other elements are different enough to create more
or less fertile environments for political change. This container argument is
the root of the federalism as policy laboratory metaphor. It is argued that,
by creating different sub-national units where politics over particular policy
issues can play out, federalism increases the probability that groups can win
gains in these smaller arenas. Thus, federalism may increase the likelihood
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that negotiation policies emerge because it may be easier to achieve gradu-
ated change than to convince one central government to implement change
on a national scale. In federal states, sub-national governments may act as
policy innovators. Through reputation effects or learning mechanisms, these
policy innovations may spread across the federation.?® It is assumed that
sub-national states can innovate in their own sphere of competence without
interference from, or even the necessary cooperation with, the national level
government. In the policy fields such as health insurance,”” the metaphor
has been extensively used whereby sub-national states have the constitu-
tional jurisdiction to innovate, and intergovernmental difficulties turn on
issues of cost-sharing and the role of the national government in enforcing a
set of common standards across all jurisdictions.

However, if one adopts a more strategic point of view, the hypoth-
esis that the division of state power across a geographic space facilitates
the emergence of negotiation policies may be more difficult to sustain. The
division of state power across not only geography, but also policy areas,
can create policy environments where both the emergence and the disper-
sion of certain policies require inter-governmental cooperation. When the
resolution of a policy question crosses governments’ autonomous spheres
of action, there is cause for governments to engage in strategic play when
deciding whether to implement negotiation policies. The emergence of
negotiation policies can be high-jacked by intergovernmental rivalry. One
hypothesis is that in federal systems where jurisdictional responsibilities
overlap, national governments will shy away from negotiation because
sub-national governments must be included at the bargaining table, mak-
ing negotiation at least a tripartite affair. Sub-national governments may
impose political costs or withhold cooperation in other policy areas, should
a federal government unilaterally choose to negotiate with indigenous peo-
ple, when negotiation will impact sub-national governments’ capacities to
act within their jurisdictions.

The countries in this study offer great variation in the division of power
across governments. New Zealand is a unitary state, and acts as a control
for the others. In Canada, the federal government has jurisdiction over
“Indians and lands reserved for Indians.” The provinces retain constitu-
tional jurisdiction over land and resource management. As a result, any
resolution to indigenous land claims requires the assent and cooperation
of both levels of government. In Australia, the States had exclusive juris-
diction over both aboriginal affairs and land/resource management until
1967, when the Australian electorate amended the constitution to allow the
Commonwealth government the concurrent right to legislate in aboriginal
affairs. Consequently, the Australian states have a stronger role to play in
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land claims politics than Canadian provinces. However, in both countries,
the federal government can resolve indigenous land claims in their northern
territories without the encumbrance of sub-national governments.

Interestingly, key innovators in land claims politics in Canada and
Australia were not sub-national governments,*® but national governments
who first implemented negotiation strategies in the Northwest, the Yukon,
and the Northern Territories. This leads to a contrary hypothesis: federal
governments were able to respond because their federations included unitary
“islands” where negotiation was simpler. In systems with relatively strong
sub-national governments with respect to their political weight within fed-
eral institutions as well as the degree of financial independence from central
government coffers, federal governments may have less leverage to coerce
sub-national cooperation. Contrary to the first hypothesis, intergovernmen-
tal politics may serve only to stymie land claims negotiations. The theoreti-
cal view that federalism creates a positive political opportunity structure
for political change may be limited when looking at a policy area where
negotiated settlement solutions necessarily cross governments’ jurisdictional
boundaries, and where the ability to achieve negotiated outcomes depends
inherently on getting the approval of both levels of government.

At times, federalism’s impact on the policy process is weak, but it
can also be substantial. On balance, federalism does play a mediating role
in the emergence and diffusion of negotiation policies. There is little evi-
dence that federalism supported the diffusion of these policies from the
sub-national to the national level. The impact of federalism is most often
to hinder the development and diffusion of policies which recognize and
protect indigenous land rights. In this particular policy area, federalism
fails to accommodate territorially-based minority rights, in contrast to suc-
cesses elsewhere.?” Federalism gives economic interests, particularly large
players like forestry, mining, oil and agricultural producers, more lever-
age over sub-national governments’ policy preferences, since sub-national
governments are more dependent on and more sensitive to land-based
resource economies. As a result, sub-national governments are likely to
be less accommodating of indigenous interests than central governments.
If sub-national governments choose to innovate in aboriginal policy, it is
more likely that their innovations would eliminate, weaken, or circum-
vent the recognition of indigenous land rights rather than protect these
rights. Sub-national governments are more likely to innovate tyrannically.
The degree to which sub-national governments hold jurisdiction over pub-
lic lands and resource development, paired with opposition to indigenous
claims by economic actors, strongly decreases the likelihood that national
negotiation policies will emerge.
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In contrast, while a national government may adopt a pro-develop-
ment position, it must respond to a larger constituency of interests. Ottawa,
Wellington or Canberra needs to be mindful of its nation-wide constitu-
ency, which may include urban support for indigenous land rights. Cen-
tral governments have generally been innovators in land claims politics, but
the willingness of central governments to implement national negotiation
policies is always conditioned on the potential cost of harming intergovern-
mental relations. National governments tread lightly in the face of intransi-
gent sub-national governments. Sub-national opposition can both stall the
expansion of negotiations across the country (the failure to pass national
land rights legislation in the 1980s in Australia is largely due to intergov-
ernmental politics), and make it more difficult to reach settlement agree-
ments when sub-national governments do come to the bargaining table.
A federal government has a real imperative to constrain its own policies in
order to avoid future enforcement costs from combative States and prov-
inces. Unitary governments simply do not face this additional constraint on
their behavior.

IMPLICATIONS

By identifying the types of dispute resolution mechanisms supplied by gov-
ernments in land claims politics, I address larger questions concerning insti-
tutional change and the status of minoritarian group rights in democratic
polities. Social and policy actors evaluate policy alternatives within tempo-
rally embedded processes, illustrating that polities do not always consider
the full range of policy alternatives before them. Instead, the range of policy
alternatives considered at any critical juncture is historically constructed.
Historical comparative policy studies have neglected to examine how
advanced democratic governments evaluate their policy options under con-
ditions of high uncertainty regarding the following issues: the political and
legal legitimacy of rights that minority groups claim, how favorably courts
may review policy alternatives should they be put into place, the outcomes
of any given policy in the future, and how policy alternatives will mobilize
minorities, majorities, and any number of special interests. Comparative
policy studies have not cast a concerted eye on the mechanisms govern-
ment actors have, or have not, put in place to evaluate the relative merits of
policy alternatives in a context of ongoing judicial and political change.
This study brings together more mature literatures in comparative
politics regarding institutional change and collective action, with a field of
inquiry that comparative politics has at times neglected: law and courts.3°
Institutional change and supply cannot be understood without a nuanced



34 Negotiating Claims

eye to the relative causal weight of political, judicial, and institutional vari-
ables in forming policy-makers’ evaluations of policy alternatives. If my
work calls on comparative politics to be more attuned to the judicial, T call
upon the study of indigenous politics to be more mindful of how policy
outcomes are products of contexts where judicial and political processes
interact.

By engaging in land claim negotiations, governments: 1) validate indig-
enous peoples as bearing collective property rights (the recognition dimen-
sion); 2) accept shared political responsibility for future policy outcomes
(the delegation dimension). Negotiation is, therefore, a highly political
method of resolving an underlying land grievance. At the core of a govern-
ment’s decision to negotiate is an ideological shift, recognizing indigenous
groups as politically distinct and legitimate collective actors. By engaging
in a negotiation, governments recognize that uncertainty over competing
property rights can only be resolved through a larger process of political
relationship building. The importance of a negotiations policy is not just to
establish clearer rules regulating property disputes, but to establish mecha-
nisms that will regulate the future the political and economic relationships
between the state and indigenous groups within its borders. Thus, negotia-
tion as a policy alternative is unique in its requirement that governments
foresee a continuing political relationship with its indigenous populations
as collective actors, not solely as individuals.



Chapter Three

Indigenous Land Rights and
Cabinet Decision-Making in Canada
(1945-1973)

INTRODUCTION

This study explores the conditions under which governments establish a
negotiation policy with indigenous' peoples in order to address their griev-
ances over land. What distinguishes a negotiations policy from a govern-
ment’s ad hoc approach to claim negotiation? An ad hoc approach indicates
that a government is addressing a grievance of a particular group; it does
not signal a government’s commitment to address other grievances of indig-
enous people at any other time. A negotiation policy is important because
the government consciously and explicitly commits itself to a future long-
run strategy over a number of claims and across a number of groups. A
negotiation policy sends the message that a government is willing to engage
in a long-range process which symbolically accepts the legitimacy of indig-
enous collective property rights and the ability of indigenous people to act
as politically self-determining actors.

This chapter provides a historical account of how the Canadian fed-
eral government came to adopt a land claim negotiation policy. I concen-
trate here on setting out the significant moments in time when the Canadian
federal government was pressured to redefine its policy goals and recon-
sider their implementation. By focusing on these critical points in time, I ask
why did the Canadian federal government not choose a negotiation policy
in 1951, 1964, or 1969, but did finally in 1973? By providing a detailed,
sequential account of each opportunity, I show what prevented govern-
ments from choosing a negotiation response sooner. I am also able to trace
the process whereby key decision-makers perceived changes in their politi-
cal environments, and determine how these changes impacted their ideolog-
ical development and subsequent policy decisions. This approach allows me
to demonstrate that the sequencing of events, particularly the sequencing

35
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of political mobilization and legal change, affected policy-makers’ evalua-
tions of the feasible set of policy alternatives at each choice opportunity,
and therefore, the relative value of negotiation.

The nerve centre of executive decision-making in Canada’s parlia-
mentary system is the cabinet. Governments make the policy decisions in
cabinet committees and in full cabinet which collectively bind each minister
of the Crown. By combining archival and interview data with secondary
sources, I present the key issues which affected cabinet opinion. I am able
to identify the proponents, and sometimes the opponents, to the negotia-
tion of indigenous land claims. I am also able to document and analyze
the dynamics of internal consensus-building which underpin the doctrine of
collective cabinet responsibility.

This chapter examines the internal and external cabinet pressures
that lead to policy change. Among the external factors, the political mobi-
lization of indigenous peoples is more important than judicial change in
explaining the types of land claims policies implemented by cabinet. The
political mobilization of indigenous people prior to the advent of judicial
recognition of indigenous property rights makes negotiation much more
likely. Two aspects of political mobilization are particularly important. The
first is the demonstrated ability of pan-tribal indigenous organizations to
act collectively and bring together a coalition of indigenous actors around
a particular principle or policy option. The second is the politics of public
protest that signals the ability of disparate indigenous groups to oppose
government policies, as well as their potential to mobilize wider public opin-
ion. Political mobilization warns policy-makers that the issue of indigenous
land rights widens the potential zone of social conflict, and consequently,
that the government is dealing with an issue of political, not strictly legal,
ramifications. The politicization of indigenous land rights decreases the fea-
sibility of policy mechanisms that delegate decision-making power to courts
or arbitrators. The political resurgence of indigenous people diminishes the
usefulness to governments of pursuing further litigation, chiefly since gov-
ernments can no longer assume that indigenous groups will quietly accept a
court’s adverse decision.

This study challenges the hypothesis that governments prefer to del-
egate decision-making power to courts precisely when issues become “too
hot to handle.” The blame avoidance hypothesis attributes policy inaction
to a government’s calculation that having courts render judgments in dif-
ficult cases would allow it to credibly deflect blame or punishment when
implementing contentious policies. Governments faced with potentially
unpopular policy decisions prefer to point a finger and say “the courts
made us do it.” While this argument is intuitively compelling, it is not
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an accurate portrayal of the thinking around cabinet tables, at least as
recorded in archival and other materials.

What is interesting is the degree to which cabinets are unwilling to
delegate meaningful decision-making capacity in the face of politically
mobilized groups. This is true of the Canadian, New Zealand and Austra-
lian cases, as demonstrated in subsequent chapters. Governments are more
likely to do nothing, to appoint non-binding commissioners, or to negoti-
ate rather than delegate to courts or arbitrators in the presence of political
mobilization. If these parliamentary governments do not easily forfeit the
power to govern, then why are important judicial decisions such important
precursors for policy change? The answer lies not in a government’s incen-
tives to escape blame, but in the difficulty of achieving consensus around
the cabinet table without the additional pressure of a high court decision.

The doctrine of cabinet responsibility has the general effect that in
the presence of divided and forceful cabinet opinion, governments are more
likely to do nothing than forge ahead with significant policy change. Even
forceful Prime Ministers hesitate to push through policy measures when
senior cabinet members express strong reservations. As Trudeau remarked,
« . a prime minister is always dependent on having a cohesive cabinet
and caucus. If too many of his colleagues resign, he will cease to be prime
minister.”? In the context of a court decision, proponents to a policy option
within cabinet require a lower standard of comfort around the table to
obtain the formal buy-in of previously leery cabinet members. Court deci-
sions decrease the size of the minimal winning coalition needed to make
any particular decision.

But what type of decision? The critical court judgments on indigenous
rights generally do not tell governments what institutional mechanisms to
establish. The Canadian, New Zealand, and Australian cases show that the
cabinet coalition in favor of a negotiation policy is built over time, and
does not magically appear once a court makes a critical ruling. While cata-
lytic court decisions legitimated indigenous property rights (with the excep-
tion of the Australian judicial ruling in 1971), this judicial legitimation did
not effect a wholesale and immediate transformation of cabinet members’
views. The process which allowed cabinets to recognize indigenous land
rights and negotiate with indigenous peoples was incremental. In Canada,
New Zealand and Australia, the political mobilization of indigenous peoples
forced cabinets to re-evaluate longstanding normative goals of assimilation
and formal equality. Governments were forced to balance the normative
assimilationist goals of their indigenous policies with the achievement of
other policy goals. At times, a strict application of the principles of for-
mal equality and the non-recognition of indigenous rights lost out. Previous
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policy decisions compromised the normative principles of formal equality,
and recognized indigenous collective rights. These compromises established
a series of precedents that, bit by bit, brought cabinet members to legiti-
mate and finally negotiate land claims.

This chapter also concludes that advisory commissions, usually estab-
lished to investigate the merit of indigenous claims, played important and
unintended roles in the development of a wider public dialogue on the
legitimacy of indigenous rights. Advisory commissions in Canada and New
Zealand became strong advocates of the resolution of land grievances out-
side the courts. The commissions became important external and indepen-
dent voices calling for the political resolution of land claims on the basis of
good-faith negotiations and honoring the principle of partnership between
the Crown and indigenous peoples. By building positive reputations with
indigenous peoples and establishing their independence from governments,
these commissions restructured the political environment in favor of nego-
tiation policies. They also provided indigenous groups with important
opportunities to build linkages with the executive branch outside of tradi-
tional indigenous affairs bureaucracies. These linkages provided additional
support for a negotiation response within the administrative state.

Indigenous Land Rights: By Aboriginal Title or by Government Act

In order to understand the politics of indigenous land claims, it is neces-
sary to recognize a key distinction in the legal status of indigenous prop-
erty rights. Indigenous land claims are part of a larger political project
for self-determination, but claims are usually made with regard to specific
legal rights. Present day land rights may stem from the legal doctrine of
aboriginal title, or from a government act, such as treaties or legislation.
The doctrine of aboriginal title holds that indigenous peoples’ land rights
are grounded in their possession and occupancy of land prior to the era
of colonial expansion. Thus, aboriginal title rights stem from indigenous
peoples’ own systems of customary law, and are not created by the new
colonial sovereigns. In title claims, indigenous people argue that their right
to commercially harvest timber, extract minerals in a mining venture, or
to pass unimpeded through a farmer’s field for ceremonial purposes, arise
because aboriginal title was never lawfully extinguished. In the politics of
recognition, title claims are important because they assert a property right
which is derived from different sources of law and continue to exist inde-
pendent of government approbation.

The second type of land claim relates to a property right created
through government action, either by statute, executive order, or treaty.
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The validity of these property rights derives from the democratic and
sovereign power of a government. In this respect indigenous land rights
are the same as any other property right held by a non-indigenous per-
son. Such a land claim may assert that governments have not fulfilled
the obligations to which they previously agreed or that they have acted
illegally and deprived indigenous peoples of the full enjoyment of such
rights. In the politics of recognition, treaty claims are less contentious for
governments than title claims, since their legitimacy rests on the opera-
tion of one system of law.

Whether aboriginal people can make treaty claims or title claims
(or both) defines the language of land claims politics in each country. In
Canada, indigenous people in different areas of the country make both
treaty and title claims. The case study will show how the Canadian gov-
ernment reacted to both types of claims. In New Zealand, land claims are
almost exclusively treaty claims; in Australia, land claims are title claims.
Since the Canadian and Australian cases involve title claims, governments
in these two federal systems struggled, much more than in New Zealand,
with the question of whether aboriginal rights should be recognized. Once
the question of recognition was addressed, the secondary question of
how to recognize these rights, through negotiation or some other means,
became important.

SETTING THE SCENE

Indian Policy in Canada Before 1945

British imperial policy recognized that the New World’s original inhabit-
ants had rights to land. Thus, Britain adopted the policy that its colonial
representatives would enter into treaty agreements to cede or extinguish
aboriginal rights in return for some combination of reserved lands, goods,
and a right to continue to hunt and fish on unoccupied Crown land. The
constitution of 1867 assigned the federal government jurisdiction over
“Indians and lands reserved for Indians,” and representatives of the fed-
eral Crown engaged in a process of signing land cession agreements with
Canada’s indigenous peoples from the late 1800s until 1921. Important for
modern land claims politics, these land cession agreements did not cover
all of what would become Canada. Indigenous peoples in large parts of the
northern territories, northern Québec, the Maritimes, and British Colum-
bia did not sign treaties which, according to the goverment, extinguished
aboriginal title.’
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Nonetheless, the federal government transferred ownership of
Crown lands and the jurisdiction over their development to the provinces,
and Indian communities were segregated onto insufficient and scattered
reserved lands.* One scholar writes that “ . . . today . . . all Canadian
Indian reserves combined constitute less than one half of the Navajo res-
ervation in Arizona alone.”’ Reserve size was allotted according to a for-
mula, varying from 120 to 640 acres per family, dependent on land quality
for agricultural purposes. Reserves were also allocated based on band
sizes at the time of allocation, not projecting to a time when native popu-
lations would reverse their decline.® In British Columbia, reserve allot-
ments were particularly small. The federal and provincial governments
preferred small scattered reserves rather than the concentration of native
peoples on larger allocations, since small reserves, it was thought, would
speed up the assimilation process and negate the future need for reserves
in any case.” The key mechanism that defined federal policy over Indian
communities and Indian reserved lands was the Indian Act, a federal stat-
ute first enacted in 1876. The regulation of Indian reserved lands and of
almost every aspect of Indian community life was achieved through the
Indian Act.

The legal status of indigenous land rights in Canada was affected by
court opinion on the existence of aboriginal title within the common law,
and the enforceability of land rights guaranteed under the treaties. These
questions were addressed in an early court case. In 1888, Britain’s Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council® ruled in the St. Catherine’s Milling case’
that aboriginal title was not a legal right, and that indigenous rights to land
were restricted to use and occupancy rights reserved to them in treaty: “The
Crown has all along had a present proprietary estate in the land, upon
which the Indian title is a mere burden.”'® This decision established both
the bedrock legal precedent and the political modus vivendi on indigenous
land rights in Canada for almost a century: that indigenous rights to land
existed only at the government’s convenience, and the government could
unilaterally change or extinguish these rights through executive or legisla-
tive action. Indigenous land rights were subject to the political whims of the
day, although whatever rights the government did create under the treaties
were enforceable in Canadian courts.

After 1921, indigenous peoples who did not sign treaties had two
options: test the judiciary and see whether it would change its mind on
the aboriginal title issue; or pressure the federal government to recog-
nize aboriginal title, and prevail on provincial governments to respect
these rights in provincial settlement and natural resource policies. Early
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demands by Indian bands in British Columbia for the government to
recognize and address their title claims joined the voices of treaty bands
across the country for the government to establish sufficient reserve lands
for a reasonable land base. By the mid 1920s, attempts to organize indig-
enous voices on a regional basis to assert land rights had attracted the
attention of Parliament.

The reaction of Parliament in 1927 to Indian land claims was basi-
cally to shut down indigenous organizations before they really got off the
ground. The government rejected the merit of title claims out of hand, and
then made it impossible for nascent Indian organizations or any organiza-
tions willing to act on Indians’ behalf, to pursue their grievances in the
courts. The federal government did so by amending the Indian Act and
making it illegal to raise money to pursue a land claim against the Crown.!!
Reconciling land grievances, expanding reserve land bases, and recognizing
the special rights of Indian communities did not fit within a global policy
goal of assimilation.

The overriding goal of Canada’s Indian policy also had great impli-
cations for the inclusion of indigenous people within the citizenship
regime. Assimilation’s great hope was for Indians to turn away from their
traditional ways, and through the civilizing influences of agriculture and
a religious education, become prepared for the rights and responsibili-
ties of full citizenship. This teleological view of citizenship established
a basic tradeoff. For status Indians, the acquisition of equal citizenship
rights, such as the federal franchise, came at a price: the relinquishment
of rights guaranteed under the Indian Act. Of particular importance to
the Canadian government was the right not to be taxed on income earned
on reserves. In the Canadian imagination of the time, equal citizenship
was undifferentiated citizenship where special Indian rights and Canadian
citizenship rights could not co-exist. The dichotomy has had an impor-
tant impact on Indian identity politics that echoes still today. To become
Canadian and to escape many of the punitive measures of the Indian Act
meant to turn away from Indian-ness. Some Indian groups had no use for
Canadian citizenship, holding instead to a separate and supra-national
Indian citizenship; others believed the Indian Act and segregation under
the reserve system held more dangers than benefits. Most sought an
accommodation between the two views, seeking an equality which could
accommodate difference.

The process of shedding Indian status in exchange for the full rights
and responsibilities of citizenship was called enfranchisement. To speak
of enfranchisement, therefore, has a particular meaning in the Canadian



42 Negotiating Claims

context, and is not simply reducible to gaining the right to vote. By the
early 1900s, few status Indians availed themselves of the enfranchisement
opportunity, and Canadian policy-makers sought ways to rectify the slow
pace of change. In 1920, the Indian Branch pushed for compulsory enfran-
chisement, so that both individuals and bands that the Branch determined
were “ready” for citizenship would be forced to bear their citizenship
responsibilities.!? Although the Branch reportedly never enforced the com-
pulsory enfranchisement provision,'? its existence was a clear indication of
the state’s coerciveness in Indian administration. It was not until the end
of the Second World War that Canadian policy-makers would confront the
idea that voting rights and Indian rights were not necessarily inimical to
each other.'

In sum, the federal government defined policy progress by the Indians’
total assimilation into the dominant society, having shed their cultural ties
and linkages to their communities. This global policy goal had no room for
recognizing or promoting indigenous collective rights. As the senior public
servant of the federal Indian Affairs Branch stated in 1920, “ . . . Our
object is to continue until there is not a single Indian in Canada that has
not been absorbed into the body politic, and there is no Indian question,
and no Indian Department.”!® Manifestly, by the outbreak of the Second
World War, the Canadian federal government had fully committed itself to
an assimilationist policy for Indian people. Any land rights enjoyed by its
indigenous populations were minimal and subject to unilateral extinguish-
ment. Indigenous groups and their supporters were also effectively barred
from the courts.

THE SECOND WORLD WAR

The Second World War and its aftermath served as a catalyst for the re-
examination of Canadian federal Indian policy for a number of critical rea-
sons which do not primarily include land claims. First, by the end of the
war, the demographic trend of population decline on Indian reserves had
reversed, as the rate of natural increase of the registered Indian popula-
tion had been climbing since 1936.'® The immediate issue of concern for
the administrators of federal government Indian policy was the prospect
of increasing education costs for an increasingly young population which,
according to the federal budget, was supposed to disappear. This popula-
tion growth accentuated the economic and social conditions on reserves
already exacerbated by the Depression. The economic marginalization
of Indian communities eventually drew the attention of social reformers,
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already mobilizing to push forth the creation of a modern welfare state.
The economic conditions of Indian reserve populations and the extension
of pension benefits to Indian war veterans were enough to ensure the inter-
est of new welfare state reformers to the dossier of Indian policy.

The 1930s and early 1940s saw the emergence and consolidation of
regional-level Indian associations to address the impact of life on Indian
reserves and the overarching issue of aboriginal rights. The Indian Associa-
tion of Alberta, the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia and the Fed-
eration of Saskatchewan Indians were formed during this period. Regional
and local networks and organizations were the strongest basis for Indian
political action, but the war years also brought with them opportunities
for Indian leaders to meet on a national scale. Local and regional Indian
leaders congregated in Ottawa in 1943 and 1944 to meet with government
officials to discuss a panoply of issues. While discussions with government
officials may not have been fruitful, these meetings were important net-
working opportunities that led some Indian leaders to call for a national
political organization and voice. In 1945, Andrew Paull, the engine behind
the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, became President of the North
American Indian Brotherhood (NAIB). The NAIB was Andrew Paull’s
attempt to knit together a national political agenda for Indian communi-
ties, though observers and his contemporaries pointed out that in its early
years, the NAIB was in practice reducible to a support system for Andrew
Paull himself.'” While the effectiveness of a national Indian organization
remained limited for years due to the lack of adequate resources, its foun-
dation marked an important step in the organization of an Indian political
voice in Canada.

The social change brought on by the war, the establishment and advo-
cacy of fledgling native rights groups and associations across the country,
and internal government concerns about the fiscal implications of Indian
policies culminated with the creation, in 1946, of a special joint commit-
tee of the House of Commons and Senate. This joint committee was to
conduct a review of the federal government’s Indian policies. The joint
committee held hearings on all aspects of Indian policy until 1948, and
it provided Indian leaders with the opportunity to directly present their
views and policy agendas to Parliament and a larger public audience than
they ever had before. In contrast to parliamentarians’ and other witnesses’
approval of the fundamental goals of assimilation, Andrew Paull stressed
the need for Parliament to investigate and address both treaty-based and
title-based grievances. The NAIB supported the creation of a special third-
party arbitrator in the form of an independent claims commission which
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would have the power to investigate treaty violations and settle them. In
1948, the joint committee recommended that the government establish
such a commission to examine treaty-based grievances, but sidestepped the
issue of aboriginal title claims.

INDIAN POLICY OPPORTUNITIES AFTER WORLD WAR TWO

The St. Laurent Cabinet Reviews the Indian Act, 1948-1951

With the conclusion of the policy review by Parliament, cabinet was faced
with the choice of how to respond. The Indian Affairs Branch prepared a
memorandum to cabinet in the fall of 1948 to establish the principles for
a revised Indian Act. The exercise indicated that the fundamental assimi-
lationist goals of federal policy had not changed, but that the legislation
was to give Indians more control over reserve administration so that “they
may become more self-sustaining.”'® The proposed revisions to the Indian
Act were mostly concerned with other issues in Indian policy (e.g. the legal
definition of Indian status, conditions of enfranchisement, and educational
provisions). The sole mention of the underlying issues of land grievances
was to continue the 1927 prohibition on financially supporting a claim.!
There was zero support within the Indian Affairs Branch for a treaty claims
commission or for any measure supporting a land claims agenda. There is
no recorded evidence that other ministers were interested in bringing the
land claims issue directly to cabinet.

In any case, this deflection of the core issues in Indian communi-
ties’ policy agendas was not the issue that served in 1948 to derail further
cabinet consideration of Indian policy reform. The proposed seculariza-
tion of Indian education made an opponent of the then powerful Catholic
Church, particularly so in Québec. By the 1940s, the Catholic Church
administered the core social service functions of the modern state: edu-
cation, hospital care, and care for the indigent.?’ The secularization of
Indian education provisions was a small part of a larger battle the Church
would begin to face in the 1940s: the expansion of the welfare state and
the diminution of the Church’s role in the public sphere. It was a battle
the Church took seriously. In 1942, Church-based hospitals formed an
association to fight the initial proposals for a state-run health care insur-
ance program;*! and one scholar of Québec Catholicism places the 1944
defeat of Québec’s Liberal government at the Church’s feet.?> The Catho-
lic Church’s willingness to mobilize against the secularization of Indian
education provisions must be seen within this wider context of growing
institutional threat. In December 1948, cabinet decided the politically
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safer course of action was to delay the revision of the Indian Act until
after the 1949 federal election.?3

The Liberal government won that election, but did not reconsider
Indian policy reform until the spring of 1950. Prime Minister St. Laurent
moved Indian Affairs into the portfolio of the Minister of Citizenship and
Immigration, clearly signaling the ideological framework that would govern
Indian policy for the foreseeable future. In May 1950, the new Minister of
Citizenship and Immigration, Walter Harris, reacquainted cabinet with the
recommendations of the special joint committee, including the establish-
ment of an Indian claims commission. The Minister noted that the claims
commission proposal “[was] not being initiated by the Department,”?*
therefore indicating that the measure enjoyed neither bureaucratic nor his
own personal support. With no advocate for land claims at the table, cabi-
net concluded that “no Indian claims commission [was] to be established at
this time.”?> Harris introduced the revised Indian Act, largely unchanged
from the draft prepared two years earlier, into Parliament in June. In his
speech in the House of Commons, Harris confirmed that “ . . . the under-
lying purpose of Indian administration has been to prepare the Indians for
citizenship with the same rights and responsibilities as enjoyed and accepted
by other members of the community.”2¢

The Indian Act revisions did not meet with unquestioned approval.
The legislation came under fire from civil libertarians for not going far
enough in pursuing an equal citizenship agenda, as the government still
refused to extend the federal vote to those Indians unwilling to waive their
tax exemption status. Leslie reports that key cabinet ministers feared an
unrestricted franchise would deliver Indian votes to the socialist and left-
of-centre party, the Cooperative Commonwealth Federation.?” As expected,
the Catholic Church opposed the education provisions, and the Indian orga-
nizations condemned much of the legislation, especially its unwillingness to
embrace their special rights and address their land grievances. The opposi-
tion of Indian groups was manageable, but the opposition of the Catholic
Church was a whole other issue. This sparked the Minister to delay the
issue again by ordering another internal review of the legislative revisions
before proceeding through Parliament.

In December of 1950, the internal review sparked a minor change of
heart with the Minister, and he recommended to cabinet that the 1927 pro-
vision restricting the solicitation of contributions to fight land claims in the
courts be deleted. The memorandum to cabinet specifies his reasoning;:

There has been widespread criticism of this section. It may be men-
tioned that this provision was first introduced into the Indian Act in
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1927 and, according to Departmental records, no conviction has been
obtained under the present Section. The retention of this provision is
not considered warranted as it is ineffectual in practice and also consid-
ered by the Indians and others as being an unnecessary interference in
personal liberty. It is therefore recommended that it be deleted.?

In conjunction with this recommendation, the Minister once again
brought before cabinet the longstanding Indian demand for a claims com-
mission and for recognition of their aboriginal title claims. The Minister
did not see fit to make a recommendation on this issue at that time, only
indicating to his cabinet colleagues that they had the option of creating a
commission under the new legislation or by executive act. He did, how-
ever, echo his recommendation of allowing Indians unfettered access to
the courts:

An alternative method of dealing with Indian claims is to have them
brought before courts of competent jurisdiction . . . It is claimed by
the Indians, however, that it would be possible for a commission to go
into questions which would not be in the jurisdiction of a court.?’

Cabinet deliberated on the issue in January of 1951. At that point,
Walter Harris was ready to make his preference against a commission
known, indicating to his colleagues that . . . it was undesirable to have a
commission, and it was recommended that any cases be dealt with on an ad
hoc basis.”3° Cabinet agreed.

The Minister’s preference for litigation over an arbitration strategy
is totally in keeping with the civil libertarian approach to Indian land
grievances. A special third party arbitrator would legitimate the Indians’
special rights agenda, while allowing Indians unrestricted access to the reg-
ular court system would reinforce their equality vis-a-vis non-indigenous
Canadians. Indeed, in consultation with Indian groups on the Indian Act
revisions, Harris indicated that “practical use of the legal system would
advance the process of Indian integration into mainstream society.”3! In
June 1951, the legislation passed the House of Commons without a claims
commission, but it did allow indigenous groups to pursue a litigation strat-
egy if they were able.

The Indian Act reform process represents the first post-World War
Two opportunity for the Canadian federal government to respond to Indian
land grievances. Cabinet only considered three policy options during this
time: do nothing, allow special third-party arbitration, or allow for litiga-
tion. Negotiation was not part of the feasible set of alternatives, an omission
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which is explicable given the federal government’s ideological commitment
to assimilation and its causal belief that encouraging land rights would delay
the assimilation process. There was no support within the federal bureau-
cracy for a claims commission either at this point, and therefore little likeli-
hood that administrative actors would seek to persuade the lead minister to
that course of action. There was also little reason for other cabinet minis-
ters to develop an interest in Indian land claims, since Indian organizational
capacities were still minimal, political mobilization was nascent, and non-
indigenous support for Indian policy reform did not extend to the Indian
special rights agenda. Cabinet opened up the road for land rights litigation
precisely because they felt that it would amount to an exercise in civic edu-
cation. Moreover, Cabinet could be reasonably assured at the time, that in
the climate of low political mobilization and judicial restraint, Indian wins
in the courts could be easily reversed at the cabinet table.

Adjudication or Consuliation? 1961-66

Examination of Indian policy goals languished during the final days of the
St. Laurent government. Prospects for change improved in 1957, when
the Conservative Party was swept into power under the leadership of
John Diefenbaker. A conservative populist from northern Saskatchewan,
Diefenbaker made his political reputation in the Opposition trenches as
a staunch supporter of individual liberties.?> He sought also the elimina-
tion of “second-class citizenship,” to which he had often felt relegated due
to his German surname.?® An avowed civil libertarian and a promoter of
equal Canadian citizenship for Canadians of diverse backgrounds, Diefen-
baker’s approach to Indian policy would be heavily conditioned by these
two passions. As a biographer writes, “ . . . he saw a place for Native
Canadians as individuals within the nation. They were among the neglected
and excluded with whom Diefenbaker identified himself.”3* Diefenbaker
objected to the arbitrary powers of the Minister included in the Indian Act,
bridled against the paternalism of Indian Affairs administration, and sup-
ported extending the right to vote to status Indians residing on reserve. The
unrestricted extension of the franchise to status Indians was fundamentally
intertwined with Diefenbaker’s passionate espousal of Canada’s first Bill
of Rights. It was during the Bill of Right’s passage through the House of
Commons in 1960 that Diefenbaker extended status Indians the uncondi-
tional right to vote.

Diefenbaker’s enthusiasm for the indigenous individual’s civil rights
was real, but neither he nor his cabinet ministers were comfortable with the
collectivist nature of Indian land rights agendas. All felt that focusing on
a special rights agenda would distract Indians from the important task of
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social and economic advancement, hence “retard[ing] the process of inte-
gration.”?’ His was a less coercive assimilationist agenda, but an assimila-
tionist agenda nonetheless. However, Diefenbaker did advance the Indian
policy file when he appointed the first Indian member of the Senate, James
Gladstone, in 1958, and nominated him co-chair of a parliamentary joint
committee to study, once again, Indian policy.

The joint committee met for two years, and served as a vehicle for
churches, provinces, Indian rights organizations and non-native civil lib-
ertarians to make their positions known to Parliament and to the gov-
ernment. In terms of land rights, three issues are noteworthy. Firstly,
non-native advocacy organizations and provinces came to support the
idea that title to Indian reserves be vested in Indian individuals and held
in trust by the federal government, rather than being owned directly by
the Crown. This was seen as a way of encouraging Indian self-administra-
tion (not self-determination) and decreasing the arbitrary power of the
Minister over reserve life. This shows the beginnings of a changing causal
thought process among Indian policy watchers that links Indian control
over land to furthering social advancement, rather than impeding it. This
and the cautious acceptance by non-natives that Indian integration need
not be achieved through Indian deculturation showed an acceptance not
of native rights per se, but of the growing salience of cultural pluralism
in the national post-war dialogue on Canadian citizenship.*® The second
development was the warning by the Nisga’a tribe of northwestern Brit-
ish Columbia, that if the federal government would not negotiate their
aboriginal title claims, they would seek redress of their grievances in
court. The third development was the surprising endorsement by the com-
mittee of a land claims commission to inquire into the British Columbia
and Oka land questions.3”

The Indian Affairs Branch’s response to the joint committee recom-
mendation was left to the Branch’s director. In a reversal of the 1951 expe-
rience, there was support within the branch for the claims commission
recommendation. The Director argued that the distrust and bad feeling of
Indians toward the Branch was due in part to the failure of previous gov-
ernments to address their land grievances. This distrust was getting in the
Branch’s way and making it difficult to administer social welfare policies.
The director wrote: . . . Such a barrier might be removed if we were in a
position to say that we no longer had anything to do with such claims, that
the Indians should take them to the Claims Commission, a body separate
and distinct from the Branch.”38

The support of the bureaucracy for the creation of an independent
arbitrator was based on a self-interested analysis about what made its job
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easier, rather than a principled acceptance of the validity of Indian land
rights. The independence of such an institution would allow the bureau-
cracy to smooth the policy environment by deflecting a key criticism of
its target group. This need for independence overrode the finance depart-
ment’s concerns that the commission could make monetary awards outside
of the government’s expenditure management process.’> With the support
of a reformist Prime Minister, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration
and the Minister of Justice prepared a memorandum to cabinet, setting out
the broad characteristics of an arbitration body, and sought approval from
cabinet to draft the proposed legislation in February of 1962.

On the table was the proposal to create a three person commission
to inquire into both title and treaty claims, as well as “other claims that
might have no foundation in law . . . but which might merit consideration
on grounds of honourable dealings and fairness and good conscience.”*°
The proposed commission would make advisory judgments on monetary
compensation for valid claims. There is no evidence that cabinet or govern-
ment officials entertained the return of lands or any other forms of redress
as part of a larger relationship building exercise. From February through
March 1962, cabinet held four discussions on the creation of the com-
mission. Three issues dominated the discussions. The first related to the
mandate of a commission to hear Métis land claims. Cabinet directed the
Ministers responsible to limit the scope of the commission to those native
persons clearly within federal jurisdiction.*! The second was the need for
the government to have some control over the outcomes, or decisions, of
a commission inquiry. Cabinet debated on whether or not the commission
should be an arbitrator, since . . . while it was difficult to resist any pro-
posal put forward in the name of equity and justice, control of the inquiry
would be important.”*? It is unclear from the record if cabinet was more
concerned with maintaining fiscal control over the initiative, or if there
were more principled concerns about reconciling the delegation of decision-
making authority with notions of parliamentary supremacy. In the end,
cabinet voted to give the commission only the power to make recommenda-
tions regarding the size of a cash settlement.

The third issue that drew cabinet interest was the timing of making
a decision on the issue. The Diefenbaker government was facing an elec-
tion call in 1962, and there was concern about whether raising interest in
Indian land claims would be advantageous or not for the government in
the upcoming campaign. While cabinet seemed committed to establishing
a commission of some sort, it was not clear whether it would be better to
make this position known prior to the campaign, when the government was
far from being assured of victory. Voices around the table felt that <. . . on
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the contrary, many non-Indians felt that the government should give greater
consideration to Indian claims and would approve the setting up of a Com-
mission.”* As the month of March ended, cabinet concluded that it would
be to their advantage to make an announcement prior to the election call,
indicating that the government, if it would win, would introduce legislation
for a commission in the new session of Parliament.**

The Diefenbaker government was re-elected in June, but formed
a hobbled minority government. The claims commission proposal came
before cabinet in October, where the Minister of Justice and the Minister of
Citizenship and Immigration both recommended the advisory option, with
the Minister of Justice citing his reason why: “The Commission would not
proceed on the basis of the ordinary rules of law but would be concerned
with ‘fair and honourable dealing’ in considering the claims. Adjudication
would have to be subject to appeal, presumably to the Supreme Court, and
the issues themselves were not really legal.”® Any voices to the contrary
were silenced when the Prime Minister joined the discussion*®, and cabinet
approved legislation for an advisory claims body.

The legislation, however, never passed through Parliament. It fell
victim to the paroxysms of the Cuban Missile era, when the Diefenbaker
government first lost its Minister of Defence over the government’s nuclear
weapons policy, and then lost two non-confidence motions in the House of
Commons. Diefenbaker was forced to dissolve Parliament, and call another
election. Canadians continued the era of government instability by elect-
ing a Liberal minority government under Prime Minister Lester Pearson in
April of 1963.

Pearson’s personal preoccupations were dominated by foreign policy
and the more pressing domestic issues of the day. These were the estab-
lishment of the national pension scheme and managing federal-provincial
relations with a Québec provincial government increasingly assertive of its
powers and status within the Canadian federation. As a result, Indian policy
did not garner the sustained attention of the Prime Minister. The portfo-
lio also suffered from a lack of Ministerial attention, as the Prime Minister
assigned the portfolio to five different Ministers in five years. This meant
that the only stable element in the administration of Indian policy was the
Indian Affairs Branch. Senior officials in the Branch recognized that govern-
ment inaction on the land claims file was interfering, in their view, with the
achievement of social welfare goals. In May, the Branch began to prepare a
memorandum seeking the new cabinet’s approval of claims commission leg-
islation, this time squarely recommending adjudication, with the creation of
a special court of Indian Claims to hear appeals of the Commission’s mon-
etary decisions. The Branch’s interest in the Commission was self-serving:
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The conviction in the mind of any Indian group that justice is being
denied makes it extremely difficult to obtain the necessary co-opera-
tion between them and government that is so necessary in every field of
endeavour that may be undertaken to improve their lot . . . If a claim
is good, then it should be settled. Equally important, if a claim is bad,
the Indians should know about it so they can put it aside.*”

By December 1963, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration
presented the Branch’s claims commission initiative to cabinet. The policy
memorandum made the first mention of negotiation to cabinet in the con-
text of institutional choices for resolving land claims, but only to dismiss it
out of hand, and to assure cabinet that a claims commission would have no
authority to enter into any negotiations. It states: “ . . . It may be noted
that the Commission has no jurisdiction to entertain claims directed towards
amending or re-negotiating treaties. It is considered that these are contrac-
tual obligations which both the Crown and the Indians must honour.”*8

The memorandum does not set out the advisory option, nor does it
provide the cabinet with any other policy alternatives. The memorandum
also made it clear that the government knew very little about the fiscal risk
to which the land claims file would expose the government. It remarked
that, “indeed, this is a field without precedent in Canadian experience,”
but offered a very preliminary costing of at least $16,900,000. Cabinet
approved the bill, but did so with the intention of only introducing it to
the House for first reading, not intending to see it through the legislative
process to the end. In effect, the government introduced the claims com-
mission legislation as a trial balloon, allowing Indian bands and others to
comment upon it and make their feelings known. Indian reactions were
largely negative, given the proposed commission would not hear aborigi-
nal title claims,* and given the proviso that Indians could not bring forth
claims relating to provincial jurisdiction, which would have removed hunt-
ing and fishing claims from consideration.’® The government allowed two
years to pass before reconsidering the Indian claims commission proposal
in March of 1965. No change in the principles of the bill was proposed,
despite the representations of Indian groups and others during the two year
hiatus from cabinet attention.’! The government once more introduced the
claims commission legislation into the House, but did not consider it a pri-
ority. The claims commission legislation was never passed.

The period from 1961 to 1966 is marked by instable minority gov-
ernments that made it very difficult to move a legislative agenda through
Parliament. The public salience of Indian land claims was very low and
did not force the government to reassess its legislative priorities. Although



52 Negotiating Claims

Indian national and regional organizations existed and had opportunities
to make their policy agenda known to executive actors, these organizations
had limited resource bases and had not publicly demonstrated the capac-
ity to mobilize Indian communities. Such mobilization would have been an
important reason for cabinet to prioritize Indian land rights legislation, and
perhaps even to address title claims.

In this context of minimal external pressure and lack of any consistent
ministerial direction, the only serious pressure to address land grievances
came from within the Indian affairs bureaucracy. Driven by an internal
admission of general policy failure, officials thought that addressing land
grievances through an arbitration mechanism would garner Indian commu-
nities’ cooperation to achieve what the bureaucracy felt was the important
policy goal: improving social welfare outcomes and speeding up the process
of integration. The bureaucracy’s support for an adjudication mechanism
was based on adjudication’s ability to insulate the department from criti-
cism in the event that the commission would deny the merit of a claim. In
any event, the bureaucracy did not foresee serious political repercussions
should a commission rule against an Indian grievance. Cabinet approved
this blame avoidance strategy over its other preference to control policy
outcomes, but no one at the table was prepared, in the end, to widen the
scope of a commission’s mandate to hear aboriginal title claims. While
there was a growing acceptance that the government should address treaty
violations, there was no clear acceptance that aboriginal title claims were
legitimate grievances.

Trudeau’s White Paper 1968-69: Equality versus Special Rights

Events not directly related to the land claims issue but nonetheless central
to Indian policy in the mid-1960s would come to have important effects on
the widening importance of Indian policy in the critical years to come. The
1960s civil rights movements and welfare state activism created a wider
scope for public interest in Indian policy than ever before. This rising pub-
lic awareness coincided with pressures within the Indian Affairs Branch
to address the on-the-ground challenges to policy implementation. Native
people were not “advancing,” and it seems that few involved with the day-
to-day implementation of Indian policy felt terribly enlightened by the
experience. While upper level political attention to Indian policy waxed and
waned during the 1960s era of minority governments, Indian Branch offi-
cials were looking for new ways to improve the delivery of services already
in place, without necessarily challenging fundamental policy assumptions.
Policy failure and growing public interest in the late 1960s brought Indian
Branch officials to seek out new sources for policy ideas.
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One outcome of this relatively new openness among senior Indian
Branch officials was their ability to persuade the Minister to fund the
Hawthorn Report, a national survey and the first large-scale attempt by
social scientists across the country to evaluate the state of Indian commu-
nities. It was an accounting of Indians’ socio-economic status and position
within the labor force, the role of federal and provincial governments in
the provision of welfare and education services to the native population,
and the state of governance on Indian reserves. This comprehensive study,
delivered from 1966 through 1967, illustrated to government officials and
to a wider public the extent of Indian policy failure in the cold hard fig-
ures of poverty, social dislocation and economic marginalization.

The change of Indian welfare policy from obscurity to an issue of
rising public salience is reflected in the government’s decision, in 1966,
to create the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development
(DIAND), with its own minister at the cabinet table. When, in 1968,
Pierre Trudeau led the Liberal Party to victory and the country’s first
majority government after six years of constant instability, the stage was
set for yet another review of Indian affairs policy. Trudeau appointed
the young and untested Jean Chrétien as Minister of Indian Affairs and
Northern Development to oversee the development of an Indian policy
white paper.>?

The 1968-69 white paper exercise would be conducted on two fronts.
The government went to great pains to organize a set of consultation meet-
ings with Indian leaders across the country. This provided the first oppor-
tunity for Indian leaders to meet directly with senior government officials
and the Minister. Indian leaders came to believe that they were finally being
accorded a significant voice and role within the government’s policy devel-
opment process. These consultations were also held across the country for
the first time, contributing again to Indian leaders’ understanding that the
policy development process was not strictly an Ottawa-centric exercise.
What became clear, only at the conclusion of the policy development pro-
cess, was that the Indian consultation exercise was totally secondary to
the real policy development front. Battles between the following two axes
in Ottawa determined the real policy development process: the first was
the Prime Minister and the Privy Council Office (PCO), 33 and the second
was Chrétien and DIAND. While Indian leaders were making it clear that
treaty and aboriginal rights were, as they had always been, preconditions
for a positive future between Indians and the Canadian state, the forces in
Ottawa were coming to very different conclusions.

The policy review exercise of 1968-69°* was again driven by govern-
ment actors’ definition of the Indian Problem as fundamentally a welfare
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and poverty issue, and actors within PCO quickly identified the source of
Indian policy failure. Individuals within PCO viewed special legal status
and rights as culprits that distracted Indians and kept them from progress-
ing, tying them to a paternalistic and rigid Indian Affairs bureaucracy. The
solution favored by PCO and the Prime Minister was to move away from
a dialogue of special rights to embrace a global goal of non-discrimination
and equal rights under the rubric of equal citizenship.

This fundamental rejection of Indian rights was heavily conditioned
by Trudeau’s condemnation of the special status claims brought forward
by Québec’s rising voices of ethnic nationalism. In the following quotation,
Trudeau sets out his opposition to Québec nationalists’ claims for collec-
tive rights:

I have always opposed the notions of special status and distinct society.
With the Quiet Revolution, Québec became an adult and its inhabit-
ants have no need of favours or privileges to face life’s challenges and to
take their place within Canada and in the world at large. They should
not look for their “identity” and their “distinctiveness” in the constitu-
tion, but rather in their confidence in themselves and in the full exercise
of their rights as citizens equal to all other citizens in Canada.>®

Indeed, it was to act as a strong voice against Québec’s nationalist forces
and special rights claims that brought Trudeau into federal politics. In this
next quotation, Trudeau offers his rejection of Indians’ special status claims
using remarkably similar language:

We can go on treating the Indians as having a special status . . . or we
can say, “You’re at a crossroads, the time is now to decide whether the
Indians will be a race apart in Canada or whether they will be Canadi-
ans of full status.” . . . They should eventually become Canadians as
all other Canadians . . . and this is the only basis on which everyone in
our society can develop as equals.*®

Trudeau’s liberalism and principled objections to ethnic rights meant that
all policy initiatives under his Prime Ministership needed to be justified
according to the central policy goals of equal citizenship and the non-recog-
nition of special rights claims.

The first stage of the white paper process was for government actors
to agree on the policy’s fundamental principles. By February of 1969,
the fundamental Indian policy objective of equal citizenship was the sole
issue on which bureaucrats could agree,’” and the parties sought cabinet
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approval on the global objectives of a new federal policy. In their minds,
formal equality and citizenship conflicted fundamentally with special rights
claims. Cabinet concurred that “steps should be taken to place Indians on
the same basis as other Canadians, with full rights and responsibilities,
thus permitting the Indian population to enter the main stream of social
improvement.” Chrétien proposed “the Indian Act and the Department of
Indian Affairs be abolished, that the federal government retain responsibil-
ity for Indian lands through appropriate legislation, and that negotiations
be initiated with the provinces with a view to having them assume responsi-
bility for their resident Indians as full Canadian citizens.” The Prime Minis-
ter said that “there appeared to be general agreement in the cabinet on the
basis of the policy to be considered,”’® and cabinet agreed that Chrétien
would develop the policy’s content and submit it for cabinet approval.

At that time, Trudeau and his cabinet clearly understood that an
Indian white paper based on the elimination of Indian rights and status
would provoke Indian dissatisfaction, but not, they thought, enough to
sink the policy. Cabinet concluded that “in order to avoid problems of
morale among the Indians as well as the federal public servants concerned,
it was of the utmost importance that discussions of the proposed policy
be limited for the time being to members of cabinet.”*® The government
did not consider Indian opposition to be the greatest obstacle to its future
policy, but rather the reaction of the provincial governments. Cabinet iden-
tified the most “serious obstacle” to policy implementation as provincial
intransigence. Part of the policy package was to treat Indians like any other
Canadian citizen, which would make the provinces responsible for provid-
ing social services to Indians.

While both the Trudeau/PCO and Chrétien/DIAND axes agreed on
the fundamental policy principles, disagreements arose on how to imple-
ment them. One of the sticking points was what to do about land claims.
Chrétien favored the introduction of an adjudicatory claims commission
to address the treaty and aboriginal title grievances clearly expressed by
Indian leaders in the consultation process. Chrétien, always the pragmatist,
saw the claims commission mechanism as the carrot to secure Indian coop-
eration for a policy that would meet initial opposition.®® However, the PCO
axis saw this measure as contradicting the “non-discriminatory” ethos of
the proposed new policy, since a claims commission recognized land griev-
ances and the rights underpinning them as valid. The Prime Minister and
PCO stymied the Department’s proposal that the policy’s implementation
should include the claims commission. The result was “stalemate.”®!

In order to build a government-wide consensus on Indian policy and to
force officials to thoroughly assess each policy implementation issue within
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the policy objective approved by cabinet, the Prime Minister’s Office handed
the policy development process over to a government-wide task force of offi-
cials, introducing new players into the dialogue. During the discussions from
February to June, DIAND officials tried to persuade their colleagues on this
task force, who had no experience in Indian policy and who were firmly
wedded to liberal equality principles, of the pragmatic necessity to address
land claims grievances as part of the overall policy. DIAND officials and
Chrétien had at least attended the series of consultations with Indian leaders,
and were fully aware of the importance of Indian treaty and aboriginal title
rights to the wider Indian political agenda. The recognition of these rights
was indeed one of the few policy implementation proposals on which Indi-
ans leaders across the country could agree, and served as the issue on which
they could possibly act collectively. DIAND officials felt that the government
had to respond to these grievances in order to sell the rest of the policy.

The claims recognition issue was one of the most contentious in
these discussions.®? Officials were not only concerned with principle, but
also with the unknown outcomes such recognition would entail. Officials
from Finance were concerned with possible fiscal exposure, and everyone
struggled with the very idea of underlying aboriginal rights to land, partic-
ularly what that meant for other property holders. There were many rea-
sons why a non-recognition policy made more sense to these government
actors. However, the DIAND group was able to impress upon the other
officials that pragmatic necessity needed to prevail over the fine applica-
tion of principle. Claims should be settled.®® The officials could not agree,
however, on the institutional mechanism to put into place to settle claims.
The options were: to adjudicate through a claims commission, to negoti-
ate a monetary amount for the claims and have payment made through
a wider social development package, or to embark on a further series of
negotiations with Indians to determine a proper mechanism.® Importantly,
these last two options are the first evidence in the story of land claims
mechanisms, since 1948, that government actors proposed direct negotia-
tions with Indian communities, although it was also clear that the negotia-
tions alluded to here did not amount to the negotiation of new treaties,
and it was not clear that only consultations were on offer. Nevertheless, the
options were outlined for approval by a cabinet committee, the last step
before going to the full cabinet.

Faced with dissension among officials on the mechanisms for claims
settlement and equally mindful of the Prime Minister’s personal philoso-
phy regarding special rights, the cabinet committee came to recommend
the least dangerous option: a claims commissioner mandated to investigate
treaty-based claims with the power only to advise cabinet on conditions of
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settlement. The decision to exclude aboriginal title claims from the man-
date of the commissioner was a victory of the Department of Justice over
DIAND. More willing to see the aboriginal title issue as predominantly
political, DIAND considered it necessary to include these claims within
the commissioner’s mandate in order to maintain the commission’s legiti-
macy in the eyes of Indians. Justice was of the opinion that aboriginal
title had no standing at law, and therefore should not be included within
the commissioner’s mandate.®® The advisory claim commission model was
a return to the Diefenbaker proposal of 1962. It was clearly the lowest
common denominator that could make it through full cabinet. A stronger
commission, with powers of adjudication, could not survive the internal
policy development process mandated by Prime Minister Trudeau.
Chrétien brought the white paper to cabinet for approval on June
17th, 1969, and introduced the goal of the policy: “ . . . to end Can-
ada’s apartheid policy on Indians, to eliminate the special relationship
of the Indians with the federal government, to repeal the Indian Act and
gradually work towards deletion of the constitutional reference on Indi-
ans.”® The record of the cabinet discussion is short, but revealing. At the
time of this cabinet meeting, the British Columbia Supreme Court, the
first court of appeal in the province, was considering the first aboriginal
title test case since 1879, brought by the Nisga’a of northwestern British
Columbia, and the issue came up in a brief exchange. The Minister of
Justice stated that “ . . . it was essential for the new policy to focus on
the future if it was to work . . .” and that the Commissioner would not
hear aboriginal title claims . otherwise there would be danger that
. the government would be pressured into a political settlement on
this issue.” The Prime Minister indicated that “should the courts rule in
favour of the Nishgas (sic) . . . the Commissioner would be automatically
empowered to consider the case.” This exchange reveals two things. First,
it shows that a positive court decision on aboriginal title would increase
the Indians’ bargaining power via the government, forcing the govern-
ment to address a long-standing set of grievances for which it had always
been unprepared. Second, it shows that at this point in time, the govern-
ment thought that positive court action would enlarge the scope of the
commissioner’s mandate, but would not actually force the government to
negotiate these claims directly with Indians. Court action would open the
government up to a recommendation by the Commissioner to negotiate,
but in June 1969, that was the extent of how the government perceived its
probable impact.
Jean Chrétien introduced the Indian policy into the House of Com-
mons on June 25th, 1969. It represented a complete rejection of Indian



58 Negotiating Claims

aspirations and demonstrated how completely Indian voices had been side-
lined from Ottawa’s internal policy machine. It showed Indian leaders that
the normal processes of consultation and discussion brought them no power,
no benefits, and much disappointment. It was time to do business differ-
ently. It was time for the disparate regional Indian organizations that had
formed over the course of the 1950s and 1960s to act cooperatively with
a common agenda and to bring their case directly to the Canadian public.

Trudeau’s white paper galvanized Indian political mobilization like
no action had before. Within days, the National Indian Brotherhood, the
Union of Ontario Indians, the Indian Association of Alberta, and other
spokesmen rejected the policy. Muted approval of the policy from news-
papers and other groups waned after it became clear that Indian opinion
was against it. Press coverage became more critical of the policy in view of
Indian opposition, and by the fall, academics joined the opposition ranks.
The policy was in trouble. In November, cabinet was informed that the
provinces would not easily fall into line behind the policy, given the Indian
opposition: “ . . . the provinces appeared to agree with the policy but
wanted the federal government to get the approval of the Indians before
their public concurrence was sought; some provinces were insisting that
they would not meet with the federal government unless Indians were
present at the negotiating table.” At that point, the federal government
decided that it needed to be “flexible” about the implementation of the
policy, but felt that “the Commissioner of Indian Grievances should be
appointed as early as possible provided . . . this would not be interpreted
as a breach of the process of consultation on which all of the government
proposals rested.” ¢7 Trudeau appointed Mr. Lloyd Barber, Vice-President
of the University of Saskatchewan, Canada’s Indian Claims Commissioner
on December 19th, 1969.

Harold Cardinal, President of the Indian Association of Alberta,
wrote and published his blasting rejoinder to the policy titled The Unjust
Society.®® This publication and the official counter proposals put forward
to the government in June 1970 amid press attention indicated that Indian
policy had entered a new era of Indian political activism. The political
mobilization of Indian associations across the country succeeded in put-
ting the federal government on the defensive. By June 1970, Trudeau had
hinted during a cabinet meeting with national Indian leaders that the gov-
ernment would not force the policy, given such concerted opposition. While
the government was forced to backtrack from its policy position, it did not
so easily turn away from the policy’s central ideological assumptions. The
Trudeau government had spent a year developing an internal consensus
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on the policy, and was left to do public damage control while privately
continuing to accept the central ideas of the policy. The appointment of
the claims commissioner was the only part of the policy that was formally
implemented before the government was forced to publicly abandon the
white paper in June of 1970.

From the Vacuum Negotiation Prevails 1971-1973

The government’s retreat from its white paper presented a critical juncture
in Canadian Indian policy. Indians’ concerted opposition had managed to
sway general public and intergovernmental opinion away from the policy.
The government’s formal policy goals were soundly repudiated by its main
client group, and Indian policy was left without a formal rudder. Govern-
ment policy development after the 1970 defeat reverted to an ad hoc pro-
cess, where the federal government adopted strategies in reaction to specific
events. By the time the Supreme Court handed down its first decision on
aboriginal title in January of 1973, the federal government was already
down the negotiation road, with no internal actors seriously backing other
alternatives. Support for the recognition of treaty and aboriginal rights as
a means to achieve other policy ends had increased across the policy table,
decreasing the isolation of DIAND on this issue.

Significantly, as voices around the cabinet table incrementally came
to support a recognition policy, and recognition by way of direct negotia-
tion with Canada’s Indian and Inuit peoples, critical voices outside of the
government policy deliberation process joined in support of the negotia-
tion option. Key among these voices was that of the Indian Claims Com-
missioner. The Commissioner’s call to the federal government to negotiate
claims directly with Indian people could not be brushed aside because the
federal government came to view the Commissioner as fulfilling an impor-
tant policy niche during this time of increased tension, that of Indian-federal
government mediator. In order to diminish the escalating social and welfare
costs of reserve communities, the federal government needed to maintain
a dialogue with Indian leaders, but the white paper had so angered Indian
communities that the federal government could not take this dialogue for
granted in the immediate future. The government could not afford to under-
cut the legitimacy of the Commissioner’s office once it became clear that he
provided one of the only credible mechanisms to affect this dialogue.

This next section traces the development of government thinking
on the recognition of Indian’s special rights, and how government actors
came to accept negotiation as the basis of Canada’s land claims policy.
This development is incremental, and belies the common hypothesis in
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the literature that the government executed a volte-face in August 1973,
instituting a negotiation policy solely as a result of the Supreme Court of
Canada’s Calder decision. It shows how the government’s non-recogni-
tion policy ran counter to its immediate economic interests in two main
instances: the James Bay power project in northern Québec, and the need
to readdress the terms of Treaties 8 and 11 in the Northwest Territories.

The Indian Claims Commissioner:
Promoting a Dialogue vs. Non-Recognition

One of the first orders of business in the summer of 1970 was for the gov-
ernment to respond to the Indian community’s demand for a meaningful
and formal role in the policy development process. As Jean Chrétien sub-
mitted to cabinet: “ . . . the public appear to feel that the Government has
advanced its position, the Indians have responded, and it is now incumbent
on the Government to accept the Indian’s requests for a forum in which
differences can be reconciled.”® Indian leaders were determined not to be
shut out from the centre of power in the Canadian policy process. That
goal could not be achieved without developing the mechanisms that would
put Indian leaders in the same rooms with the key departmental officials
and cabinet sub-committee members where policy battles are ultimately
decided. Chrétien recommended the creation of a joint committee of senior
departmental officials and Indian representatives, reporting directly to a
small committee of cabinet ministers. For Indian leaders, these consultative
mechanisms would necessarily address “differences about treaties, aborigi-
nal rights, and land tenure,” and Chrétien did recommend that “rights
questions” be within the purview of the officials’ committee, but not of the
cabinet sub-committee. He also added that the federal government would
find the mechanisms useful for other reasons. Chrétien submitted to his
cabinet colleagues that creating Indian policy mechanisms that broke down
departmental divisions furthered the goals of white paper: “ . . . Widening
[Indians’] horizons through an Indian-interdepartmental committee would
bring the Indians into closer touch with other Departments, thus prepar-
ing the way for their eventual acceptance of the concept of services flow-
ing from a variety of agencies rather than from one Department.”® Cabinet
agreed with these proposals, but noted that should Indian representatives “
. . refuse to participate because of the issue of aboriginal rights, the Min-
ister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development would not pursue this
initiative but seek further guidance from cabinet on this issue.””!
While it was fairly easy for cabinet to approve Chrétien’s mandate to
enter discussions with the National Indian Brotherhood about the shape of
these consultative mechanisms, it was not so easy for the National Indian
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Brotherhood to garner the approval of the regional Indian associations.
While the white paper and the issue of special rights had “provided a rally-
ing point . . . for bringing together the disparate views of the old and the
young,””? Indian regional organizations were contesting the appropriate
role of the National Indian Brotherhood as a national umbrella organiza-
tion. Jean Chrétien attributed difficulties in establishing Indian-cabinet con-
sultative mechanisms to the power struggles which unfolded into the spring
of 1971 between these Indian organizations. While progress on the estab-
lishment of these consultative mechanisms was frustrated, Indian insistence
on the centrality of their rights to any progress in any area of Indian policy
continued unabated. Again, Chrétien reiterated to the Prime Minister that
« . it would be a mistake to assume that the rights issue will fade away
if left to itself,” and that any attempts by the government to address the
larger policy agenda “ . . . such as Indian lands, amendment of the Indian
Act, and the participation of provincial governments” would not go for-
ward until the government “provided for the discussion of all grievances
based on both claims and supposed rights.””3

Chrétien’s interim solution was to strengthen the role of the Indian
Claims Commissioner, Lloyd Barber, who had decided very early on in his
tenure that his first task was to work on building positive relationships
with Indian leaders across the country before addressing specific griev-
ances.”* Barber was particularly taxed in his effort to do so because Indian
leaders had refused to deal with him since his position was identified with
the hated white paper. Barber made the strategic decision to maintain his
neutrality from Ottawa by maintaining his offices at the University of Sas-
katchewan, and by actively promoting government support for the funding
of Indian claims research. He also lobbied Trudeau, the PCO, and Chrétien
to increase his mandate to hear aboriginal title claims.”> By 1971, Barber
had built a positive personal reputation among Indian community leaders.
It became clear that the critical obstacle between greater dialogue between
Indian leaders and the Commissioner rested in his restricted mandate. Since
Barber had garnered the personal confidence of Indian leaders, Chrétien
saw Barber as a solution to the impasse which had arisen among Indian
organizations over the form and content of the consultative mechanisms.
Chrétien put to Trudeau that widening the Commissioner’s mandate could
be done “without changing our basic position on aboriginal rights.””¢

Chrétien’s proposal placed Trudeau’s aversion to the recognition of
Indian’s special rights claims directly in opposition to the Prime Minister’s
wish to accomplish other Indian policy goals. The Prime Minister and cabi-
net were placed in a position to choose between the ideological goal of non-
recognition and the social-economic goal of Indian “advancement.” The
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Prime Minister was very clearly aware of the trade-off, as he “recalled that
the question of aboriginal claims had been discussed at length . . .in 1969;
he saw no reason to change that position now, although he recognized that,
having the Commissioner listen to Indian representatives on the subject
appeared to be the only way in which to get a meaningful dialogue going
on the other issues to be considered by the government and the Indian com-
munity.””” In this relatively small battle between principle and pragmatism,
Trudeau chose pragmatism. In August of 1971, the Prime Minister autho-
rized the Commissioner to investigate and make recommendations to the
government on aboriginal title claims.

The Commissioner became an instrumental advocate for Indian
groups, prompting the federal government to increase funding of Indian
rights and treaties research in July of 1972. The government disbursed
research funding to regional Indian organizations because to refuse such
funding would be construed as a “breach of faith” and would “largely nul-
lify the work of the Commissioner on Indian Claims.””® The Commissioner
became a vocal proponent for negotiated versus arbitrated or litigated solu-
tions to specific Indian grievances during this period, indicating his prefer-
ence to both Indians and government actors alike.”

Treaties 8 and 11:
Economic Development vs. Non-Recognition in the North

The Trudeau government’s ideological commitment to the non-recognition
of Indian special rights continued to be challenged in the light of Indian
political mobilization, not only in the south, but also north of the 60th par-
allel. Since the 1950s, the Canadian north had seen an important increase in
resource exploration and development, with the development of petroleum
and mining resources forming the backbone of the region’s economic future.
With oil and natural gas exploration going on in the Mackenzie River delta,
northern Indian and Inuit communities addressed renewed concerns about
the impact of economic development on their social systems and traditional
land use practices. Indian and Inuit communities in the north demanded
that the federal government directly negotiate their land claims prior to the
debut of large scale economic development projects. In February of 1970,
the Yukon Native Brotherhood formed to prepare a land claims proposal
based on their unextinguished aboriginal rights. By December of 1971, the
newly formed Inuit Tapirisat of Canada had contacted Lloyd Barber to seek
his assistance in developing their aboriginal title claim.%°

While the Trudeau government in 1970 knew that these aboriginal
title claims were being developed in northern communities, they were not
yet formally presented to the federal government for action. The item which



Indigenous Land Rights and Cabinet Decision-Making in Canada 63

was directly in front of cabinet at that time was the unfulfilled reserve land
provisions under Treaties 8 and 11 which had been signed with Indian
communities in 1899 and 1921 respectively. Under these agreements, the
federal government had promised that lands were to be reserved for exclu-
sive Indian use. These reserves were never established, partly because there
was no pressure from settlers to restrict Indian communities to designated
reserves, and partly because Indian communities were concerned that once
reserves were created, that their movements would be restricted. However,
the increasing pressures of northern economic development, in conjunction
with renewed Indian interest in the land rights guaranteed to them in these
treaties, landed the question of how to respond to these treaty provisions
squarely in front of the Trudeau cabinet.

The unfulfilled land provisions of Treaties 8 and 11 were known to
the federal government for some time. In 1959, the Diefenbaker govern-
ment had established a commission of inquiry to seek recommendations
of what response should be appropriate. The commissioner recommended
against the creation of northern reserves, seeing these as inimical to future
economic development. Instead, the commissioner recommended that in
lieu of reserves, Indian bands be given a cash settlement and guaranteed a
percentage of future mineral revenues in perpetuity. In November of 1968,
Chrétien adopted these recommendations and proposed that the federal
government negotiate such a settlement with Indian bands, and so address
the issue once and for all. This proposal was shelved as part of the white
paper review process demanded by Trudeau, but the Prime Minister handed
the issue to a special sub-committee of senior officials. In May of 1970, a
month before the Prime Minister was to publicly back away from the white
paper, cabinet reviewed this sub-committee’s report of Treaties 8 and 11.

The white paper placed the Trudeau cabinet in a quandary. The offi-
cials thought that the economically preferred course of action was for the
government to negotiate a cash settlement rather than create new reserves.
To create new reserves would have the federal government perpetuate key
provisions of the very Indian Act that, according to the white paper, the
government intended to abolish. However, officials pointed out a key dif-
ficulty with the cash settlement in lieu of reserves proposal. The officials
argued that to offer a cash settlement would in effect be seen as re-negotiat-
ing a treaty as opposed to strictly fulfilling the government’s existing treaty
obligations. To re-negotiate a treaty would have huge implications for the
non-recognition goal of the Trudeau government:

It could be implied from the [cash settlement] proposal that the Gov-
ernment of Canada acknowledges that the aboriginal inhabitants of
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Canada have continued to maintain an interest in the lands that requires
to be satisfied . . . the Government is not prepared today to enter into
new proceedings to acquire the proprietorship in Canada . . . The Sub-
Committee was of the view that the proposal amounted to entering
into a new proceeding and as such could open up the whole question
of aboriginal rights. In this event the Government might be required, in
order to be consistent, to undertake similar proceedings to extinguish
the Indian interest in British Columbia, the Yukon, Québec and the
Maritimes, and the Eskimo interest in the north.

In effect, any government response would contravene some impor-
tant aspect of the Indian white paper; but most importantly, the pro-
development option could force the government to recognize aboriginal
title not just in the north, but across the country. This alone was inimical
to Trudeau’s rights ideology, but it also raised the specter of complicat-
ing intergovernmental relations. The cabinet, not yet forced by Indian
mobilization to back away from the policy proposals, opted to delay. It
could do so by forwarding the issue to the Indian Claims Commissioner
for further study.%?

By the spring of 1972, government response to Treaties 8 and 11
could no longer be delayed. Chrétien identified the reasons why. Firstly, the
northern treaty claims had become totally entwined with the larger aborigi-
nal title claim of the Inuit, which had been submitted to the federal gov-
ernment that February. This had led to a great deal of publicity, and “the
claims and grievances are finding echo and support in the pronouncements
of native people’s associations in the South, particularly those of Indian
leaders, and of white supporters in various parts of Canada.” Significantly,
resource developers were persuaded by this mobilization of Indian and gen-
eral public opinion that the federal government needed to take definitive
action. The question remained how the government would respond.

Chrétien laid out the options to his cabinet colleagues. He clearly
considered the non-recognition assumptions of the 1969 Indian policy pro-
posals to be no longer feasible. “Related questions concerning aboriginal
rights, the ‘renegotiation problem,” Indian reserves in principle, and antici-
pated high costs for native peoples’ land settlement, should be seen today
in the light of current problems of northern development and of the nega-
tive reaction by many Indians against Indian Policy, 1969.”%3 The time had
come for the government to concede that it would in some way need to rec-
ognize Indian land rights: . . . It must be accepted, as a fact of life that
any initiative by the Government on the land entitlement issue under the
Treaties will probably lead to claims involving aboriginal rights.” He laid
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out two broad choices for the government: wait for a legal determination
on the validity of Indian rights, or reach a negotiated settlement.

He pointed out to his colleagues that there was no established juris-
prudence on the issue, and thus, the government had no way of reasonably
determining how “ . . . the courts would react if the Northwest Territories
Indians were to seek legal remedies.” In any case, he argued that waiting
for a judicial determination would not solve the government’s underlying
issues in the presence of Indian political mobilization and their increasing
ability to impact Canadian public opinion:

But legal proceedings take a very long time and time would not be on
the Government’s side if the Indians, pending court decisions, resorted
to political and public relations campaigns, with favourable response
from Canadians at large and possibly with unpleasant disturbances in
the Territories that could be very upsetting not only for development
but to northern communities generally.3*

Chrétien proposed a negotiation strategy that would allow the government
to put land, cash and future resource revenues on the table. He felt that a
cash-only solution, which he had favored in 1968, was no longer feasible,
given the political awakening of northern Indian communities. He pointed
out that “the Government stands to gain much from showing political gen-
erosity,” and that by negotiating with Indians in the north, “a real break-
through might be made in the Government’s relations with native peoples
. . elsewhere in Canada.”

Cabinet agreed.?’ There is no record of the give and take of the dis-
cussions themselves, so it is unknown how many voices joined Chrétien’s,
or whether it was difficult to convince the Prime Minister. However, by the
spring of 1972, the Trudeau government had committed itself to a nego-
tiation of Indian treaty rights in the north, months prior to the Supreme
Court’s Calder decision in January of 1973. The government had taken a
significant step away from the non-recognition policy of 1969, and had
begun down the path of negotiation versus litigation.

Negotiation versus Federalism: The James Bay Hydro-Electric Project

The Treaties 8 and 11 issue could well have marked both the beginning and
the end of cabinet’s flirtation with a negotiation response. Instead, events
in northern Québec tested the Trudeau cabinet’s commitment to negotia-
tion south of the 60th parallel. South of 60, the federal government does
not have a free hand, and is ever mindful of the possible impact of federal
policy choices on intergovernmental relations.
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In October of 1971, the federal cabinet was apprised of Québec’s
intention to begin construction of the huge hydro-electric project in the
province’s north. The James Bay project was to provide primarily for
Québec’s growing domestic power needs, but any surplus power generated
through the project could be exported to the lucrative American market. In
the fall of 1971, the full ecological impact of the proposed project was as
yet unknown, but there would clearly be an adverse impact on the tradi-
tional occupations of the approximately 5000 native people, both Cree and
Inuit, of the area. The territorial rights of Québec’s northern native peo-
ple had never been extinguished by a treaty, and the province had a legal
obligation to obtain the surrender of existing native rights under the terms
of the 1912 Québec Boundaries Extension Act, which transferred these
northern lands under provincial jurisdiction. The federal government could
legitimately intervene in the project in order to protect Indian interests
since Indian affairs was its constitutional jurisdiction. The Indians of Qué-
bec Association had demanded that the province negotiate a settlement of
their territorial rights before construction on the James Bay project began,
and it demanded that “ . . . in the absence of a settlement or negotiations
towards that end beginning immediately, it would seem that the Crown in
right of Canada as a guardian of the Indian interest would be obliged to
exercise all legal recourses available to it, including Court proceedings, to
force the resolution of this problem . . ..”8¢

Unlike the issue of native claims in the Yukon and Northwest Ter-
ritories, the land claims of Indians and Inuit in the James Bay area would
test the willingness of the federal government to act in its Indian affairs
jurisdiction in Québec at the potential cost of disturbing the very delicate
federal-provincial relationship.8” Chrétien apprised cabinet of “ . . . a real
prospect of a difficult confrontation [with Québec] on the matter of Indian
rights.”$ With no pressure to act immediately, the need to be sensitive to
the federal-provincial dynamic, the unclear ecological impact, and disputes
regarding the economic viability of the project, cabinet chose to do nothing
for the moment. In January, the Prime Minister ordered his Ministers take
“great care” to maintain a position of neutrality on the project.®’

By February 1972, a federal-provincial task force reported that while
there were environmental concerns about the project, the impact of the
project on the region’s native population was “the most pressing and seri-
ous item to be resolved.””® The federal response to this public finding was
slow, with DIAND, Justice, and PCO unresolved on how to proceed. Chré-
tien had already espoused the negotiation option on the Treaties 8 and 11
issue, and sought a consistent approach with James Bay. Stalled by provin-
cial intransigence and unwillingness to negotiate with them, the James Bay
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Cree officially asked Chrétien to intervene on their behalf. In May, the Cree
had held a press conference, and spoke favorably of federal involvement.
Chrétien felt that it had become “. . .. essential that a positive position be
taken by the Federal Government to bring about negotiations between the
Indians and the Government of the Province of Québec.”®' The Clerk of
the Privy Council, however, cautioned that the federal government should
not seek a place at the negotiation table without the express request of the
native groups.®? Cabinet concurred, and Chrétien was allowed to approach
the Québec government. In these discussions, the provincial government
advised its federal counterparts that they would not be allowed to be a
party to the negotiations.

The federal government then faced the decision of whether it would
demand a space at the negotiation table, despite provincial objections. In
June the government had publicly announced its intention to negotiate the
Treaty 8 and 11 claims, and by July, the government had received repre-
sentations from native rights advocates and environmental organizations
questioning the lack of apparent federal activity in James Bay. As a result,
the federal Minister of Energy, Mines and Resources recommended to cab-
inet that the government seek a place at the table.”® This was a critical
development because it indicated that support for a negotiation option was
brought to the table by a minister other than Chrétien, widening the coali-
tion for negotiation with native peoples to include a minister responsible
for a key sector of the Canadian economy. On July 14th, 1972, cabinet
accepted the recommendation to take a stronger line with the Québec pro-
vincial government.”

The permission for the Indian Claims Commissioner to review aborigi-
nal title claims, the decision of the government to seek a negotiated solution
to treaty claims in the Northwest Territories, and its decision to extend its
role in the James Bay negotiations amounted to a significant series of steps
by the Trudeau cabinet away from the non-recognition of native special
rights it so strongly adopted in 1969. The 1970-1972 period challenged the
government to weigh its ideological goals against the achievement of other
important government objectives: normalizing the relationship between it
and Indian associations after the white paper fiasco; allowing for the devel-
opment of northern economic resources; and managing federal-provincial
tensions, always a premier issue in Canadian politics. These decisions were
most notably brought on by the political mobilization of Canadian Indian
organizations and the effect on Canadian public opinion of their concerted
opposition to the white paper.

These incremental, yet important, changes in government policy hap-
pened during the time the first aboriginal title test case was wending its way
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through the court system. By May 1970, the Nisga’a had lost their case
in two courts, and in 1971 the Supreme Court granted the Nisga’a leave
to appeal. Although the government was aware that the Supreme Court
was deliberating on the legal merits of aboriginal title, cabinet documents
show that it was not the prospect that the Nisga’a may win their case that
drove the decisions of the Trudeau cabinet. Key to the situation was that
Indians’ political mobilization and the wider politicization of land claims
made it possible for native people to capitalize on a situation of judicial
uncertainty. This is not to say that Trudeau or his cabinet had embraced
the concept of aboriginal property rights without reservation. However, in
the two years preceding the Supreme Court’s Calder decision, the cabinet
had struggled with the concept of aboriginal rights, compromised previ-
ous principled objections to those rights, and already weighed the value of
negotiation versus litigation. By the end of 1972, the pragmatic Jean Chré-
tien was no longer isolated in cabinet on the issue, and the pro-negotia-
tion position of Lloyd Barber added a credible external voice that Trudeau
could not ignore.

The Supreme Court Rules: The Calder Decision and Cabinet’s Response

On January 31st, 1973, the Supreme Court finally ruled on the issue of
aboriginal title. The case was heard by seven of the nine justices. Of the six
justices who directly addressed the issue of aboriginal title, all agreed with
the basic principle that “the Aboriginal Indian title does not depend on
treaty, executive order or legislative enactment.”®® Rather, aboriginal title
was a legal right which arose from native people’s historic occupation and
use of their lands. This conclusion was a huge win for native people, but
its potential impact was tempered by the justices’ indecision as to whether
aboriginal title had indeed been extinguished through the assertion of pro-
vincial sovereignty. Other questions were left unanswered as well: the cri-
teria which would establish in a court of law that native title existed; the
conditions under which this title could be lawfully extinguished; and the
scope or content of this new property right. Thus, the Calder decision told
the nation that aboriginal title was a legal property right, but not whether
this property right continued to exist in British Columbia. The justices were
devoted to the interpretation of a judicial doctrine, and made no pretense
of entering the realm of public policy by exhorting the government one way
or the other on how to proceed.

What could the government do? The Trudeau cabinet had a number
of options. First, with no entrenched bill of rights, the Canadian govern-
ment could have responded by passing legislation, explicitly extinguishing
these rights with some measures for compensation in line with government
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appropriation of other property rights. While technically possible, this very
hostile response was unlikely given the government’s general position that
it would respect natives’ legal rights.?® This course of action was also highly
unlikely (indeed, there is no evidence that it was considered), given the gen-
eral public support of opposition parties for aboriginal rights.”” Second,
with legislative unilateralism unrealistic, the government could send a ref-
erence to the Supreme Court to clarify its reasoning on the outstanding
aboriginal title issues. Third, the government could do nothing and wait for
Indian groups to litigate the question further. Fourth, the government could
negotiate with the plaintiffs in the Calder case, the Nisga’a, but not create
any institutional mechanisms or take any policy position to deal with future
claims. Or fifth, it could once again review its policies for future action, and
create institutions to deal with any claims that would come before it.

In the first week after the Calder decision, the Trudeau cabinet began
to address the impact of the decision and its options. On February 6th,
a strategic committee of cabinet concluded that the Minister of Justice
would consider sending a reference to the Supreme Court, while Chrétien
would prepare a general policy document on native peoples for cabinet’s
consideration. The next day, however, Chrétien and Trudeau met with
Nisga’a leaders in a historic face-to-face closed door meeting. The Nisga’a
informed the Prime Minister that “the Nishga [sic] Nation did not wish
to have the matter referred back to the Supreme Court of Canada . . .
they wished that the government would commence negotiations on their
behalf with the government of British Columbia, with respect to their land
claims.” Cabinet agreed to not pursue the matter in the Supreme Court
as a result of the Nisga’a meeting, and it also agreed that Chrétien would
begin exploratory discussions with British Columbia while he prepared an
overall policy paper.

While DIAND would consult with Justice on the development of
the policy paper to cabinet, external events kept the pressure on and the
negotiation option in the forefront. On February 14th, the Yukon Native
Brotherhood presented its land claims brief to the government proposing a
negotiation framework. In April, Chrétien established a negotiating team
within DIAND to review the Yukon proposal. The Indian Claims Commis-
sioner was busy publicly and privately touting the value of negotiation over
adjudicatory methods,’® and he sat in on meetings with DIAND officials
tasked with evaluating the department’s existing settlement machinery as
part of the larger policy development process.”

After four months of internal bargaining, Justice and DIAND came
to submit separate memoranda to cabinet, signalling an inability to reach
consensus on key issues of policy, the degree of divergence at this point not
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possible for me to determine.!”” However, the Calder decision had robbed
Justice of its previous objections to recognizing aboriginal title’s potential
existence in Canadian law, and the likely divergences from the DIAND pro-
posals would rest on the relative values of litigation strategies. The DIAND
paper is a much fuller development of the thinking which had impacted
government decision-making during the prior two years. The core message
of the DIAND position was that the land claims issue was not strictly a legal
issue, and the government’s approach needed to address the evolving politi-
cal relationship between Canada and native peoples. Delay was no longer
an option, because unresolved grievances threatened to “create fanaticism”
and “growing militancy.” Both natives and non-natives had come to share
the view that the government had “a legal and moral obligation to deal
with the question,” and as a result, a strictly legal response to land claims
would be inappropriate. It is worth quoting at some length:

Although various Indian groups appear to have valid legal claims to
some form of rights, the matter of settling Native claims is not a purely
legal one . . . If it were a purely legal problem, it could be referred to
the courts and the Government would abide by the judicial decision
. . . A court decision could not resolve the practical problems effec-
tively . . . The Indians would not easily accept an adverse judgment;
the grievance would still remain. In any event, the problem is more
social and political than legal . . . this course of action limits the pos-
sibility of dealing effectively with important aspects of a comprehen-
sive settlement. !0

Chrétien was highly aware that the process of settlement was as polit-
ically relevant and important as the eventual conclusion of settlements. The
alternative to legislate a framework without prior negotiation was rejected
because “ . a decision by Parliament which appeared to be arbitrary
would be bitterly opposed in Native communities.” The preferred alterna-
tive of the 1960s, the special arbitrator in the form of a claims commission,
was rejected as well, since decisions on claims “ . . . require mutual consent
and are not suitable for delegation to an appointed body” and since “ . .
provincial participation, which will be necessary, could not be achieved by
a commission.” Since matters other than strictly monetary compensation
were now on the table, neither federal nor provincial governments were
willing to delegate decision-making to another party.

The only remaining alternative was to engage in a process of direct
negotiation, despite the fact that “no firm estimate of cost can be made
in advance of negotiations.” Cabinet required further clarifications on key
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strategic issues and at the end of June, Chrétien and Justice presented rec-
ommendations on who would negotiate on the Indian side of the table,
and who would be eligible to benefit from land claims settlements.!? They
recommended that should the provinces be unwilling to join in the negotia-
tions, the federal government should be prepared “to assist [Indians] in the
courts in asserting their title.”1%3

Thus, in July 1973, Trudeau’s cabinet agreed to adopt a negotiation
policy to address Indian grievances in Canada. It was announced publicly
on August 8th, 1973: “The Government is now ready to negotiate with
authorized representatives of these native peoples on the basis that where
their traditional interest in the land concerned can be established, an agreed
form of compensation or benefit will be provided to native people in return
for their interest.”'%* The government would also negotiate claims arising
from unfulfilled lawful obligations under existing treaties.

REFLECTIONS ON THE CANADIAN CASE

The Canadian case suggests why political mobilization greatly increases the
probability that governments will introduce negotiation strategies. It does
so in a number of key ways. First, in a climate of mobilized opinion, a
government cannot reasonably be assured that they will be able to avoid
future blame by delegating policy-making authority to courts or an arbitra-
tor. Governments find a future course of litigation less attractive because
winning a legal case would not necessarily deflect political consequences. In
this respect, political mobilization makes negotiation more likely because
other options lose their long-run attractiveness.

Political mobilization was also critical because it eventually forced
the federal government to make tradeoffs between various goals. Prior to
the mobilization of native groups in the late 1960s, actors in the Cana-
dian government were unchallenged in the causal belief that recognition
of native rights would impede the achievement of its global policy goal:
the assimilation of Indian people into the body politic. Indeed, no one of
any importance inside the government questioned the wisdom of assimila-
tion writ large. The organizational and political weakness of native rights
associations during this period meant that native groups could not reach
or sway other opinion on the merit of their collective rights. Only those
parts of an Indian reform agenda which sat well within a civil libertarian
program received government attention. Native peoples’ political mobili-
zation after 1969 meant that the Trudeau government was confronted with
policy decisions where a strict stance against Indian land rights would be
costly. These clashes between pragmatic versus principled politics eroded
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Trudeau’s non-recognition policy, and broadened the support around the
cabinet table for strategies to address Indian land claims. Chief among
these strategies was negotiation.

The importance of the Calder decision as an explanation for the
August 1973 announcement of a negotiation policy needs to be evaluated
in light of two factors: the growing political strength of indigenous peoples
and the consensus-building process so necessary to cabinet government.
When the Calder decision came down, it did so in a context of cabinet sup-
port already shifting in favor of negotiation. Calder did not so much create
proponents for the negotiation option as it further weakened the opposi-
tion of Trudeau and officials within the Department of Justice. The court
decision also made it impossible for the Trudeau cabinet to drag out its
subsequent policy deliberation process. Cabinet needed to reach a consen-
sus quickly, and in 1973, negotiation was the policy that had already taken
the lead. It did so because no other option allowed the government to reach
a comprehensive political settlement between the Canadian state and indig-
enous peoples.



Chapter Four

Cabinet Decision-Making and
Maori Land Rights in New Zealand
(1944-1989)

INTRODUCTION

In 1970, Harold Cardinal and other representatives of Canada’s status
Indians stood together before Prime Minister Trudeau and his cabinet in
a then unprecedented display of political unity and resolve. Archival docu-
ments show that continuing political agitation among Canada’s indigenous
communities and the landmark Calder decision would prod, and finally
persuade the Canadian federal government to implement a land rights nego-
tiation strategy. Indigenous political mobilization would force Canadian
policy-makers to reevaluate the political costs of not recognizing indigenous
collective rights and decrease policy-makers’ utility for a long-run litigation
strategy. Political mobilization would build allies for policy change within
the executive branch and around the cabinet table. Judicial change would
persuade some that these rights were legitimate. More importantly, judicial
change would persuade all that inertia was impossible. In New Zealand,
a similar story emerges. The contentious politics of public protest would
emerge in the 1960s and bring Maori land rights politics squarely into the
public eye. This protest would culminate in Dame Whina Cooper’s dra-
matic land march of 1975. But the Maori, almost four times the relative
size of Canada’s indigenous population, would wait 14 more years until the
Court of Appeal stirred the judicial waters with the Lands Case, and the
New Zealand government would respond with a negotiation policy.

On the basis of historical and contemporary government documents,
interviews with government policy-makers, and secondary sources, this
chapter lays out the development of New Zealand’s policy responses to
Maori land grievances since the Second World War. I examine how New
Zealand policy-makers evaluated the legitimacy and seriousness of Maori
demands for the recognition of their collective property rights. I show how
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the set of feasible policy alternatives changed over time, the reasoning pol-
icy-makers found persuasive when opportunities to make policy changes
arose, and finally which factors proved critical in shifting the balance of
cabinet opinion toward a negotiation policy.

As in the Canadian case, sequencing is important. The recognition and
protection of Maori land rights depend fundamentally on the support and
political will of cabinet. Cabinet allies do not appear overnight, and cabinet
opinion is rarely a reflection of judicial thinking alone. Without allies in
place, pushing for the protection of Maori rights within the executive itself,
the consolidation of judicial victories into positive legislative outcomes
remains ephemeral. Without such allies, the erosion of existing indigenous
rights in the face of judicial indifference or even hostility remains likely.
This chapter shows that Maori political mobilization and the increase of
protest outside of the traditional mechanisms of racial conflict resolution
(such as the legislature and the political party system) built allies for policy
change within. Also, like the Canadian case, the 1989 decision of the New
Zealand government to establish a negotiations policy came after a criti-
cal judicial decision. This decision provided the pressure for senior officials
and cabinet ministers to re-evaluate their collective response to Maori land
grievances in a context where all understood that inaction was impossible.
Maori political mobilization prior to judicial change meant that the neces-
sary response to the court ruling was a political response. The government
approved the negotiation policy option only after accepting the political
need to redefine the relationship between Maori and the New Zealand
state. Maori collective property rights, especially land rights, are at the
heart of this relationship.

The New Zealand case also offers noteworthy differences to the
Canadian and Australian land rights stories. The first key difference relates
to the risks of recognizing Maori collective rights. The Treaty of Waitangi
(1840) established a legal and political precedent recognizing Maori land
rights across the whole colony. The historical recognition of Maori col-
lective rights decreased the contemporary risk of a land rights recognition
strategy. Contemporary policy-makers faced a decision to recognize con-
tinuing obligations rooted in a historical contract, rather than a more nor-
matively challenging decision to recognize unspecified indigenous property
rights flowing from unknown systems of law. Where some conservative
politicians would never agree with the recognition of race-based property
rights on their merits and sign a treaty themselves, they may reason that,
despite the shortsightedness of their forefathers in striking a treaty bargain,
a deal is a nevertheless a deal. To not recognize the Treaty and deny the
obligations flowing from it would be to besmirch the honor of the Crown.
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Maori land claims politics therefore revolve around the Treaty of
Waitangi’s moral and legal force. The Treaty changed the nature of the
debate around the recognition of Maori rights. The Treaty did not, how-
ever, lessen the importance of executive policy-makers’ other key decision.
Would they delegate power to regulate Maori land grievances to a third
party? The choice to delegate or not to delegate illustrates a second note-
worthy difference to the Canadian and Australian cases. This difference
is the norm of parliamentary sovereignty and how the strength of this
norm ordered policy-makers’ underlying preferences for negotiation over
other outcomes, such as litigation and arbitration. This is a particularly
concrete example of how political culture affects actors’ preferences over
policy outcomes.

The norm of parliamentary sovereignty affects the relative size of
the set of feasible policy alternatives. It does so by decreasing the politi-
cal legitimacy of policy solutions that delegate policy-making power to
others at the perceived expense of Parliament. This norm holds that the
power to govern, the power to make policy, is the preserve for the dem-
ocratically accountable branches of government. In New Zealand, this
norm is particularly strong. This has meant that generations of New Zea-
land politicians have operated within the confines of and subsequently
reinforced the idea that the policy-making role of the judiciary or special
arbitrators should be minimal. This is not to say that delegation of pol-
icy-making power has never occurred in New Zealand, but rather that a
government’s decision to delegate decision-making power in this specific
normative context is a remarkable outcome and likely to be a product of
unusual circumstances.

How did this relatively truncated set of policy alternatives affect the
likelihood that the New Zealand government would initiate a negotiation
policy at each choice opportunity? With arbitration and delegation to the
courts considered relatively suspicious options, New Zealand governments
historically privileged inaction or non-delegated policy alternatives, includ-
ing advisory commissions and negotiation. This did not mean, however,
that negotiation was automatic. The challenge of building a coalition within
cabinet for a negotiation policy, distinct from ad hoc negotiation, remained
difficult. As in Canada, developing a cabinet consensus for a negotiation
policy was a function of personality and ideological balance on the inside
and the mobilization of Maori behind a land rights agenda on the outside.

Unlike the Canadian case, partisan politics and the balance of cabinet
opinion on Maori land rights became highly intertwined. Until recently, pol-
icy advance or policy retrenchment on Maori rights depended significantly
on which political party was in power. With the formal inclusion of Maori
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in the franchise regime at the outset of representative government and the
subsequent creation of designated Maori seats in Parliament, Maori have a
long history of building alliances within the established political party sys-
tem. Maori, unlike their indigenous counterparts in Canada or Australia,
have a long tradition of institutionalized political action to complement (or
compete with) newer forms of political contestation. Since the 1930s, the
Maori political elite has built linkages with the Labour Party. When the
Labour Party has been in power, cabinet opinion has been more favorable
to Maori rights claims. The flip side of this partisan differentiation has been
that when Labour’s competitor, the National Party, assumes power, fewer
members around the cabinet table have had linkages with Maori politi-
cal communities, and therefore little to gain in pushing the Maori rights
file forward. This chapter will follow how Maori participation within the
political party system helped or hindered the development of land rights
negotiation policies.

This chapter proceeds as follows. I provide a quick survey of Maori
rights politics prior to the Second World War. This includes an examination
of the Treaty’s political and legal status; patterns of Maori land tenure; and
the place of Maori interests within the political party system. I then exam-
ine the first incidence of Maori land rights negotiation during the close of
the war era, and then examine policy developments after the rise of Maori
protest politics in the 1960s. I conclude with reflections on the New Zea-
land case.

SETTING THE SCENE:
THE TREATY OF WAITANGI, MAORI LAND TENURE,
AND MAORI PARTISAN POLITICS PRIOR TO WWII

The Treaty and Maori Land

Like Canada and the United States, a treaty of cession established the early
legal and political relationship between the Crown and indigenous peo-
ples. Whereas in North America, numerous treaties were signed, in New
Zealand, there is just the one, the Treaty of Waitangi, signed in 1840. The
Crown and over 500 Maori chiefs were signatories to this one treaty.! Two
versions of the document exist, the Maori and the English texts, and there
continues to be debate on the Maori and non-Maori interpretations of its
terms. The Treaty consists of three articles. The classic non-Maori under-
standing of the Treaty was that Maori ceded their sovereignty (article one)
in return for being guaranteed undisturbed possession of their taonga, or



Cabinet Decision-Making and Maori Land Rights in New Zealand 77

treasures, including their lands (article two). What is not in dispute is that
the Treaty established that Maori lands were alienable only to the Crown,
and that all rights and responsibilities of British citizenship were extended
to the Maori (article three) at the colony’s inception. Therefore, Maori land
rights stem from this basic compact, and the status of Maori land rights
depends on the legal and political status of the Treaty.

The pressures of settlement and the need to finance the new colony
led to what are now accepted as questionable land acquisition practices by
the Crown. There were various mechanisms by which Maori lands (held
under customary Maori title) were passed on to the Crown, and then were
sold or leased to other parties under the regular land title system. The most
damning was the government’s wholesale appropriation of Maori lands in
the 1860s after the Maori rebellions in the agriculturally rich regions of
the North Island. Other than outright confiscation, Maori lands were also
passed to the Crown through pre-emptive deeds, and through the govern-
ment waiving its right of pre-emption, and allowing Maori to sell lands
directly to settlers.

A series of legislative acts dating from 1862 were designed to regulate
Maori land issues and disputes. The Maori Land Court, with jurisdiction
over Maori lands, was established. While these land acts and the Maori
Land Court system recognized and incorporated Maori landholding prac-
tices within New Zealand’s judicial apparatus, they also facilitated the rapid
transfer of Maori lands to settlers. One mechanism was the individualiza-
tion of collective tenures, where the Court would enumerate the interest in
a block of Maori-held land across a number of owners, and then allow indi-
vidual Maori to sell or lease their “part” of the land.? The individualization
of Maori title not only broke down the power of Maori tribal authorities to
resist land alienation. Individualization also fragmented given plots of land
across increasing numbers of owners as land interests were handed down
from generation to generation. This fragmentation of Maori land owner-
ship rendered it increasingly difficult for any one person to develop his land
interest in an economically feasible way.> Even by the 1930s, most of the
lands that remained in Maori hands were not suitable for commercial farm-
ing. * In these myriad ways, approximately 63 million acres passed through
Maori hands, leaving approximately 3 million acres in Maori ownership by
the early 1970s.

Of the lands which are held under Maori ownership, virtually none
of it is held under customary (i.e. aboriginal) title.® Under provisions in
the various Native land acts, Maori could “trade in” customary title for a
Crown-created freehold grant, thereby extinguishing the customary interest
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in land. Therefore, unlike Canada, there is a widespread assumption that
aboriginal title no longer exists with respect to land (although arguments
for the continuing existence of aboriginal title to riverbeds, seabed, fore-
shore, and bodies of water are contested in the courts).” Maori land claims
are largely claims for the government to restore the honor of the Crown by
acknowledging its role in the historic dispossession of Maori in contra-
vention of the principles of partnership underlying the Treaty of Waitangi.
Lands claims are predominantly demands for reparative justice based in
a language of contract, where the colonizer did not live up to its part of a
sacred bargain.

The courts were not persuaded that the Treaty was indeed “a sacred
bargain,” and instead dismissed the legal status of the Treaty fairly early. In
1877, an important judicial decision concluded that the Treaty of Waitangi
did not have the weight of law.? The Treaty was termed “a simple nullity,”
and its provisions could not be enforced at law unless Parliament ratified it.
By the early 1900s, the principle that the Treaty’s provisions were justiciable
only insofar as they are recognized by statute was thoroughly entrenched
in New Zealand jurisprudence. Thus, a consistent call among some Maori
was for the government to respond to the rights guaranteed through the
Treaty by ratifying it, and making its terms enforceable in the courts.

The unwillingness of policy-makers to ratify the Treaty was linked to
a strong normative view of the proper role of the judiciary in this parlia-
mentary system. The pressure to make Maori customary rights enforceable
in the courts was resisted in 1909 by the Solicitor-General and now famous
jurist, Sir John Salmond. In a letter to Maori parliamentarian Sir Apirana
Ngata, Salmond argued, as the Crown’s legal officer in charge of legislative
drafting, that native land legislation would not foreclose Maori efforts to
seek a declaratory judgment that aboriginal title still existed. Rather, Sal-
mond argued that it would properly ensure that “ . . . when a dispute
arises between Natives and the Crown as to the right to customary land,
the dispute shall be settled by Parliament and not otherwise . . . to allow
the matter to be fought out in the Law Courts would not, I think, be either
in the public interest or in the interest of the Natives themselves . . ..”?
This identified Maori land grievances to be properly conceived as political,
not legal questions, and the mechanisms for their resolution should rest
within the political sphere.

Maori Political Development and Partisan Alignments

Prior to the Second World War, the Treaty had little if any resonance for non-
Maori New Zealanders. What limited importance it did have was its confir-
mation that both Maori and non-Maori operated within one sovereign nation



Cabinet Decision-Making and Maori Land Rights in New Zealand 79

(article one), all sharing the same position as equal citizens within a common
political enterprise (article three). The importance of article two in guarantee-
ing special Maori rights fell away in the New Zealander consciousness.

Article three, guaranteeing Maori full citizenship in the new colony,
meant that Maori politics has been channeled through mainstream gover-
nance institutions much more than in Canada or Australia. With the begin-
ning of representative government in 1854, male property holders had the
suffrage. Although the suffrage did not exclude Maori per se, the slow indi-
vidualization of Maori land tenure made the male Maori property owner
a rare person. Through the franchise’s property restrictions, Maori were
de facto excluded from institutionalized political participation. The place
of Maori within the colony’s governance structures was an acute issue in
the decade to follow. The 1860s brought the Land Wars and the Crown’s
confiscation of Maori lands. With tensions high between Maori and the
European settlers, some argued for Parliament to include specific Maori
representation in Parliament, in an attempt to amalgamate Maori into
New Zealand’s system of law. This position represented a midpoint of sorts
between two extremes, the Crown’s recognition of distinct Maori govern-
ing institutions (and sovereignty) outside of the state on the one side, and
the complete denial of Maori distinctiveness inside the state on the other.
James Fitzgerald, the Native Minister, espoused the moderate position to a
colleague in 1865:

You may mock me as to Maoris sitting in Parliament. My dear Friend,
I am not a fool nor attribute to political forms mysterious virtues, but I
know all that the sitting in parliament brings in its train and I say that
ignore tenure to land and ignore the sitting in parliament and all that
belongs thereto and the alternative is war, extermination to the weaker
race and financial disaster to the stronger.'”

In 1867, the government passed Fitzgerald’s Maori Representation
Act, designating four seats in Parliament to be held by Maori representa-
tives. In 1893, two important events occurred. First, women got the vote.
Second, Maori (male and female) were prohibited from casting votes in
the general, or non-Maori, electorates. This cemented a racial division of
the electorate into two separate electoral rolls which would continue until
1975.1" This essentially meant that there were no Maori swing voters in the
general electorate. Easily outnumbered in the House of Representatives, the
only time that Maori voters and Maori parliamentary representatives have
had a pivotal role to play in partisan politics was when the parties relied on
the Maori seats to form a majority government. While the Northern Maori,
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Eastern Maori, Southern Maori, and Western Maori seats guaranteed some
degree of Maori representation in Parliament, these seats “in no way pro-
vided an adequate avenue for the expression of Maori opinion, nor were
they an effective vehicle for Maori development.”!? Originally an interim
measure, the seats continue to exist, and since their inception, New Zea-
landers have debated their abolition from time to time. In 1993, the num-
ber of Maori seats was allowed to increase in accordance with the size of
the Maori electorate. In 2003, there were six Maori seats in Parliament.

The Maori seats, however, have had their uses. New Zealand’s sys-
tem of ethnic representation has guaranteed at least partial inclusion of
Maori voices within Parliament. With the failure of the Maori Parliament
movement of the 1890s, the Maori seats provided a way for a new Maori
leadership to protect, in whatever way possible, Maori interests by work-
ing inside party and parliamentary politics. At the turn of the century, a
new Maori cohort took their place in Parliament. Called the Young Maori
Party (though not an official political party), the new Maori parliamentary
leadership was often biracial, educated in European institutions, and par-
tisan. Apirana Ngata, Te Rangihiroa (Peter Buck) and Maui Pomare came
to the House and aligned themselves with the Liberal Party. These Maori
leaders were instrumental in achieving some legislative gains, particularly
in the establishment of Maori land councils that served as building blocks
for Maori involvement in the management of reserve lands.'> However,
even with strong Maori leaders in cabinet such as Ngata, the ability of
Maori to stem the tide of land loss was marginal and subject to their abil-
ity to gain the support of other parliamentarians. In a period where the
greater electoral pressure was to provide land for white settlement versus
the protection of Maori land interests, support of other parliamentarians
was weak.

While the new generation of Maori parliamentarians would protect
land issues as much as they could, they saw the future of Maori within the
state and not separate from it. They advocated the One Nation concept of
undivided sovereignty and saw Maori economic and social advancement
linked to Maori acceptance of that national construct. This was particu-
larly represented by the Native Minister in the Liberal Party governments
of the 1920s, Apirana Ngata. Yet, these conservative Maori politicians had
to compete electorally with other Maori who represented other streams
of Maori thought. Maori also called for the ratification of the Treaty into
domestic law, asserted a separate political autonomy through both tribal
and pan-tribal structures, and demanded that the government address his-
toric land grievances, especially those arising from government confisca-
tions and shady purchases.
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In the late 1920s and early 1930s, a Maori religious movement
emerged, challenging the Young Maori Party, and eventually forging the
now longstanding partisan linkage between Maori and the Labour Party.
Firm in the belief that the Maori were God’s chosen people, Tahupotiki
Wiremu Ratana began a spiritual movement in 1918 that relied on faith
healing, called for the unity of the Maori and the ratification of the Treaty.
He founded the Ratana Church, and as time progressed, the movement
became more and more political. In the early 1930s, supported by the many
Maori unemployed battered by the Depression, Ratana turned his attention
to winning the Maori seats in Parliament. In 1932, Ratana Party member
Eruera Tirikatene took the Southern Maori seat. In 1935, Tokoura Ratana
won the Western Maori seat, and in 1938, Tiaka Omana took the Eastern
Maori seat.

The rise of the Ratana movement coincided with the emergence of
the New Zealand Labour Party. Founded in 1916, Labour courted Maori
representatives during the 1920s, and would consolidate its initial voter
base during the Depression. In 1925, Labour made a promise: In return
for Maori support, Labour would investigate Maori land grievances should
it form the government.'* When Ratana member Tirikatene came to the
House, he supported Labour and was part of the political alliance bringing
Labour to power for the first time in 1935. During the last term (1946-
1949) of this first Labour government, the Maori seats gave Labour the
majority in the House.

After the Depression, the New Zealand party system consolidated
itself into a two party system, with Labour and National the two major par-
ties competing to form the government. The National Party formed in 1936
out of the remnants of the Reform and United parties. National brought
together a socially conservative, anti-socialist, and free-enterprise coalition
of farmers and business-oriented urban voters. The Labour Party has his-
torically enjoyed far greater electoral support among Maori than does the
National Party. The story of Maori land claim politics during and after the
Second World War is therefore entangled in the web of partisan politics.

To summarize, the pre-war Maori land rights context was as follows.
Though the Treaty of Waitangi guaranteed Maori rights over their lands,
the Treaty itself had never been ratified by Parliament, and therefore had
no legal force. The courts, in effect, did not have the power to recognize
a Treaty-based land claim. The other legal basis for a land claim, the exis-
tence of customary aboriginal title, had not been tested. However, the his-
tory of land legislation and land loss effectively removed the possibility that
the Court of Appeal would find aboriginal customary title to still exist.
This meant that unlike the Nisga’a case in British Columbia, a Maori threat
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to ask the Court of Appeal to make an aboriginal title determination was
not a particularly credible one, especially without a cue from the Court that
it was willing to reconsider established law. No such cue was forthcoming.

Pressure for change needed to come from the political arena. The
possibilities for policy change to negotiate land grievances would depend
on Maori ability to build support around the cabinet table. The alignment
between Maori and the Labour Party during the Depression meant that the
ability for Maori to effect policy change in the recognition of their rights
and aspirations was more likely when Labour was in power, but such a
policy was never guaranteed.

CABINET AND ITS POLICY CHOICES (1943-1989)

Ad-Hoc Negotiation of Maori Land Claims in the WWII and Post-War Eras

There had always been demands from Maori for the government to address
their land grievances and the Crown’s role in their dispossession. In 1927,
after years of lobbying from the Tainui tribe, the Liberal government estab-
lished a commission of inquiry (the Sim Commission) to investigate the
Crown’s role during the late 19th century in the confiscation of Maori lands.
The commission was only mandated to recommend whether some confis-
cation claims merited monetary compensation, not whether the confisca-
tion policy was itself just or unjust.!> The Labour government under Prime
Minister Savage was involved in sporadic discussions with the Tainui tribal
authorities in the late 1930s on the size of any monetary settlement, but the
issue remained unresolved at the outbreak of the Second World War.

The willingness of Labour to address the land claims issue was always
constrained by a party platform that stressed “equality with racial indi-
viduality,”'¢ and this hesitation was even more strongly felt in the National
Party, which had little in the way of linkages with the Maori political com-
munity. The Labour government addressed Maori issues primarily as class
issues, and made progress in furthering social welfare reforms such as hous-
ing which would benefit Maori as equal, yet economically marginalized,
citizens. The decision of the Labour government to focus its attention on
confiscation claims, and not just class issues during the end of the war was
a result of two factors.

The first factor was that Maori mobilization originally encouraged
to support the war effort. In 1942, the Labour cabinet supported the cre-
ation of the Maori War Effort Organization, which was chaired by the
four Maori Members of Parliament. The organization worked through
tribal councils and sub-tribal structures to encourage voluntary recruitment
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among other things.'” By the end of the war, Maori involved in the Maori
War Effort Organization had begun using its auspices to encourage wider
Maori political unity.!®

The second was the growing importance of the Maori seats to
Labour’s majority in the House of Representatives. For the Labour govern-
ment’s first term (1935-1938), the party held 55 out of 80 seats, including
the two Maori seats held by Ratana. By 1943, Labour’s support in New
Zealand’s farming sector had softened considerably,!” and Labour’s major-
ity whittled down to five seats. The support of the Maori representatives
became the wedge on which the Labour government would rest. In 1946,
Labour won a squeaker majority of 42 seats in the House, and the Maori
seats made all the difference.

It was this conjuncture of Maori importance in the House and new
Maori mobilization with the Maori War Effort Organization that got the
Labour government negotiating a series of Maori land grievances in 1943.2°
The Labour government, with Maori Member of Parliament Eruera Tirika-
tene acting as the principal liaison between tribal authorities and the gov-
ernment, negotiated with the Tainui, Ngai Tahu, and Taranaki tribes on
the size of monetary settlements which would constitute “full and final”
settlements of these claims. In some ways, these claims were uncontrover-
sial in that the Crown’s confiscations and purchases of the lands at issue
were clear breaches of its honor. The method of compensation, money in
lieu of land or the return of sacred sites, proved controversial in the long
run by maintaining a sense of continued injustice among Maori that would
eventually reopen these settlements in the 1980s.

Although the Labour Party lost in the elections of 1949, the arrival
of the conservative National Party to the front benches did not signal the
immediate end of these negotiations. National “cleaned up” the series of
negotiations which Labour had already begun and also negotiated with
claimants whose claims were accepted as valid by the Surplus Lands Com-
mission (established in 1946 under Labour’s tenure). However, once the
National government dispatched these last claims, it signaled the end of
New Zealand’s pro-negotiation stance. If there was any optimism about
the National government’s intention to build on Labour’s policy legacy,
and consider further Maori land claims, such optimism was firmly dashed
in 1953. With no Maori Members of Parliament in its caucus, National
did not have an Eruera Tirikatene to push for the further resolution of
claims at the cabinet table. In 1953, the National government passed the
Maori Affairs Act, section 155 of which held that “Maori customary title
to land shall not be available or enforceable by proceedings in any court
or in any other manner.”?!
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This post-war attempt at negotiations is interesting for a number of
reasons. Firstly, the period is relatively unaddressed in the New Zealand lit-
erature on the history of land claims.?> What little consideration there is of
this policy action questions whether these negotiations were indeed mean-
ingful, arguing that the Maori had insufficient bargaining power to affect
the nature or monetary size of any settlement.”® Although the Minister of
Maori Affairs was the lead minister bringing the issue of compensation
to cabinet, the process was apparently driven by the Treasury department
whose preoccupation was to limit the consideration of claims to those
which had been investigated by an appointed commission of inquiry or the
Maori Land Court, and to limit the size of any monetary compensation to
the smallest amount that the Maori claimant would accept.?*

The few accessible cabinet documents on file are not as informative of
the cabinet debates as similar Canadian documentation during this period,?
but a few characteristics of the spare evidence on how the National Party
cabinet viewed the land claims issue are noteworthy.?® There is absolutely
no mention of the Treaty of Waitangi, and therefore no explicit linkage of
these claims to the broader political agenda of Maori autonomy and rights.
There is also no language placing these claims within a framework of for-
mal equality or rights of citizenship, to which the National Party would
have been more prone. There is no ideological treatment of the issue of
Maori grievances and how these claims fit within the larger framework of
Maori policy. These claims are addressed as compensation issues, with lim-
ited discussion on whether cabinet should seek further clarification on mat-
ters of law. The approach of cabinet seems very ad hoc and unconcerned
with these claims as anything other than financial transactions of very little
political consequence.

The apparent lack of political consequence of Maori land claims for
the National government is also reflected in National’s lack of interest in
the Treaty as a national symbol. The only Treaty discussions held by the
National cabinet during the 1950s was on whether to designate February
6th, the day the Treaty of Waitangi was signed, a national holiday. The
Minister of Internal Affairs recommended in August 1950 that cabinet
accept the New Zealand Founders Society’s request that such action be
taken.?” The decision of cabinet to this suggestion was that since “there
did not appear to be any general public desire for a special observance of
the anniversary of the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi as a New Zealand
day,” cabinet would postpone further consideration. The record of the dis-
cussion indicated that . . . The observance of [February 6] might tend to
emphasize unduly the Maori aspects, whereas a New Zealand Day should
be one recording all aspects of New Zealand development,” particularly
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“the attainment and enjoyment by New Zealand of full constitutional and
political capacity.”??

Cabinet consideration of the Treaty was postponed for seven years,
despite continued representation by the New Zealand Founders Society.
In 1957, cabinet heard that new voices were added to this call for Wait-
angi Day, in the form of the Associated Chambers of Commerce, the Maori
Women’s Welfare League, and municipal councils.?’ Apparently the new
evidence of widening public support for the idea six months before an elec-
tion did the trick, and cabinet agreed to declare Waitangi Day a holiday.
The National Party government fell in the 1957 election. The transition
to Labour did not ensure quick action, as it took the second Labour gov-
ernment (1957-1960) three more years to introduce the required legisla-
tion. The legislation was forthcoming only after the Maori member of the
Labour cabinet, Eruera Tirikatene, reportedly threatened to embarrass his
own government by introducing a private member’s bill should the govern-
ment not act.’’

The immediate post-war period in New Zealand demonstrates that
policy initiatives on Maori issues which were explicitly linked to a spe-
cial rights or treaty agenda were halting even under Labour governments
(1935-1949, 1957-1960). The lack of widespread non-Maori interest in
these rights meant there was insufficient pressure for Maori cabinet minis-
ters (who were sidelined from the Maori Affairs portfolio) to build wider
cabinet support for any meaningful pro-Maori policy action. When the
National Party assumed power in 1949, it concluded Labour’s negotiations,
but National backed away from expanding Labour’s initiative. The lack of
wide public profile of land grievances and the lack of Maori voices within
the National Party?! made it easy for the National government to ensure
that the land claims problem could be dispatched in 1953 by removing even
mild judicial pressure on governments to act.

Maori Mobilization in the Public Eye: The 1960s

As land claims faded from Parliamentary debate and the public eye in the
1950s, demographic changes were underway that would usher in a new
era of extra-parliamentary Maori politics in the late 1960s. In the post-war
era, Maori joined the urbanization of the New Zealand population with a
vengeance. As New Zealand’s urban poor and working class increasingly
took on a Maori face, two phenomena occurred. First, the Maori electorate
entrenched itself further in the Labour Party. Second, urbanization led to the
formation of new centers of pan-Maori political activism to complement,
or compete with, the more legislative and partisan strategies of the estab-
lished Maori political class. While the 1950s was a quiet decade for Maori
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protest on land grievances as far as the general public was concerned, this
would change by the end of the 1960s. By 1970, a new generation of Maori
political activists would emerge to embrace a wider repertoire of political
activity, such as demonstrations, public petitions, and tent embassies.

It is difficult to overstate the demographic and political importance
of Maori urbanization during and after World War Two. While urban drift
was a national (indeed, global) phenomenon, rates of Maori urbanization
far eclipsed those of the non-Maori population over the same time period.
To illustrate, in 1926 only 8% of the Maori population was resident in
urban areas, compared to 58% of the non-Maori population.’?> Maori and
non-Maori were effectively segregated, and the rural Maori population was
largely landless. Only two decades later, the 1945 census showed that the
Maori urban population had doubled to 16% as landless Maori left the
Depression-ravaged rural economy. The non-Maori urban population had
only increased by 5% over the same period, to reach 63%. By 1956, one
in four Maori lived in an urban area. By 1971, the Maori and non-Maori
urbanization rates began to converge, with 70% of the Maori population
and 81% of New Zealand’s total population in urban centers.?? Impor-
tantly, Auckland dominates New Zealand’s urbanization story. From 1936
to 1956, Auckland’s total population grew by 69%. The growth of Auck-
land’s Maori population over these twenty years is astounding. In 1936,
just under 2000 Maori lived in Auckland. By 1956, the Maori population
grew to just over 11,000, a 500% increase. Auckland’s tangata whenua,’*
the Ngati Whatua, soon found themselves the minority among Auckland’s
Maori. Not only were Maori drifting into cities at increasing rates, but the
Maori population was growing quickly overall. With an average annual
increase of 3.5%, the Maori population was growing one and half times
quicker than New Zealand’s non-Maori population.3’

New political organizations arose based on the Maori’s new urban
reality and increasingly crossed tribal lines. The 1950s saw the establish-
ment of new urban marae that brought together Maori who were sepa-
rated from their traditional tribal networks. In 1951, the Maori Women’s
Welfare League organized to address the growing issues of Maori urban
politics, inadequate housing and disappointing health statistics. The Maori
Women’s Welfare League, led by Whina Cooper, would pressure govern-
ments the traditional way, through linkages with the Labour Party and New
Zealand’s social service bureaucracy. While the Labour Party maintained
deep linkages with the Maori political community, the sheer growth of the
Maori population presented policy challenges that the National Party gov-
ernment could not ignore. With the four designated Maori seats held by
Labour, no Maori in the National Party caucus and the Maori Women’s
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Welfare League identified with Labour as well, the National Party govern-
ment thought to secure non-partisan policy advice from the Maori commu-
nity through new mechanisms.® In 1962, the National Party government
amended the Maori Welfare Act to establish the New Zealand Maori
Council (NZMC), designed to be an elective institution representing “the
Maori” voice and advising the government on Maori issues. The NZMC
was based on the existing Maori council system, and was not account-
able to tribal authorities. Some argued that the NZMC was possible only
because none foresaw that it would have much real political power: . . .
the creation of such a body . . . could be conceded in 1961 because, with
the land settled and Maori tribal structure greatly weakened, the Maoris
would have neither reason nor inclination to use it for obstruction.”3” The
circumstances of the NZMC’s birth, a construction of the state whose rai-
son-d’étre was to meet the National Party’s policy needs, meant that for its
first decade at least, the NZMC represented a fairly conservative slice of
Maori opinion.

The 1960s Maori political mosaic would be a swirl, a mix of new
Maori voices and older tribal authorities. By 1970, these voices would
converge behind a demand for meaningful recognition of the Treaty and
the role of land dispossession underlying Maori poverty. The land issue
would provide a basis for Maori cooperation much in the same way that
it had united disparate indigenous voices in 1960s Canada. In New Zea-
land, Canada and Australia, events in the 1960s would challenge the equal
citizenship and formal equality agenda, and put in its place a dialogue of
indigenous special rights based on their status as the New World’s oldest
occupants. The initial politicization of Maori as a separate people carrying
special rights would manifest itself through that particular New Zealand
obsession: rugby.3$

New Zealand’s view of itself as constituting “one people” with equal
rights for all was not without foundation. Maori had, after all, enjoyed uni-
versal male suffrage since 1879. New Zealand’s women, Maori and non-
Maori alike, were the world’s first women to join a national electorate. The
Maori did not share the history of official state-sponsored racism of the
American South. Also, unlike Canada’s and Australia’s indigenous people,
Maori have had a long history of formal inclusion within the apparatus of
the state. Beginning in 1960, Maori activists used New Zealand’s rugby
experience to challenge New Zealand’s “one-ness” and highlight the real-
ity of growing racial economic inequality. New Zealand’s national men’s
rugby team, the All Blacks, enjoyed a longstanding reputation as among the
world’s best. However, in keeping with apartheid, South Africa’s policy of
barring non-white athletes from sporting events held on South African soil,
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the New Zealand Rugby Union dropped Maori players from the All Blacks’
roster when on tour in South Africa. Ironically, when in South Africa, the
All Blacks were all white.

In 1960, the All Blacks were scheduled to play in South Africa without
their Maori players. This time, however, the Rugby Union’s accommoda-
tion of South Africa’s apartheid regime became an opportunity to illustrate
the fragility of New Zealand’s “one nation” construct, since to divide the
All Blacks would be to divide the nation. Maori and their supporters called
upon the New Zealand government to intervene. The government’s subse-
quent refusal to get involved in the Rugby Union’s decision provided a basis
for pro-Maori recruitment during the next decades. In 1973, the Labour
government would cancel the tour amidst fear of protest violence, and in
1981, the Springboks would come to New Zealand and spark the largest
bout of civil disobedience the country has since seen.

The 1960s rugby tour was the first inkling that many New Zealanders
had “that Maori would be prepared to resort to new methods of organized
protest,”3’ instead of channeling political demands through political parties
or Parliament. The rugby tour issue also showed the potential for Maori
activism to build linkages to non-Maori social activism. By the end of the
1960s, this new Maori activism extended the basis for unified Maori politi-
cal action by joining older Maori voices for ratification of the Treaty into
domestic law. The relative economic deprivation of Maori communities,
disproportionate representation of Maori in prisons, and a wide array of
social pathology was linked by Maori activism to the failure of New Zea-
land to stand by the bargain that the Treaty represented. In effect, Maori
activism came into the 1970s drawing a causal chain from New Zealand’s
historic refusal to view the Treaty as a meaningful political compact to con-
temporary social welfare outcomes.

The inclusion of land dispossession within the causal story of Maori
disadvantage had always been present, but it was explicitly politicized
anew during this era of incubating protest. In 1967, the National Party
government threw Maori land dispossession into a potent rhetorical brew
already spiced up by rugby and racism, when it passed the Maori Affairs
Amendment Act 1967. The legislation addressed the fragmentation of
Maori land tenure across increasing numbers of owners. Both Maori and
non-Maori agreed that fragmentation of tenure made it very difficult for
Maori to make economically efficient use of the lands remaining in Maori
control. The government’s preferred solution to the fragmentation problem
was based on two reports from the Department of Maori Affairs.* Both
of these reports identified collective land tenure as an important source
of Maori economic marginalization, and recommended various means
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of converting land from Maori freehold tenure to normal freehold title.
Although the recommendations varied on how coercive the Crown could
be in acquiring Maori lands,*! the message to the National cabinet was
one they were ideologically predisposed to hear. The solution to Maori eco-
nomic development was not to address the Treaty and the rights it guaran-
teed, but to diminish further the role of Maori collective ownership within
the land tenure system. Considering no Maori person was in cabinet and
the Maori Affairs bureaucracy was uninterested in exploring solutions that
respected the principle of Maori collective land tenure, it is little surprise
that the 1967 legislation was passed.

Scholars and Maori activists identify the 1967 legislation as an impor-
tant catalyst that brought urban and, increasingly, college-educated activist
Maori to cooperate with the remaining rural and tribal Maori leadership.*?
The legislation served as a mechanism to bring different Maori groups
together. It was a “ . . . turning point whereby Maori opinion began to
form a more articulate position on issues that directly affect Maoridom.”*
Just as Trudeau’s white paper kick-started a new wave of indigenous pro-
test in Canada, so too did the 1967 Maori legislation in New Zealand.
Soon, Maori land dispossession, the ratification of the Treaty, Maori social
outcomes, racism and Maori separateness were linked in the rhetoric used
across groups. The NZMC, the Labour Maori Members of Parliament, and
newer Maori voices joined in opposition to the legislation. “It is doubtful if
any other piece of legislation concerning the Maori has been attended by so
much publicity and heated debate.”**

Although the old and the new sectors of Maori activism came to share
policy demands, they did differ on the question of tactics. The younger,
university educated, and more militant sectors of urban Maori activism
would question the political strategies of their elders. Instead of working
through partisan politics, they preferred direct and visible action. In 1970,
two organizations formed to change the face of Maori politics. In Auck-
land, Maori youth activists based in university student politics formed Nga
Tamatoa, The Young Warriors. Nga Tamatoa would soon have chapters in
Christchurch and Wellington. Nga Tamatoa would be recognized as “ . . .
the first urban Maori protest group to employ ‘Pakeha’ tactics such as
demonstrations, petitions, and press releases.”*® The rhetoric of Nga Tama-
toa borrowed heavily from the Black Power movement of the United States,
and the issues of racism and land dispossession became increasingly inter-
twined in the public eye. Nga Tamatoa called publicly for the repeal of the
Maori Amendment Act 1967, meaningful Maori control of Maori land, the
cancellation of all sport contacts with apartheid South Africa, and the can-
cellation of Waitangi Day celebrations until the Treaty was truly honored.*”
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With Nga Tamatoa, Maori protest politics hit the streets, and from the per-
spective of your average white New Zealander, seemingly out of nowhere.

The National Party Considers Treaty Ratification, 1971

It was in this context of new protest politics that the issue of the Treaty of
Waitangi finally made it to the National cabinet agenda. In March 1971,
cabinet instructed the Ministers of Justice and Maori Affairs to prepare a
paper on why previous governments had not ratified the Treaty. Cabinet
instructed the Ministers to recommend whether the time was ripe to pro-
ceed with ratification.*® After consultations with the Foreign Affairs depart-
ment, the Ministers presented their joint policy paper.

The paper noted that ratification of the Treaty by Parliament is unnec-
essary if the Treaty is recognized as a Treaty under international law. If so,
the government would be bound by its provisions regardless, and ratifi-
cation would be unnecessary. The Ministers then noted that whether the
Treaty is in fact a treaty under international law “cannot be answered in
certainty.” The paper’s authors made no mention of the possibility of seek-
ing a judicial determination of the Treaty’s legal status. The Ministers con-
cluded by recommending against the Treaty’s ratification. The most pressing
reason for this recommendation was the uncertainty of both the legal and
political outcomes of ratification:

The most important objection to giving the Treaty the force of law . . .
is the uncertainty to which the incorporation of the very general lan-
guage of Article I into New Zealand would give rise. However, what is
sought by some Maori may well go further . . . What they really want
is a Maori Bill of Rights following or based on the text of the Treaty,
which would presumably have a status superior to that of an ordinary
Act of Parliament.*

In this excerpt, the ministers linked the statutory recognition of the
Treaty with a larger project of constitutional reform that compromised
the hallowed principle of parliamentary sovereignty. The Ministers later
asserted that such a constitutional reform would be nothing less than
undemocratic and “ . . . alien to New Zealand traditions and practice.”
The paper recognized, however, that government may well have to respond
to Treaty grievances, because in the political climate of escalating protest,
the document “ . . . has a moral force that Governments will be less and
less able to put aside.” However, the Ministers did not find this moral force
as yet adequate to spur government action, and recommended that cabinet
decline to ratify the Treaty.
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The National government offered symbolic appeasement in lieu of
substantive action: “We think it possible that if some significant step were
taken to increase the status of Waitangi Day for New Zealanders gener-
ally it would considerably diminish the concern and resentment that many
Maori undoubtedly feel over the Treaty.” This suggestion illustrates that
the National Party cabinet had a limited appreciation of the depth of Maori
feeling on the Treaty issue. They did, however, feel it was politically impor-
tant to consult with the NZMC on which existing legislation the Council
felt most contravened the spirit of the Treaty. However, cabinet demon-
strated a lack of commitment to undertake a full review of the legislation
when the Minister of Maori Affairs raised the idea a year later to establish a
Standing Committee of Parliament to do precisely that, as “[his] colleagues
did not support this proposal.”>°

In the absence of detailed survey analysis, there is no conclusive evi-
dence that Maori issues were among those issues that drove the National
Party from office in 1972.5! The National Party had formed the govern-
ment for twelve years. At the time, observers felt that the winds of change
need not blow too hard to topple the over-tired and somewhat atrophied
party from the government benches. “The National Government had virtu-
ally run out of ideas and energy, and the electorate seemed bored.”*? It was
clear that the National Party’s electoral position had been eroding in the
years leading up to the 1972 election. Whether Maori protests since 1967
had a cumulative and discernable affect on New Zealanders’ 1972 voting
habits is hard to say.

The Third Labour Government and the Waitangi Tribunal, 1972-1975

The climate of protest may not have had a persuasive effect on the National
government, but it provided both the pressure and the opportunity for the
Labour Party to differentiate itself further from its competitor on the Maori
issue after the November 1972 election. The engine behind Maori policy
change in the third Labour government was Matiu Rata. A member of the
Te Aupouri tribe of the country’s far north, Rata’s personal and political
history encapsulated the larger changes affecting Maori in post-war New
Zealand. Matiu Rata’s family left rural New Zealand during the war years,
and Rata spent his formative years in Auckland. By times a merchant sea-
man, laborer, and spray painter, Rata joined the two major networks that
brought Maori into political leadership at the time: the Ratana church and
trade unionism. He entered politics as an organizer for T.P. Paikea, the man
who held the Northern Maori parliamentary seat for Labour. When Paikea
died, Rata won the Northern Maori seat in 1963, and took on the mantle
of parliamentary leadership.
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Rata distinguished himself on the Opposition benches, and in 1967,
he was the Opposition’s lead spokesman in the House against the Maori
Welfare Amendment Act. He was a strong and vocal opponent of sport-
ing contacts with apartheid South Africa, and had a key role in bringing
Maori issues to the Labour Party by chairing its Maori Policy Committee.
Matiu Rata led Labour to incorporate the Treaty’s ratification as part of
the official party program. When Labour won the 1972 election in a land-
slide, the Labour caucus chose Rata as New Zealand’s first Maori Minister
of Maori Affairs.’*

Once installed in government, Rata identified the Treaty ratification
issue as an important government priority, and cabinet quickly approved
his request to submit a policy paper on ratification.’> Two months later,
Rata submitted draft legislation on the legal acknowledgement of the
Treaty. Instead of approving the legislation immediately, cabinet chose to
submit Rata’s draft legislation to a caucus committee for intra-party consid-
eration.’® The momentum for the quick passage of legislation was evidently
lost while Rata tried to build a coalition in caucus (as well as the cabinet) for
his ratification legislation.’” The Treaty of Waitangi legislation disappeared
from cabinet’s 1974 list of legislative priorities,’® and did not resurface for
discussion within the cabinet committee system until October of 1974.%

The draft legislation that Rata prepared after caucus consultation no
longer proposed the ratification of the Treaty. The ratification proposal,
which would implicitly change the balance of power in favor of the courts,
did not have the support of caucus. The momentum for policy change was
not totally lost, however. Rata proposed the establishment of a non-binding
tribunal of inquiry, the Waitangi Tribunal, and empowered it to investi-
gate “any act done or omitted or proposed to be done or omitted by or on
behalf of the Crown or of any local authority.”° Significantly, Rata’s draft
would allow a tribunal to investigate any government action, including all
historical and current land grievances. The Tribunal alone would have the
jurisdiction to interpret Treaty principles, with no appeal of that interpreta-
tion to the courts.

Despite these concessions, the proposed legislation met the resistance
of cabinet members, for a number of reasons. Firstly, they were concerned
about the scope of the bill to investigate historical grievances, and expressed
“ . . . that the Bill should be amended to make it explicit that it will refer
only to acts done after the passing of this Bill. To re-open past legislation
to the scrutiny of the tribunal would create an impossible situation.”®!
Cabinet also insisted that the legislation restrict the Tribunal’s mandate to
investigate only the national government’s actions. These were significant
restrictions, and evidently battles Rata felt he could not win. He made the
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amendments, and in November 1974, introduced the legislation, named the
Treaty of Waitangi Act, to Parliament.

From its introduction to Parliament until the following winter, the
Tribunal legislation underwent public scrutiny. Early on, public submis-
sions of the legislation were chiefly concerned with the Tribunal’s inabil-
ity to impose its recommendations on the government, and its inability to
investigate historical grievances. Internally, Rata and the Maori caucus lob-
bied for the Tribunal to hear grievances arising after 1900 (rather than after
1975), but encountered roadblocks from senior officials within the conser-
vative government departments like Justice, Finance, and Treasury.®?> Unlike
the Canadian case at this time, the role of the Prime Minister seems quite
marginal. Formerly the Minister of Finance and a relatively conservative
voice in the party, Prime Minister Rowling emerges from cabinet pages as
neither a strong ally nor a deterrent to the Waitangi Tribunal. Rata was left
to build a consensus across the Labour cabinet and party on this controver-
sial legislation during August and September of 19735, just months before
the next election.

While Rata fought for the Tribunal legislation within caucus and cabi-
net, significant Maori political action was occurring outside of institutional
politics. Frustrated with the continuing ability of the Crown to appropri-
ate Maori lands,®® a perceived lack of significant progress on Maori land
issues, even under a Labour government, and the non-legal status of the
Treaty, key Maori activists convened a meeting early in 1975. They formed
a new group called Te Roopu Ote Matakite (“those with foresight”). Mat-
akite’s main goal was to fight for Maori land rights. By the end of April,
Matakite had the support and personal involvement of representatives from
Nga Tamatoa, the Auckland Maori District Council, the Maori Women’s
Welfare League, and the New Zealand Maori Council. Dame Whina Coo-
per accepted Matakite’s request that she come out of retirement and lead
the organization. Matakite also decided on its inaugural strategy: “ . . .
an arresting gesture that would unite Maoris under their banner and focus
Pakeha attention on their concerns.”® Their bold gesture was to hold a
land march from the northern tip of the North Island to the national cap-
ital, Wellington, for a distance of 700 miles. The marchers would travel
from marae to marae,®® collecting New Zealand signatures on a land rights
petition and the signatures of Maoridom’s traditional leadership on a sepa-
rate “memorial of right.” For Whina Cooper, the march would accomplish
the following:

I wanted to draw attention to the plight of Maoris who were landless.
I wanted to point out that people who were landless would eventually
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be without culture. I wanted to stop any further land passing out of
Maori ownership, and I wanted the Crown to give back to Maoris
land it owned that was of traditional significance to Maoris. The
march itself was to dramatise these things, to mobilize Maori opinion,
to awaken the Pakeha conscience. And I agreed to lead it because the
great leaders of the past were dead—Caroll, Ngata, Buck, Te Puea,
Tau Henare, Paraire Paikea. I was the last one that had known all
those people.©®

As a recognized leader in her own right, Whina Cooper bridged
generations of Maori leaders. She would invoke her role in symbolically
linking Maori across time in the fight against land dispossession at the
very beginning of the March. On September 14th, 1975, the octogenar-
ian Whina Cooper, with one hand grasping her cane and the other her
five year old granddaughter’s hand, walked down a gravel track in New
Zealand’s north country, and the Land March was on. Nine days later, the
marchers and “thousands of supporters” walked across the Auckland har-
bor bridge.®” With the slogan “not one more acre,” up to 30,000 people
joined the Land March from September 14th to October 13th, collecting
signatures from 60,000 supporters for the land rights petition. The Land
March clearly identified land rights as the heart of Maori policies in a
hugely public way. It was a particular challenge to the Labour Party, since
it threatened to delegitimize Rata’s leadership position should no adequate
response be forthcoming. The Land March must have galvanized action
within the Labour caucus, because the government passed Rata’s legisla-
tion on October 10th, three days before 5000 marchers arrived on Parlia-
ment’s front lawn in the rain.

One month later, Labour was tossed from power, and under Rob-
ert Muldoon, “a conservative man with fixed ideas,”®® the National Party
would hold the reins for another nine years. A land-rights backlash is not
a likely source of Labour’s downfall in the 1975 election. Firstly, opin-
ion polling show a long-run favorable trend in voters’ intention to vote
National over the 1972-1975 period,®® with the National Party gaining sig-
nificant support in July 1975, two months before the marchers had left for
Wellington.”® Secondly, the National Party was able to turn the election into
an indictment of Labour’s stewardship of the economy. Robert Muldoon
hammered the Labour government with the country’s worsening economic
situation. Rampant inflation, a trade deficit and the perceived weakness of
Labour leader Rowling compromised Labour’s electoral position.

This period in the early 1970s illustrates that the strength of the New
Zealand norms of parliamentary sovereignty and consensual decision-mak-
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ing necessitated collective cabinet responsibility. These norms structured
the thinking of both elected and unelected decision-makers in both political
parties. Even with the concerted efforts of Matiu Rata, the Labour Party,
which had publicly committed itself to ratification and therefore to giving
the courts a much greater role in the question of land rights disputes, could
not build an internal coalition, once in government, to effect this radical
change. The Labour caucus also would not back the delegation of decision-
making power to the Tribunal, an option which was never even considered
by the National Party when in power. Thus, the feasible set of policy alter-
natives, meaning those which could achieve the necessary support across
cabinet and caucus, were limited to either continual delay, establishing con-
sultative mechanisms (commissions of inquiry or the Waitangi Tribunal), or
negotiation. Interestingly, the spate of negotiations which ended in the early
1950s did not build a constituency of interest within the bureaucracy for a
wider implementation of a negotiation policy, which by then the Trudeau
government had established in Canada.

This period also shows that the polarization of Maori politics across
the two competitive political parties meant that, in the absence of bureau-
cratic actors with a perceived self-interest in addressing Maori land claims,
pressure for change from within the circles of power occurred only when
Labour was in power. The historic Ratana-Labour alliance, forged in the
depths of the Depression, delivered Maori votes, Maori political talent,
and Maori electoral seats to the Labour Party. Since 1943, the Maori seats
were “ . . . the safest seats in the country.””! However, the Maori politi-
cal alliance with Labour did not guarantee success. It ensured the mini-
mum condition that some Maori voices would be heard around the cabinet
table and in caucus meetings. In the infrequent periods of Labour’s tenure
(1943-1949, 1957-1960, 1972-1975), the difficulties of building an inter-
nal consensus on a Treaty and Maori land policy were still serious enough
that political contestation provided the external pressure necessary for even
a Labour government to act.

With the Maori seats in the House of Representatives locked in the
Labour firmament, and with Maori voters limited to the Maori electoral
roll, the National Party had little electoral incentive to build meaningful
linkages with the Maori community. The National Party could afford to
be conservative in their Treaty policies. In its dying days, the third Labour
government passed legislation that had the potential to make the National
Party more responsive to Maori interests in the future. The Electoral
Amendment Act 1975 gave a Maori person the option of enrolling on
either the Maori or the general electoral roll. At each census, a Maori voter
can choose where he thinks his vote would do the most good. This meant
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that since the 1978 election, Maori voters could cast their vote for their
local parliamentary candidate.

1975-1984: The Muldoon Era

Highly combative, socially conservative, pugnacious and dictatorial, Prime
Minister Robert Muldoon dominated his cabinet like perhaps no other Prime
Minister in New Zealand’s history.”> One of his cabinet colleagues writes,

Muldoon satin his. . . office, surrounded by the instruments of power.
There his ice-blue stare impelled subservient action from his staff
. . . he acted as a general in total control, while his cabinet ministers
remained tied to their more inflexible departmental systems . . . Even
with this ministerial colleagues, Muldoon was ruthless. He dominated
cabinet and made sure at every reshuffle that we all knew where the
real power lay. That was perhaps natural enough: he was our leader.
But his dictatorial sway reached to caucus, Parliament, the party and
the media.”

Muldoon allowed his ministers very little discretion in how to run
their portfolios, and did not reciprocate the expectation of loyalty with
a willingness to consult.”> He also chose men for cabinet, many of them
farmers and reflective of the National voting base, who shared his social
conservatism. Maori grievances had landed on punishing soil.

As both the Prime Minister and the Minister of Finance, Muldoon’s
attention was dominated by the financial crises brought on by the oil
shocks, rampant inflation, and careening balance of payments situation
which devastated the New Zealand economy by the end of his tenure. Wors-
ening economic conditions contributed to increasing Maori protest activity
throughout this period, but the arguments of protesters linking Maori eco-
nomic outcomes, land dispossession, historical land grievances, and rights
to Maori self-determination found no sympathy with this Prime Minister.
Philosophically, Muldoon embraced the value of cultural pluralism within
a One Nation construct, and viewed the Land March as “ . . . a symbol of
discontent. No more than that.””* He rejected historical land claims as “a
nonsense.” 7> Opportunities to change his thinking from inside government
were difficult given the tone he set in cabinet.

The pressure to respond to Maori land grievances continued to mount
from the outside, with protests and demonstrations increasing. Two dem-
onstrations were extensively covered in the media. First, a Matakite splinter
group established a tent embassy on Parliament’s front lawn, demanding
immediate action to the Land March. However, once he learned that the
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splinter group did not enjoy Whina Cooper’s support, Muldoon had the
police forcibly remove the tenters. Second, a group from the Ngati Whatua
tribe occupied Bastion Point to protest the government’s intention to allow
a high-cost housing development in central Auckland. A valuable piece of
Auckland real estate, the protesters argued that the government had acquired
the land in a morally questionable (though legal) chain of events, and that
the land should be returned to the Ngati Whatua, now basically landless.”®
The Bastion Point protest lasted 506 days. The protest ended in April 1978,
when Muldoon had the police arrest 218 occupiers for trespassing.

With the tent embassy dispersed, but the Bastion Point protest keep-
ing Maori land rights in the public eye, the Muldoon cabinet grudgingly
implemented the Waitangi Tribunal in 1977. The cabinet had deferred a
decision to implement Rata’s Tribunal in 1976, but evidently, in 1977, the
Tribunal’s potential uses became more attractive. The value to the govern-
ment of the Tribunal was mainly as a race relations pressure-valve, giving
Maori a place to file their grievances rather than taking them to the streets.
However, the Tribunal received minimal financial support during its early
years. While unsympathetic to historical land grievances, the Muldoon gov-
ernment did make moves to address concerns over present-day Maori land
loss in the face of a petition to Parliament by Dame Whina Cooper.”” Cabi-
net approved the principle that Maori land compulsorily taken or alien-
ated to the Crown for public purposes would be offered back to its Maori
owners once that public purpose had ended, and the Crown would discuss
reasonable terms with the Maori claimants.”®

The prospects for a review of Maori land policy may have looked
better after the 1978 election, when Muldoon appointed Ben Couch to the
Maori Affairs portfolio. Couch was among three Maori who were elected
to general seats for the National Party. Muldoon considered Couch a man
of integrity, with “no time for radical views and the stirrers.””® A former
member of the All Blacks, Couch himself had been one of the Maori players
barred from touring South Africa in 1949. Despite this experience, Couch
toed the National Party position on sporting contacts with South Africa.
Couch’s more mainstream views on Maori political relations, his junior
position within cabinet,®® and the ethos of cabinet meant that a fundamen-
tal re-evaluation of the Treaty would not occur until the Muldoon era came
to an end.

The Fourth Labour Government—Arbitration and Negotiation
Emerge, 1984-1989

The fall of the Muldoon government in a snap election in June 1984
brought the Labour Party back to the Beehive.?! The transition to Labour
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paved the way for new expertise and ideas on the status of the Treaty, and
forced a new conversation at the cabinet table on the status of Maori as
tangata whenua or “first peoples” within the constitutional structure of the
New Zealand state.

Labour’s renewed interest in Maori grievances was not solely a result
of new energy and faces around the cabinet table. The once unquestioned
alliance between Maori and Labour had undergone a serious schism in
1979. From 1975 to 1979, the Maori star of the third Labour govern-
ment, Matiu Rata, suffered a series of demotions and was stripped of his
Maori affairs portfolio in Labour’s shadow cabinet. Rata reportedly did
not enjoy the personal confidence of Labour Leader Rowling.?? Politically
isolated and personally diminished, Rata perceived that Labour was tak-
ing its Maori constituency for granted. He also felt that the Labour-Maori
alliance had forced him to constantly compromise his political loyalties, as
demonstrated by the concessions he had to make to pass the Waitangi Tri-
bunal legislation through cabinet.®* In a move which surprised the political
world, Rata resigned from the Labour Party in November 1979. The move
was highly controversial, drawing the ire of Maori who thought Labour
remained the real vehicle for change, as well as the support of Maori who
thought Maori politics had come of age and needed its own voice. Then,
Rata founded Mana Motuhake, a new Maori political party to contest both
general and Maori seats. In a 1980 by-election for the Northern Maori
seat, Rata did not win, but managed to poll 37.9% of the vote. In 1981
and 1984, Mana Motuhake eroded the Labour vote,** but in both elec-
tions, Maori voters still cast their lot with the Labour Party. If voting for
Labour was the most important expression of the Maori choice, non-voting
was not far behind. With a 27% non-voting rate (compared with 11% for
the general electorate),®* Mana Motuhake had a large pool of Maori vot-
ers that it could potentially mobilize. While Maori voters still turned to the
Labour Party, the fourth Labour government was aware that it could not
take its traditional Maori electorate for granted.®¢

With Rata sitting on the other side of the House, new faces in the
Labour Party drove its Maori policies. One of the Labour Party’s driving
forces in the reconsideration of Maori and the New Zealand state was
Geoffrey Palmer, law professor and constitutional scholar. Palmer was a
force to be reckoned with, and his workload in cabinet reflected his impor-
tance. Palmer assumed the portfolios of Deputy Prime Minister, Minister
of Justice, Attorney-General, and Leader of the House in Prime Minister
David Lange’s first cabinet.

Palmer writes that his approach to Maori issues was significantly
affected by his experiences at the University of Chicago Law School, at the
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height of the civil rights movement. In his studies of American constitu-
tional law, he became impressed with the role of the judiciary in protecting
minority rights, as established by the Brown v. Board of Education deci-
sion.%” This experience was the foundation of Palmer’s long-running schol-
arly concern with the lack of effective checks to executive power in New
Zealand. As an expert on the New Zealand executive branch writes, New
Zealand has “ . . . a political executive untroubled by challenges to its
hegemony by an interfering and retarding upper house, by federal compo-
nents to the political system with their own sources of power and authority,
by judicial review of its decisions, or . . . by troublesome, multiparty par-
liaments.”®® The only significant check to executive power is a maximum
electoral term of three years. Palmer sought to rectify this fundamental
imbalance of power once in office.

The second source of Palmer’s intellectual development was the grow-
ing reputation of the Waitangi Tribunal. As a new and untried institution,
the Muldoon government largely ignored it. However, under the steward-
ship of the Tribunal’s Maori Chairman, Judge Eddie Taihakurei Durie,
the Tribunal began to incorporate Maori practices into its meetings, and
became generally more sensitive to the political and cultural context of
its Maori claimants. The Tribunal began to develop a positive reputation
among Maori. Starting in the early 1980s, the Tribunal released reports
on contemporary environmental management issues that put up front and
centre the principles of Treaty as guiding its own recommendations for
government action. The Tribunal, a commission of inquiry, was effectively
developing a Treaty-based Maori rights jurisprudence that emphasized the
principle of political partnership between Maori and non-Maori. The Tribu-
nal offered pragmatic solutions that gave practical effect to the partnership
principle. Palmer writes that the sound approach and growing credibility of
the Tribunal provided “an intellectual and legal framework which could be
relied upon with confidence and adopted by the courts.”®’

Palmer had also drawn a different causal link between the evidence of
a Maori social underclass and the government’s recognition of the Treaty.
Unlike his predecessors in cabinets past, he identified negative social out-
comes of the larger Maori community as the consequence of New Zea-
land’s historic refusal to honor the partnership principle at the heart of
the Treaty: “ . . . Social deprivation which threatened the fabric of the
New Zealand community was caused, at least in part, by serious injustice
which the Crown resolutely refused to address. Measures were required to
address both the social deprivation and the injustice—to deal with one and
not the other would not be enough.”*" Palmer’s view was both to limit the
power of the executive in the arbitrary use of power, and to provide Maori
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with leverage to force future governments to the bargaining table, since
ultimately, it was through negotiation with Maori that grievances would
be resolved.

Palmer’s interest in the judicial limitation on executive power and his
views on the Treaty led him to pursue a multi-pronged approach to reform
in cabinet and in caucus. This reform approach consisted of three policy
proposals. The first sought to strike a new balance of power between the
judicial and executive branches of the New Zealand state. He proposed an
entrenched Bill of Rights that would incorporate the Treaty of Waitangi
among its articles. Palmer thought that “ . . . no supreme law for New
Zealand can be contemplated unless it contains appropriate recognition
of the Maori as tangata whenua.” Through an entrenched Bill of Rights,
Palmer would give the courts the power to trump Parliament by disallow-
ing legislation according to Treaty principles.’® This proposal was a huge
challenge to New Zealand’s political culture. The second policy proposal
was to expand the role of the Waitangi Tribunal to hear grievances dat-
ing to 1840. This proposal was at once a reward to the Tribunal for its
pragmatism and also an attempt to mainstream protest politics. The third
policy proposal was to incorporate mention of the principles of the Treaty
into government legislation as a matter of standard practice. This was an
interim measure the government would pursue while discussions on the Bill
of Rights developed.

Palmer and the Minister of Maori Affairs, Koro Wetere, worked jointly
in spearheading the process of building consensus within cabinet on these
three policy initiatives. Even though these initiatives had been part of policy
discussions within the Labour Party prior to the election of 1984, Palmer
indicates that support for them around the cabinet table or across official-
dom was neither assured nor universal.”> Palmer’s suggestion of ideological
qualms around the cabinet table does not include an exploration of who
exactly represented the counterforce, but Palmer does indicate that part of
the problem in undertaking this process of consensus-building lay in the
lack of expertise and intellectual vibrancy on Treaty issues within the senior
bureaucracy itself. Uninterested and in the past not called upon by Minis-
ters to consider the Treaty during the policy development stage, the senior
public service was largely incapable of advising Ministers on the impact
of the Treaty principles across the policy spectrum. Palmer singled out the
Maori Affairs bureaucracy for its stellar lack of policy development capac-
ity. Consequently, the task of preparing papers outlining the policy implica-
tions for his three proposals came to rest within the Justice and Treasury
departments.”? The initial task of building bureaucratic expertise within the
Justice department to support Palmer and Wetere’s reform proposals also
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needed to extend to other departments as the Waitangi Tribunal’s on-going
investigations reached out to cross all sectors of public policy, including
fisheries, agriculture, pollution management, language, and of course, land.
By June of 1986, officials had canvassed their departments and identified
difficulties in applying Treaty principles to current areas of policy. They
agreed to incorporate a mandatory reference to the Treaty during the policy
approval stage of all future legislation.*

While the building of Treaty expertise was a long term challenge
for Palmer and Wetere, they were successful in getting cabinet approval
to develop the Bill of Rights proposal for parliamentary consideration as
well as pushing through the amendments to the Waitangi Tribunal. Palmer
introduced the Bill of Rights policy paper to Parliament in 1985, and the
parliamentary hearing process began Palmer’s attempt to build a public
coalition of support behind the proposal. Despite work with the Maori cau-
cus and in the Maori community, the submissions to Parliament by Maori
voices were mixed and underwhelming.”> Palmer identifies the “suspicious,
uneasy, doubtful, or undecided” attitude among Maori as the factor which
eventually “sank” the possibility of moving forward with a Bill of Rights
that included the Treaty.”® Palmer thus suggests that in the face of divided
Maori opinion, he could not have swayed uncertain members of cabinet to
support the inclusion of the Treaty in a Bill of Rights.

On the issue of expanding the Tribunal’s investigative mandate and
capacities, Maori opinion was solid, and cabinet moved quickly. Within
five months of assuming office, Koro Wetere sought and received cab-
inet approval to move the legislation amending the Tribunal to the top
of the government’s legislative priorities, and by December 1984, cabinet
approved the draft legislation.”” The value of the Tribunal to the Labour
Government lay in its growing reputation and legitimation among Maori
as well as in its role in interpreting the terms of the Treaty. The Tribunal
had made itself useful. It could viably act as a pressure valve for Maori dis-
sension, which would otherwise find its way to the streets, and it provided
an independent source of ideas on which public officials could draw in
their new task of incorporating analysis of the Treaty in the policy develop-
ment process.

The growing reputation and usefulness of the Waitangi Tribunal to
the Labour government is reminiscent of the Trudeau government’s accep-
tance of the Indian Claims Commissioner within the Canadian context.
A direct comparison as well is the emphasis of both commissions on the
appropriateness of political solutions to indigenous grievances. The Tribu-
nal consistently advocated the development of consultation and negotia-
tion mechanisms between government departments and appropriate Maori
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tribal and sub-tribal groups as the appropriate means of establishing the
partnership principle at the heart of the Treaty. It is within this context
of growing ideological commitment to a partnership between Maori and
non-Maori that Palmer and Wetere revived ad hoc negotiations on the key
claims which languished under Muldoon’s tenure.

The Court Speaks: The Lands Case, Arbitration, then Negotiation

The 1989 decision of the Labour government to establish a formal negotia-
tions policy, thereby moving from an ad hoc and reactive to a consistent
and proactive approach to the negotiation of Maori grievances, is a result
of the series of political events unleashed by the Court of Appeal’s 1987
decision in what has become known as the Lands Case.”® Like the Supreme
Court’s Calder decision in Canada, the Lands Case provided a huge catalyst
to focus cabinet’s attention on Maori grievances and on how these griev-
ances related to the government’s wider policy goals. The court decision
allowed Maori negotiators to wield new leverage because the achievement
of the government’s economic restructuring policies depended on how well
the government responded to Maori land claims. The court decision placed
the cabinet under un-ignorable pressure. Like in Canada, delay and an ad
hoc approach to Maori land grievances around the cabinet table were no
longer feasible. This pressure allowed Palmer to override the dissent of his
colleagues. Key to the story of how New Zealand came to adopt a negotia-
tions policy are the support from a senior cabinet minister for far-reach-
ing initiatives supporting Maori self-determination, the political acumen of
the New Zealand Maori Council to push Palmer from outside cabinet, and
the political pressure which had been the product of years of Maori politi-
cal protest. This meant that cabinet simply could not legislate Maori rights
away, as it had in 1953.

The linking of Maori land claims with Labour’s neo-liberal program
of economic restructuring occurred during the drafting of the government’s
key economic legislation, the State-Owned Enterprises Act (hereafter SOE
Act). Following the devaluation of the New Zealand dollar in July 1984,
the Labour government undertook radical liberalization of the economy.
The restructuring of the state sector was part and parcel of New Zealand’s
radical economic refurbishment. Under the government’s program, the gov-
ernment created corporations to manage state assets free from ministerial
control. Managers of the SOEs were charged with running these corpora-
tions as profitable enterprises subject to the pressures of the free market.
These state assets included land, forests, electricity, and coal. The trans-
fer of these assets to SOEs, Maori feared, would make it difficult for the
government “ . . . [to return] transferred lands to Maori were there to
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be successful claims to the Tribunal in the future,”®® especially if the SOEs
were to create new property interests in these lands. Therefore, the SOE Act
included two sections. Section 27 prevented a SOE to sell lands subject to
a Maori claim registered with the Waitangi Tribunal before the enactment
of the legislation. Section 9 would become its critical section: “Nothing in
this Act shall permit the Crown to act in a manner inconsistent with the
Treaty of Waitangi.”

The account of why the government included these sections in the leg-
islation is somewhat mixed. One scholar attributes it to the recommenda-
tion of the Waitangi Tribunal to protect Maori interests.'?’ Geoffrey Palmer,
the Minister responsible for drafting all government legislation, writes that
its inclusion was deliberate and part of his policy initiative of incorporating
references to the Treaty into government legislation.!'"! Interviews I con-
ducted with Treasury officials in Wellington indicated that the section was
a throw-away, or “window-dressing” clause inserted in the eleventh hour
of late-night legislative drafting, with little understanding of its future con-
sequences. The truth is probably a mix of all three accounts. Whatever the
reasoning, the legislation was enacted on December 18th, 1986.

Despite the assurance sections 27 and 9 were meant to provide, the
New Zealand Maori Council started legal proceedings in the Court of
Appeal. The Council sought greater protection of Maori interests with
respect to claims filed into the future before the SOE policy was imple-
mented. By seeking a judicial determination, the Chairman of the Council,
Sir Graham Latimer, took a strategic risk that the Court would not rule in
the Council’s favor. Although a lower court ruled in favor of Maori cus-
tomary fishing rights in a recent case,'%? the Crown had not yet pursued the
case to test the thinking of the Court of Appeal. Although the Lands Case
did not put the question of customary land rights before the court, it was
the first case relating to Maori rights in land where the Court of Appeal had
the opportunity to interpret section 9 of the SOE Act. To explain his think-
ing behind pursuing the case, Sir Latimer indicated that 10 years previously,
he would not have tested the Court’s thinking, fully expecting the Court’s
rejection of Maori rights at that time.!*3 However, the Waitangi Tribunal
had been actively developing its thinking on the Treaty principles since the
early 1980s, and the judicial context was ripe for change.

Latimer’s gamble paid off. The Court of Appeal delivered five separate
judgments on June 29th, 1987. The Court was very close to according the
Treaty of Waitangi constitutional status, ruling that the Treaty conferred
a moral and political (but not a legal) obligation upon the government to
enact legislation which did not contravene the terms of the Treaty.!** The
finding of the court was to order the government and the Maori Council to
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develop a system of safeguards: “ . . . as regard claims made on or after 18
December 1986 the system should aim to ensure, if there is any likelihood
that the Waitangi Tribunal will recommend return to Maori ownership,
that such a recommendation could be acted upon.”!%

In early July, cabinet sat down to review its options in light of the Lands
Case. Cabinet overruled the option of further litigating the issue by seeking
an appeal of the Court’s decision to the Privy Council.'? To do so would
undermine New Zealand’s national independence by inviting outsiders to
interpret the meaning of the Treaty within New Zealand’s constitutional
structure.'?” The system of safeguards had to protect Maori interests in lands
as well as allow the government to continue with its economic restructuring
program. The Labour government, Geoffrey Palmer specifically, was left to
design such a response: “ . . . In effect what the court said was the Crown
had to come up with a scheme and there was not much guidance in the judg-
ments about what its elements should be. Hammering out those details was
one of the most challenging tasks I ever faced as a minister.” 108

Like the Trudeau government thirteen years before, the government
of New Zealand faced a court decision that forced the government to do
something, but the discretion about what that something would be rested
with cabinet. The Minister of Justice and his team of officials derived a
set of conditions which any institutional mechanism for the protection of
future land claims needed to meet. The central quandary for the Minister
was how to protect future claims from the actions of future governments
in a parliamentary system with few formal checks on executive power in a
political culture which considered parliamentary sovereignty a virtue and
a politicized judiciary a vice. The government could only credibly provide
such protection by allowing itself to be bound into the future by the deci-
sion of an independent actor that was somehow democratically account-
able. Palmer and his advisors needed to execute a tricky tap dance.

Part of a solution was to delegate some authority to the institution
which proved to have the capacity to interpret the Treaty and had earned
the confidence of Maori and non-Maori alike, the Waitangi Tribunal.
Palmer proposed a system where lands would be transferred to SOEs and
only sold to other interests with a caveat that assets may be under claim.
The role of the Waitangi Tribunal would be to investigate a Maori claim
to those assets, and make a binding determination on whether they should
be returned to the Maori claimant. If the Tribunal made such a determi-
nation, the Crown would be liable to the SOE and any third party for
compensation.

The weakness of this solution is that the Tribunal exists as a result
of the Treaty of Waitangi Act. A simple parliamentary statute, it requires
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a simple majority in the House to change its terms. The Waitangi Tribunal
can be abolished or changed by a majority government as long as the gov-
ernment maintains the confidence of the House. The Tribunal’s survival, in
other words, rests primarily on its own political legitimacy.'?’

Talks between Palmer and Latimer halted during the 1987 election
campaign, but continued after the electorate returned Labour to power.
Latimer sought not only the strengthening of the Waitangi Tribunal, but
also sought reasonable assurances that the powers of the Tribunal would
not be weakened by statute at a later date. The answer lay not in plac-
ing further legal constraints in the government’s path, but in formalizing
the consideration of Treaty issues within the machinery of cabinet govern-
ment. Cabinet agreed to establish a standing cabinet committee on Treaty
of Waitangi issues, and to develop procedures and expertise for the direct
negotiation of Maori grievances.

The Labour government’s private decision in November 1987 to pur-
sue a negotiations policy is therefore the companion piece to giving the
Waitangi Tribunal the power to adjudicate some of the claims which would
come before it. Adjudication would present future cabinets with significant
fiscal risk should they not address Maori grievances, while direct negotia-
tion of claims with the Crown would in theory decrease the likelihood that
aggrieved Maori would seek an arbitrated solution. A direct negotiation
policy would also signal to Maori and others that cabinet was not prepared
to cede the tasks of governing to either the Tribunal or the courts.

From late 1987 to 1989, the Labour government began developing
the mechanisms which would be necessary for a negotiations approach to
Maori land grievances. The Treaty of Waitangi Policy Unit was established
within the Justice department in 1988. Work began on developing the prin-
ciples which would form the substantive parameters of the Crown’s nego-
tiation policy and would coordinate the Crown’s position on claims coming
before the Tribunal. The cabinet did so under continuing pressure, since the
successful Lands Case sparked further litigation on Maori rights to coal,
fisheries, and later on, broadcasting. Geoffrey Palmer became Prime Min-
ister in August of 1989, and he reports that by that time, cabinet members
were raising their increasing concern with losing the momentum on Treaty
matters to the courts. The time came to “take the initiative.”'? Cabinet
needed to signal to the courts and the wider public that the executive, not
the judiciary, would drive Treaty policy. In December of 1989, the govern-
ment publicly announced its commitment to enter into direct negotiations
with Maori claimants.

In October 1990, the fourth Labour government fell, and was
reduced to a mere 29 out of 97 seats in the House. Labour paid for its huge



106 Negotiating Claims

neo-conservative economic restructuring efforts. However, the National
Party continued to implement Labour’s negotiation policy. Sir Douglas
Graham, a conservative business man from Auckland, had Prime Minister
Jim Bolger’s confidence. Sir Graham assumed the Minister of Justice and
the new Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations portfolios.
The National government remained committed to Labour’s negotiation
policy.!"! The negotiations, above all else, would recognize the Crown’s
historical wrongs, lead to a modern reconciliation, and allow Maori and
the state to restore their relationship. In an April 2001 interview, a senior
National Party member argued that a negotiation response would have
occurred given the cumulative pressure of Maori protests, but he specu-
lated that the Lands Case brought about a negotiation response “ten years
sooner.” The political calculation, he argued, was not electoral, as National
did not think it would gain Maori votes and expected to lose non-Maori
votes. The National cabinet believed negotiation to be “in the right,” and
so the negotiation policy continued under its stewardship.

REFLECTIONS ON THE NEW ZEALAND CASE

This study explores the emergence of indigenous land claim negotiation
policies in a comparative perspective. I have established the two basic deci-
sions an executive must make in order to choose a negotiation response.
This first is to recognize indigenous rights as special rights, flowing from
indigenous people’s status as pre-existing political communities and their
own systems of law. This recognition dimension requires policy-makers to
accept, if grudgingly, that indigenous politics goes beyond the politics of
equal rights and equal citizenship. The second basic decision an executive
must make to arrive at a negotiation outcome is not to delegate decision-
making power to a third party. To negotiate is to resolve a dispute face to
face, rather than calling upon a judge or arbitrator to rule in one party’s
favor over another.

In the New Zealand context, the recognition dimension has been
less contentious than in Canada or Australia. The existence of one treaty
covering both the North and South Islands, as well as the history of land
alienation from Maori to the Crown and on to the settler population, have
decreased the potential cost of recognition. They did so by making it very
unlikely that customary land rights continue to burden land titles, thereby
decreasing the political uncertainty surrounding a recognition decision.
This does not mean, however, that a decision to recognize Maori land rights
and special rights was costless. To negotiate with Maori over historical
land grievances still departed from an assimilationist or equal citizenship
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agenda. To negotiate claims was to strengthen the Maori claim that the pre-
dominant or most important relationship between Maori and the state was
as tangata whenua, not as undifferentiated citizens of a unified nation. To
negotiate was to give symbolic credence to the Maori claim that the Crown
and Maori tribes were equal parties in the foundation of the colony.

This chapter shows that a strong norm of parliamentary sovereignty
colored policy-makers’ views on the appropriateness or the cost of delega-
tion in the New Zealand context. The strength of this norm differentiates
New Zealand from both Canada and Australia. At each choice opportu-
nity, policy-makers resisted measures that would give courts a greater role
in resolving Maori grievances with the Crown. Sir Apirana Ngata, Matiu
Rata, and Geoffrey Palmer each pushed proposals to give Maori more
political leverage through the courts, and each failed to some degree. Ngata
met the resistance of key legislative drafters; Matiu Rata could not bring
cabinet and caucus on side with his initial vision for the Waitangi Tribu-
nal; and Geoffrey Palmer would back away in the end from his entrenched
Bill of Rights. Only Geoffrey Palmer would partially succeed in his agenda,
but only in the extraordinary circumstances unleashed by the Lands Case.
And yet, while Palmer was forced to delegate some power to the Waitangi
Tribunal, he also deemed it absolutely necessary to rebuild the state-Maori
relationship through direct negotiation.

The New Zealand case therefore shows the limits of the blame avoid-
ance hypothesis which would predict that as issues become increasingly
contentious, governments should be more willing to delegate decision-mak-
ing capacities to the courts or other actors. The blame avoidance hypoth-
esis predicts delegation in the presence of political contention, but it does
not factor in the importance of political norms that condition governments’
view of how judicial and executive power is properly balanced. In this par-
liamentary system, cabinet has always jealously guarded its power to gov-
ern, and viewed the judicial option as inherently compromising that power.

It was Maori protests, such as rugby demonstrations, the Land
March, tent demonstrations, and annual demonstrations on Waitangi Day
that convinced policy-makers the long-term relationship between Maori
and the Crown required fixing. The protests put land rights and the vehicle
for those rights, the Treaty, up front and center. Land rights and the Treaty
became issues on which a significant cross-section of Maori voices could
agree. So long as protests continued, the political costs of inaction or del-
egation mounted, since a government could hardly enjoy victories in the
courts if Maori could continue the struggle in the press and on the street.
Maori protest led policy-makers and others outside government to question
the costs of previous policies and future strategies. The New Zealand case
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shows that like the Canadian, the introduction of a negotiation policy was
preceded by 1) the ad hoc negotiation of particular claims, 2) the politi-
cal mobilization of Maori outside of the mainstream parliamentary insti-
tutions, and 3) the growing credibility of an independent commission of
inquiry which recommended negotiation as the appropriate mechanism for
addressing Maori land grievances.

The Lands Case, like the Calder decision in Canada, removed cabi-
net’s do nothing or “wait it out” option, and so provided the pressure for
cabinet to reach a consensus on significant policy change. The Court of
Appeal decision gave Maori important leverage by legitimating the prin-
ciple of partnership inherent in the Treaty of Waitangi compact, but just
as importantly, the court made its historic decision when the New Zealand
Maori Council had allies around the cabinet table, a credible outside ally
in the Waitangi Tribunal, and the political wherewithal to make the most
of the opportunity. In 1987, Maori leaders were able to work with their
cabinet allies to prevent the erosion at the cabinet table of the momentum
gained in court, in contrast to their inability to stop the National govern-
ment from eroding their rights in 1953. With the National Party in power,
no allies around the cabinet table, and no protest demonstrations to make
a long-run negotiation strategy attractive, it is difficult to see how a judicial
decision in the early 1950s affirming Maori rights would not have sim-
ply been overturned and negated through cabinet fiat. Therefore, cabinet’s
decision to negotiate in 1989 must be seen as the outcome of the impor-
tant sequencing between prior Maori political mobilization and subsequent
judicial change, rather than judicial change alone.



Chapter Five

Cabinet Decision-Making and
Indigenous Land Rights in Australia
(1945-1998)

INTRODUCTION

On August 16th, 1975, Labor Party Prime Minister Gough Whitlam made
an important political pilgrimage to Wattie Creek, a remote area on a large
pastoral property in Australia’s Northern Territory. There, the Prime Min-
ister poured a handful of soil into the awaiting hand of Vincent Lingiari, a
stooped and aged cattle stockman and elder of the Gurindji people. Though
the photo of the event would become the iconic image of Australia’s first
recognition of aboriginal land rights, the Prime Minister did not let the pic-
ture say it all. Lest he be misunderstood, the Prime Minister added:

Iwant. . .to promise you that this act of restitution which we perform
today will not stand alone—your fight was not for yourselves alone
and we are determined that Aboriginal Australians will be helped by it
. . . Vincent Lingiari, I solemnly hand to you these deeds of proof, in
Australian law, that these lands belong to the Gurindji people and I put
into your hands this piece of earth itself as a sign that we restore them
to you and your children forever.!

The Prime Minister clearly signaled that the Commonwealth’s
response to the Gurindji land claim would form the basis of future govern-
ment policy toward aboriginal land claims. The trip to Wattie Creek was
not just an effort to bring good tidings to one old aboriginal man. The trip
was also supposed to build public support for the Prime Minister’s new
land rights legislation introduced in the House of Representatives earlier
in June. Did the Commonwealth legislation institute a negotiation policy?
The answer is yes, kind of. Gough Whitlam’s land rights legislation was
a radical turning point in Australia’s aboriginal policy, but it was limited.
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Though a policy of the national government, the legislation did not imple-
ment a nation-wide land rights policy. The legislation established a negotia-
tion policy where aboriginal people in the Northern Territory would join
miners, the government and pastoralists in the wider land management bar-
gaining table. Unlike the 1973 Canadian and the 1989 New Zealand poli-
cies, Gough Whitlam’s 1975 initiative was geographically limited to land
claims arising in the Northern Territory, and invited only 15% of Austra-
lia’s indigenous community to a land rights bargaining table.? It would take
18 more years of fits and starts before the Commonwealth would enact the
Native Title Act in 1993, and force the States to negotiate land rights under
the Commonwealth’s statutory land rights regime.

Like the Canadian and New Zealand cases, the Australian case illus-
trates the importance of aboriginal political mobilization to redefining the
place of land and land rights within the Australian Commonwealth gov-
ernment’s aboriginal policy goals. From 1945 to the mid 1960s, aboriginal
policy reform was driven by an equal rights and civil libertarian agenda
where aboriginal land rights did not gain the support of mainstream social
welfare reformers. Prior to the 1960s, policy-makers and others generally
believed that the recognition of collective indigenous rights would circum-
vent the basic goal of aboriginal policy—assimilation. Australia’s aborigi-
nal people would win support for the extension of individual rights and
civil liberties, voting rights for instance, but not land rights. The issue of
aboriginal land rights did not clearly emerge on the public scene as the
primary ingredient in aboriginal demands for policy reform until the Gur-
indji began their protest at Wattie Creek. Land rights would become an
unavoidable issue in the cabinet deliberations on aboriginal policy, when
the Gurindji claim was quickly followed by the Gove land rights decision
in 1971, and the tent embassy protest in Canberra in 1972. Aboriginal
political mobilization and public protest in Australia, from 1967 to 1972,
marked the arrival of aboriginal people as a political force in Australian
politics. Though less developed organizationally than their counterparts
in Canada and New Zealand at the time, by 1972 Australian aboriginal
activists demonstrated that land rights could unify and mobilize the wider
aboriginal community across rural and cultural divides. The aboriginal
community showed its ability to influence mainstream public opinion and
garner limited support for the recognition of their customary rights. Not
coincidentally, Gough Whitlam first promised that the Labor Party would
recognize customary land rights when he visited aboriginal activists at the
tent embassy protest in 1972.

Gough Whitlam made his promise while in Opposition. His promise
marked the endpoint in a process of differentiation that led the Labor Party
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to support aboriginal rights, while the Country and Liberal Parties spurned
them. As in New Zealand, the cleavages structuring the party system would
have important implications for how political parties would approach the
aboriginal land rights issue. The Country and Liberal Parties represented
rural and socially conservative interests that would resist aboriginal collec-
tive rights for both material and ideological reasons. The Labor Party, by
contrast, would find its support among those voters more willing to accom-
modate indigenous collective rights claims—the urban professionals of the
New Left, students, and social welfare activists who increasingly allowed
that aboriginal control of land and its resources could further, not hinder,
aboriginal integration and advancement.

Once the Labor Party committed itself to recognizing aboriginal land
claims, the question of how it would do so was perhaps less structured than
in the other parliamentary cases. Once the Labor Party chose to recognize
land rights, the decision of whether or not to resolve land grievances by
delegating decision-making power to the courts or an arbitrator was wide
open. With no historical precedent of bargaining between the Crown and
aboriginal people, policy-makers were not wedded to a particular bargain-
ing model. There was no clearly defined policy alternative that the Com-
monwealth’s bureaucracy historically favored, as in Canada, and there was
no innate suspicion against delegation that so affected New Zealand’s pol-
icy-makers. In this Australian context of relatively undefined policy alterna-
tives, an independent actor commissioned by the Labor government would
have enormous influence in designing the institutions to resolve land claims
disputes. Ted Woodward, the Australian Land Rights Commissioner, would
be an important champion for a non-delegation response. Avoiding blame
through a delegation strategy would not solve the political problem that
aboriginal political mobilization had created. Woodward was convinced
that a political rather than a legal solution would build an on-going rela-
tionship between aboriginal peoples and the Australian state. Woodward’s
solution was to reject the Canadian model of negotiating one-time regional
agreements, but to accept a negotiation model whereby aboriginal people
would have a seat at an on-going bargaining table with the government
and mining companies. Woodward’s vision would be the underpinning of
Gough Whitlam’s land rights legislation.

The Australian case shows both the importance and the limitations of
judicial change in explaining the emergence of land claim negotiation poli-
cies. Like the Calder case in Canada, the 1971 Gove land rights case was
the first test of aboriginal title in Australia’s courts.> The final judgment
in the Gove land rights case, however, denied the existence of aboriginal
land rights within Australia’s common law. The denial of aboriginal rights
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by the court did not, however, mean that the government of the day did
not have to make a policy response. Though the Country-Liberal govern-
ment chose not to recognize aboriginal rights as a result of the court deci-
sion, the court decision itself served to further outrage aboriginal activists.
The judicial decision did not prevent the Labor party from making its bold
step to recognize what the court would not. In the presence of a politi-
cally mobilized aboriginal constituency, the Gove land rights decision was
a blow to aboriginal hopes, surely, but it was not a death knell for further
policy reform.

The partial implementation and fitful diffusion of Australia’s land
rights negotiation policies also stands as a useful contrast to the Cana-
dian and New Zealand experiences. The Australian case still shows how
the sequencing of indigenous political mobilization and judicial change led
the Commonwealth government to recognize land rights and to provide a
negotiated process as an alternative to grievances’ resolution through litiga-
tion alone. The Australian case also shows how the sequencing of political
mobilization and judicial change can be a necessary, but insufficient con-
dition for the emergence of a national land rights negotiation policy. The
Australian case illustrates perhaps even more strongly than the Canadian
the influence of federalism on constraining the implementation of negotia-
tion policies to those areas where governments do not risk intergovernmen-
tal conflict. The constraint of intergovernmental peace is particularly acute
in the Australian case, for it was only under the extraordinary political
pressures brought on by the High Court’s Mabo decision in 1992 that the
Commonwealth would find the political will to impose a land rights regime
on resistant State governments.

This chapter proceeds as follows. First, I establish the historical con-
text in the World War Two period. I then examine how demographic and
economic changes in the 1950s and early 1960s led the aboriginal policy
community to demand a constitutional amendment in 1967. The 1967
constitutional referendum gave the Commonwealth government the right
to legislate in aboriginal affairs across the entire country. The 1967 ref-
erendum therefore marks the beginning of the Commonwealth’s role in
making truly national aboriginal policies. The next section of the chapter
examines each opportunity the Commonwealth cabinet had to consider
and reconsider its approach to aboriginal rights. The main choice oppor-
tunities are the following: a 1968 response to the Gurindji claim; a 1971
response to the Gove land rights decision; a post-1972 response to the tent
embassy and the Woodward Commission reports; the attempt during the
1980s by the Labor government to extend the Northern Territories land
rights scheme across the Australian polity; the catalyst of the 1992 Mabo
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decision and the struggle that yielded the Native Title Act of 1993. The
national advocacy of aboriginal groups and organizations was a critical
component in the drive to the Native Title Act. The final section of the
chapter outlines, however, how fragmentation across and within aborigi-
nal claimant groups at the local level has challenged States’ negotiation
strategies on the ground. I examine the impact of this fragmentation in a
case study of Western Australia.

SETTING THE SCENE

Aboriginal Policies Prior to World War Two

Although the initial colonies that came to form Canada and New Zealand
negotiated treaties with indigenous people, the Australian colonies never
negotiated land cession agreements. The British asserted their sovereignty
and assumed ownership of the Australian continent on the legal basis of
terra nullius. The legal doctrine of terra nullius or “vacant land” held that
if lands were uninhabited at time of discovery, the act of discovery vested
in the colonial Crown both sovereignty over and unencumbered ownership
of the land. The Crown held its title to the land with no encumbrances,
and was free to dispose of its lands as it wished (e.g. through lease or sale).
In the Australian case, the legal system got around the plain fact that the
continent was inhabited by concluding that the aboriginal peoples were
uncivilized, could not have a system of laws, and therefore, the continent
was deemed legally uninhabited and up for grabs. The constitutional clas-
sification of the colony as terra nullius effectively voided aboriginal title as
a matter of common law.

Partly because of the lack of a historical bargaining relationship
between the British and aboriginal peoples, the six Australian States*
retained exclusive jurisdiction over aboriginal affairs at the formation of
the Australian federation in 1900. The State governments also retained
exclusive jurisdiction over land use and management issues, including sub-
surface mineral and petroleum rights. Only in the Northern Territory did
the Commonwealth government have the constitutional authority to leg-
islate with respect to both aboriginal affairs and land management. This
apportionment of jurisdiction meant that unlike in Canada, the State gov-
ernments were the key government actors in the field of aboriginal affairs
outside of the Northern Territory.

Neither the States nor the Commonwealth were interested in recog-
nizing or protecting aboriginal land rights. The logic of the day asserted
that aboriginal people were a weak and inferior race that would die out
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in Darwinian fashion. Until they reached their end, however, the role of
the state was to protect this dying race from settler violence. Australian
governments created reserves onto which aboriginal people were forcibly
segregated, particularly where settler demand for land was high. These
reserves were not lands over which its aboriginal occupants exercised some
management authority or had ownership rights.’ Rather, the reserves were
strictly State-owned lands designated for “indigenous use,” over which the
State Protector exercised complete authority. This authority included the
ability to regulate almost every facet of aboriginal individuals’ lives, includ-
ing their ability to leave the reserves and to move unimpeded through the
countryside.

Within the Northern Territory, settlement pressures were low. The
remoteness of the area and the unsuitability of the non-arid land for inten-
sive agriculture meant that aboriginal groups maintained contact with tra-
ditional lands to a far greater extent than in the southern states. With the
development of the pastoral industry, aboriginal peoples and pastoralists
lived in a type of conflicted symbiotic relationship. While aboriginal peo-
ple were subject to protective legislation, and were a cheap or even unpaid
source of labor in the Territory’s sheep and cattle stations, their incorpo-
ration within the pastoral economy as domestics, stockmen and shearers
gave some the ability to maintain a physical connection with their tradi-
tional country.® In sum, the Commonwealth government was responsible
for aboriginal policy in an area of the country where the legal disposses-
sion of aboriginal people was certainly complete, but where the day-to-day
connections between aboriginal people and land were relatively unbroken.
Therefore, the settler competition for land, which lies at the root of aborigi-
nal land grievances, was the least marked precisely in the area where the
Commonwealth government had constitutional authority.”

What statutory recognition of aboriginal connection to country
existed was limited to pastoral leases in the least settled areas of the coun-
try.® In Western Australia, South Australia, and the Northern Territory,
pastoral leases contained a clause allowing aboriginal peoples access to pas-
toral lease lands for the minimal purposes of hunting, subsistence or engag-
ing in ceremonial activities. The pastoral lease clauses represented the sum
of legal aboriginal land rights in Australia.

The issue of land rights, most pressing for aboriginal people in more
settled areas, did not motivate calls by non-aboriginal social activists prior
to the war. As in Canada, support within the non-aboriginal community for
aboriginal policy reform focused on social welfare policy and the gradual
formal inclusion of aboriginal individuals within the citizenship regime. Since
aboriginal policy was a State jurisdiction, there were significant differences
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across the continent on how “aboriginal natives” were defined, the degree
to which their lives were regulated by the State, and the conditions under
which aboriginal persons could receive social assistance. A major demand
by aboriginal activists and social welfare reformers during the war years
was to change the constitution via intergovernmental agreement or national
referendum, allowing the Commonwealth to legislate in aboriginal affairs.’
Social reformers’ interest in expanding the Commonwealth’s role in aborigi-
nal policy was conditioned by the framing of aboriginal policy as a primar-
ily social welfare and citizenship issue, and was part of a larger process of
“civilizing” the aboriginal population. To illustrate, in a fairly typical letter
to Prime Minister Curtin in 1945, the Native Welfare Council lobbied for
Commonwealth intervention on these grounds:

On humanitarian grounds, as well as in our self interests, it is due to
these men of the stone-age to ease them into our twentieth century civi-
lization and turn them into useful members of society . . . it is evident
that the State finances and planning are totally inadequate for the task
of bringing our Aborigines the benefits of our civilization which is their
undoubted right and destiny . . . 10

Aboriginal political and organizational mobilization, hampered by fragmen-
tation across State boundaries and the remoteness of aboriginal communi-
ties, was embryonic during this period. Thus, it is difficult to imagine how
they could have put forth a land rights agenda, given the climate of the time.
A few under-resourced organizations existed; the Australian Aborigines
League was the most established.!! What aboriginal activists did articulate in
a piecemeal fashion was the need for aboriginal peoples living on reserves to
have some security of residence, as aboriginal individuals could be summar-
ily removed from reserves by State officials. While the land issue largely fell
on deaf ears, aboriginal activism on the formal equality front found greater
favor. The League lobbied the Commonwealth government to act in the field
of aboriginal affairs to support the extension of equal citizenship rights to
aboriginal people: “ . . . Cannot our legislators evolve a scheme for Aus-
tralia and cannot that scheme be that every civilized man and woman, full
blood or half-caste shall have full equality in law . . . Is there no time that
we can look forward to when we shall be fully human in the eyes of white
legislation?”'? Therefore, at the end of World War Two, the political mobili-
zation of aboriginal groups was less developed and more fragmented in Aus-
tralia than in Canada or New Zealand. There was no regional or national
aboriginal land rights lobby or forum capable of inserting land rights within
Australia’s assimilationist social policy agenda of the time.
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The question of extending the Commonwealth’s powers in aboriginal
affairs was put to Australian voters in a national referendum in 1944. The
aboriginal question was not the only one facing voters however; the refer-
endum included fourteen items spanning social and economic policy areas
where the Commonwealth was seeking to extend its reach to facilitate the
larger agenda of post-war economic reconstruction. The electorate rejected
the proposals, although Commonwealth officials did not attribute the loss
to voters’ dissatisfaction with the aboriginal policy item. After the failure
of the constitutional reform referendum, the Commonwealth government
resisted persistent calls to assert itself in aboriginal policy. It did so on the
grounds that the Commonwealth’s financial burdens arising from the war
were already considerable.!3

One of the legacies of the Commonwealth’s decision not to involve
itself in aboriginal affairs outside of the Northern Territory was the resul-
tant lack of a federal bureaucratic structure that linked the Commonwealth
government with aboriginal communities in the States, and through which
aboriginal policy demands could be channeled. Consequently, there were
no senior bureaucratic actors within the Commonwealth administration
who had to confront the systemic failure of assimilationist aboriginal poli-
cies and who could press upon cabinet the importance of addressing indige-
nous land issues on a national basis, as the Canadian Indian administration
had begun to do in the post-war period. The Commonwealth government,
removed from the administration of aboriginal affairs in the settled regions
of the country where aboriginal dispossession was the most acute, had no
internal incentive to re-examine the implementation of aboriginal policy, or
to begin internal questioning on the underlying goals of assimilation.

The lack of internal questioning within the federal bureaucracy was
also mirrored in the widespread ideological agreement across Australia’s
political elite on the fundamental goals of aboriginal assimilation. Most
importantly, there was no discernable difference across political parties on
aboriginal or race policy. Furthermore, the parties did not need to politicize
race in order to differentiate themselves. The major and persistent cleav-
ages that divided parties were the class and rural/urban divides. Therefore,
the trade-union based Labor Party was pitted against the principal non-
Labor parties. By the end of the war, the two non-Labor parties, Country
and Liberal, would present an anti-socialist coalition, with the Country
Party representing rural pastoralist interests within the coalition.'* This
lack of partisan differentiation on the aboriginal policy dimension meant
that while aboriginal policy reform had few allies within the political
elite, policy reform which was premised on equal citizenship was just as
likely (or unlikely), regardless of which party formed the government. The
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partisan differentiation on the rural cleavage, however, would mean that
aboriginal land grievances which would threaten rural leaseholders would
receive a much less sympathetic hearing when the Liberal-Country coali-
tion was in power.

To summarize, by the end of the war, the Commonwealth government
faced no serious pressure, neither internal nor external, to address aborigi-
nal land grievances. The very concept of aboriginal land rights was foreign,
as the Australian courts had long ago established that the aboriginal title
did not exist in the law. Aboriginal political mobilization at regional and
national levels was nascent, highly fragmented, and basically unable to put
land rights on the national political agenda. Even if it had, the Common-
wealth was constitutionally constrained from acting in the aboriginal policy
field, except in the Northern Territory, exactly where aboriginal land dis-
possession was the least acute. Lastly, Commonwealth bureaucratic actors
had no incentive, based on administrative self-interest, to re-examine the
land dimension within a failing assimilationist agenda.

The Incubus for Land Rights Politics: 1945-1965

The 1950s and early 1960s were marked by the drive of Australian social
reformers and civil libertarians to dismantle the discriminatory and coer-
cive aboriginal protection regime, and to extend full citizenship rights to
all adult aboriginal people across Australia. Just like their counterparts in
Diefenbaker’s Canada during this time, social reformers began to reject
the coercive elements in Australian governments’ policies for aboriginal
‘advancement,” and opted for a milder version of the same by accepting
that aboriginal people should have some say over the pace of their integra-
tion. By the close of the decade, these social reformers began to link land
issues within their reformist agenda. As part of this new emphasis, the Fed-
eral Council for Aboriginal Advancement (FCAA), formed in 1958, began
to advocate that reserves should be transferred to the control and owner-
ship of their aboriginal occupants.!> White social reformers began to voice
these demands during the time when State and Commonwealth interest in
aboriginal reserves was increasing due to the mining boom.

The 1950s was a continuation of past inertia of government action
on aboriginal land grievances, but the placidness of government policy
belied fundamental economic and social changes that would set up the
emergence of Australian land rights politics in the 1960s.'® The first major
development was the expansion of the Australian mining sector. Spawned
by war-time demand for minerals, the Commonwealth government began
a geological surveying program which, when combined with scientific
advances in mineral exploration, led to the discovery, starting in the late
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1940s, of significant and economic deposits of key minerals,'” particularly
in Western Australia, the Northern Territory, and Queensland. The world-
wide post-war economic expansion ensured a significant export market for
these minerals, and by the early 1960s, international mining companies
came knocking on Australia’s door. Since minerals were held by the Crown,
the Commonwealth had a direct interest in ensuring the development of its
mining resources in the Northern Territory, whether these resources were
found on pastoral lease or aboriginal reserve lands. Aboriginal attempts to
gain control over mining on aboriginal reserves would help spark the land
claims era.

The second economic development was slower to develop, but no less
important. It would begin in the early 1950s, and would come to fruition in
the mid 1960s—the modernization of the pastoral economy. The economic
viability of the pastoral sector was conditioned on reasonable livestock
prices and low input costs, particularly human labor. With increasing wage
awards, the expansion of the cash economy in the Australian hinterland,
drought, tight credit and decreasing livestock prices, the terms sustaining
the ambivalent yet symbiotic relationship between pastoralists and aborigi-
nal people progressively fell apart.'® Pastoralists would gradually, and then
increasingly, shed their aboriginal labor force in order to mechanize their
operations, leading to social and economic dislocation, as aboriginal popu-
lations drifted to towns and cities. The drift of aboriginal people to towns
and cities as fringe-dwellers strengthened the framing of the “aboriginal
problem” as a predominantly social welfare and racial discrimination issue
in the eyes of mainstream Australia. As aboriginal welfare became a vis-
ible issue, social welfare reformers and civil libertarians (both aboriginal
and non-aboriginal) pressured the Commonwealth to take over where the
States had clearly failed. By the mid-1960s, aboriginal and non-aboriginal
activism had created a solid constituency of Australian public opinion, call-
ing for an amendment of the constitution to expand Commonwealth power
into aboriginal policy across the Australian continent.

The overall urbanization of Australia’s indigenous people was rapid
in the late 1960s; however, the distribution of aboriginal people across cit-
ies and States deserves mention because it has implications for the political
parties’ voting bases. Australia’s aboriginal community grew in major cen-
ters, while still maintaining a greater demographic presence in rural Aus-
tralia than, for instance, the Maori maintained in rural New Zealand. To
contrast, 70% of the Maori population but only 44% of Australia’s indige-
nous population were urbanized in 1971. In Australia, there were also huge
disparities in urbanization rates across States that persist today. In Victoria,
half of the State’s aboriginal population lives in Melbourne. In Queensland
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and Western Australia, only between 20% and 25% of the State’s aborigi-
nal populations live in their respective capital cities.!” Given the statistic
that the proportion of the total aboriginal population living in Australia’s
capital cities increased from 10% in 1966 to 31% in 1996,*° aboriginal
urbanization is concentrated in three places—smaller urban centers (with
populations less than 1000), Sydney, and Melbourne.

This urban migration led to a growing social pathology in urban
aboriginal communities, but it would also have the effect seen in New Zea-
land. Urban migration would create new centers for young aboriginal activ-
ism that would be inspired by the repertoires of the American civil rights
movement. At the same time when mainstream Australia came to support
a role for the Commonwealth in aboriginal social welfare policy, the issue
of land rights was emerging in the public demands of aboriginal activists
to a place of greater prominence from behind the civil libertarian agenda.?!
These new centers of aboriginal protest activism would gradually gain allies
among the middle class New Left—particularly students and young law-
yers. Like Canada and New Zealand, these new activists located aboriginal
poverty within a specific history of land dispossession, making a causal link
between marginalization and lost lands. However, aside from some remark-
able protests like the February 1965 Freedom Ride from Sydney through
rural New South Wales, aboriginal political mobilization was limited to
local event-based public protest, and increasingly tied land rights to gaining
control over reserves.

1966-67: The Commonwealth and the Constitutional Referendum

While an aboriginal land rights dialogue was beginning to emerge, the
Country-Liberal coalition government did not seem to link land rights to its
consideration of a constitutional referendum. In 19635, retiring Prime Minis-
ter Menzies publicly disagreed with the need for constitutional change given
the repeal, by that point, of most discriminatory State legislation, and the
government did not return to the issue until after the 1966 federal election,
when the Country-Liberal coalition was returned to power. Internally, the
Prime Minister’s Department felt that the Commonwealth could exert pol-
icy influence in the States through its constitutional spending power?? with-
out having to seek formal legislative jurisdiction.?> However, given external
pressure to amend the constitution, the Attorney-General and the Minister
of Territories disagreed on appropriate Commonwealth tactics. The Attor-
ney-General thought that Commonwealth action was necessary, citing that
“ . . . the Government would be wrongly criticized for lacking sympathy
for the aboriginals” should it do nothing.?* He advised cabinet that should
a referendum be successful, that the Commonwealth make it clear that it
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would not act without the co-operation of the States. The Minister of Ter-
ritories disagreed. He felt that whatever public benefit the Commonwealth
might gain in the short term did not outweigh the future disadvantages:

The Aboriginal problem is largely a social one. Irrespective of the
benevolent intentions of governments, there are severe limits to what
governmental action can achieve. Thus the removal of constitutional
limitation would have the effect of attracting pressure on the Common-
wealth Government to take action in a field in which it would, in the
nature of things, be unable to satisfy the critics, who do not see the
difficulties but only the lack of immediate results. One of the major dif-
ficulties is that the more that special efforts are made for Aborigines the
more they are being sheltered from the competitive influences that have
made the rest of the community self-reliant.?’

By early 1967, cabinet concluded that a referendum on the aborigi-
nal item would carry by a wide margin. The Prime Minister’s Department
suggested that the disadvantages of seeking constitutional amendment
on aboriginal policy alone could be mitigated by expanding the scope of
the referendum, in the hope that wide popular support for the aboriginal
item would carry other constitutional measures. If the government would
add its preferred question, relating to the increase of seats in the House of
Representatives without changing the number of seats in the Senate, then
“|Ministers] may also feel that little would be lost, and perhaps something
gained.”?® Cabinet agreed.?” On May 27th, 1967, 91% of the Australian
electorate voted in favor of granting the Commonwealth concurrent juris-
diction in aboriginal affairs. Cabinet’s gamble didn’t pay off, however, as
only 40% of Australians found in favor of the parliamentary seat question.

While this new constitutional power was in many ways inflicted on
an unwilling coalition government, the very strong referendum result was
a significant symbolic statement of Australia’s growing popular commit-
ment to a non-discriminatory national response to aboriginal issues, and
therefore an important victory for civil rights and social welfare activ-
ists.?® The referendum was a victory, though the intra-state distribution of
voter support for the measure cooled in rural areas.?” The referendum gave
aboriginal policy national salience, particularly in urban areas, and the
Commonwealth needed to signal that it took its new responsibilities seri-
ously. The referendum thrust the Commonwealth into a challenging field
in which it had relatively little policy expertise and an underdeveloped pol-
icy coordination apparatus. Prime Minister Holt created a policy advisory
group, the Council of Aboriginal Affairs (CAA), which would report to the
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Prime Minister, and be housed within the Prime Minister’s Department. The
Prime Minister tapped on the shoulder of H.C. Coombs, central banker,
power broker, and man of great personal prestige, to head the CAA. Holt
would assemble a small group of intellectuals in the CAA, which between
them had bureaucratic experience, anthropological knowledge of aborigi-
nal peoples, and solid reputations inside and outside of government. The
CAA would be supported administratively by the newly created Office of
Aboriginal Affairs (OAA). The impact of the CAA, however, would be con-
tingent on its access to the Prime Minister.

What none could have foreseen was Prime Minister Holt’s acciden-
tal death in December 1967. In January 1968, John Gorton became Prime
Minister. He did not share Holt’s vision for the CAA. Gorton “sidelined”
the CAA from the Prime Minister’s Department, and had the CAA report to
cabinet through a new Minister in charge of aboriginal affairs.>® The Min-
ister, Liberal Party member Bill Wentworth, was an advocate for increasing
aboriginal control on reserves. On the down side, Wentworth was new to the
table, had little credit among his established colleagues,?' and would prove
to be a cabinet lightweight. Despite these administrative handicaps, the CAA
had the potential to make policy innovation a reality, and would come to be
an important ally in the internal struggle over land rights to come.

The referendum was not a national endorsement of aboriginal land
rights, but the land rights issue was forced onto the Commonwealth’s
agenda soon after. The Commonwealth government would finally be con-
fronted with the land rights dimension of aboriginal protest as two chal-
lenges to the Commonwealth’s aboriginal policies in the Northern Territory
emerged in the late 1960s: the Gurindji strike, and the Gove land rights
case. The first would ensue from the economic changes in pastoralism, and
the second would arise from mining on aboriginal reserves. For the first
time, cabinet would confront the implications of recognizing land rights,
and examine its policy options. The Country-Liberal government’s han-
dling of these two issues would accelerate partisan differentiation on the
land rights issue, eventually leading the Labor Party to position itself as
the champion of aboriginal land rights, as it sought to regain power for the
first time since 1949.

CABINET CONSIDERATION OF ABORIGINAL LAND RIGHTS

The Gurindji at Wave Hill Station

In August 1966, 170 Gurindji stockmen went on strike at the Wave Hill
cattle station in the Northern Territory. The initial motivation of the strike
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was to protest wages and working conditions on the huge pastoral property
leased by a British pastoral group and owned by a British lord. The framing
of the dispute began to change from an aboriginal David vs. British Goliath
labor show-down to a land rights protest when the Gurindji moved their
camp from the station’s main encampment to Wattie Creek. Wattie Creek
was still included in the Wave Hill pastoral lease, but was of particular
religious significance to the Gurindji. In April 1967, a month before the ref-
erendum, the Gurindji petitioned the Governor-General, asking the govern-
ment to excise 550 square miles from the 6000 square mile Wave Hill lease.
The Gurindji would use the land to develop their own pastoral enterprise
and conduct some mineral exploration. Significantly, the Gurindji wanted
not just any 550 square miles, but land of their own choosing. This demand
transformed the Gurindji labor strike into a claim based on traditional con-
nection to country. It also extended the parameters of the aboriginal land
issue to involve lands and property interests outside of reserves. On the
advice of the Minister of Territories, the Governor-General rejected the
Gurindji petition.?* The Commonwealth informed the Gurindji that they
could discuss the use of other lands, including reserve lands or unoccupied
Crown lands, in the general area.3?

The Gurindji strike would steadily attract more interest in the popu-
lar press, and support for a positive response by the Commonwealth to
the Gurindji demand for land emerged by March of 1968. Public support
in the metropolitan southeast was a reflection of many motivations, from
anti-monarchists seeing the Gurindji issue as an effort to establish aborigi-
nal self-sufficiency in opposition to the British aristocracy,** to voters who
were looking to see the Commonwealth do something positive for aborigi-
nal people in the post-referendum era. The growing public discussion of
the Gurindji strike in places like Sydney and Melbourne led Minister Wen-
tworth to publicly comment, in March, that while he was sympathetic to
the Gurindji’s demand for land ownership in order to be economically
self-sufficient, it could not come at the cost of pastoralists.’> Wentworth’s
public statement must have drawn the ire of cabinet, because a few days
later, cabinet effectively told Wentworth that until he brought an aboriginal
policy proposal to the cabinet table, he was not to conduct a policy debate
in public.?®

Had Wentworth’s comment merely stated the obvious tradeoff of
protecting pastoral property rights at the expense of furthering aboriginal
economic advancement, cabinet’s move to shut down Wentworth’s public
comments may not have happened. By giving credence to the Gurindji’s
ownership claims, Wentworth not only bypassed cabinet, but he also sig-
naled a potential split on aboriginal land issues within the Country-Liberal
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coalition cabinet. Wentworth, a Liberal, was of the opinion that the coali-
tion government should not lose the public momentum on aboriginal issues
to the Labor Party in the vote-rich southeast, as Sydney and Melbourne
accounted for approximately 40% of the voting power in the House of
Representatives.’” By early April, Wentworth publicly advocated that the
government excise eight square miles of the Wave Hill lease, and hand it
over to the Gurindji.?® Wentworth’s comments and the growing editorial
sympathy for aboriginal land rights in the Sydney Morning Herald and the
Melbourne Age®® galvanized the pastoral industry to lobby the key senior
cabinet members from the Country Party, particularly the Minister of the
Interior, Peter Nixon.*?

The jostling and maneuvering that followed between the Liberal, Wen-
tworth, and the Country man, Nixon, on the aboriginal land rights file is
rooted in their different bases of partisan support. Although the fortunes of
both parties were linked in that each needed the other to form a non-Labor
government, the fortunes of the Liberal Party began to erode in 1966 to a
degree not shared by its coalition partner. The Liberal Party was the vehicle
of its founder, Robert Menzies, and with Menzies’ retirement in January
1966, the party would convulse into leadership squabbles.*! The Liberals’
leadership difficulties arose during a time when Labor would increasingly
target the Liberal electoral base. The Liberal Party was traditionally the
“principal vehicle of the business community and of the urban and sub-
urban middle class,” though it also drew support among conservatives
in rural areas.*? In 1967, Gough Whitlam assumed the leadership of the
Australian Labor Party, and with his strong guidance, he sought to expand
the Party’s membership and electoral appeal from its trade union base to
include the urban and sub-urban white collar voter.*> When the coalition
lost the Senate majority in the 1967 Senate elections, Labor exerted the
ability to defeat government proposals for the first time. Wentworth, as a
Liberal, had good reason to think that the coalition government should not
lose further ground to Labor in the large cities, especially on a relatively
unimportant issue as aboriginal land rights.

The Country Party had no such worries. Since the 1920s, the party
was the “main parliamentary representative of farmers, country towns, and
the embattled non-metropolitan way of life.”* The Country Party drew its
support solely from rural Australia, and did not compete, as did the Liberal
and Labor Parties, for urban votes.* Despite the declining economic for-
tunes of the pastoral sector in the 1950s and 1960s, the Australian farmer
and grazier remained among the most politically interested and conserva-
tive members of the Australian electorate. They also kept their faith with
the Country Party.*® The Country Party also benefited directly from the
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drawing of federal district boundaries, as district size (in terms of voter
enrollment) could vary by a maximum of 20% from the State average.*’
This rule ensured the over-representation of rural interests in Parliament
at a time when the rural population was decreasing. The Country Party
strongly protected the over-weighting of rural interests as part of the coali-
tion, “ . . . even when the alliance with the Liberals was strained by the
vehemence of that insistence.”*® Country Party ministers reportedly had no
qualms in pushing the rural agenda at the coalition cabinet table. As one
scholar writes: . . . within the government the presence of Country party
ministers, who were often both embarrassingly specific in their demands
and obdurate in seeing that they were met, was a frequent source of irrita-
tion.”* Country Party intransigence on the aboriginal rights issue, among
others, would eventually prove too much for aboriginal peoples’ lukewarm
Liberal allies.*®

The Gurindji strike also mobilized the Country Party’s traditional
voting base. In mid-April, the Northern Territory Cattle Producers Coun-
cil’! made its case to its obdurate champion in cabinet, Peter Nixon. The
graziers called the legitimacy of the Gurindji claim into question. Firstly,
the Gurindji claim was “conceived and inspired by communists,” and inter-
preted Wentworth’s public support for the Gurindji claim reflecting “a
desire to forestall further communist activity by a fait accompli.” Secondly,
the Council disputed whether the Gurindji were indeed the traditional own-
ers of the Wattie Creek area. The Council was concerned about the dan-
gerous precedent that interfering with pastoralists’ property rights would
set, and strongly advised the government against precipitously granting the
Gurindji some land without developing a wider policy on aboriginal land
claims: “Sooner or later the government must express its attitude to these
claims. Its ability to do so will be prejudiced if it makes a part-concession
now without a policy.”

Although the pastoralists supported a government policy that did
not recognize aboriginal land rights, their concern that the coalition
government not act in a piecemeal and reactive fashion was echoed by
Coombs and the OAA. They were worried that Wentworth, now branded
internally as a loose cannon, and too eager to capitalize on publicity,
would squander the opportunity created by the Gurindji to develop a
Commonwealth land rights policy. The OAA was concerned by the pas-
toralists’ charge that the Gurindji were not the true traditional owners,
and were aware that should the Commonwealth make a land concession,
and later the Gurindji claim be proven questionable, the future legitimacy
of a broader land claims policy would be compromised.’> Coombs and
the OAA advised Wentworth to push cabinet for the implementation of
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investigative institutions to independently assure the merit of aboriginal
claims before they were negotiated:

The Council of Aboriginal Affairs advised the Minister against his mode
of approach and any attempt to precipitate settlement. It reccommended
him as a prior step to set up a regular procedure of an administrative,
or quasi-judicial or, if necessary, judicial character to investigate and
recommend concerning all such claims, and to promulgate knowledge
that such a procedure was available . . . He may be unready for a
full-face encounter with the situation, but it is not going to go away or
die. His best course now seems to be to set up, though a little late, the
regular processes of inquiry we have already recommended.>3

Ignoring the OAA’s advice to think in terms of long-term policy
change, Wentworth chose to follow Nixon’s lead in cabinet, although the
public still saw Wentworth as the lead minister on the land rights file.
Unlike the OAA, Nixon was of the opinion that once the Wattie Creek
controversy died down in the press, the land claims issue would indeed go
away and die.’* This was not an unreasonable conclusion, since there was
no nationally recognized aboriginal leadership that could act collectively
and keep land rights on the public agenda in a sustained way. Nixon may
have preferred to ignore the Gurindji claim altogether, but he had come to
the conclusion that “ . . . irrespective of general policy attitudes, it may be
found necessary to go ahead with some provision of land in the particular
situation of Wattie Creek.”>* For Nixon, the main and delicate task at hand
was to manage the Wattie Creek issue without inflaming pastoral interests.
His agenda did not include recognizing aboriginal land rights and encour-
aging other such claims to surface in the future.

From May through July of 1968, the Department of the Interior took
the lead in developing the Commonwealth’s policy response to the Gur-
indji land rights claim.’® The first, and most difficult question, was whether
cabinet was prepared to recognize aboriginal land rights by granting the
Gurindji land at the place of their choosing:

If occupation of the land at Wattie Creek is confirmed, either by exci-
sion, sub-lease or permissive occupancy . . . this will encourage pres-
sures to confirm and extend that recognition. It is not possible to say
how many other groups would be encouraged to occupy land in the
same way, but a series of attempts would almost certainly be made
. . . Acceptance of the principle of land rights for Aboriginals would
however open up other substantial issues such as whether some set
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procedure should be adopted for the investigation of claims; this raises
the further question whether Wattie Creek should be dealt with ad hoc
or under such a procedure. If Ministers favored the establishment of a
set procedure a further paper could be prepared covering the principles
and procedures which might apply . . .°7

Nixon’s preferred solution, reached with Wentworth’s support, was
not to recognize such rights and therefore “ . . . not breaching its existing
policy on Northern Territory land rights.” His position was that the gov-
ernment “ . . . not grant land title to Aborigines or other persons except in
ways consistent with land policy generally and so far as Aborigines are con-
cerned in ways consistent with its policies of Aboriginal advancement.”’?
Nixon’s proposed solution was to create a township on the Wave Hill lease,
and establish a residential centre that could support the Gurindji popula-
tion. The township would not be at Wattie Creek, recognize no land rights,
and would leave pastoral lease rights undisturbed. Cabinet endorsed the
plan on July 2nd without any discussion with the Gurindji, and proceeded
to reaffirm the assimilation goals that any Commonwealth response to land
rights would have to support:

[Cabinet] declared firmly that the ultimate objective would continue to
be assimilation . . . While recognizing that it will take generations for
Aboriginals to become fully assimilated into the Australian community,
the Cabinet’s position it that it will hold patiently and purposefully to
this aim. It will measure any policy proposals against it and would want
to avoid proposals which, by identifying Aborigines as such and setting
them permanently apart from other Australians, are likely to have the
effect of acknowledging and establishing a policy of continuing sepa-
rate development leading to an eventual racial problem.%®

The reaction to the government’s announcement was negative on all
sides. Cabinet’s decision brought the ire of the cattle industry which was
opposed to any response whatsoever to the Gurindji claim,®® while spark-
ing condemnation in the southeast press. The Country-Liberal coalition
government’s non-recognition policy galvanized more student protests in
favor of aboriginal land rights, and aboriginal activists admonished the
Gurindji to stay at Wattie Creek. However, the publicity did eventually die
down, partly due to a series of government announcements that indicated
the government’s willingness to provide capital funding for aboriginal enter-
prises,®! and partly due to Nixon’s strategy of not engaging the press on
the aboriginal land rights question. In a remarkable letter from the senior
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cabinet member to his clearly junior colleague (and copied to the Prime
Minister), Peter Nixon effectively demanded that Bill Wentworth stay silent
on aboriginal land rights, now that “active publicity has died away”:

I would urge you to let the matter lie . . . I acknowledge that there
is room for genuine difference of opinion about what is best for the
Aboriginal people concerned but the Government having made a deci-
sion which it believed to be the best in all circumstances I would suggest
that it is of no benefit to the Aboriginals concerned or to the Govern-
ment if in fact you have made a reference to the matter in a public
statement which allows you to be reported as apparently in disagree-

ment with the decision.®?

By committing this demand to paper in lieu of a carefully placed word in
a quiet corner, Nixon took off his gloves, threw down the gauntlet, and
informed Wentworth of their respective places in the pecking order of cabi-
net power.

The Country-Liberal coalition government’s response to the Gurindji
claim highlighted the power of rural interests around the cabinet table who
were stalwart in their denial of aboriginal land rights. The Country Party
outmaneuvered Wentworth, who was the most promising ally for aborigi-
nal land rights in cabinet at the time. Outgunned at the cabinet table,
Wentworth repeatedly chose to ignore the advice of the only pro-aborigi-
nal sector of the federal bureaucracy, the OAA. During this time cabinet
chose a non-recognition strategy, and refused to go further to consider the
institutional mechanisms it could have established to regulate aboriginal
land grievances in the future. What suggestions there were to establish such
institutions came from Coombs and the CAA. Although the CAA did not
have the opportunity to fully develop a cabinet paper exploring and weight-
ing the relative advantages of such institutional mechanisms, it did initially
value quasi-judicial institutions which could independently investigate and
establish the merit of aboriginal land claims.

The coalition government’s handling of the Gurindji claim would
have important political effects. The Gurindji claim and the subsequent
publicity brought new supporters, students and white-collar liberal pro-
fessionals, to the aboriginal rights dialogue, and these supporters would
find a home within the Labor Party at a time when it was beginning to
expand beyond its traditional trade union base. The growing support in
urban Australia for the general concept of land rights would encourage
the Labor Party to identify itself as the political party willing to recognize
aboriginal land rights, although Labor did not yet flesh out how it would



128 Negotiating Claims

go about doing so, or the institutions it would establish to resolve aborigi-
nal land grievances.

The lack of a larger policy program, in 1968, reflects the reality that
Australia had enough mental work to do in asking the “to recognize or
not to recognize” question. This lack is also partly a result of the absence
of an indigenous organization that Australians could consider a nationally
representative indigenous voice which could challenge Australians with an
alternative policy vision. The national body representing regional aborigi-
nal advancement organizations included both aboriginal and non-aborigi-
nal voices in support of land rights, but aboriginal land rights activists were
increasingly constrained by the assimilationist goals to which non-aborigi-
nal reformers still held. While political protest was quickening, the orga-
nizational development of a distinct indigenous representative body at the
national level was still in its infancy.

The Gove Land Rights Case

Just after the publicity waned on the Gurindji claim, another aboriginal
group in the Northern Territory moved for the Commonwealth to recog-
nize aboriginal land rights, this time challenging mining interests. From
1965 to 1968, the Commonwealth had negotiated with Nabalco, a subsid-
iary of Swiss Aluminum, on the mining of bauxite and the construction of
an alumina plant in one of the most remote regions of northern Australia,
the Gove Peninsula. The bauxite lay within the boundaries of the Arnhem
Land Reserve, the traditional territory of the Yolngu people. The agree-
ment reached between the Commonwealth and Nabalco allowed the min-
ing project to proceed, with the condition that Nabalco pay a percentage of
mining royalties into an aboriginal development fund. The Yolngu were not
involved in the negotiations for the mining lease, and grew more and more
aware of their inability to mitigate the consequences of the mining proj-
ect.®3 In December 1968, the Yolngu people of the Gove Peninsula filed an
injunction with the Northern Territory Supreme Court to stop the mining
project until the court made a judicial determination of aboriginal title to
the Arnhem reserve lands. This was the first judicial test of aboriginal title
in Australia’s history.

As they had in the Gurindji claim, the OAA and the Department of
the Interior were diametrically opposed on how the government should
respond to the Gove land rights case. The OAA advised Wentworth to
persuade his cabinet colleagues to pursue an out-of-court settlement, and
use the opportunity to negotiate with other aboriginal groups on the eco-
nomic development of reserve lands.®* One of the members of the CAA
who had attended initial iz camera hearings of the Gove land case advised
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Wentworth that the political argument that aboriginal land rights con-
tinued to exist in Australia would “ . . . turn out to have a heavy reso-
nance in our future public life.” He advised the Minister that “even if [the
aboriginal plaintiff’s] submission finally fails for reasons of law, [their]
reading of Australian history will be widely disseminated, and will have
an appeal to public sentiment that your Government would be unwise to
ignore.”® Clearly, the CAA felt that in light of the Gurindji claim and
growing public support for land rights in the southeast, the government’s
decision to pursue a strong non-recognition argument in policy and in
court was unwise and short-sighted.

The pro-recognition and pro-settlement voices represented by the
CAA were challenged by the Attorney-General and the Minister of the Inte-
rior. Peter Nixon was opposed to a settlement strategy for a number of
reasons. Firstly, the Attorney-General had advised that the Yolngu were not
likely to win their court case, and Nixon felt that “if Aborigines have no
legal rights to the land, then they should be told so (by the courts).” Nixon
would push the Attorney-General to make sure that the Northern Territory
Supreme Court would rule on the issue of aboriginal title.®® An out-of-court
settlement would, Nixon argued, encourage other land claims by exagger-
ating the real judicial value of aboriginal rights. This logic suggests that
Nixon felt a clear ruling against aboriginal title would discourage further
land claims activity. He felt that the costs of defending the aboriginal title
claim vigorously in court were low, since “real international damage” was
“doubtful,” and “apart from a vocal minority,” it was also “doubtful if
Australian public greatly concerned (sic).”®” Nixon not only had a very dif-
ferent reading of the future public mood on land rights, but he also felt that
public opposition to Commonwealth intransigence on land rights could be
deflected by drawing attention to its welfare initiatives:

Any criticism can, however, in my view be met by pointing to the exten-
sive programmes of educational, social and economic assistance to
Aborigines as both offsetting any claims they may have for past dispos-
session of land and as being of more value to them by encouraging and
assisting them to enter the main stream of Australian life.®

Despite being saddled with an ineffective Minister in Wentworth, the CAA
would continue to jostle internally throughout 1970 for the Interior Depart-
ment and the Attorney General to accept some sort of land tenure, freehold
or leasehold, in the Northern Territory, that would use traditional relation-
ships to land as part of the tenure process. The CAA would also promote
the cautious idea of establishing an Aboriginal Land Fund, which would
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serve as the Commonwealth’s aboriginal land policy outside of the North-
ern Territory. The Land Fund would purchase properties on the free mar-
ket and place them in trust, then delivering the land to aboriginal groups
capable of exploiting the land economically.

In March 1971, William McMahon took over the job of Prime Min-
ister in the Country-Liberal government, and over the next months, pro-
ceeded to shuffle cabinet. Nixon was moved from the Interior portfolio,
and replaced by a farmer from New South Wales, Ralph Hunt. Soon,
McMahon also moved Wentworth from the Aboriginal Affairs portfolio.
The cabinet shake-up had the potential to break the deadlock between the
CAA and Interior, not because any of the new personalities were particu-
larly sympathetic to aboriginal land rights, but because the CAA might be
able to persuade Prime Minister McMahon to become personally active in
the aboriginal affairs file.

The change in personalities around the cabinet table was quickly fol-
lowed by the decision of the Northern Territory Supreme Court in the Gove
land case. On April 27th, 1971, Justice Blackburn ruled that the Yolngu
action failed, finding that aboriginal title did not exist in the common law.¢’
The finding that aboriginal people had no legal rights to land was well
publicized, and evoked a general editorial opinion that, regardless of the
court’s decision, the Commonwealth should change the law to recognize
aboriginal connections to country.”? While editorial opinions agreed that
the Commonwealth had a moral obligation to recognize aboriginal land
rights in some way, opinions differed on how. It also must be noted that
while Australian editorial opinion thought aboriginal people should have
access to more land, approval for land rights was limited to those aborigi-
nal people who could develop land economically. There was no widespread
acceptance of the principle that aboriginal people had rights to lands of
their own choosing. The editorial press had accepted, however, that the
widespread goal of aboriginal economic advancement would founder as
long as aboriginal people had no control over the land’s development.

Two days after the court decision, the Prime Minister faced ques-
tioning in Parliament, and responded that his government would protect
aboriginal “ceremonial and recreational” land rights. This was a far cry
from the Yolngu position, but did indicate a small breach from the complete
non-recognition language of the previous cabinet. Within a week, cabinet
faced two submissions on how it should proceed on the land rights issue.
The first was from the CAA, which argued that there was “widespread and
deep emotional support” for land rights after the Blackburn judgment, and
that on this basis, the government had an important opportunity to act
“promptly and boldly,” if only to forestall Labor’s potential electoral gains.
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The CAA submission recommended that the Commonwealth negotiate a
compensation agreement with the Yolngu, while the government engaged
in an internal review of its aboriginal policy.”! The CAA advocated that a
ministerial committee be appointed to consider its aboriginal leaseholds on
reserves and land fund proposals.

The submission from the Minister of the Interior countered the CAA
submission. Interior argued that contrary to what the CAA thought, “ . . .
the effect of the Gove Judgment on public opinion is not demonstrable. It
is probably not great . . . [and] has been grossly overstated.””? Neither
the Minister of the Interior nor the Secretary to the Cabinet was prepared
to show the boldness to which the CAA aspired. They were unwilling to
move from a non-recognition position inside the Northern Territory, and
were certainly not interested in picking a fight with the States by legislating
in favor of aboriginal land rights elsewhere. The Minister of the Interior
and the Secretary to the Cabinet both urged cabinet not to negotiate with
the Yolngu in the short term, and the Interior submission accused the CAA
submission as “hav[ing] a flavour of separate development and of running
counter to the assimilation objective.”

In a small victory for the CAA, cabinet decided to form a ministe-
rial committee to examine the Commonwealth’s overall aboriginal policy
framework, a proposal for which the CAA had gained the Prime Minis-
ter’s support a few weeks earlier.”> However, cabinet refused to negotiate
with the Yolngu directly, instead offering to underwrite the Yolngu’s costs
should they wish to pursue their case to Australia’s High Court. From the
formation of the ministerial committee until January of 1972, the CAA
pushed internally for the government to recognize some form of traditional
aboriginal leasehold to reserves in the Northern Territory, but the CAA’s
influence was completely dependent on having the ear of the Prime Minis-
ter in the face of concerted and bitter opposition from the Department of
the Interior and the Country members of cabinet.”* By January of 1972,
cabinet agreed to establish a land fund to purchase properties off reserve,
but only approved a general purpose lease for which aboriginal people on
reserves in the Northern Territory could apply. The lease did not require
or recognize the aboriginal person’s traditional attachment to the land, but
instead, would be open to aboriginal people prepared to develop the land
economically, and would not distinguish aboriginal applications according
to proven traditional customary occupation.

Prime Minister McMahon announced his general purpose lease ini-
tiative, and within hours, a small group of aboriginal land rights activ-
ists arrived in Canberra and pitched their tents on Parliament’s front
lawn.” Dubbed the tent embassy, the activists’ central demand was a clear
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recognition of customary land rights and full legal ownership of aborigi-
nal reserves. The importance of the tent embassy grew as more and more
activists found their way to Canberra over the coming weeks. In July, the
Liberal-Country government twice violently disbanded the embassy using
police forces, a heavily publicized event which served to put aboriginal land
rights squarely at the center of any Australian’s discussion of aboriginal
policy. On July 30th, aboriginal and non-aboriginal supporters defied the
government, marched on Canberra, and re-established the embassy.”® It was
also at the tent embassy that aboriginal people would raise their newly cre-
ated aboriginal flag in the full light of national publicity. Many years later,
a former Labor Minister of Aboriginal Affairs recounted the key impor-
tance of the embassy for white Australians: “ . . . The erection of the tent
embassy showed the determination and increasingly militant tactics that
the new generation of Aboriginal people were prepared to undertake to
assert their rights . . . As I see it, the tent embassy and the Aboriginal flag
epitomize the unity of the Aboriginal people in the fight for their rights.”””
One August 1972 editorial in Melbourne’s paper, the Age, confirms that
aboriginal unity at the embassy is not a function of contemporary reminis-
cence: “ . . . the Government is sadly out of touch with even conservative
Aboriginal opinion. . .. If any issue has the potential to draw the various
Aboriginal groups together behind a common flag, it is land rights.””$
McMahon’s general lease policy and the subsequent tent embassy
served to further polarize the competitive political parties on the aboriginal
rights issue during a critical election year. The coalition was looking tired,
and Labor was working hard to build momentum before the expected elec-
tion. Opinion polls on voting intentions conducted in November 1971
gave the coalition a narrow margin of victory in nationally representative
samples.”” One series of opinion polls drawing on respondents from Syd-
ney and Melbourne, however, gave Labor a decent margin of victory.?° The
non-aboriginal supporters of the tent embassy represented the core constit-
uencies of the New Left, lawyers, students, and other anti-racism activists.
Gough Whitlam took advantage of this emerging national issue to distance
Labor from the governing parties. On February 8th, 1972, Gough Whitlam
visited the tent embassy, and promised the aboriginal ambassadors that a
Labor government would reverse the government’s new policy and allow
aboriginal tribal land ownership. In other words, Whitlam committed
Labor to recognizing aboriginal customary land rights in some form. He
reiterated his promise a few days later in the House of Representatives:

My Party has stated its attitude on Aboriginal land rights in these terms:
All Aboriginal lands to be vested in a public trust or trusts composed of
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Aborigines or Islanders as appropriate. That exclusive corporate land
rights be granted to Aboriginal communities which retain a strong tribal
structure or demonstrate a potential for corporate action in regard to
land at present reserved for the use of Aborigines, or where traditional
occupancy according to tribal custom can be established from anthro-
pological or other evidence. Aboriginal land rights shall carry with them
full rights to minerals in those lands.®!

From 1967 to 1972, the political mobilization of aboriginal and non-
aboriginal opinion transformed the place of land rights within the demands
for aboriginal policy reform directed to Australia’s Commonwealth govern-
ment. The Gurindji strike, the Yolngu demands for land ownership, and the
emergence of the tent embassy had the important effects of creating new
allies within the left, and subsequently, of polarizing partisan support for the
recognition of aboriginal land rights. The polarization of Australia’s com-
petitive political parties would prove a double-edged sword, however. As in
New Zealand, the opportunity for significant policy reform and institutional
innovation under a Labor government would be mitigated by the possibility
of significant policy retrenchment under a Country-Liberal reign.

Gough Whitlam, the Labor Party, and Land Rights in
the Northern Territory

For the first time in 23 years, the Country-Liberal government fell in the
election of December 1972. Labor had succeeded in wooing younger, met-
ropolitan, and white collar workers in order to edge out its competition.
While aboriginal affairs was not an issue driving voting intentions, the
electoral ascendancy of the Labor Party created the opportunity to make
a breakthrough in aboriginal policy.®> Especially important was the per-
sonal conviction of the new Labor Prime Minister, Gough Whitlam, that
aboriginal policy reform was an important priority for his government.
Whitlam moved quickly to signal the seriousness of his commitment. One
of his first actions on the job was to approve the purchase of pastoral prop-
erty under the Aboriginal Land Fund.?? He also appointed Gordon Bryant,
a white activist with credible links to aboriginal communities, as Minister
of Aboriginal Affairs. Bryant would also oversee a new bureaucracy, the
Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA), which would compete with, and
sometimes counter the power of the Department of the Interior. Whitlam
appointed Coombs’ colleague Barrie Dexter as Secretary of the DAA.

By late 1972, Whitlam had said his government would recognize
aboriginal land rights, but unlike Canada and New Zealand, there was no
historically preferred policy option on which to build a modern land rights
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policy. The lack of a treaty history with Australia’s indigenous peoples did
not provide a historical precedent for a modern-day negotiation policy, but
neither did interests within the Commonwealth bureaucracy have a history
of championing an arbitration or litigation model. The policy slate was rel-
atively wide open, and Whitlam was looking for ideas. Whitlam decided to
appoint Ted Woodward, lead counsel for the Yolngu in the Gove land rights
case, to investigate and recommend how the government could recognize
land rights in the Northern Territory.?* The fact that Woodward’s Com-
mission would be limited to consider aboriginal land rights mechanisms in
the Northern Territory marked a shift in Whitlam’s commitment expressed
while in Opposition, that the Labor government would seek ways to recog-
nize land rights across the whole of Australia.®

1972-1976: The Woodward Commission and Institutional Innovation in
the Northern Territory

Woodward’s mandate had him inquire and report on:

The appropriate means to recognize and establish the traditional rights
and interests of the Aborigines in and in relation to land, and in par-
ticular. . . . a) arrangements for vesting title to land in the North-
ern Territory of Australia now reserved for the use and benefit of the
Aboriginal inhabitants of that territory, including rights in minerals
and timber . . . b) the desirability of establishing suitable procedures
for the examination of claims to Aboriginal traditional rights and
interests in or in relation to land in areas . . . outside of Aboriginal

reserves .. . . 86

Woodward submitted two reports, one in July 1973, and the other
in April 1974. His first report warned the government that aboriginal con-
sent to land claims processes and mechanisms was critical, and advocated
against “imposed solutions”: “ . . . Although a result was reached, so far
as possible, by a process of consultation, and agreement will undoubtedly
take longer to achieve, it is far more likely to be generally acceptable and
to have permanent effect.”®” Woodward’s insistence on institutional land
claims mechanisms which did not delegate decision-making must have been
partly reflective of his and his clients’ decision in 1971 not to appeal the
Gove land rights decision to the Australian High Court. Part of the political
fallout of that judicial decision was aboriginal activists’ decision to focus
their attention on political, rather than legal, strategies to pursue justice.®®
At the heart of Woodward’s reports, there was an acknowledgment that
land claims mechanisms were needed to build and institutionalize a new
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political relationship between traditional landowners and the Australian
state. Having recourse to the courts and arbitrators without establishing
mechanisms for consultation and bargaining in the political arena would
again mean that aboriginal people would have meager means to further
their claims outside of courts.

Although Woodward was clearly intent on building a consultative
framework for aboriginal land claims, he rejected the importation of the
then newly announced Canadian negotiation model. First, he rejected the
attraction of negotiating “final settlements” which extinguished undefined
rights in return for statutory rights and compensation. He argued that
modern treaties would prove difficult to re-open should future conditions
warrant their re-negotiation, and he proposed instead, that an Australian
solution be more flexible to meet the needs of future generations.?’ Far
from seeing the lack of a treaty history in Australia as negative, he felt that
Australia had an enviable opportunity to establish land claims mechanisms
that would respect the key principles of negotiation (consent and consulta-
tion) without conditioning these on the extinguishment of existing rights.

One structural limitation to implementing a full-fledged negotiation
policy for land claims in the Northern Territory (and indeed across Aus-
tralia) was the very open question of which aboriginal groups the govern-
ment would negotiate with. Which aboriginal group, clan or descent group
or community, would hold legal land rights once transferred? One of the
legacies of Australia’s historic non-recognition of aboriginal land rights was
that aboriginal-state interactions did not delineate, redefine or incorporate
aboriginal groups according to their customary relationships to country. As
a result, the government had very little sound knowledge on appropriate
land holding groups within aboriginal customary law, and it was not obvi-
ous with which group one would negotiate directly. While this was a seri-
ous obstacle to a policy of direct negotiation, it was also an impediment to
the efficient work of Woodward’s commission.

One of Woodward’s first recommendations was for the government
to create, via statute, two regional aboriginal intermediaries, the Northern
and Central Land Councils. The land councils’ immediate task was to facil-
itate consultation on future land claims policy between Woodward and tra-
ditional owners. The Whitlam government created the two land councils in
1973. Based on Woodward’s positive evaluation of the land councils’ role
in organizing and representing traditional owners’ opinions during their
first few months in operation, Woodward recommended that the two land
councils expand their role and become the institutional pivots on which
the Woodward’s land rights policy would rest. The land councils would
consist of aboriginal community representatives, and would act, with those
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communities’ consent, as legal advisors and negotiators in discussions with
government and mining companies. Woodward proposed that aboriginal
land be vested in another new institutional innovation, the land trusts. The
land trust would become the basic landowning group recognized in Aus-
tralian law. The linkages between the traditional aboriginal land holding
group and the land trustees would be for the appropriate aboriginal com-
munity to decide.

Woodward’s mandate allowed him to address aboriginal claims to
two types of land in the Northern Territory: existing aboriginal reserves,
and unalienated Crown land. He was not mandated to address how aborig-
inal land rights would be recognized on pastoral leases, which would
leave this thorny issue for the next generation to address. Woodward rec-
ommended that the Commonwealth transfer inalienable freehold title of
existing aboriginal reserves to an aboriginal trust. The most controversial
recommendation of Woodward’s report was that the aboriginal owners
would have the right to control access to their lands. While Woodward
recommended that ownership of minerals should remain in the Crown,
granting aboriginal land owners the power to control others’ access to their
lands meant that they would have an effective veto over mining exploration
and development. By granting aboriginal landowners an effective veto over
mining activity, only to be overridden by the federal Minister when in the
“national interest,” Woodward’s mining veto would structure an ongoing
bargaining relationship between aboriginal people (represented by a land
council), the powerful mining industry, and the Crown.

Woodward also recommended a series of institutions for aboriginal
claims to unalienated Crown land. Woodward recommended that aborigi-
nal people be able to make claims to land based on current community
need and/or traditional customary connection. He argued that the Com-
monwealth should appoint an Aboriginal Land Commissioner under whose
offices aboriginal claims would be presented and investigated. The Land
Commissioner would recommend whether claims were valid and whether
the lands should be transferred to aboriginal ownership. Woodward also
recommended that the Aboriginal Land Commissioner maintain a register
of claims relating to pastoral leases. The Aboriginal Land Commissioner
model substituted an explicit bargaining model with a consultative model
for Crown land, in effect replicating the role of the Canadian Indian Claims
Commissioner and New Zealand’s Waitangi Tribunal. Once unalienated
Crown lands were transferred to aboriginal ownership, however, Wood-
ward’s veto provision would come into effect.

Woodward’s report established a high standard for a Commonwealth
land claims policy in the Northern Territory. The Woodward proposals
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represented a significant period of institutional innovation, addressing not
only institutional mechanisms between aboriginal people and the state.
Woodward also proposed the creation of institutions, land councils and
land trusts, which would directly affect aboriginal social and political orga-
nization. It was unknown how these pieces would work together in prac-
tice, and whether these institutions would indeed give effect to aboriginal
land rights, but it forced the Whitlam government to respond.

Given the personal role of the Prime Minister and his willingness to
take on entrenched interests within the Department of the Interior, it is not
surprising that in June of 1975, he introduced legislation in the House of
Representatives that gave effect to Woodward’s major recommendations.
This critical piece of legislation was before the House, in November 1975,
when the Governor-General dismissed the Whitlam government on an
unrelated matter. The Governor-General handed the reins of power to the
Country-Liberal coalition, who over the course of the next year, was the
object of mobilization by the mining industry and the Northern Territory
government to gut the land rights legislation of the veto provision. By 1976,
however, the Northern and Central Land councils had joined the lobbying
fray, and they were able to limit some of the damage. In December 1976,
the coalition government passed the Land Rights (Northern Territory) Act
with the all-important veto provision, but allowed for a government over-
ride, after a review by Parliament to establish whether the override would
be in the national interest. The Act did not allow for aboriginal claims
based on community need, therefore keeping the scope of aboriginal land
claims to those aboriginal communities that could demonstrate a continu-
ing traditional connection to land.

The Northern Territory land rights legislation created the basic Aus-
tralian land claims model, a very different bargaining model from the
North American. Instead of establishing a one-on-one negotiation between
aboriginal people and the state, the legislation allowed aboriginal people a
seat in the on-going negotiations between the government and the domi-
nant economic industry of the region. By transferring aboriginal reserves
to aboriginal ownership, aboriginal people would gain a voice over the
economic development of almost 20% of the Territory. The ability of the
newly constituted land councils to effectively protect aboriginal interests,
given huge disparities in bargaining resources, would challenge the under-
lying legitimacy of the negotiation model, but the legislation remained the
strongest protection for aboriginal land rights in Australia.

The legislation was the culmination of political mobilization which
burst onto the public consciousness with the Gurindji strike in 1967. This
mobilization had an effect on public opinion, and created important support
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in the Australian mainstream for Commonwealth recognition of aboriginal
connections to country. At least, part of the Coalition government’s weak
response to the aboriginal land rights issue was a different evaluation of
activists’ ability to move public opinion, once the flurry of initial publicity
died down. Ted Woodward, Gough Whitlam and aboriginal activists tied
with the Labor Party had come to a different conclusion, and the Northern
Territory land rights legislation is a product of these different calculations.
The legislation was a critical advance in a country whose courts had proven
unwilling to legitimate indigenous peoples’ rights to land.

The Hawke Years

The next chapter in Australia’s land rights drama would expose huge dif-
ficulties in transporting and implementing the Northern Territory bargain-
ing model in the States. The first structural obstacle to such transplantation
rested within Australia’s constitutional division of powers. Unlike the sit-
uation in Canada, the Australian States could also legislate in aboriginal
affairs. This sharing of legislative authority meant that the States could
freely import or improve the Northern Territory model without Common-
wealth action. In an ideal world, States would implement wise legislation
that protected both aboriginal rights and allowed for harmonious economic
development without arm-twisting from Canberra. Concurrent jurisdiction
also meant that States could summarily legislate away land rights in defi-
ance of Commonwealth wishes. In the presence of an intransigent or an
anti-aboriginal rights State government, the Commonwealth could only
forestall the erosion of aboriginal rights by imposing its own solution at the
serious risk of harming intergovernmental relations.

The likelihood that such States would fight against Commonwealth
attempts to impose land rights legislation was almost certain, because for
the Commonwealth to do so would necessarily mean that Canberra was
acting in an exclusive State jurisdiction, the use and management of State
lands. The incentive for sub-national governments to protect their exclusive
power in land use policy is high in Canada as well, but the balance of fiscal
power between Canberra and the States makes the State protective instinct
even more acute. Since State governments in Australia do not raise their
own income taxes, the proceeds from the economic exploitation of lands
makes up a greater percentage of State operating budgets. As a result, State
governments are more likely to see their own interests aligned with major
economic actors.

Outside of the Northern Territory, the aboriginal population is con-
centrated in South Australia, Western Australia, and Queensland. Any
national land rights regime needs to include these States in order to have
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any substantive meaning. Of these three key states, only South Australia
chose to enter into negotiations with aboriginal people at the end of the
1970s. In a significant move, the South Australian Labor government®®
negotiated with its aboriginal populations and transferred freehold own-
ership of its northern reserves to aboriginal people in 1981 and 1983.%!
Although the willingness of the South Australian government to enter
into negotiations with aboriginal people was important, of the three criti-
cal States, the South Australian has a relatively minor mining sector, and
the lands transferred were of marginal economic worth. Western Australia
and Queensland, however, have significant mining sectors, and are the two
States with the worst historical record of aboriginal-state relations. The cul-
mination of these constitutional and economic factors was that the existence
of a national aboriginal land rights policy rested on the Commonwealth’s
willingness to take on the very two governments with the motivation and
resources to resist.

A window of opportunity for a national land rights regime opened
when Western Australia elected a Labor government in 1983. With a Labor
government in Canberra under Prime Minister Bob Hawke and Labor Pre-
mier Brian Burke in Perth, aboriginal rights activists within the Labor party
pushed the Prime Minister to implement a national land rights regime that
would extend the right to negotiate over Australia’s economic develop-
ment to aboriginal people across the country. Hawke’s land rights legis-
lation failed when Australia’s mining industry targeted a public lobbying
campaign in Western Australia. The decreasing support for aboriginal land
rights among Western Australian voters threatened Burke’s government,
and hence sapped Burke’s willingness to support even a minimal Common-
wealth scheme. Aboriginal support for Hawke’s legislation waned and then
divided when Hawke began to weaken the right to negotiate provisions
in the proposed legislation in order to get Burke’s support. Rather than
implement a weak national land rights system which would set a precedent
for watering down the key provision of the Northern Territory legislation,
northern land councils lobbied factions within the Labor party to drop the
national land rights scheme altogether. The Northern Territory land coun-
cils were not prepared to fall on their own sword in order to win what they
saw as marginal land rights concessions for aboriginal people elsewhere.
Without cross-aboriginal support for the land rights legislation, in March
1986 Hawke abandoned his initiative, and vacated the field to the States.”?

The Mabo Decision and the Native Title Act (1993)

It would not be until 1992, when the High Court recognized the validity of
aboriginal title in Australian common law, that the Commonwealth Labor
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government would be pushed by a more cohesive coalition of aboriginal
actors to implement a national land rights regime over the objections of
the mining industry, pastoralists, Queensland, and Western Australia. This
regime would incorporate a grab-bag of institutional mechanisms such as
mediation, arbitration, and increasingly, litigation. My goal here is to show
how aboriginal groups managed to cohere at the national advocacy level,
and push the Commonwealth to impose a land rights framework on the
States. However, I will also show, through a case study of Western Austra-
lia, how aboriginal fragmentation at the claimant level has impacted States’
perceived value of negotiation as a workable strategy.

Judicial Change: The High Court’s 1992 Mabo Decision

On June 3rd, 1992, the High Court handed down its judgment in the
Mabo case. The ruling is historic in that the High Court overturned the
long-established doctrine of terra nullius, and thereby allowed for the rec-
ognition of aboriginal title in Australian common law for the first time.
The content of aboriginal title, the exact rights which an aboriginal per-
son or group could claim, was to be determined according to aboriginal
customary law, and therefore varied according to claimant and context.
The Mabo ruling was revolutionary in that the High Court gave legal cre-
dence to aboriginal customary rights in land. The ruling was also impor-
tant in protecting the existing Australian property regime by clearly stating
that government grants of freehold title extinguished aboriginal title. This
meant that no aboriginal person or group could legally assert a title claim
over land held in freehold. Significantly, the High Court did not directly
address the question of whether aboriginal title survived on pastoral leases.
The Court did say, however, that the interests of pastoralists would prevail
over aboriginal people in the event that their rights conflicted. The pastoral
lease issue is important, as it left open the question of whether aboriginal
people could legally assert a title claim to 38% of Western Australia, 42%
of South Australia, 41% of New South Wales, 54% of Queensland, and
51% of the Northern Territory.”® This silence on the part of the High Court
potentially expanded the question of aboriginal land rights policy past the
issue of aboriginal reserves and vacant Crown lands.

While the decision opened up the geographic scope of the lands over
which aboriginal people could now legally assert rights, the Court also
imposed important caveats. The High Court ruled that only those aborigi-
nal people who had managed to maintain a continuing connection to their
lands, despite two hundred odd years of government policies which made
this impossible for many, could assert a title claim. The further whittling
away of the substantive victory for aboriginal people came with the Court’s
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views on the extinguishment of aboriginal title. The Court ruled that gov-
ernments could unilaterally extinguish whatever aboriginal title did exist
through lawful legislative action. Prior to the 1975 passage of the Com-
monwealth’s Racial Discrimination Act (RDA), all extinguishment was
lawful extinguishment, giving aboriginal people no legal leverage to seek
compensation for their historic dispossession. State or Commonwealth acts
which extinguished native title, possibly mining leases, for example, after
1975 were lawful if they met the provisions of the RDA. For all these rea-
sons, the Mabo decision was a judicial victory for some aboriginal people,
but an empty shell for others.

The Australian Mabo decision and the Canadian Calder decisions
have key aspects in common. Both decisions were precedents giving com-
mon law recognition to the doctrine of aboriginal title. Both decisions left
their respective governments to infer whether aboriginal title continued to
exist in key parts of the country, importantly, in British Columbia, and in
Australia, land under pastoral lease. Both decisions removed the federal
government’s “do-nothing” option, thereby forcing a land rights policy
response and a new era in land claim politics. Prime Minister Keating said
as much in October 1992: “ . . . By rejecting the doctrine of terra nul-
lius, the court has provided a new basis for relations between indigenous
and other Australians, and given impetus to the process of reconciliation. It
provides both an opportunity and a challenge.”®*

Critically, however, the Calder and Mabo decisions presented the
Keating and the Trudeau governments with two very different questions.
Since the Canadian federal government has sole constitutional authority
over “Indians and lands reserved for Indians,” resolution of aboriginal
land claims required the presence of the federal government at the negoti-
ation table. Therefore, Trudeau’s decision to implement a negotiation pol-
icy was a decision to commit the federal government as a major party to
negotiations across the country. In contrast, the Australian States have the
jurisdiction to legislate in both aboriginal and land management issues,
which are subject to the paramountcy of federal law. Given the recogni-
tion of aboriginal title in the Mabo decision, the critical question facing
Australia’s Prime Minister Paul Keating was whether he was prepared to
force the States to negotiate by enacting a national land rights framework.
Outside of the Northern Territory, federal Crown lands are marginal,
limited basically to national parks and national defense installations.
Moreover, given the States’ authority to legislate in aboriginal affairs, the
Commonwealth government wasn’t legally required to sit in on aboriginal
land rights negotiations. Therefore, a national land rights negotiation pol-
icy would not necessarily involve the Commonwealth government as the
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major government actor around the bargaining table. The biggest political
question in the aftermath of the Mabo decision was the extent to which
the Keating government was prepared to protect and advance aboriginal
rights in Australia, at the cost of intergovernmental peace.

Prime Minister Keating’s Response to Mabo:
The Native Title Act 1993 (NTA)

By October 1992, a key interdepartmental committee of officials (IDC) pre-
sented the Keating cabinet with a confidential options paper, canvassing a
wider range of options than the Commonwealth government had entertained
since the early 1970s,?’ including a specialist tribunal to adjudicate claims,
a wide-ranging legislative framework, and a new negotiation model.”® The
Keating government had the option of importing the Canadian model of
negotiating comprehensive regional agreements between governments and
aboriginal representatives. By March 1993, the IDC recommended that the
regional negotiation model be dropped from the government’s option list.
The IDC rejected the model as impracticable:

. . avery long and difficult negotiation would be inevitable, in which
concepts such as self-government over native title lands, constitutional
protection of title and the granting of substantial economic and other
benefits would come into play as part of the ‘grand bargain.’ It is not
therefore a practicable approach for dealing with immediate land man-

agement issues.”’

The IDC was clearly not interested in expanding the aboriginal land rights
issue into a de facto political settlement which would put issues other than
land use on the negotiations table. I argue, however, that the social struc-
tural reality of Australian aboriginal political organization made a Canadi-
anesque ‘grand bargain’ unattainable. The Labor government’s Minister of
Aboriginal Affairs, Robert Tickner, was acutely aware that the issue of who
would negotiate for aboriginal people in a regional settlement framework
was “an even tougher question” than the content of such a settlement.”®
Tickner and the other members of the Keating government were warned,
during the post-Mabo policy debate, that a settlement negotiated between
governments and regional or national aboriginal organizations would not
be seen by many aboriginal people as locally binding.”’

If claimant issues on the local and regional levels were a factor in
rejecting the regional negotiation model, it was not the kiss of death for
implementing any negotiation model. A negotiation model would need to
reflect and give formal voice to the inherent localism of aboriginal land
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rights. Aboriginal spokespersons demanded that the Commonwealth
enshrine the key principle of negotiation, aboriginal consent, within any
legislation. Aboriginal leadership did recognize, however, that a nego-
tiation policy would need to include terms defining aboriginal claimants,
and establish, through federal statute, aboriginal representative bodies
that would conduct title negotiations.!?’ The legal definition of aboriginal
claimants and the incorporation of aboriginal native title groups would be
endogenous to federal legislation.

The political road, which started with the June 1992 Mabo decision,
and culminated in the passage of the Commonwealth’s national land rights
legislation in December 1993, is accurately described as exhausting and
“tortuous.” %" I cannot possibly recount the political drama here.'> How-
ever, I will make the following observations. The Keating government’s
commitment to a land rights regime that respected the core principle of
indigenous consent, and protected aboriginal land rights from State unilater-
alism, was sorely challenged, and at times bested by the political imperative
of intergovernmental relations.!?® The critical force that limited the impact
of the States’ rights campaign on Commonwealth behavior was a unified,
daring, and mobilized aboriginal political leadership. The then Minister of
Aboriginal Affairs identifies the “incisive” turning points that cumulatively
forced the Commonwealth to impose a regime on the recalcitrant States
when it would have preferred to vacate the policy field: credible threats to
mobilize aboriginal people should the Commonwealth not step up to the
plate with the States;'%* the demonstrated ability of aboriginal political rep-
resentatives from across Australia to unite behind a land rights agenda in
August 1993;1% and the ability of the aboriginal leadership to use the press
and to redefine the terms of public debate in the eleventh hour.'%

The NTA came together in a heated and hurried process of legisla-
tive bargaining. It is a highly complicated and lengthy piece of legislation
born in a political maelstrom. It tried to balance the protection of newly
recognized indigenous land rights with the validation of existing and future
property rights, of which mining rights and pastoral lease rights were key.
The basic political bargain enshrined in the NTA is summarized, if bluntly,
as follows. Aboriginal leaders agreed to accept the status quo by allow-
ing the validation of all existing legal interests in land. Aboriginal leaders
therefore conceded the ability to contest the extinguishment of aboriginal
title before 1993. In return, the Commonwealth would allow registered
aboriginal claimants a seat at the negotiation table when future (mostly
State) government acts (e.g. the issuance of mining leases for exploration
and development) would have a significant impact on aboriginal title. This
is what is referred to as the future act regime.
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The NTA established a Commonwealth tribunal, the National Native
Title Tribunal (NNTT), that would maintain a register of claims, deter-
mine the scope of the native title rights held, and also arbitrate a future act
dispute should good-faith negotiation not yield an agreement within a six
month period.'”” However, the Commonwealth could overturn an NNTT
ruling if it was deemed “in the national interest.” The Commonwealth leg-
islation operated under the assumption that native title was extinguished
on pastoral leases. This assumption was a strong one, given the legal advice
of the day.'® However, the NTA left the door open for aboriginal people to
test this issue in the High Court by not explicitly extinguishing aboriginal
title on pastoral leases.'”

In summary, the NTA provided a national framework which forced
governments, miners, and (to a lesser degree) pastoralists to pull up a chair
for aboriginal people in a wider land management bargaining table. Due
to the fact that the lands at issue were mostly State lands, the government
party was usually a State government. The negotiation policy under the
NTA is significantly different, in many ways more limited, than the nego-
tiation policies enacted by the Canadians and New Zealanders. Firstly, the
scope of the land claims negotiations conducted under the NTA (1993) are
limited to land management, and cannot be seen as a wider treaty settle-
ment. The Australian native title negotiations under the NTA have not yet
extended to encompass a wider set of socio-political issues. Secondly, in
keeping with the Woodward Commission’s policy legacy, the truncated set
of bargaining issues is contrasted with a larger set of players, since third-
party economic interests are at the table, in addition to the government and
all registered aboriginal claimants.

The next section of this case study addresses State-level decisions to
negotiate or litigate land claims under the framework of the NTA. T will
show how the NTA further exacerbated claimant fragmentation at the local
level, to such an extent that State governments sought judicial solutions in
key areas instead of seeking a negotiated agreement. I will focus on the case
of Western Australia.

Western Australia

The State of Western Australia comprises approximately a third of the Aus-
tralian land mass. Its capital city, Perth, is the most isolated major centre in
Australia, sitting alone on the Indian Ocean. Settled first by prospectors and
miners rushing to the Goldfields, pastoralists soon followed. The British
granted the frontier colony self-governing status in 1890, and from its con-
ception, the colonial legislature denied its aboriginal population any ben-
efits or rights of British subjecthood.!!” The State is home to approximately
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20% of Australia’s aboriginal population,'"" and shares with Queensland
the dubious distinction of holding the worst record in Australian’s history
of aboriginal oppression.

Western Australia came grudgingly into the Australian federa-
tion in 1901. On the geographic periphery, Western Australia has a well-
entrenched history of anti-Commonwealth and pro-States’ rights politics,
complete with a separatist movement in the 1930s. The State’s interest
in fighting off Commonwealth encroachment in land management issues
stems in large part from protecting State control over the cornerstone of
its wealth. One of the key drivers of State’s rights politics is its dependence
on the primary resource sector, the mining sector in particular. In 1971,
62% of Australia’s mining exploration occurred in Western Australia.''? In
1994, the State Attorney-General reported that Western Australia provides
40% of Australia’s mineral exports, and contributes 25% of Australia’s
total export income.!'® Indeed, the Western Australian mining sector has
a global impact, producing 18% of the world’s alumina and 14% of the
world’s iron ore.''* As one State legislator said in 2000, “ . . . when the
mining industry sneezes, the State’s economy gets pneumonia.” !’

The confluence of a significant aboriginal population, a political
ethos very sensitive to Commonwealth incursions on States’ rights, and
the economic importance of the mining sector makes Western Australia
a tough nut to crack in aboriginal land rights politics. In Western Austra-
lia, the economic value of aboriginal land rights is potentially substantial.
With a large proportion of Australia’s aboriginal population in the State,
the success of a progressive national land rights strategy depends signifi-
cantly on whether the Western Australian government is willing to recog-
nize and protect aboriginal land rights at the perceived cost of the mining
and pastoral industries.

Prior to the 1993 Native Title Act, Western Australia was the sole State
not to recognize some form of traditional aboriginal land rights within its
panoply of land tenures. As Labor Premier Brian Burke said in 1987, “ . . .
We are on the record as saying that while we are in Government in this State
we will not have land rights of the Aboriginal people . . . I believe that,
broadly, Australia’s people accept that while they do not want Aborigines
given land rights they do want them to be given a fair go.”!'® The State’s
conception of a “fair go” was to allow aboriginal people access to lands,
either through the Aboriginal Land Trust or by allowing aboriginal people
to hold land under a normal freehold or leasehold like any other property
owner.'"” By April 1985, 19 million hectares of land was “held for the use
and benefit” of aboriginal people; an additional 7 million hectares was held
by September of 1991, with 80% of the additional hectares held in the form
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of special purpose leases.!'® However, reserve lands (approximately 8% of
the State) vested in the Aboriginal Land Trust remain Crown owned. Aborig-
inal leaseholds are like any other tenure in Western Australia, with minerals
reserved to the Crown and no veto over mining exploration or development.
Land rights activists denounced Western Australia’s aboriginal land policies
as woefully inadequate. “Until the Mabo decision and the subsequent [Com-
monwealth] native title legislation, the best Aboriginal people could hope for
was a 99-year lease of the Aboriginal reserve to the local community, which
gave them less security of title than a Perth suburban home-owner.”"°

Post-Mabo Land Rights Policy in Western Australia

In the aftermath of the Mabo decision, Premier Richard Court took a two-
prong strategy against aboriginal title rights. First, Premier Court worked
to defeat the Commonwealth legislation as a flagrant attempt to override
States’ rights:

What is clear is that [Prime Minister Keating] seeks to ride on the back
of the Aboriginal people of this country, most of whom are residents
of States, in order to distort the Australian Constitution and increase,
yet again, the power of the Commonwealth. His objective—one of his
objectives at any rate—is to gain control for the Commonwealth of the
management of land throughout a large part of Australia. . . As to its
moral foundation, there is no doubt—it has none. The Commonwealth

legislation is a simple play for Commonwealth power.!2°

Second, Premier Court sought to pre-empt the Commonwealth by
introducing legislation in the State Assembly before the NTA became a
legal reality.!?! The legislation set out to unilaterally extinguish all surviv-
ing aboriginal title in the State, and replacing aboriginal title with statu-
tory rights of traditional usage which would be subordinate to all other
land interests.'?? Claimants who could establish a claim to traditional usage
would be eligible for compensation. Disputes about compensation would be
litigated in the courts; once litigated, the government would restrict nego-
tiation to the size and composition of a compensation package.'?> Western
Australia enacted the legislation before the NTA came into effect, but Pre-
mier Court’s victory was short-lived. In 1995, the High Court struck down
the State legislation as racially discriminatory, and the State of Western
Australia became subject to the right to negotiate provisions of the NTA’s
future act regime.

The Court government showed that negotiation was not its real pref-
erence. However, once forced by the Commonwealth and the High Court
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to negotiate over future acts which would impair the native title, did the
Western Australian government actually negotiate? And, if not, why?

Negotiation, Claimant Fragmentation, and the NTA

Soon after the NTA came into effect, it became clear that certain provisions
of the NTA interacted to create huge incentives for claim proliferation and
claimant fragmentation on the ground, especially in economically impor-
tant areas of the country. The reality of the post-Mabo native title frame-
work was that the only way for aboriginal groups or individuals to benefit
economically from their newly recognized rights was to access the right to
negotiate provisions of the future act regime. By putting aboriginal people
at a bargaining table with mining companies, the future act regime was the
only way for many aboriginal people to seek reparations for loss of country,
community development, or to seek old-fashioned personal gain. Aborigi-
nal people could get a seat at the future act bargaining table if they passed
the claimant registration test administered by the NNTT. Importantly, reg-
istered aboriginal claimants retained the valuable right to negotiate until
the NNTT determined who were native title holders. This meant that for
some claimants, the proportion of which is not possible to ascertain, there
was no incentive to move through the claimant determination stage.

All rested on the NTA’ threshold test that contained the criteria by
which the NNTT could reject an aboriginal group’s registration. As a result
of last minute legislative bargaining in December 1993, the NTA’s thresh-
old test was very low. It simply required “ . . . the applicant to state the
belief that native title had not been extinguished.”?* In 19935, the Federal
Court ruled that under the NTA, “the [NNTT] registrar had no option but
to accept all claims for registration other than those that were frivolous or
vexatious.” 123

Due to the relative unboundedness of the traditional claimant group
and the myriad of kinship connections an aboriginal person could invoke
to justify an interest over certain lands, an aboriginal group or person could
make at least a prima facie case to be a valid claimant. The NTA also did
not set out minimum claimant membership criteria, hence, claimants had
the incentive to fragment into smaller family groups as each sought an inde-
pendent seat at the bargaining table. The result was a situation where the
level of cross-claiming, claimant fragmentation, and intra-aboriginal dis-
putes over who were “real claimants” or just “opportunists” were directly
related to the economic value of the land under claim.!?® The serious dif-
ficulties this phenomenon produced for a viable negotiation strategy were
echoed by all, including key supporters of the NTA. Former Leader of the
Australian Labor Party and former Governor-General Bill Hayden wrote of
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his attempts to reach a negotiated agreement over the Century Zinc mining
project in Queensland:

What became abundantly clear to me quite early is . . . the absence of
any definition of who can be a claimant and the seemingly unlimited
opportunities for people to register as such; the unrepresentativeness of
some who register as claimants; the confusion and tensions which can
become rampant as long-standing factional and family disputes within
a tribal group manifest themselves at the expense of the issue to be set-
tled; the jealousy and mistrust which can arise between different tribal
bodies which can impair negotiation processes.'?” One key area where
this phenomenon occurred was the lucrative Goldfields area of Western
Australia.'?8

By 1995, the High Court had taken away Western Australia’s pre-
ferred policy option, to unilaterally legislate away native title. The Court
government had to decide whether to negotiate or litigate under the Com-
monwealth’s NTA framework. Claimant fragmentation played a decisive
role in the Court government’s NTA-induced policy choice.'? Convinced
that negotiation with fractured, competing, and possibly illegitimate claim-
ant groups would prove futile precisely where the economic costs of delay
were high, the Court government chose a litigation strategy.'3® The Court
government reportedly made this decision in 1995 without an evaluation of
litigation’s long-run costs.!3! Although never a fan of a negotiated response
to aboriginal land rights, the Court government’s litigiousness cannot be
attributed to its conservative political ideology alone. The government con-
firmed its litigation strategy a few years later, and the reasoning behind it,
in a letter to the NNTT:

The State does not support mediation of [the south west and goldfields
claims]. Based on assessment of the history since European settlement,
the anthropology, the number of other valid interests, disputation in
the Aboriginal community and the diversity of Aboriginal interests
within the claim areas, the State does not believe it is in the position
to reach definitive decisions on whether native title rights and interests
have been preserved or not. Therefore the State has concluded that it is
in the public interest for these claims to be referred to the Federal Court

for determination.!32

The Court government’s larger strategy was to pursue amendments to the
NTA in the name of workability. With the defeat of Paul Keating’s Labor
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government in March 1996 and the ascent of the Liberal Party leader John
Howard to the Prime Ministership, the political process to amend the NTA
was well underway.

Negotiation, Low Indigenous Cobesion and the NTA After 1998

While the need to amend the NTA in the name of workability was real,
opening up the NTA made it possible for conservative, even reactionary
forces to roll back the progress achieved in aboriginal land rights since
the Mabo decision. From 1996 to 1998, the Howard government faced
extraordinary pressure from industry, pastoralists, and the States to leg-
islate “bucket loads of extinguishment.” Without a Labor government in
Canberra, aboriginal activists had fewer allies in key decision-making cir-
cles, and the 1998 amendments to the NTA seriously eroded the scope of
the right to negotiate provisions of the NTA.'33 The new NTA came into
force on September 30th, 1998.

The Howard government did institute two new amendments which
were designed to make negotiation a more workable option. The first was
the new claimant registration test. The new test requires much more detail
about the boundaries of the claim area, the membership of the claim-
ant group, the nature of the rights claimed, and the extent of the group’s
physical connection to the claimed land. Before the claim can be regis-
tered, the applicant needs to demonstrate that he has the approval of the
claimant group to act on its behalf. The registration test also disallows the
previous overlapping of claim groups, although it does not disallow the
overlapping of geographic claim boundaries. The new registration provi-
sions applied retroactively to many claims already registered under the
old NTA.

The claim re-registration process led to a significant redefinition pro-
cess from 1998 to 2000, where claims and claimant groups, acting stra-
tegically under the new NTA, discontinued, amalgamated, and otherwise
significantly redefined their claims and the claimant groups themselves.!3*
The significance of this redefinition process is clear in the following figures.
Of the 340 claimant applications lodged under the old Act to which the
new threshold test applied, only 46% passed.'?* Of the 116 applications
submitted by June 30th, 2000, under the new Act, 91% passed the registra-
tion test. Of the 1026 claimant applications submitted from January 1st,
1994, to June 30th, 2000, about half were either discontinued or combined
in some way during the registration process.'3¢ This redefinition process
was particularly marked in Western Australia.!3”

The second NTA amendment designed to facilitate negotiated out-
comes was the introduction of Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs).
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All registered claimants and other property rights holders in an area able
to come up with an agreement can register their agreement as an ILUA.138
Once registered, the ILUA is a legal contract that binds not just the parties
to it, but any other subsequent native title claimants in that area. One pos-
sible advantage for the State of an ILUA is that once registered, its provi-
sions prevail over the NTA’s future act regime.'® For a State government,
the potential benefit of the ILUA framework is to negotiate one deal cover-
ing an area up front, rather than engaging in a series of negotiations every
time a major mining development is underway or a new residential devel-
opment breaks ground.

What effect did the amendments to the NTA have on Western Aus-
tralia’s willingness to negotiate? In March 2000, Premier Court released
his government’s pre-conditions for entering into any native title negotia-
tion. Importantly, the State would negotiate only when aboriginal claim-
ants could provide a detailed connection report which further developed
the items demanded in the NTA registration test. The precedent negotiation
for the Court government was with the Spinifex people, notable because
the government considered the Spinifex claim legally strong, and the level
of disputation among the Spinifex was also low. The Court government
remained skeptical about the feasibility of reaching settlements on a larger
regional scale.!*

While announcing the pre-conditions for negotiation, the Court gov-
ernment continued to pursue a litigation strategy. Despite the significant
amalgamation of claims in Western Australia from 1998 to 2000, the Gold-
fields area remained subject to 13 claims in 2001."*! The Court government
remained convinced that regional agreements were impossible due to intra-
aboriginal contestation in economically vital regions, and continued to pur-
sue those claims in the courts, rejecting a regional negotiating framework.
As Premier Court stated in the State Assembly:

The only way there will be a resolution in Kalgoorlie [the Goldfields]

. . is if a court makes a decision. The Leader of the Opposition can-
not walk into this Parliament and say regional agreements are the solu-
tion to native title. He is not living in the real world. He knows that
Aboriginal people are no different from other people; they have their
own interests in different areas . . . the Leader of the Opposition is liv-

ing in cloud cuckoo land if he believes we can have regional agreements
142

The Minister responsible for the mining and pastoral industries conveyed
the same message:
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The Goldfields Land Council came to me and said we should have a
statewide agreement. I said, ‘If you can get some heads of agreement
for a statewide agreement, where you can get together people in the
desert, who are small estate groups and are very jealous of their area,
and urban Aboriginals, I will support it.” They never came back to me.
[Aboriginal leader] Pat Dodson said the same thing. I said, “I do not
think you can do it. If you can, show me what you are trying to do, and
I will help you work on it, if I can, to make it a reality”; but he never

came back to me. It is all talk.'*?

One can argue the counterfactual that the Liberal Party government
of Richard Court, with its pastoral electoral base and ideological predis-
positions, would never have negotiated a regional agreement in Western
Australia, even if the Goldfields Land Council or Pat Dodson had actually
delivered the State a cohesive regional claimant negotiating group. I remain
unconvinced. The public policy challenge of implementing a negotiation
policy in a context of low indigenous group cohesion remained after the fall
of the Court government and the election of the Western Australian Labor
Party to power in February of 2001.

The new Labor Premier, Dr. Geoff Gallop, came into office with a
mandate to “mediate, not litigate.” While the Labor government is con-
fronted with the real cost of a long-run litigation strategy, it cannot run
to the negotiation table without confronting the complexity of aboriginal
politics across the table. Labor’s negotiation policy is predicated on the
same pre-negotiation conditions of its predecessor: the delivery of detailed
aboriginal connection reports. The connection reports place a high burden
of proof directly on aboriginal claimants and their representative bodies.
During my interviews in Perth in August 2001, policy-makers inside the
Labor government were coming to grips with the growing reality that while
litigation is definitely expensive, mediation and negotiation are definitely
not cheap. With little concrete information about the long-run financial
costs of either litigation or negotiation, negotiation resources would need
to be allocated according to those areas where policy-makers had reason-
able expectations that settlements were politically possible.™**

To summarize, claimant fragmentation has had important impacts in
land claims politics in Australia. First, it determined which type of negotia-
tion model was feasible. The Australian negotiation model is quite local-
ized, with little possibility of achieving the economies of scale from larger
regional agreements. When the Commonwealth legislation fragmented
aboriginal cohesion even further, States chose to litigate and to lobby for
change in the NTA rather than accept the negotiation framework as given.
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In Western Australia, the amendments to the NTA clarified the situation.
Richard Court’s government indicated it would negotiate only on the condi-
tion that cohesiveness criteria were met; at the same time, it continued to
pursue a litigation strategy where claims and claimants remained numerous.

REFLECTIONS ON THE AUSTRALIAN CASE

In this study, I have argued that the emergence of a land claims negotiation
policy requires a government to concur with two basic propositions: 1) it
will recognize the validity of aboriginal collective rights, and 2) it will not
seek to insulate itself politically from the resolution of land grievances by
delegating decision-making power to a third party. In each of the country
case studies, the specific costs and benefits associated with each of these
propositions vary according to historical legacies, political culture and par-
tisanship. What remains constant across these cases is the following: that
no government in Canada, New Zealand, and Australia agreed to negotiate
indigenous land grievances without first realizing that indigenous people
could unify behind a land rights agenda, credibly commit to a future strat-
egy of protest and political disruption, and change the political landscape
by influencing mainstream political opinion. In other words, the emergence
of negotiation policies in these cases has been preceded by policy-mak-
ers’ recognition that indigenous peoples were now players in the game of
aboriginal policy development, rather than un-strategic policy takers. Indig-
enous people’s credible threat to impose future political costs should gov-
ernments not recognize their collective land rights increased the probability
that negotiation would emerge as the government’s policy response because
the credible threat decreased the government’s long-run attractiveness of a
blame avoidance, “let the courts handle it” type of strategy.

In this chapter, as I had with Canada and New Zealand, I established
the points in time when the Australian Commonwealth cabinet had the
opportunity to choose a negotiation strategy. Drawing largely on cabinet
submissions and the archival record of cabinet discussions, I examined
the ideological framework in which cabinets approached indigenous land
rights. I established how the political mobilization of indigenous peoples
changed the terms for aboriginal policy reform in the post-war era. The
mobilization of the mid 1960s was a product of underlying demographic
and social shifts experienced in the Western world after World War Two:
the larger phenomenon of rural depopulation created new urban centers for
aboriginal activists who would be inspired by the protest repertoires of the
American civil rights era. Without the capacity of indigenous peoples to act
collectively behind a land rights (not just an equal rights) agenda, and the
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demonstrated capacity of indigenous peoples to sway mainstream public
opinion, I argue that the judicial legitimation of land rights alone would
not have resulted in negotiation. Indigenous mobilization, more than court
decisions, changed the terms of debate within cabinet rooms. High Court
decisions like the Gove land rights case (Australia 1971), the Calder deci-
sion (Canada 1973), and the Lands Case (New Zealand 1987), provided
hugely important opportunities for significant policy change, but did not
on their own guarantee that negotiation would emerge.

With indigenous people pushing the aboriginal policy reform enve-
lope since the mid 1960s, allies within government and around the cabi-
net table pushed for a pragmatic re-evaluation of anti-recognition policies.
In Canada, the shift in cabinet support for a pragmatic negotiation policy
occurred in the lifetime of one government. In Australia and New Zealand,
the respective Labor parties would differentiate themselves on the land
rights issue from their more conservative competitors. In these countries
where aboriginal politics would reinforce existing partisan cleavages, the
support around the cabinet table for a negotiation position would depend
on the party in power.

The Australian case in particular also suggests that the sequencing of
political mobilization and judicial change are necessary, but insufficient con-
ditions for the emergence of land claim negotiation policies. Other variables
can come into play to mediate policy-makers’ evaluations of negotiation
versus other policy options. This chapter has weaved two intermediating
variables of particular import to the Australian case throughout the narra-
tive: the incentives produced by the allocation of jurisdictional power across
national and sub-national governments, and the ability of local aboriginal
claimants to act as cohesive negotiating parties. By making the prospect of
future settlements a slim proposition, claimant fragmentation, as seen in
the case of Western Australia, can significantly erode a government’s rela-
tive value of negotiation versus its other policy options, such as unilateral
legislation or a rush to litigation.






Chapter Six

Litigation, not Negotiation:

The American Land Claims Experience
in Comparative Perspective

INTRODUCTION

In April 1866, the United States Senate sat down to debate whether it would
appropriate the necessary funds to allow the executive to negotiate a peace
treaty with the Sioux of the upper Missouri and upper Platte rivers.! With
settlers pushing into the American frontier and hostilities with the Sioux
high, the Secretary of War had invited bands of Sioux to meet at Forts
Sully, Rice, Berthold, Union and Laramie in order to negotiate a peace of
sorts. Given the Sioux were invited to treat at these forts, the United States
government was expected to provide the Sioux with basic provisions dur-
ing the course of the negotiations. The executive was well within its rights
to call for such a negotiation. Article I, section 2, of the Constitution gives
the President the power to negotiate treaties “by and with the advice and
consent of the Senate . . . provided two thirds of the Senators present con-
cur . . ..” In this manner, the United States, like its British predecessor,
had conducted a negotiation policy with Indian inhabitants since the coun-
try’s beginnings. Negotiations over land and peace formed the backbone
of the United States’ relations with Indians. However, in 1866, the Senate’s
debate over provisioning the Sioux in particular turned into a larger debate
over the very merits of the United States’ negotiation policy with Indian
tribes in general.

Ohio’s Republican Senator, John Sherman, put on record his princi-
pled objection to negotiating with Indians:

I have always been opposed to this mode of dealing with Indians . . .
The idea of getting together the head men of the Indian tribes and giv-
ing them pork and beans—very sensible articles of food—feeding them
up and then negotiating a treaty with them, and bringing that treaty

155
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in here to be ratified as a high negotiation with a foreign Power, has
always seemed to me so ridiculous that I hope sometime or other the
Senate will abolish the whole system.?

According to this view, the demotion of Indians from self-governing and
independent tribes to weakened subjects of governance by outsiders needed
to be reflected in a new federal modus operandi. Senator Sherman offered
two alternatives to a negotiation policy:

. . . I believe it would be wiser and better to give to the infant States
and Territories of the West a portion of the money now appropriated
by the Government for the support of Indians, and trust to the people
of the infant States and Territories to govern those tribes, and disband
our whole Indian system; or . . . to transfer this whole Indian service
to the Army, and let them govern the Indians as subjects of the United
States; but the present system of governing the Indians by treaty stipu-
lations, by bribes and presents, beans and corn and pork . . . is a sys-
tem that ought not to be tolerated longer.3

A Democratic colleague from California, Senator James McDougall, joined
Senator Sherman in his opposition to negotiation, although his preferred
alternative to negotiation was naked subjugation:

I agree with the Senator from Ohio . . . They must be whipped into
their place, and subjected to obedience . . . let them die out by a law
established by a greater Master than confines himself to this sphere
. . . Would it not be better to whip them well? . . . Is not the Govern-
ment powerful, and has it not men and horses enough?*

Countering Senators Sherman and McDougall were a few voices in
favor of negotiation. However, these voices rose in the name of expediency
and humanity, rather than in recognition of Indians’ property or political
rights. James Doolittle, Republican Senator from Wisconsin, urged a softer
hand in dealing with America’s Indian problem:

There is but one way to deal with these Indians on the plains: you
must feed them or fight them® . . . I know, as my honorable friend
knows, that dealing with these Indians is a very different thing from
dealing with a great nation like England or France . . . We are dealing
with a feeble people . . . they will soon pass away, and nothing will
remain of the Indian tribes but the beautiful names which they gave
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to our rivers and our towns. That is their inevitable destiny; but while
they are passing along like sick children in our hands, it is better to
deal in the spirit of humanity, to feed these dying people, than it is to
turn in and slaughter them by the sword.®

Although the Senate granted the President his appropriation to feed
the Sioux in 1866, the debate over the wisdom of a negotiation policy
would grow and gain momentum. In 1871, the debate concluded when the
Senate refused to ratify any more treaties with Indian tribes. The American
negotiation policy came to an official end, though the executive would con-
clude some agreements past that date.” At the end of the treaty-making era,
the United States had signed 370 treaties to cede Indian land rights over
95% of the United States’ public domain.®

Even before 1871, Indians pushed forward their land claims, decry-
ing either the federal government’s unwillingness to meet its obligations
under the treaties, or the circumstances in which treaties were signed. For
a time, the federal government’s response was to ignore these claims, later
to adjudicate them. However, the United States would never again insti-
tute a formal negotiation policy. It engaged in a few ad hoc negotiations
in the late twentieth century, but the United States government has con-
sistently preferred to delegate the resolution of Indian land claims to its
courts or to special arbitrators. It has not offered negotiation as an insti-
tutionalized alternative to litigation. Unlike Canada and New Zealand in
the post-war era, the United States would not rehabilitate the negotiation
precedent of its colonial past. The United States government has not nego-
tiated, despite the judiciary’s recognition in the nineteenth century of both
native title and Indian tribes’ inherent right to self-government. The inher-
ent right to self-government is a right that the Canadian Supreme Court
and New Zealand Court of Appeal have at the time of writing not directly
conceded, and a right that the Australian High Court has denied. In this
respect, America’s indigenous communities have won a degree of latitude
in the courts that remains elusive elsewhere. Why, then, do we have the
paradox that the negotiation of land claims has failed to emerge in the
United States?

As in the other cases in this study, I argue that the absence of a nego-
tiation policy in the American land claims experience is due most directly
to the sequencing of judicial change and indigenous political mobilization.
Only in the American case did landmark judicial rulings long precede
indigenous political mobilization, and therefore the American case stands
as a test to this study’s main argument. In Canada, the Supreme Court
made its first landmark native title decision in 1973, after the political
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mobilization spawned by Trudeau’s white paper in 1969. In the United
States, the Supreme Court tackled the native title question in 1823, more
than a century before a supra-tribal indigenous organization would get off
the ground in 1944 to press for Indian rights or before the 1960s protest
politics of fish-ins and occupations began.

For the majority of time that American courts have fashioned an
Indian rights jurisprudence, native Americans have not had the political
wherewithal to either consolidate judicial gains in the political sphere or
to minimize the political impact of judicial losses. The classic statement
of this problem arose in the 1830s, and did not really change until the
1970s. When Chief Justice John Marshall ruled that Indian tribes were
political communities not subject to State law,” President Andrew Jackson
is reported to have said: “John Marshall has made his decision; now let
him enforce it.”1? Therefore, at the key moments when American policy-
makers designed the mechanisms to deal with Indian land claims, native
Americans could not credibly threaten to impose future political costs.
American policy-makers were not persuaded, as were their counterparts
cross-nationally, that Indian land claims represented a distinctly political
problem requiring a negotiated solution. Indian land claims were defined
as a primarily legal problem whose proper resolution demanded a legalis-
tic solution.

In 1946, Congress created the Indian Claims Commission (ICC), an
independent agency that acted and was accepted by all as a court. The ICC
litigated Indian claims and decided the size of a monetary settlement. By the
time native Americans engaged in the political protests of the 1960s and
1970s, the ICC had already dispensed with many claims, and the oppor-
tunity for a meaningful negotiation policy had already passed. In those
instances where Indian land claims became politically salient, American
policy-makers had a clear imperative to protect the ICC’s legacy. Ad hoc
negotiations would occur on those claims that would not re-open or set
a precedent for negotiating the claims already concluded. Any new claims
were directed to the courts.

This chapter differs from the previous national case studies in that it
necessarily focuses on decision-making in both the legislative and execu-
tive branches. Although a central tenet of parliamentary systems is that
the executive must maintain the confidence of the House, it is rare in these
systems for the legislative branch to have any significant role in policy for-
mulation. Cabinet is where the action is. In contrast, the American system
of presidential government accords a significant, even dominant, role in
policy formulation to the legislative branch. A key report on Indian policy
held the ideal balance of power between the two branches to be executive
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subservience to Congress.!" Indian policy outcomes in the United States
are therefore a product of both legislative and executive opinion in a way
unseen in the other national cases of this study. The story of Indian land
claims in the United States shows a more consistent conservatism and
reluctance of the legislative branch to support Indian special rights claims.
The Senate is noteworthy in this regard. Again and again, the Senate
would protect and promote the interest of the (especially western) States
against the interests of those to whom the government owed a legal duty,
the Indians.

This chapter sets out the American land claims experience against
the canvas provided in the previous chapters by Australia, Canada, and
New Zealand. It is only in cross-national perspective that the American
experience of non-negotiation stands out as noteworthy. And it is against
the American case that the central argument developed in reference to
these three parliamentary cases can be tested. I trace the American land
claims experience chronologically, much in the same way as I have for
the three other national cases. After providing a short background on
the early landmark legal cases that to this day inform federal Indian law,
I examine the impact of two policy periods, known as allotment (1887-
1928) and reorganization (1928-1946), on the emergence of the ICC
in 1946. I show how the federal debate on how to address Indian land
claims was part and parcel of a larger debate on Indians’ membership in
the American political community. Since access to the courts is consid-
ered a basic right of American citizenship, federal policy-makers in both
the legislative and executive branches accepted a delegation strategy for
those Indians considered citizens. Until 1924, however, only the “civi-
lized” or “competent” Indian could be a citizen. Therefore, the issue of
how to address land claims was entwined with notions of both citizen-
ship and civilization.

I reiterate, as other scholars have already done, how the claims pro-
cess of the ICC adhered to an assimilation policy, and how it supported the
termination policy that followed (1952-1968). The ICC, a special arbitra-
tor, was to hear and settle claims so that Indians could take their awards,
the federal government could terminate its special trust relationship with
tribes, and Indians could finally melt into the American mainstream. With
the arrival of Indian protest politics in the 1960s, I examine through a
case study of the Taos Pueblo’s Blue Lake claim (1968-1970) how a key
legacy of the ICC was to forestall the future emergence of a new negotia-
tion policy that would have been more in keeping with President Nixon’s
renunciation of termination and his acceptance of self-determination as
the guiding principle of federal Indian policy.
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SETTING THE SCENE:
BEFORE THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

From Nations to Wards: Judicial Decision-Making, Removal, and
the End of Negotiation, 1823-1871

Over the course of nine years, from 1823 to 1832, the United States Supreme
Court laid down three landmark cases from which American Indian juris-
prudence would spring. All three cases involved balancing the political and
property rights of the States, the federal government, and Indian tribes. The
judicial decisions were also products of the political context of the time.
This period was one of American territorial expansion, with settlers mov-
ing into lands held exclusively by tribes under (what had been considered)
international treaties. As settlers created new political facts on the ground,
States sought to expand their jurisdiction over Indian lands and people,
denying both Indian sovereignty and land rights. This was in direct con-
travention to the thirty-year-old American Constitution, which held that
only Congress had the right to “regulate Commerce with foreign nations,
and among the several states, and with the Indian tribes.” As is the case
in both Canada and Australia, the effectiveness of the States in denying
Indian rights is potentially checked by two forces: the willingness of the
federal government to act in its own constitutional jurisdiction to protect
Indian rights, and the willingness of the courts to check State and federal
encroachments on those rights.

Both forces failed America’s Indian tribes. President Andrew Jack-
son took the oath of office in March 1829 and espoused the removal of
eastern tribes to lands across the Mississippi. Given a choice to uphold
federal treaties and constitutional responsibilities to Indians over the
expansionist interests of States, the President refused to enforce federal
law.!> He espoused a weak federal government and supported the aspira-
tions of States, particularly Georgia, to swallow up Indian lands. Indeed,
the Indian removal policy would become one of the founding conflicts
differentiating the fledgling Democratic Party as the party of States’
rights.!® With Jackson as President, the protection of Indian rights rested
with the judiciary. The American Supreme Court, led by Chief Justice
John Marshall, was “ . . . long reviled by states’ rights partisans” and
espoused a strong central government.'* However, the Supreme Court, in
these early years of the American Republic, was in the process of building
its own institutional legitimacy. The Supreme Court faced increasing leg-
islative and legal challenges to its power to strike down state legislation,
should such legislation be contrary to the American Constitution.!® John
Marshall’s overriding political imperative was to carve out a meaningful
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role for the Supreme Court, while shielding it from the tumult of Jackso-
nian politics.'®

In the series of cases referred to as the Marshall Trilogy,!” John
Marshall fashioned a compromise of sorts. In the Johnson v. Mclntosh
decision, John Marshall invented the concept of native title at common
law that would form the basis of Canadian and New Zealand law more
than a century later.'® He argued that while discovery divested Indians of
ultimate fee simple ownership of the United States, the tribes did main-
tain rights of use and occupancy. The United States could acquire these
remaining rights through agreement and consent of the tribe. Thus, the
Court at once recognized and impaired Indian rights in the eyes of Ameri-
can law. The second decision, Cherokee Nation v. Georgia, addressed the
political status of Indian tribes. Though they held rights in land, were
they indeed foreign states according to the Constitution,' and thus, were
land cession agreements treaties at international law? Here, Justice Mar-
shall fashioned another legal invention. He denied tribes the status of for-
eign states, choosing instead to deem tribes “domestic dependent nations”
whose inherent rights to self-government were limited by United States
sovereignty. The relationship between the United States and the tribes was
described as a “state of pupilage,” similar to a relationship of a “ward
to his guardian.” Again, the decision recognized Indian political rights,
while limiting them in the interest of the United States. This decision is
the foundation of the federal government’s ongoing trust responsibility
to Indian tribes. Finally, in Worcester v. Georgia, John Marshall ruled
that these “domestic dependent nations” were to be free from State juris-
diction. Indian affairs would remain under the sole legislative authority
of Congress, but the alienation or extinguishment of Indian land rights
could not happen through unilateral legislative fiat, but through the
consent of the tribe. Thus, in the early nineteenth century, the Marshall
court did what the high courts of Australia, Canada, and New Zealand
have all now done: deny ultimate tribal ownership of land, but recognize
occupancy rights at common law. The Marshall court also did what these
other courts have yet to do: recognize a continuing inherent right to tribal
self-government.

Whatever judicial protection or political leverage the Marshall Trilogy
was meant to provide Indians at the time, such protection proved illusory
on the ground. The political balance of power was such that Indians had
little recourse to change legislative action. Andrew Jackson implemented his
removal policy, which called for the exchange of Indian lands in the east for
Indian territory west of the Mississippi. Despite Worcester, those Indians
who remained in the east would be fully subject to the laws of the States
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and “ere long become merged in the mass of our population.”?? What was
on its face a voluntary policy, Indian tribes’ emigration from their tradi-
tional territories was indeed forced. The Choctaw, Chickasaw, Creek, and
Seminole were followed by the Seneca, Shawnee, Delaware, Catawba and
Natchez.?! In 1839, the United States Army escorted the Cherokee, plain-
tiffs in the last two Marshall decisions, from Georgia to Oklahoma, a jour-
ney in which close to half of the Cherokee died.?? The tribes in the Indian
territory and across the plains faced a renewed wave of settler pressure after
the Civil War. The United States government sought to secure the nation’s
manifest destiny through the dual strategies of war and land cession treaties
to subdue western tribes, move them to reservations, and open the conti-
nent for settlement.

However, even as the executive branch negotiated land cession treaties
with Indian tribes, congressional support for the expedient practice waned,
and then ended entirely. In 1866, Senators McDougall and Sherman joined
their predecessors, Andrew Jackson and John Marshall, in denying Indians
the status of foreign powers. The Senate’s refusal five years later to ratify
Indian agreements as treaties confirmed Indian-U.S. relations as one of a
domestic dependent to his guardian. The guardian not only waged war and
ended treaty-making. It also removed whatever meager judicial remedy that
remained for tribes to pursue land claims in the courts. Just as the Cana-
dian government barred Indians from pursuing land claims in 1924, Con-
gress passed a measure in 1863 to bar Indian tribal claims from redress in
the federal Court of Claims.

Civilization, Citizenship, and Land: 1868-1928

This next section addresses how conceptions of civilization and American
citizenship influenced the discussion of Indian land claims until the 1920s.
To embark on a delegation strategy, by allowing courts to hear Indian land
claims, federal policy-makers had to accept that Indians were indeed citi-
zens, and had, therefore, a right to hold the government to account in the
nation’s courts. This acceptance did not happen overnight.

Civilization: Passport to Citizenship?

In Australia, Canada, and the United States, the political subjugation and
geographic segregation of indigenous people on reserved lands begged the
question of what to do next. Despite the doomed race theories of the day,
indigenous people continued to exist. Canberra, Ottawa, and Washington
all turned their attention to the next goal of their respective indigenous pol-
icies: civilization and assimilation of indigenous individuals into the body
politic. The absorption of the indigenous individual into the dominant
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society necessarily involved questions about the conditions under which
the individual could become a member, or citizen, of the dominant politi-
cal community. Civilization, assimilation, and citizenship became the over-
riding themes in indigenous-settler relations. Only in New Zealand were
the Maori included as citizens from the outset of colonial settlement, so
the New Zealand assimilation project did not turn on questions of Maori
citizenship. By contrast, in Australia, Canada, and the United States, the
attainment of citizenship rights for indigenous individuals was a graduated
process, conditioned on the renunciation of “savagery” and the attainment
of “civilization.”

The question of what to do about indigenous lands and land claims
became entangled with these larger normative issues. For what rights
should “domestic dependent nations” and their members have in Ameri-
can courts? American citizens clearly had the right to bring suit against
their government, in keeping with the founding ideals of the Republic.
To have your day in court is, for many, a fundamental right of American
citizenship. When was an Indian “civilized” enough to assume the rights
and responsibilities of citizenship? Was the renunciation of tribal life a
requirement for citizenship, or should American citizenship be open to
“real” Indians as an inducement to subsequent assimilation? The Ameri-
cans were not alone in this debate. These were the very questions that the
Canadian government would also ponder as the debate on Indian enfran-
chisement progressed.

The United States Constitution of 1787 held Indian tribes to be simi-
lar to foreign nations, and in keeping with that logic, individual Indians
were not citizens of the Republic. When John Marshall designated tribes
domestic dependents and not nations in 1831, he did not address whether
this newly created status conferred American citizenship rights to Indian
individuals. “Thus, the Indians were nonentities and had no legal status.”?3
Congress had the opportunity to address the legal status of Indian individu-
als after the Civil War. In 1868, the prevailing view in Congress and the
executive branch considered American citizenship fundamentally incom-
patible with traditional tribal life, and they sought to exclude Indians from
the Fourteenth Amendment, the Amendment that extended citizenship to
former slaves.?* The Senators disagreed on the wording to accomplish its
goal, but the intent of excluding Indians was clear. Civilization provided the
rationale on which to exclude Indians from the American political commu-
nity. Senator Howard from Michigan sums up this view rather succinctly:
“ . . .ITam not yet prepared to pass a sweeping act of naturalization by
which all the Indian savages, wild or tame, belonging to a tribal relation,
are to become my fellow citizens and go to the polls and vote with me and
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hold lands and deal in every other way that a citizen of the United States
has a right to do.”?*

If “wild” Indians, those who remained on reservations, for instance,
were clearly not citizenship material, then what of those Indians who had
“merged in the mass of our people”??® The 1870s saw the lower courts
both agree and disagree with the idea that civilized Indians could become
citizens. Within the executive branch, Commissioners of Indian Affairs dis-
agreed and debated on whether Congress should extend citizenship at once
or in a gradual fashion.

The debate within the executive and legislative branch received a new
impetus when the case of the Ponca Indians went through the courts. The
Ponca had left the Indian Territory and wanted to return to their original
territories; they had been stopped by the American army and forced to
turn back. The Ponca went to court to determine if the Army’s interfer-
ence was lawful, and the question turned on the Indians’ status as per-
sons deserving of constitutional protection. In 1879, the District Court for
Nebraska held that the Ponca of South Dakota were indeed persons under
the Fourteenth and Fifth Amendments.?” The case spawned a Presiden-
tial commission investigation of the plaintiff’s cause. After investigating
the Ponca claim, the commission implicitly linked the resolution of land
claims to the swirling debate on Indians’ citizenship rights. In 1881, the
commission recommended that “ . . . it is of the utmost importance to
white and red men alike that all Indians should have the opportunity of
appealing to the courts for the protection and vindication of their rights of
person and property.”?8

The commission’s report created an opportunity. In 1863, Congress
had barred Indian tribes from pursuing claims against the United States
in the Court of Claims. The only way for Indians to receive redress in the
courts was for Congress to allow itself to be sued by passing a special juris-
dictional act. Many tribes had lobbied the House and Senate committees for
years to obtain a special jurisdictional act, but were stymied by representa-
tives for the Western states. Since the implementation of Andrew Jackson’s
removal policy, the Choctaw had lobbied Congress for dispensation to sue.
In 1881, their request was finally granted. However, the floodgates to the
Court were hardly opened. From 1881 to 1890, “tribes filed eleven claims
and secured awards on two.”?’ But the precedent was set. Indian tribes, if
they could run the formidable Congressional gauntlet, and obtain a juris-
dictional act, could take the United States government to court.

In 1884, the Supreme Court weighed into the fray to clarify Indians’
legal status. In the case Elk v. Wilkins, the Court ruled that neither birth
in the United States nor assimilation into American society could confer
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American citizenship. It also stated that American statutes barred Indians
from seeking citizenship through naturalization. Citizenship could only be
conferred to an Indian by an Act of Congress. There was, by and large,
enough support within the House and the Senate to fill the judicial vacuum
and extend Indians citizenship, conditional on their education and progres-
sion towards civilization. White civil rights reformers such as the Indian
Rights Association added their voices to the debate from outside the Capi-
tol Building. So, in 1886, Senator Dawes from Massachusetts introduced
the General Allotment Act in the Senate. The Act allowed “ . . . an Indian
who has . . . turned back upon the savage life, has adopted the modes and
habit of civilized life”3° to become an American citizen. The thought of the
day, however, held that tribal collectivism hampered the civilizing process.
Dawes proposed to speed up the civilization of the American Indian by
carving up reservation lands and allotting parcels to Indian individuals. The
granting of an allotment conferred citizenship, and after 25 years, during
which time the allottee would presumably civilize, he was free to dispense
with his property as any other American.’! The General Allotment Act,
also known as the Dawes Act, passed Congress and received the President’s
approval in 1887.

From Citizenship by Allotment to Citizenship by Birth (1887-1924)

Theodore Roosevelt would refer to the allotment policy as a “mighty
pulverizing engine to break up the tribal mass.”3? The Bureau of Indian
Affairs was given the authority to parcel out various sized allotments to
reservation residents. Tribal land not allotted (often the best agricultural
land) was deemed surplus, effectively appropriated by the federal govern-
ment, and sold to settlers. Through the surplus lands provision and indi-
vidual alienation, the allotment policy allowed some 86 million acres of
tribal land (60% of the tribal land base of 1887) to pass out of tribal
control.’? The result was not just the diminution of the reservation land
base. Allotment also allowed non-Indians to ultimately own land within
reservation boundaries, creating a legacy where many reservation land-
owners are not members of the tribe, and do not recognize the jurisdiction
of tribal governments.

The Supreme Court allowed Congress’s assault on tribal sovereignty
and lands by retreating from the principle of Indian consent, key in the Mar-
shall decisions, in favor of unlimited and unilateral congressional power.3*
In this respect, the Supreme Court deferred to the actual balance of politi-
cal power on the ground. From 1886 to 1903, the Supreme Court, in a
series of decisions, developed the congressional plenary power doctrine.?
The Court held that as their guardian, “ . . . the [federal government’s]
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duty to care for Indians carried with it the power to legislate for them.”3¢
Congress thus had the untrammeled legislative authority to legislate in its
Indian wards’ “best interest.” This included the unilateral abrogation of
Indian treaties. The Court also upheld Congress’s power to “control and
manage Indian land,” including the power to allot tribal land without
tribal consent.3”

However, by the early decades of the twentieth century, the political
debate on civilization, citizenship, and assimilation began to change some-
what. Organizations decrying coerced detribalization joined those that
promoted the idea of Indian citizenship and assimilation. The first, though
ultimately short-lived and unsuccessful, pan-tribal organization arose dur-
ing the allotment era. In 1911, the Society of American Indians was founded
in Columbus, Ohio. The Society was founded largely by acculturated Indi-
ans who had taken their place in American society, and were comfortable
promoting Indian assimilation.?® The Society, however, ultimately could
not hold together or bridge the gap between urban and reservation com-
munities, since it “ . . . never could avoid the issues that separated tribe
from tribe or that divided people within a single reservation.”3’ The Society
quietly ceased to function in 1923.

The promotion of Indian citizenship by the Society and social reform-
ers was made in the context of the growing and now apparent failure
of the allotment policy. The erosion of the tribal land base led to Indian
impoverishment, not enlightenment or a cessation of the federal govern-
ment’s financial responsibility to Indian communities. White social reform
groups such as the General Federation of Women’s Clubs and the Ameri-
can Indian Defense Association (1923) joined tribal voices to help lobby
for an end to allotment and an end to the eradication of tribal life. These
white social reformers, anchored in the reformist politics of the Progres-
sive era, did not challenge assimilation as the fundamental goal of Indian
policy. They did, however, challenge the established generation of Indian
policy reformers, represented by the “missionary-minded” Indian Rights
Association,*® by disputing the utility and morality of forcibly destroying
the tribal land mass and tribal sovereignty. They disputed the causal claim
that individualizing the tribal land base would create self-reliant and com-
petent Indian citizens. Theirs was a kinder, gentler, yet still paternalistic
path to Indian assimilation.

World War One proved instrumental in breaking down the perceived
dichotomy between American citizenship and the maintenance of tribal
affiliations. The national press recognized the valiant contributions of
Indians on European battlefields, and Congress was pressed to award citi-
zenship to those Indian veterans (acculturated or not) with an honorable
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discharge from the nation’s service. Thus, the dichotomy between tribalism
and American citizenship became less stark in policy-makers’ debates.

The battles in Europe brought new attention and new debate to
the membership of the Indian in the American polity, while a three-year
political battle (1921-1924) in New Mexico over settler versus Pueblo
land rights brought the question of land claim resolution mechanisms to
national prominence for the first time. The Pueblos’ land ownership stems
from original land grants from Spain which were subsequently recognized
by Mexico. Mexico also recognized the Pueblo Indians as Mexican citizens.
In the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo (1848), the United States recognized
the Pueblos’ citizenship and ownership rights to 700,000 acres, and the
territory that is now New Mexico transferred to American control.*! The
status of the Pueblo Indians and their right to sell their lands to settlers
(or other Indians) did not spur much political comment until New Mexico
acquired statehood in 1910. In 1913, the Supreme Court ruled that the
federal government, not the State, had jurisdiction over the Pueblos as their
guardian.*> The importance of this decision for the subsequent land claims
issue was that, as wards, the Pueblos did not have the right to alienate land
without the consent of the federal government. This decision clouded the
title of those settlers who had acquired Pueblo lands in good faith.

With the arrival of the Harding administration in 1921, the new Sec-
retary of the Interior, the “heavy-handed” Albert Fall,** sought to put his
own imprint on Indian policy. Fall was committed to the allotment pol-
icy and asserted the United States’ right to manage Indians lands without
Indian consent. He sought to quickly validate non-Indian interests in the
Pueblos, and he worked with New Mexico’s Senator Bursum to introduce
“an administration measure” in Congress.** The Bursum Bill of July 1922
allowed non-Indians to . receive title to Pueblo land if they could
prove continuous possession, with color of title, before or after 1848. Any
non-Indian who proved continuous possession since June 29, 1900, with-
out color of title, could claim title to Indian property.”* The Bursum Bill
was an attack on Pueblo land rights because it did much more than protect
those settlers who had obtained Pueblo property in good faith. The Bursum
Bill would also give Pueblo land away to the squatters and trespassers who
had long encroached on the Pueblos. The issue was particularly important
because squatters were a big problem on the Pueblos’ irrigated land during
a time of severe drought.*

From 1921 to 1924, the opposition to the Bursum Bill would be
spearheaded by the General Federation of Women’s Clubs and John Collier,
a social worker and educator who first became exposed to Indian issues
when on vacation at the Taos Pueblo in 1920. John Collier would found
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and direct the important American Indian Defense Association in 1923, at
the height of the fight against the Bursum Bill. John Collier and his col-
leagues lobbied Congress and the Administration, utilized print media,
brought new social reformers into the Indian rights issue, and helped the
Pueblos to act together to fight the legislation. The campaign distanced
President Harding from his Secretary of the Interior, leading to Fall’s res-
ignation in 1923. The new Secretary, Hubert Work, funded a conference
of Indian reformers and sought outside recommendations for the future of
Indian policy. In the Pueblo lands case, Collier opposed “ . . . any measure
which would settle by legislative fiat questions of Pueblo land titles now
being litigated in the courts,” and the conference delegates recommended
that the United States create an Indian Court of Claims to deal with all
other Indian land disputes.

The Pueblo land dispute ended in 1924, when Congress passed and
President Coolidge signed the Pueblo Lands Act. The legislation did not
create a special Indian claims court, but it did create an investigatory body
to review the claims, required the Attorney General “ . . . to bring suit
to quiet title,”*” and ensured the Pueblos received compensation for lands
lost. The Secretary of the Interior was required to use such compensation
to recover lost water and lands, and the Pueblos had the right to access the
courts to review decisions on title.

In 1924, the publicity engendered by the Pueblo land question and
Indian contributions to the war effort culminated in a simple legislative act
that reportedly merited “little debate.”*® Congress passed the Indian Citi-
zenship Act so that any Indian born in the United States, “competent” or
not, became by right an American citizen. Indians could now vote in federal
elections. They could now sue and be sued in federal and state courts. By
1928, voices in and outside of Congress and the executive branch grew
louder, saying that Indian #ribes and their claims deserved automatic access
to the dispute resolution mechanisms available to all Americans.

Court or Commission? Debating Indian Claims 1928-1941

The extension of citizenship to all Indians born in the United States was a
watershed event. It removed a key rhetorical reason for disallowing Indi-
ans the same rights of access to the courts enjoyed by other Americans.
However, change was not automatic. Instead, the next two decades saw
policy-makers in the executive and in Congress debate on what institu-
tional mechanisms should be put in place. The two alternatives were: a spe-
cial court, or an advisory commission to help the courts already in place.
This next section examines the path of this debate until the opening days of
World War Two.
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Throughout the allotment period, tribes weathered not just attacks
on their lands and sovereignty, but also the burdensome process of lob-
bying Congress to obtain a hearing of their land claims in the Court of
Claims. The hurdle to obtain a special jurisdictional act from Congress
was tremendous:

Much depends upon the standing in Congress of the sponsors of the
bill, upon the composition of the Committee on Indian Affairs, and
upon the attitude of the administration. The present practice is for the
Committee on Indian Affairs of the House or the Senate, as the case
may be, to refer the bill to the Secretary of the Interior for report. Bills
which hold possibilities of heavy payments from the treasury must also
be submitted to the Bureau of the Budget, where they may receive an
adverse report because in conflict with “the financial program of the
President” . . . The result is that before a jurisdictional act is finally
secured many years frequently must be consumed in attorneys, repre-
sentatives, and witnesses, and the disappointing delays, postponements,
and defeats are burdens on Indian claimants, the imposition of which
may well be questioned.*’

From the time the Choctaw first gained the right to sue the federal
government in 1881 until the eve of citizenship in 1924, 39 tribal claims
cases came before the Court of Claims. The 1920s, however, saw a marked
increase in the number of claims sent to the Court. In the five years after the
citizenship legislation, 59 cases were filed.’? Given the federal government’s
increasing workload to prepare for and litigate these claims, the Indian
Tribal Claims section of the General Accounting Office was organized in
1926. The press of claims applications coming before Congress would con-
tinue to mount throughout the 1930s and early 1940s.

Congress’s method of dealing with Indian land claims could not be
sustained, given the increase in claims. Before 1928, the preferred alterna-
tive in public debate was for Congress to allow claimants to access the
Court of Claims directly. For instance, Commissioner of Indian Affairs
(1905-1908) Francis Leupp recommended that Congress “[create] a spe-
cial court, or the addition of a branch to the present United States Court
of Claims, to be charged with the adjudication of Indian claims exclu-
sively.”3! The necessity of providing easier access to the courts was framed
in terms of the assimilation project, for as long as claims remained out-
standing, Indians’ “steady industry and peace of mind” would suffer.’? In
1915, legislation allowing tribes automatic access to the Court of Claims
was introduced into the Senate, but the legislation died in committee.
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As the Court of Claims process ground on, the debate grew on
whether a new claims process was actually required, and what the alterna-
tive process would look like. In 1926, the Secretary of the Interior commis-
sioned a study on Indian administration from the Brookings Institution. In
February 1928, Brookings’ chief investigator, Lewis Meriam, delivered his
report. The Meriam Report addressed the whole spectrum of Indian admin-
istration, not just the process of claims resolution. The Meriam Report
trumpeted the need for reform, but did not reject the basic assimilationist
assumptions that continued to drive Indian policy. However, it did allow
for the possibility that assimilation would be incomplete, and that those
Indians who rejected American civilization still deserved humane treat-
ment, rather than destruction.’* This concession was a significant departure
given its historical context. Thus, the Meriam Report represents the start of
a shift in American Indian policy that would come to fruition with the elec-
tion of Franklin Roosevelt in 1933.

In terms of Indian land claims, the Meriam Report squarely stated
that both fundamental justice and the assimilation project would remain
stymied as long as claims remained thwarted and unaddressed:

The benevolent desire of the United States government to educate and
civilize the Indian cannot be realized with a tribe which has any consid-
erable unsatisfied bona fide claim against the government. The expec-
tation of large awards making all members of the tribe wealthy, the
disturbing influence of outside agitators seeking personal emoluments,
and the conviction in the Indian mind that justice is being denied, ren-
ders extremely difficult any cooperation between the government and
its Indian wards. Besides these practical considerations, the simple
canon of justice and morality demand that no Indian tribe should be
denied an opportunity to present for adjustment before an appropriate
tribunal the rights which the tribe claims under recognized principles of

law and government.*’

The current process of claims resolution was “burdensome and
unjust.” The Meriam Report presented its views on what “an appropriate
tribunal” would look like. In its recommendations, the Meriam Report pre-
saged the contours of the debate that would bedevil Congress and the exec-
utive for the next twenty years. While the Meriam Report recommended
a commission as a non-judicial fact finding body to decide the merit of
claims, it also espoused the old judicial option. No consideration was given
to a direct process of negotiated agreement-making with either Congress or
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the executive as an alternative to the judicial process. The Report’s recom-
mendation for a commission was presented so:

The unsettled legal claims against the government should be settled at
the earliest possible date. A special commission should be created to
study those claims which have not yet been approved by Congress for
submission to the Court of Claims. This commission should submit
recommendations to the Secretary of the Interior so that those claims
which are meritorious may be submitted to Congress with a draft of a

suitable bill authorizing their settlement before the Court of Claims.*®

On this reading, a claims commission would be similar to the Pueblo Lands
Board. It would be tasked with investigating claims, the unfounded claims
cast aside and the meritorious to still be addressed within the Court of
Claims. The fundamental role of the commission would be as a fact-finder,
and on this reading, its decisions would be solely of an advisory nature
and without judicial functions. However, this apparent clarity between the
appropriate role of a commission versus that of a court in the claims settle-
ment process was muddled elsewhere in the text:

Claims for which no method of settlement has yet been provided
should be considered by an expert group as above recommended, and
where the determination of controverted questions of fact and law
is necessary, submission to the Court of Clams with opportunity to
appeal to the United States Supreme Court seems the best procedure.
The Court of Claims is much less likely to be influenced by political
considerations than are committees of Congress and executive com-
missions . . . The Indians, too, like other citizens, will be satisfied
with nothing less than the opportunity of presenting before the regular
courts of justice provided for the settlement of such controversies, the
important cases which have such a close relation to their present and

future welfare.’”

The Meriam Report added the idea of a non-judicial commission
into the debate on which mechanisms the American government should
adopt to resolve claims, while not dismissing the courts as part of the res-
olution process. From 1930 to the creation of the Indian Claims Commis-
sion in 1946, policy-makers in Congress and the executive would wax and
wane between the judicial and advisory options. They would ultimately
decide on a hybrid that would be called a commission, which had both
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investigatory and judicial functions, and operated as a court. The follow-
ing section lays out in admittedly broad strokes how the Indian Claims
Commission came to be.

The Court Option Dominates (1929-1935)

The Meriam Report was an important indictment of the Indian Bureau and
provided Indian policy reformers with new momentum to push for change.
In 1929, the ascension of Herbert Hoover brought new political possibili-
ties. Hoover was reportedly willing to back a Meriam-inspired reform pro-
gram, and his appointments to Indian Affairs were meant to signal a new
openness within the executive.’® He appointed Charles Rhoads, devout
Quaker and former president of the Indian Rights Association, as the Com-
missioner of Indian Affairs. Although Rhoads’ appointment seemed like
a wind of change had arrived, such hopes soon proved over-enthusiastic.
Though Rhoads denounced paternalism within the Indian Bureau, he held
fast to the goal of ultimate assimilation and approved the continuation of
the allotment policy. Hoover’s Secretary of the Interior, Ray Wilbur, was of
the same conviction.”® Wilbur rejected the Meriam Report’s acceptance of a
non-assimilation option for Indians. He wrote in 1932: “ . . . The Indian
stock should merge with that of the Nation.”¢°

Despite the long-term disappointment of Rhoads’ tenure, he did
present Congress with a series of reform proposals in 1929. He and John
Collier, the force behind the American Indian Rights Association who had
emerged from the Pueblo land dispute as the foremost critic of American
Indian policy, collaborated on four reform proposals for the Indian affairs
committees of both the House and the Senate.® One of these propos-
als was for the creation of a special Indian claims court. Legislation to
create such a court was introduced into the House in January of 1930
(H.R. 7963), with the backing of the Interior Department. The proposed
court of three judges would render judgment on claims filed within a five
year period. Awards could only be monetary, and could be offset by gov-
ernment gratuities.®> The key opposition to the legislation was fiscal, as
representatives feared the potential liability that a court of Indian claims
would present to the public purse. Commissioner Rhoads chose not to
push the legislation, and it died in committee.®> The Commissioner’s
unwillingness to confront congressional opposition to Indian reform mea-
sures eventually led Collier to denounce the Hoover administration as he
had its predecessors.

The push for a new way to deal with Indian claims lost momentum
after 1930, but a new opportunity for Indian policy reform came with the
election of Franklin Roosevelt (FDR). Indian policy was not forgotten in
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the “storm of legislation, a hurricane of laws” that marked the arrival of
FDR to the White House.®* The irony of the Roosevelt years was that while
the administration ended the allotment policy, and began the rebuilding of
a tribal land base, the administration would not succeed in its attempts to
create a new mechanism for Indian land claims. The reasons for this fail-
ure are diverse, including fundamental disagreements between the Depart-
ments of Justice and Interior on a new mechanism’s design, and on-going
disputes between Senators and Representatives on the fiscal impact of a
new claims body.

For his Secretary of the Interior, Roosevelt chose Harold Ickes. Ickes
was sympathetic to Indians’ demands for justice. He was also a cultural
pluralist in his day, though he did not escape the paternalism of his era by
allowing Indians a meaningful role in the development of policy. Speaking
about the person he would prefer as head of the Indian Bureau, the Indian
Commissioner, Ickes said: “ . . . T want someone in that office who is the
advocate of Indians. The whites can take care of themselves, but the Indians
need someone to protect them from exploitation. I want a man who will
respect their customs and have a sympathetic point of view with respect
to their culture.”® Ickes’ choice as Indian Commissioner was none other
than John Collier. Roosevelt backed the choice, and the Senate deferred.
Collier accepted the opportunity to shape Indian policy from within, and
in April 1933, he became the head of the much maligned Bureau of Indian
Affairs. To fight against an entrenched bureaucracy, he had the assistance
of Nathan Margold and Felix Cohen, both legal experts who personally
supported Indian land rights.®® The new Commissioner’s priority was to
end the allotment policy, and in 1934, the Commissioner secured congres-
sional endorsement for his Indian Reorganization Act (IRA). The IRA
stopped the future individualization of reservation lands, created a credit
fund for land purchases, and implemented a system of tribal governments
with municipal-type powers of self-administration. The IRA proved prob-
lematic in its design and implementation, but it was a significant rupture
with the allotment policy.®” The battle to pass and implement the IRA was
the major business on the Indian policy agenda, and it was not until 1935
that Collier and Ickes turned their attention to the question of historical
Indian land claims.

The Commission Option Dominates (1935-1941)

Prior to 1935, the Department of the Interior had preferred a special
Indian court of claims because of such a court’s ability to hear claims and
render a final ruling. The court option was Collier’s stated preference, but
Congress had refused to pass a provision in the IRA which would have
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established a special Indian court with civil and criminal jurisdiction to
hear cases involving Indians and non-Indians with respect to tribal mat-
ters.®® Although this court provision did not specifically address historical
land claims,®’ the unwillingness of Congress to pass the provision could
have had an impact on Collier’s and Ickes’ deliberations on an appropri-
ate mechanism to address outstanding claims. Whether a strategic choice
given congressional attitudes, or a fundamental re-evaluation of the special
court option, Ickes and Collier reversed the traditional Interior strategy,
and came to promote a commission format. In 1934 and 1935, Senator
Bulow of South Dakota introduced legislation to create an Indian claims
court, but without Interior support, the bills died in committee. Ickes
argued that a new court would not solve a major cause of delay inherent
in the existing claims procedure: the investigation of historical facts and
the delivery of a report on gratuitous offsets by the General Accounting
Office.”® A new commission would investigate a claim’s merits, and make
a recommendation to Congress for a just settlement, but Congress would
maintain discretion on how to proceed with the claim. This proposed
commission essentially describes the Waitangi Tribunal as implemented in
New Zealand in 1975. The commission proposal would essential leave the
special jurisdictional act process in place.

From 1935 to 1941, Collier and Ickes tried to push legislation for a
fact-finding claims commission through Congress. The proposed commis-
sion would investigate both legal and moral claims, with the commission’s
findings of fact to be respected in the Court of Claims. The first attempt,
H.R. 6655, died with the conclusion of the congressional session that
year. The second attempt in 1937 passed the Senate, and was defeated
on the floor of the House. The single most important reason stifling the
commission legislation was the fear that a commission might expose the
treasury to serious fiscal liabilities.”! The fact that the Court of Claims
denied the majority of claims cases that came before it, and the ability of
the government to significantly reduce any actual awards through gratu-
itous offsets, could have mollified congressional opinion on the need for
a new mechanism.”?

Two years passed before Collier and Ickes would work with offi-
cials in the Justice Department to put forward commission legislation for
the third time. The relationship between Interior and Justice was always
strained, with Collier and Ickes trying to promote a mechanism with some
power and Justice primarily interested in fighting provisions that could
harm the public purse. The Interior position was strengthened by mount-
ing impatience regarding the special jurisdictional act process. In 1940,
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the Democratic Party gave voice to that frustration at its convention, and
included, in its platform, a pledge to find a way for the speedy and final
settlement of Indian citizens’ claims.”® Support for the principle of final-
ity encouraged Interior to push for a commission-court hybrid (still called
a commission), where it would investigate both legal and moral claims,
and make binding determinations of fact and law. Justice, fearing such a
commission could make indecent financial awards, demanded that leg-
islation give Congress a final review. Interior introduced legislation in
August 1940 and in 1941, but both attempts foundered due to sabotage
by Justice and by continuing conflicts in Congress over one or another
provision.

From 1929 to 1941, legislative and executive efforts failed to create
a new mechanism to address Indian claims. Whether a court, an advi-
sory commission, or a hybrid of the two, the creation of a new institution
became the victim of the many veto points in the American legislative sys-
tem. Proponents for change argued that the frustrating policy of obtain-
ing a special jurisdictional act to sue the American government failed the
standard of basic justice that, as citizens, Indians deserved. Opponents felt
that the twin burdens of morality and justice did not outweigh the duty of
fiscal prudence. The opponents won. By 1941, Indian policy went the way
of most domestic policy, and it gave way to the overwhelming political
importance of America’s role in World War Two.

The bombing at Pearl Harbor made the war an American, not just a
European, problem. The war was the overriding priority. Perhaps nothing
indicated this priority better than the Bureau of Indian Affairs’ eviction
from its Washington offices so that the military could have more space.”
The Bureau moved its administrative offices to Chicago, away from the
daily cut and thrust of American politics. The early 1940s would also see
John Collier’s gradual demise at the head of a weakened Bureau. Indians
had not embraced the IRA to the extent Collier had hoped, as the cre-
ation of band councils to administer reservation life engulfed many Indian
communities into factionalism between traditionalists and the Indian New
Dealers. Congress’s commitment to tribal life was always thin, and it took
the problems with Collier’s IRA policy as reason enough to decrease con-
gressional appropriations under the Act. “By 1940, Collier’s relations with
both the House and Senate Indian Affairs Committees had deteriorated so
badly that several attempts were made to repeal the IRA.””> The failures
of the IRA emboldened American representatives after 1945 to gradually
embrace the antithesis of Collier’s legacy, the legislative termination of the
federal trust responsibility to the tribes altogether.



176 Negotiating Claims

THEIR DAY IN COURT: WORLD WAR TWO,
THE NATIONAL CONGRESS OF AMERICAN INDIANS,
AND THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION (1944-1946)

This next section traces the final push to create a special institutional
mechanism to address Indian land claims. The Indian Claims Commission
received support from Indian, executive, and legislative actors, but for dif-
ferent and often conflicting reasons. It was created just as an important
national advocacy organization, the National Congress of American Indi-
ans, was getting on its feet. However, the long-term success of the ICC was
hampered by Congress’s rejection of the New Deal Indian reforms. The ICC
would instead serve Congress’s assimilationist policy agenda.

The World War and Pan-Tribal Organizing

While Congress and the executive paid less attention to Indian policy,
particularly to Indian claims, during the Second World War, not all was
quiet. Just as in Canada and New Zealand, the war restructured the Indian
policy environment in important ways. It broke down tribal boundaries,
and provided the initial basis for successful supra-tribal organization.”® The
demands of fighting a total war involved all sectors of the American econ-
omy. The war years accelerated the development of an industrialized and
more economically diversified urban west. Indians, 75% of whom lived
west of the Mississippi in 1941, became increasingly involved in the new
urban economy, as did their fellow Americans. Many, however, still main-
tained links to their reservation communities, negotiating the urban and
rural divides as part of their working and family lives.”” The war brought
70,000 Indian men and women, approximately 20% of the total Indian
population, out of reservations and into direct military service or employ-
ment in defense industries.”® Out of this base came men and women who
increasingly joined the political mainstream, and became interested in form-
ing or supporting an effective political organization to speak for Indians, as
Indians, on a pan-tribal basis. The war era marked an important time when
Indians stepped apart from their white supporters to form their own dis-
tinct national organization.

Indian activists were not without aid in the pan-tribal organization
effort. During the late 1930s and early 1940s, John Collier funded a series
of inter-tribal conferences that served to weave together a core network
of Indian pan-tribal leadership.”” Much in the same way that the parlia-
mentary committee investigations and reports brought Indian leaders to
Ottawa immediately after the war, the Indian Bureau in the United States
(though much more advertently than its counterpart in Canada) contributed
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to native American organizing in the 1940s. The culmination of these fac-
tors was the establishment of the National Congress of American Indians
(NCAI) in Denver in November 1944.

Though it too would fight factionalism and internal policy dis-
agreements, the NCAI started off with a degree of combined urban and
reservation support that no previous Indian organization had managed
to accomplish. The NCAI’s immediate goal was to steer the middle road
and to find common points of political action that could cement the still
untested coalition of Indians. As its first lobbying effort, the NCAI focused
on one issue that received widespread approval at the founding conven-
tion in Denver: the creation of an Indian Claims Commission . to
litigate old land claims against the government.”®® For the NCAI, a claims
commission would provide a more equitable means of achieving justice. A
claims commission would also serve the NCADs larger goal of preserving
tribal rights acquired in the treaties.

Congressional Support for Change

NCAT’s interest in pushing for a claims commission from outside Congress
corresponded with a wakening interest in Indian affairs as allied forces
gained more ground in Europe and the South Pacific. However, congres-
sional opposition to the Collier reforms was on the rise, and the very goal
of tribal revitalization was under renewed scrutiny in significant quarters.
In May 1943, Oklahoma Senator Elmer Thomas called for the abolition
of the Bureau of Indian Affairs and wrote that the Collier reforms “
promoted segregation, made the Indian a guinea pig for experimentation,
tied him to the land in perpetuity, and made him satisfied with all the limi-
tations of primitive life.”#! Assimilation, not tribal revitalization, was to be
the ultimate goal of federal Indian policy, and Collier’s Bureau of Indian
Affairs had stood in the way of what Senator Sherman had advocated back
in 1866, to “disband our whole Indian system.” In 1943, the House of
Representatives held a committee investigation into the status of the Ameri-
can Indian, and it concluded, in 1944, that “it was time for complete assim-
ilation and that one of the factors retarding this goal was the backlog of
unsettled claims cases.”? Addressing claims might cost the treasury a pretty
penny, but the claims awards could also provide tribal members a basis
for self-sufficiency, hence removing the raison d’étre of the Indian Bureau
specifically, and the federal trust responsibility to tribes generally.®3 Ironi-
cally, those in Congress most displeased with Collier’s reforms were ready
to back a claims commission measure Collier and Ickes had long tried to
champion, but congressional support was in actuality a renunciation, not
an embrace, of the Indian New Deal.
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Other motivations for revisiting the claims issue existed in Congress.
Some accepted the need for a new claims mechanism out of basic expedi-
ence. The Chair of the Senate’s Indian Affairs Committee, Henry Jackson
of Washington, was interested in a mechanism that would remove Congress
from the harassments of the special jurisdictional act process.’* He was
interested in delegating decision-making over the merit of claim and the
size of compensation awards to a special commission to relieve the congres-
sional workload. Others felt that the patriotism of Indians soldiers during
times of war should be rewarded.®® A claims commission, by removing the
hurdles tribes had encountered to hold the United States to some historical
account, would remove the “last serious discrimination with which they are
burdened in their dealings with the federal government.”8¢

Consequently, by 1944, there was substantial opinion in Congress,
the executive, and in the Indian policy reform community that fiscal con-
cerns should finally bow to the need for a new claims mechanism, but for a
series of often conflicting reasons. One principle united them, that any new
commission should yield a final settlement of Indian claims. This required
the delegation of some real decision-making power to this new body. As
finality become more important, the proposed commission took on more
judicial functions. Though called a commission, the Indian Claims Com-
mission would become a special third-party arbitrator with judicial power.

The legislative attempt to create an Indian Claims Commission began
with a few false starts. In the spring of 1944, a House bill, H.R. 4693,
died in committee when Secretary Ickes reported some basic problems
with its drafting.8” Its successor, H.R. 5569, died with the conclusion of
the 78th Congress. Then, in January 1945, two bills were introduced into
the House. They were identical, except that H.R. 1198 stipulated that at
least one Indian claims commissioner must be an Indian. H.R. 1198 was
drafted by the NCAI and introduced by Representative William Stigler of
Oklahoma.®® The claims commission bills underwent four months of com-
mittee hearings, and a series of amendments. The committee dropped the
mandatory Indian as commissioner clause, but the NCAI shouldered this
significant loss, and continued to fight for the legislation.

Secretary Ickes pushed for further changes to the bill in the name of
finality, specifically the inclusion of a fact-finding division, broad jurisdic-
tion to hear both legal and moral claims, and with review of commission
decisions by the Court of Claims and ultimately the Supreme Court.?’
Despite an attempt by the Justice Department to gut the legislation of these
measures,” the House committee accepted the Interior amendments and
when legislation passed the House committee, it also allowed for all future
claims to pass automatically to the Court of Claims. When the bill passed
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muster during the House debate, Representative Francis Case of South

Dakota sent the bill off to the Senate with this benediction: “ . . . with
these old claims passed upon, the road will open for a new day in the life of
the Indians of this nation; now they will know where they stand . . . either

the claims will be marked as good for settlement or good for nothing.”*!

Though the Justice Department mounted an offensive against the Interior
amendments in the Senate, Interior Solicitor Felix Cohen and claims law-
yer Ernest Wilkinson managed to negate most of the Justice Department’s
offensive during the subsequent conference committee.””

In August 1946, the Indian Claims Commission bill was ready for
President Truman’s signature. The Secretary of the Interior called on the
President to endorse “the most important Indian legislation enacted in more
than a decade.” The Secretary identified the key substance of the legislation
as follows:

The bill emancipates our Indian citizens from an outworn and discrimi-
natory statute which, since 1863, has barred them from general access
to the Court of Claims. For the future they will be permitted to sue on
the same basis as their fellow citizens of other races to vindicate con-
tract and property rights. In order to clear up the accumulation of past

claims, the bill sets up an adjudicatory commission.”

On the advice of his Secretary, President Truman signed the Indian Claims
Commission act into law on August 13th, 1946. In his statement marking
the event, the President closed with these words:

I hope that this bill will mark the beginning of a new era for our Indian
citizens. They have valiantly served on every battle front. They have
proved by their loyalty the wisdom of a national policy built on fair
dealing. With the final settlement of all outstanding claims which this
measure ensures, Indians can take their place without special handicap
or special advantage in the economic life of our nation and share fully

in its progress.”*

The ICC and Its Operation in Comparative Perspective

The Indian Claims Commission bill allowed tribes to file legal and moral
claims based on unconscionable dealings by the United States Government
before August 13th, 1946. The tribes had five years to file such histori-
cal claims with the commission, or be forever barred from the courts. The
Commission was given five years, after the filing period, to complete its
work. Claims arising from actions after August 1946 were given clear



180 Negotiating Claims

access to the Court of Claims. By the end of the mandatory filing period,
most of the 176 federally recognized tribes filed about 600 historical claims.
The workload proved enormous, and Congress extended the ICC’s life five
times until its final demise in 1978. In September 1978, the Indian Claims
Commission closed its doors, handing 68 remaining dockets to the Court
of Claims for final adjudication. Over the course of the ICC’s lifespan, the
United States government spent $215 million (and the tribes $100 million)
to produce $800 million in claims awards.”

The Commission’s basic task was deceptively simple, yet involved
enormous historical and ethnographic research. First, the Commission was
to determine the merit of the claim based on the evidence presented by the
tribal claimant or disputed by the Attorney General, who represented the
federal government. This was the title phase, where the tribes demonstrated
their recognized title or native title to a definable territory based on exclu-
sive use or occupancy. Secondly, if the tribe could prove their title, the claim
progressed to the valuation stage. Here, the Commission determined the
value of the government’s liability, involving the value of the land at the
time of taking. The third stage was to determine the amount of allowable
offsets, resulting in the final determination of a claims award.’® The award
could only be monetary. No land would be returned as part of the ICC pro-
cess. The final award could be appealed to the Court of Claims and to the
Supreme Court. If the award stood on appeal, Congress appropriated the
money, which was held by the treasury until . . . Congress directed how
it should be distributed among the various members of the tribes.”®”

Despite the ICC’s final price tag, the ICC process proved disappointing
for tribes. The ICC operated as an adversarial arena for tribal litigation, and
its commission-type investigation and mediation functions quickly became
irrelevant. In 1958, Chief Commissioner Edgar Witt communicated as
much to the Chair of the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs:
“The Commission is a judicial body and the administrative or investigative
action directed in Sec. 4 would be entirely foreign to the existing duties or
facilities of the Commission.”?® In 1975, its chief commissioner described
the ICC as “ . . . an independent judicial body which functions solely as a
court.”” The ICC never acquired the legitimacy among the American tribes
as the (judicially weaker) Waitangi Tribunal has among Maori in New Zea-
land. The ICC used court-based standards for evidentiary proceedings, pit-
ted claimants against the Justice Department which refused to negotiate a
claim during the critical title phase, and pitted tribes against tribes during
the title phase of the claims. Claims dismissed by the ICC had no other
mechanism of redress. Also, the limitation of any redress to cold hard cash
is a central issue in the failure of the ICC to dispense long-term justice:
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The tribes have been embittered by having to acknowledge that their
title to such lands has forever been extinguished whenever they have
accepted judgment funds. If Indians continue to be aggrieved over the
wrongful taking of land, it is not just because so little land has ever
been regained, but because the litigation process—once perceived as
their only recourse—has not fully met their expectations of an honor-

able resolution.!%0

The ICC proved an unsatisfactory day in court, but a day in court
nonetheless. It was a product of lobbying by NCAI, but even more so, it
was an institution meant to serve the goals of the executive and legisla-
tive branches. The legislative machinations of the American political pro-
cess produced an institution which gave some recognition to the underlying
merit of Indians’ historical property rights, but it also undercut the special
political status of Indian tribes by delegating the responsibility for tribal
grievances to a third party. Time and time again, policy-makers in the Capi-
tol and the executive justified delegation to a court or a commission-court
as a central right of American citizenship, not as a recognition of tribal sov-
ereignty. But American policy-makers were not alone in using the dialogue
of equal citizenship to promote a delegation strategy. In this, America was
not exceptional. At points of their own political narratives, Canada and
Australia in particular shared this dialogue.

It is worth reviewing the United States’ choice of a delegation strategy
in 1946 with a wider lens.'®! In 1950, the Canadian Minister of Indian
Affairs recommended to cabinet that Indians no longer be barred from
pursuing their claims against the Crown in the courts. Such a restriction
was “an unnecessary interference in personal liberty” and “practical use
of the legal system would advance the process of Indian integration into
mainstream society.” Cabinet lifted the restriction, but created no special
body to hear a backlog of claims cases. Although, in 1962, the question of
creating a Canadian claims commission arose again, and the Indian Affairs
Branch uttered almost the same opinion as South Dakota’s Francis Case in
the ICC legislation’s final House debate: “ . . . if a claim is good, then it
should be settled. Equally important, if a claim is bad the Indians should
know about it so they can put it aside.” In this sentiment, Francis Case and
Canada’s Indian Affairs Branch were joined by Australia’s Minister of the
Interior, Peter Nixon, who argued in 1971 that the Commonwealth should
not negotiate with the Yolngu of the Northern Territory. Rather, he argued
for litigation, saying that “if Aborigines have no legal rights to the land
then they should be told so by the courts.” Negotiation, for Peter Nixon,
was “running counter to the assimilation objective.”
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As T outlined in previous chapters, the key ingredient which per-
suaded the Canadian, New Zealand, and (to its lesser and halting extent)
Australia to back away from delegation and embrace a negotiation strategy
was the political mobilization of indigenous peoples. When policy-makers
in these countries changed their expectations of indigenous people’s abil-
ity to politically demonstrate, change general political opinion, and impose
future political costs through protest, the delegation strategy lost its long-
run appeal. As Jean Chrétien argued to Prime Minister Trudeau in 1971
on the Treaties 8 and 11 issue, the government could no longer afford the
delays of litigation once Indians showed their political muscle in 1969. This
is precisely the ingredient which is missing from the entire debate leading
up to the creation of America’s Indian Claims Commission in 1946. While
NCAI demonstrated its ability to back a piece of legislation in Congress,
no reading of the situation shows that policy-makers were worried that the
new NCAI was a serious political threat, or that Indians could collectively
engage the street and impose serious political costs. Rather, the founding
assumption of America’s ICC was that once claims were dismissed by an
independent arbitrator, the claims and the Indians would for all intents and
purposes go away.

The post-World War Two era of marked Indian political resurgence
would arise in the 1960s, just as indigenous political resurgence did in Can-
ada, Australia, and New Zealand. But by then, the Indian Claims Commis-
sion had been operating for nigh twenty years, and the American debate on
how to address land claims in the presence of Indian political resurgence
had to contend with the continuing operation and legacy of a claims mech-
anism that protected settler interests. Had the Indian Claims Commission
not been created in 1946, perhaps the United States would have also turned
to a negotiation policy in the early 1970s. The next section of this chapter
examines this idea’s plausibility. Through a case study of the Taos Pueblo
Blue Lake claim and its treatment by the Nixon Administration, I will out-
line how the ICC’s legacy was to stifle the introduction of a land claims
negotiation policy in the United States.

FROM TERMINATION TO SELF-DETERMINATION

The Emergence of Protest

In January 1945, Collier wearied of his battles with Congress, and resigned
his office. Later that April, Franklin D. Roosevelt died and President Tru-
man came into office. The change in administrations swept aside Secretary
Ickes, and while the ICC was coming into being under new stewardship,
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the executive branch began a transition in players that would eventually rid
itself of Collier loyalists and bring in a new set of faces who were at once
deferential to Congress’s role in policy formation and sympathetic to the
final revocation of Indian tribes’ special legal status as “domestic dependent
nations.” Collier’s successor as the head of the Bureau of Indian Affairs,
William Brophy, had “no reservations about following congressional pol-
icy,” seeing his role as “implementing,” not shaping, Congress’s will.!%? In
1950, the new Bureau chief, Dillon Myer, not just deferred to Congress, but
wholeheartedly embraced its vision. The congressional vision for the next
fifteen to twenty years would be dominated by the Senate Interior Commit-
tee. Known as the terminationists, the very conservative Senate leadership
in Indian policy was dominated first by Senator Arthur Watkins (R.-Utah),
who put the termination policy in place. Termination’s stern guardians
under the Eisenhower, Kennedy and Johnson administrations were Sena-
tors Allott (R.-Colorado), Clinton Anderson (D.-New Mexico) and Henry
Jackson (D.-Washington).

Termination became the name for the policy that identified tribes as
ready for liberation from federal supervision and control, and can be seen
as the old allotment policy’s next step. The policy called for Congress to
disperse tribal assets (read reservation land and claim settlement awards)
among tribal members, dissolve the tribal trust status, and send Indians
into the mainstream. Indians would then be under the jurisdiction of the
States. Until its end in the later 1960s, termination affected 1,365,801
acres of land and 13,263 Indians.'” For Congress and the executive dur-
ing this conservative Cold War era, termination was all about advance-
ment and freedom from government (and collective) control. Though the
policy received its official expression in House Concurrent Resolution 108
in August 1953, the movement toward termination had begun, as I have
outlined, during the Second World War. A former assistant to the Secre-
tary of the Interior during the Johnson administration writes: “What really
happened in 1953 and 1954 is that an incubation process underway for at
least a decade finally hatched some chicks.” % The first tribes identified for
termination were the Flathead of Montana, the Klamath of Oregon, the
Menominee of Wisconsin, the Potawatomie of Kansas and Nebraska, some
Chippewa of North Dakota, and the tribes of California, Florida, New
York, and Texas.'®

The policy itself was not without support in some Indian quarters.
Not many in Indian Country were in love with the Bureau of Indian Affairs,
and a decrease in federal supervision was needed for meaningful self-man-
agement. Also, the individualization of tribal assets and claims awards
made sense for urban Indians or those on reservations without power on
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the band councils.' These tensions manifested themselves in NCAI, which
had a challenge to manage internal factionalism on the issue. However,
by 1954, NCAI managed to develop an internal opposition to the policy’s
coerciveness and the intent of Congress to impose the policy on the unwill-
ing. The fight against termination forced the largely acculturated NCAI
leadership to build deeper networks with particularly Western reservation
communities. NCAI would come out of the 1960s as a decently representa-
tive intertribal voice for federally recognized tribal communities.'?” Termi-
nation would also encourage the NCAI to start becoming more political in
its strategies, such as encouraging its membership to register as voters and
otherwise become involved in American electoral politics.'%8

Growing Indian fears about and opposition to termination pushed the
development of Indian activist networks through NCAI, but these were not
the only activist networks that were being built during the late 1950s and
early 1960s. Just as in the other countries in this study, post-war urbaniza-
tion brought soldiers and increasingly young indigenous people from reser-
vations together in the work force and in college. Native American college
clubs became a new basis for activism. From 1954 to 1960, Indian students
organized and held a series of conferences in the southwest to discuss com-
mon experiences and specifically Indian issues.'” The new young urban
Indian activist was inspired by the demonstrations and protest strategies of
the civil rights movement, but was left cold by the civil rights movement’s
denial of Indians’ special (not equal) rights claims.!'® When, in 1961, the
NCAI and the University of Chicago helped organize the largest intertribal
conference of Indian people in Chicago in 1961, youth delegates who met
at previous youth conferences joined more established Indian leadership.
The young delegates found their senior counterparts too moderate and shy
of political protest action.!'! The response was the National Indian Youth
Council (NTYC), established in 1961. More militant groups would eventu-
ally follow, largely supported by young urban Indians: the American Indian
Movement (AIM, 1968) and the Indians of All Tribes (1969).

The mid 1960s began to see, really for the first time in Indian politics,
a sustained “street factor” coinciding with more institutionalized politick-
ing. This is not to say that the more moderate and the more militant sectors
of Indian activism were able to work together, as they had in New Zealand
during the 1975 Land March. Instead, activists in the NIYC and AIM were
highly critical of tribal leadership.!'? In the United States, in the 1960s,
there was no Matakite or Dame Whina Cooper to bridge the moderate
with the militant in one undeniable demonstration of collective action. In
this respect, the indigenous resurgence in the United States was less effec-
tive than similar movements outside its borders. Nonetheless, in the 1960s,
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protest joined lobbying in the native American political repertoire. In 1964,
the NIYC held a series of “fish-ins” in the Pacific Northwest to protest the
restriction of treaty-based fishing rights. Resistance spread to include hunt-
ing rights.!!3 Slowly, picketing greeted Bureau officials when visiting tribes,
like in Minneapolis in 1966.''* The most important demonstration that
yielded national publicity was the November 1969 occupation of Alcatraz.
The occupation lasted 19 months, and it “ . . . provid[ed] many Indians
with a dramatic symbol of self-assertion.”!13

Through the lobbying efforts of NCAI and individual tribes, grow-
ing opposition within Congress to coercive termination eroded (but did
not eradicate) the influence of the Senate Interior Committee’s conservative
vanguard. In 1960, support for a kinder, gentler termination grew in the
executive branch when President Kennedy selected former Arizona Con-
gressman Stewart Udall as his Secretary of the Interior. Though Udall did
not disavow the central goals of termination, he seemed sympathetic to
the need for gradualism. When push came to shove, however, the Kennedy
administration did not challenge Senator Clinton Anderson and the Senate
Interior Committee.!!®

President Johnson came into the White House after the Kennedy
assassination, and he decided to keep Secretary Udall and the head of the
Bureau, Philleo Nash, in place. Like previous Presidents, Johnson was never
particularly interested in Indian Affairs, and he was never directly involved
in policy formulation or strategy.!'” As a result, he never brought his consid-
erable knowledge of Senate politics to bear on his former Senate colleagues
to rethink the basic goals of federal Indian policy. Instead, the Johnson
era slowed the termination policy down by focusing on the step prior to
termination: reasonable economic development. Johnson’s cherished War
on Poverty programs provided a renewed focus and more institutional
resources to address Indian economic underdevelopment. Interesting as
well, the War on Poverty funds were administered through the new Office
of Economic Opportunity (OEO). This provided Indians with an opportu-
nity to reach federal funds directly, without having to rely on the Bureau
of Indian Affairs. Indians’ abilities to establish a separate relationship with
the OEO began to nibble away at their dependence on the Bureau of Indian
Affairs as their main conduit in the executive branch.!®

The later 1960s also marked a time when Indian leadership demanded
a meaningful role in policy formulation. Under the leadership of Vine Delo-
ria Jr., NCAI became less ridden by factional disputes and more assertive
of its role in the policy process. The NCAI of the mid to late 1960s was a
much more sophisticated creature in Washington than the NCAI in 1946.
Indians began to have an influence in the policy process by using publicity
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and building allies in the House to counteract the Senate Interior Com-
mittee.'” If Indians did not have a role in forming legislation, they were
making a point of obstructing its passage. They stopped heirship legislation
in 1961, and in 1967 the NCAI was important in stopping a bill that Sec-
retary Udall pushed for, the Indian Resources Development Act. One result
of the combination of protest and successful legislative obstruction was a
grudging Presidential nod that the days of termination were numbered. In
his Special Messages on Indian Affairs in 1968, President Johnson said that
federal policy should recognize “ . . . right to freedom of choice and self-
determination.”!?? By executive order, President Johnson also created the
National Council for Indian Opportunity within the executive. The Coun-
cil, to be chaired by the Vice President, created an Indian policy network
within the White House. Like in Canada, New Zealand, and Australia,
Indian protest had built some allies on the inside. Soon thereafter, Johnson
announced he would not run for re-election.

A Precedent for a Future Negotiation Policy?
The Taos Pueblo Blue Lake Claim and the Nixon Administration

Although such a thought surely did not cross his mind at his inaugura-
tion, Richard Nixon’s presidency would mark the formal repudiation of
the federal government’s termination policy. On July 8th, 1970, President
Nixon addressed Congress and did what his predecessor had refused to do.
He advised Congress in no uncertain terms to revoke and repudiate House
Concurrent Resolution 108 and replace termination with self-determina-
tion as the guiding principle of federal Indian policy. At the time of his
address to Congress, the President’s staff was directly involved in one par-
ticular Indian land claim. The Taos Pueblo of New Mexico had litigated
their claim for Blue Lake with the Indian Claims Commission, but were
petitioning Congress and the President for the restoration of Blue Lake to
the Pueblo rather than accept a monetary settlement. The Blue Lake claim
represented Nixon’s opportunity to make his administration’s mark in
Indian policy.

The puzzle arising from the Blue Lake claim is this. The Blue Lake res-
toration was supposed to showcase a fundamental change in how Indian-
government relations were to be conducted in the future.!?! The Blue Lake
claim was interlinked with this new commitment to self-determination, yet
it did not spark a re-examination of the United States’ existing claims pol-
icy under the ICC, nor did it mark a shift to negotiate Indian land claims in
the future. In the other cases in this study, negotiation and self-determina-
tion went hand in hand. Negotiation, with its formal recognition of Indian
consent as necessary to the resolution of the underlying grievance, would
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have been a more consistent strategy in this new era of self-determination.
Why was a negotiation policy not a legacy of the Blue Lake claim? This
next section delves in a case study of this one claim, because it could have
marked a greater turning point in the history of land claim resolution in
the United States. The case study shows that any future strategies to deal
with outstanding Indian land claims would have to protect the legacy of the
ICC. Any new formal policy, as opposed to ad hoc consideration of claims
on a one by one basis, would have reopened old claims in a far different
political situation than when they were settled, and this the United States
has never been willing to do.

The basis of the Taos Pueblo claim is as follows. Situated in northern
New Mexico, Blue Lake is considered sacred to the Taos Pueblo. It is a site
of religious observance and was described to Vice President Spiro Agnew in
the following way:

This watershed area is considered by the Indians as the source of all
life, is known in their language as the Home of the Great Souls, and is a
natural cathedral containing the shrines, holy places and altars of their
ancient religion, which remains the central force of their culture. The
oldest living religion in North America, its survival depends upon the
protection of the Indians’ religious privacy and the preservation of the

area in its natural state as a wilderness.!?2

In 1906, the Department of Agriculture extinguished Pueblo title over
130,000 acres, including Blue Lake, by transferring the lands via executive
order to the Carson National Forest. In 1918, the Forest Service allowed
grazing permits in the area, making the Taos Indians “ . . . unhappy with
the loss of exclusivity that would normally be accorded a people utilizing
a religious shrine.”!?3 The Taos Pueblo filed a claim over the lost 130,000
acres with the ICC in 1951. In 1965 the ICC confirmed the Pueblo’s origi-
nal title to the lands, and also held that the Pueblo was due compensation
for their loss. The ICC held off on starting the valuation stage of the claim
hearings while the Pueblo appealed to Congress for land restoration as part
of an overall claim settlement. The Pueblo was seeking more than a special
permit to guarantee its exclusive use of Blue Lake. It was seeking the return
of 48,000 of the original 130,000 acres to Indian trust status, therefore out-
side the management purview of the Forest Service.

The Pueblo enlisted the help of Rep. James Haley, Chair of the
House Sub-Committee on Indian Affairs. Haley’s control of the sub-com-
mittee was a thorn in the side of Senators Anderson and Jackson, as Haley
worked against their termination program. Senator Anderson, however,
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was identified as the most important obstacle to the restoration of Blue
Lake. The main strategy devised by the Pueblo’s chief counsel, William
Schaab, was to mobilize support for the House bill in order to hopefully
weaken Anderson’s position in the Senate:

My general impression was that Haley had the power to obtain favor-
able Committee action on any bill he recommends, and that the House
will pass any bill favorably reported by the Committee. The most
essential factor will be to maintain Haley’s interest and his continuing
support . . . If a clear and convincing memorandum of the Pueblo’s
position is prepared and circulated, I believe that Haley’s interest will
be aroused to the point that the hearings will produce a favorable result

. . House approval of the bill should substantially strengthen the
Pueblo’s hand in dealing with Senator Anderson. However, Anderson

remains the key person who must be convinced or persuaded . . . 124

In April 1968, Senator Anderson completely opposed setting such a
land restoration precedent, but was mindful of the need to be at least mini-
mally sensitive to the issue of religious freedom. He offered a compromise
of 3,150 acres containing the most sacred shrines and a special use per-
mit over an additional 30,000 acres.!?® The Pueblo rejected the offer, and
would continue to reject any other compromise offers.'*® During the pro-
cess of shepherding the legislation through the House, the Pueblo mobilized
support from churches in particular. By the summer of 1968, the National
Committee on the Taos Blue Lake Lands, led by Corinne Locker, had mobi-
lized important press support for the land restoration. On July 17th, 1968,
the New York Times wrote that the House bill “ . . . gives the Senate a
clear opportunity to correct one of the multitude of tragic mistakes of the
past.” The Albuquerque Journal wrote the day before: “ . . . we hope has
changed his mind and will support the House measure.” On July 30th,
1968, the Washington Post weighed in: . . . it seems inexcusable to sup-
press a bill of this kind.”

The legislation was indeed stalled in the Senate, and interest waned as
the federal election loomed. In January 1969, Richard Nixon took over the
White House. The Taos Blue Lake restoration legislation was once more
introduced into the House, where it was passed a second time and furthered
to the Senate. The fight to get H.R.471 out of the Senate and ready for the
President’s signature took all of 1970.

In November 1969, Indian militants occupied Alcatraz, and the
renewed effort to pass the Blue Lake legislation through Congress the second
time brought a new bout of support for the Taos Pueblo. The Indian issue
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caught the interest of the younger, more liberal Republicans of the White
House domestic policy staff, and this coterie of younger aides kept the Blue
Lake issue on the administration’s radar screen over the next months.'?” In
a policy field that usually languishes from the disinterest of the Oval Office,
the White House became directly involved in the Taos Pueblo issue in Janu-
ary 1970. Nixon had inherited President Johnson’s creation, the National
Council on Indian Opportunity, and Nixon maintained the Vice President,
Spiro Agnew, as its chair.!?®

At the end of January, Vice President Agnew received a memo from
his assistant pointing out the benefits of getting involved:

Both Senate seats in New Mexico are held by Democrats whose terms
will expire within the next two years. Close contests are expected and
the seats can be won by Republicans. The Indian position is popular
. . . There are approximately 70,000 Indians in New Mexico, and
there is a wide-spread movement among them for the first time to
become involved in state and national politics. This vote is seen as pri-
marily a bloc vote which is large enough by itself to swing an election.
Administration support for Taos Pueblo is critical to winning this bloc
vote. HR 471 provides a method for the Administration to demonstrate
without cost its support for minority group rights on a publicly non-
controversial issue receiving wide-spread attention . . . Administration
support would also tend to indicate that we mean what we say with

regard to our policy of non-termination.'?’

Another memo soon after read:

I cannot stress enough the serious need to get this thing moving. Blue
Lake has become a national symbol to American Indians and its signifi-
cance is felt by those who are urban residents as well as those who live
on the reservations. If we begin again with a new bill, the momentum
for passage may well be lost and the Administration will suffer seri-
ous damage to its credibility . . . The Administration should get some
positive exposure out of this. If we support H.R. 471 (and I think we
should), then why not issue a statement saying so and place the blame

for inaction where it really lies—i.c., in the Senate Committee.3°

Opposition within the executive branch to the Blue Lake restoration
centered on one substantive issue, the precedent such an action would set
for claims already settled by the Indian Claims Commission and for those
claims still pending.'3! The Department of Agriculture and the Bureau of
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the Budget were the two main sources of opposition. The issue was primar-
ily fiscal:

Regardless of how hard we try to distinguish this case it still could be
used as a precedent for using . . . Federal lands as payment in kind,
and using current value as a basis for making awards . . . As of June
30, 1969, the Indian Clams Commission had disposed of about half its
cases, awarding $305 million based on land value at time of taking—
possibly averaging $2 per acre. If the Taos case were to be used as a
precedent for current value in the remaining cases . . . the awards for
claims still pending would total $3 billion instead of $300 million to
$400 million. There is additional risk that the tribes with settled claims
would have an argument for reopening their cases—perhaps costing
another $2 billion to $3 billion.!3?

The Administration took this precedent issue quite seriously, and through
March and April 1970, the Vice President, the Bureau of the Budget, the
Secretary of Agriculture and the Secretary of the Interior worked on amend-
ments to H.R. 471 that would stress the Blue Lake claim’s uniqueness as a
religious issue to limit any precedent effect on other claims. An agreement
among these parties was reached in mid April.

Aside from the precedent issue, the key obstacle to the Administra-
tion’s support for H.R. 471 had nothing at all to do with the merit of the
Blue Lake claim. It had everything to do with maintaining the support of
conservative Democrats in the Senate on the Administration’s military and
foreign policy goals. In this time of SALT negotiations with the Soviets and
diminishing support for the Vietnam War in Congress, the President needed
“a coalition of conservative Democrats and Republicans.”!3? In the spring
and summer of 1970, the Administration needed Senate support for its anti-
ballistic missile (ABM) program. The two most ardent terminationists in
the Senate, Clinton Anderson and Henry Jackson, were closely involved in
defense issues. Anderson was the Chair of the Senate Committee on Aero-
nautical and Space Sciences. Henry Jackson, Chair of the Interior Com-
mittee, was a highly respected member of the “congressional elite” with
well-honed political skills and was actually Nixon’s first choice for the Sec-
retary of the Defense.'* From April until November, the Taos Blue Lake
Restoration bill would get caught up in the ABM issue as the Administra-
tion weighed the wisdom of “pushing for the Indians” when the ABM pro-
gram was at stake.

Senator Anderson also convinced his colleagues on the Interior Com-
mittee that H.R. 471 would provide a huge precedent problem in more
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states than New Mexico. He would commit his objection on paper in this
way a few months later:

In my opinion, H.R. 471 would establish a landmark precedent which
would upset the Indian Claims Commission Act of 1946 and even more
importantly could affect the status and land resource management of
our National Parks, National Forests and public lands which might be
subject to Indian claims. In addition, it could become a basis for recon-
sidering many Indian land claims settled by the Indian Claims Commis-
sion over the past 20 years.'3’

Clinton Anderson, a senior Senator, was owed “a lot of courtesy,” and
in face of his opposition, Senators Harris, McGovern and Kennedy were
unprepared to voice their support for Blue Lake.!3¢ Senators Allott (the
ranking Republican on the Interior committee) and Fannin demurred to
Anderson as well, while Henry Jackson refused to move the bill out of com-
mittee without Anderson’s “ok.”'37 On April 21st, Jackson communicated
to the White House that “now was not the time to rock the boat” and that
the White House had a clear choice: the ABM or the Taos Indians.'3®

The White House staff felt they had handled the precedent issue with
their proposed amendment, and the time had come to call Anderson’s bluff.
Len Garment, a senior Nixon advisor and former law partner, wrote the
memo to the President. In it, Garment outlined the President’s options, and
made his recommendation:

To be very candid, the question before you is not what happens to the
bill; with the kind of opposition Ken BeLieu has reported, the answer
seems to be: little chance. The question, however, is what position you
as President should take, for both moral and political reasons. Here the
dilemma is: to risk arousing the ABM vote vs to risk embarrassment in
New Mexico and in fact to pass up an opportunity to seize this unique
issue . . ., even if the bill itself never moves out of the full Jackson-
Allott committee. A new Indian policy needs a starting point. Blue Lake

is just that—- strong on the merits, and powerfully symbolic.'3’

The President followed Leonard Garment’s lead and chose to call Senator
Anderson’s bluff. On July 8th, 1970, Nixon sent his message on Indian
Affairs to Congress. The message asked that Congress end the termination
policy by revoking House Concurrent Resolution 108. In his statement, the
President also announced his support for the Blue Lake Restoration as a
significant first step in a policy of Indian self-determination. Substantive
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action on the Blue Lake file, however, did not happen until after the critical
ABM votes in August 1970. In October, just before the congressional mid-
term elections, Senator Anderson managed to win a weakening amendment
to H.R. 471.

The congressional elections of November 1970 had an important
effect on the future progress of the Blue Lake legislation. The alignment of
military votes in the Senate had changed, and long-time Nixon loyalist and
assistant director of the White House domestic staff, John Whitaker, recog-
nized an opportunity for the Blue Lake file.!*® White House aide Barbara
Kilberg writes of Whitaker’s insight:

John Whitaker was chatting with me this afternoon and asked about
Blue Lake. His view was that our military votes are not in danger, espe-
cially given the new alignment in the Senate which is more conservative
on international and military affairs. He thinks that if we do not fight
for the original Blue Lake bill, we gain no public relations advantage
and simply look bad. However, if we fight, win or lose, we look good
and are right. . .. we are out in front on this issue but stand to get it

snatched away . . . 14!

The White House managed to prevail on Senators Harris, Kennedy and
McGovern to finally vote against the Senate patriarch, Clinton Anderson.'#
In December 1970, Blue Lake was restored as tribal trust land to the Taos
Pueblo. The 48,000 acres was to be used only for traditional purposes, and
cannot be developed economically.

The Blue Lake land restoration illustrates a couple of important
points. First, the White House only came to intervene once it understood
that the issue brought together urban and reservation opinion in a climate
of both Indian militancy and Indian coalition-building. Blue Lake activists
succeeded in bringing together significant non-Indian support because of its
resonance with religious freedom, an important founding principle of the
American republic. Because of its symbolism and its support, the Blue Lake
claim became a highly visible issue on which a new federal policy of self-
determination could be built, and more importantly perhaps, for which the
Nixon Administration could get clear credit.

Compared to Canada, New Zealand, and Australia, however, the
policy of self-determination signaled by the Blue Lake restoration was not
accompanied by a new process of hearing land claims based on negotiation
and the formal recognition of Indian consent. Instead, the Taos Blue Lake
claim achieved Administration support only after the executive had rea-
sonable assurances that it could not undo the Indian Claims Commission
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process. The fiscal and political costs of undoing twenty years of claims
determinations were too high to contemplate seriously. Instead, Nixon and
Congress supported the extension of the ICC’s life and an increase in its
resources. Nixon’s policy of self-determination did not begin on a clean
page, and any future consideration of Indian land claims under the new
policy principle had the constraining imperative to protect the ICC’s fiscal
legacy. Claims would be handled by the ICC until its closure in 1978, and
the American court system after that. Any other claims would obtain con-
gressional or executive attention on a strictly ad hoc basis, and usually after
many rounds of litigation.

REFLECTIONS ON THE AMERICAN CASE

Some may disagree with my characterization that the United States did not
implement a negotiation policy in the Nixon era. Has the American federal
government embarked on a negotiation policy after Nixon’s repudiation of
termination and seeming embrace of self-determination? Some point to the
1971 Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA) as a key negotiated
settlement. ANCSA extinguished native title and any future claims over the
State of Alaska in return for 45 million acres under native control and a cash
settlement near $1 billion. The settlement was a landmark agreement in that
Congress, not the courts, developed the settlement. It remained, however, a
strictly legislative agreement, and it did not accord Alaska natives a formal
role as veto players in the agreement-making process, as the Canadian and
New Zealand policies do. There was no ratification requirement for native
communities, and in the final analysis, Congress (and the President) were
the only veto players. In this important sense, ANCSA was a legislative
settlement, but not a negotiated one.

The role of Indian consent in the Alaska settlement process did not go
unnoticed in the Senate debate on the legislation in June 1970. Senator Ted
Kennedy challenged his colleagues to ensure that Indian participation was
required in such huge issues concerning their future:

There is a real question that comes to my mind about altering and
changing the relationship between Alaska Natives and the BIA as
dramatically as this bill would do. While we are trying to say to the
Natives that we want them to decide their destiny and their future,
actually what we are doing in the Senate is to change this impor-
tant relationship and, once again, to change it without the kind of
thoughtful, deliberate, and careful consideration of the views of these
groups who are going to be most dramatically affected by it . . . we
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are changing, unilaterally, the relationship between the Natives and

the Government.!*3

Senator Gravel (D.-Alaska) answered: “ . . . We have a right to vote on
that. We make decisions all the time that affect them.” Senator Gravel later
denied an amendment to the legislation that would make native involve-
ment in decision-making under the Act a statutory requirement.'** Though
the Alaska Federation of Natives and other native groups played an impor-
tant lobbying role in the development of the settlement, Congress never
accorded them the status of equal parties whose consent to an agreement
was necessary to make it lawful.

The United States’ government has preferred delegation to the courts
as its primary means of addressing native land rights and historical claims.
The choice to delegate decision-making power over these grievances is
underpinned by an understanding of how the American government should
relate to Indians as citizens, and as citizens only. Like all American citi-
zens, Indians should take their place in the courtroom to take the American
government to account. The fact that the era of self-determination did not
bring with it a return of a negotiation policy, as it had elsewhere, sets the
United States apart. I have presented in this chapter a narrative as to why
that is. I have shown that the landmark judicial rulings on Indian rights
occurred far before Indian political mobilization and the ability to influence
political decision-making. The long congressional debate on the creation
of a special claims mechanism was devoid of the ingredient that proved so
critical to the eventual emergence of a negotiation policy in Canada, New
Zealand and Australia: the demonstrated ability of indigenous people to use
the street and public opinion to impose significant political costs on policy-
makers if Indian claims were dismissed in the courts. By the time native
political protest and sophistication in the corridors of Congress became sig-
nificant forces in the 1960s, many claims had already been closed down
through the ICC, and the long run benefit of negotiation over continued
delegation was eroded.



Chapter Seven

Beyond Negotiation

NEGOTIATION: FROM EQUAL RIGHTS TO SPECIAL RIGHTS

The framing of indigenous grievances has undergone an evolution since
World War Two. Originally anchored in the rhetoric of human rights, deseg-
regation and the extension of equal citizenship, the rhetoric has moved to
put forth more forcefully arguments of inherent indigenous sovereignty, as
well as the related recognition of indigenous economic and political rights.
In the language of Charles Taylor,! this evolution reflects a change from
a politics of equal dignity among individuals to a politics of difference, a
politics claiming explicit cultural and collective recognition. Within this
context, the issue of land rights has been increasingly framed within the
politics of cultural identity and self-determination rather than a more tradi-
tional and less controversial argument for a just redistribution of property
rights and economic goods to benefit historically disadvantaged communi-
ties. This changing relative weight in the framing of indigenous grievances
over time speaks to some of the most interesting interstices in contemporary
political science, that between 1) the post-modernist politics of cultural rec-
ognition? and identity politics of post-materialist social movements, and 2)
the age-old politics of economic distribution and materially-defined interest
group politics.

While the framing of land rights politics may have developed over
recent decades, what has remained steady is the core place of land rights
in the pantheon of grievances and policy demands that indigenous peoples
have put to states around the world. Since the arrival of colonial powers
on New World shores and the subsequent patterns of indigenous dispos-
session, indigenous peoples have pressed states to respond to their land
grievances. Their ability to organize politically and to press forth a land
rights agenda varies across time and space, but the underlying demand has

195
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always existed. What is at play in this demand for states to respond to
indigenous land rights?

Each claim to land “is an expression of parochial property rights . . .
and each is an instance of the more abstract claim for the recognition of
Aboriginal sovereignty.”® The basic actionable claim for land is wrapped up
in the languages of reparative and distributive justice. The particular claim-
making process is contingent on the institutions and histories of nation
states, but a basic assertion cross-cuts national narratives. Indigenous peo-
ples assert that a proper indigenous-state relationship cannot begin without
recognition of past grievances, grievances based in the historical and con-
tinuing imposition of colonialism and forced assimilation. The land rights
issue is not only about the recognition of and compensation for past trans-
gressions, but also about reconfiguring current property rights regimes so
that they accommodate indigenous land interests, and allow for indigenous
systems of law in the management of those interests.

This study has examined how negotiation policies emerged as part
of indigenous’ peoples demands for the recognition of their special rights
as the New World’s original inhabitants. I have shown how governments’
decisions to let courts resolve these grievances were based on a normative
view of the indigenous as equal citizens carrying no particular rights. I have
argued that the mobilization of indigenous protest in the late twentieth
century challenged policy-makers to recalculate the costs of a delegation
strategy. Indigenous political mobilization changed policy-makers’ expecta-
tions of the future political costs of not recognizing special rights claims,
and negotiation policies emerged out of these new calculations. In Austra-
lia, Canada, and New Zealand, high court decisions created a climate of
urgency which facilitated significant policy change, but the negotiation out-
come is more directly caused by the political mobilization already underway.
Into this basic dynamic, other factors come into play, conditioning policy-
makers’ reassessments. I have identified two, the impact of each varying in
each case: political norms about the appropriateness of courts in the policy-
making process, and the decentralization of legislative jurisdiction inherent
in federalism. I have examined the conditions under which new institutions
can emerge by focusing on the normative bases on which they rest and the
changing expectations of those actors with the power to effect change.

CHANGING SOCIETY?

The negotiation choice is critically distinguished from other patterns of state-
society relations in the policy-making process, particularly the pattern of
policy consultation. Negotiation with the executive establishes social actors
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as veto-players in a process where the outcome is a contractual agreement
which has legal or moral force only with that group’s explicit consent. I thus
distinguish negotiation from the usual processes of legislative bargaining,
where the choice of a non-state actor to walk away from the policy con-
sultation process does not ensure that the policy development process will
stop. The choice for a government to institute a negotiation policy involves
a calculation where any constraint on the government’s policy-making func-
tion arising from the non-state actor’s veto position is outweighed by the
government’s need for the other party’s consent.

This study explores the reasons that bring liberal democracies to
implement land claim negotiation policies in the first place, and I have
left for another day a detailed examination of the actual outcomes of the
negotiation policies now underway. The importance of land claims negotia-
tions rests not only in theories of recognition and the symbolic politics of
sovereignty, but in the material and social consequences attributed to the
negotiation process and its outcomes. Do land claim negotiations actually
deliver all that they can? Ideally, land claim negotiations and agreements
arising from these processes address and resolve underlying grievances of
indigenous peoples and are seen to deliver justice. Ideally, the achievement
of a settlement agreement correlates positively with the resolution of the
underlying grievance and yields an easy to way to measure a decrease in
uncertainty. It is important to understand why settlement agreements come
to be. However, it is another story to treat the settlement agreement as an
independent variable, and evaluate its impact on the indigenous and non-
indigenous communities it is supposed to serve.

Difficulties associated with measuring such a vague public good as
justice are many, and the literature on land claim negotiations contains no
systematic empirical study to determine whether this outcome has indeed
been delivered. If justice is hard to measure, then so too is the legal and
political certainty that policy-makers hope settlement agreements will pro-
vide. Indeed, in its 1998 report on Canada’s comprehensive claims policy,
the Auditor General of Canada noted that “ . . . we recognize that cer-
tainty can mean different things to different parties. And, without a consen-
sus on interpretation, it becomes more difficult to determine what exactly is
being achieved through negotiated settlements.”* The challenges associated
with measuring and quantifying the outcomes of settlement agreements are
reflected in the fact that almost 30 years after its implementation, the Cana-
dian government has not systematically evaluated the economic, political,
and social benefits accruing from these agreements.’

The difficulties in pointing to clear and concise impacts of settlement
agreements do not preclude a presentation of the extent of monies or lands
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at issue. In Canada, thirteen settled comprehensive® claims have involved
approximately $1.2 billion Cdn in compensation and the transfer in full
ownership of approximately 550,000 square kilometers of settlement lands
to 55,000 indigenous beneficiaries. The settlement to 2002 of 227 spe-
cific claims has involved compensation of $987 million Cdn. Budgetary
annual expenditures on the research, negotiation, and litigation of claims
have reached approximately $350 million annually. Through loan funding
from the federal government, Canadian indigenous communities are spend-
ing $50 million a year to negotiate their claims. Under the auspices of the
American Indian Claims Commission (1946-1978), $775 million US in
monetary compensation was disbursed to claimants, with subsequent dis-
bursements up to 1985 increasing that total to $1.2 billion. In New Zea-
land, the government, under its 1994 fiscal envelope proposal, allocated
$1 billion NZD for the negotiation and settlement of indigenous claims,
a budgetary ceiling revoked by a subsequent government. Current opin-
ion considers the full financial price tag to far exceed that number once all
negotiations are concluded. While these numbers are but a fraction of what
indigenous peoples claim, and what many feel they are owed in order for
full compensation to be met for the economic, social, and cultural detri-
ments resulting from land loss, the point remains that the costs to respond
to indigenous land grievances are not insignificant, in terms of the financial
and human resources allocated to the effort by all parties.

The achievement of settlement agreements is not the sole outcome of
negotiation processes. There are important outcomes of a negotiation pro-
cess which are realized whether or not a settlement agreement is achieved.
When pressing forward a political agenda vis-a-vis the government, the
operational challenge for any social group is to maximize the appearance
of internal consensus by underplaying how ideological, material, or institu-
tional factors have created real and perhaps enduring divisions which mili-
tate against obtaining a consensus. However, once a government chooses
to respond to a generalized indigenous land grievance, the particulariza-
tion of that grievance takes place. In the researching, filing, negotiation,
or litigation of a land claim, indigenous interests are not only identified,
but reshaped, and this has implications for how the claimants group identi-
fies itself, whether it chooses to include or exclude members from its com-
munity, and how it will resolve disputes arising from the claiming process
itself. This process can create new divisions or aggravate old ones; it can
highlight instances where the material and cultural interests of the commu-
nity may collide.

The issue of the overlapping claim illustrates how the negotiation
or litigation of land claims can pit indigenous groups against each other,
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increasing the cross-cutting incentives which make it more difficult to
achieve a larger degree of consensus within the whole indigenous rights
movement. In so far as negotiation or litigation processes seek to identify
exclusive indigenous and non-indigenous interests over a defined space
of land, a dynamic is created where indigenous groups have competing
material incentives, and negotiation or litigation is no longer a simple pic-
ture of indigenous versus settler society, but rather an indigenous versus
indigenous versus settler society. Just as indigenous-settler interests over a
given space of land can be either competitive or cooperative, indigenous
interests in excluding other indigenous interests can exist historically or
arise due to contemporary interests. The process of negotiation or litiga-
tion can serve to exacerbate these divisions, be they rooted in historical or
modern circumstance.

While the ability to press forward a national land claims agenda
and the ability for indigenous communities to engage the government in
a negotiation process are not the same, they are often correlated. Funds
made available by governments for the researching of claims can be used
to strengthen indigenous organizational capacity or can establish counter-
productive incentives. For instance, significant monies for the researching
of claims in Canada were channeled through provincial-level indigenous
rights advocacy organizations, which were then responsible for the further
disbursement of funds. This funding helped establish much more effective
organizations capable of lobbying not only in Ottawa, but provincial gov-
ernments as the need to do so arose. While the strengthening of the provin-
cial level of indigenous organizational activism may have made it difficult
for the national umbrella organization to speak with one voice,” my inter-
view results show how important strong indigenous regional advocacy
organizations are in establishing legitimate negotiation structures. In New
Zealand, research dollars were channeled through the Waitangi Tribunal
and were important in establishing the reputation and legitimacy of that
organization to address indigenous claims. On the other hand, the arrival
of another organization funding claims research, the Crown Forestry
Rental Trust, has led some observers to decry its alleged role in fostering
intra-Maori disputes and the increased filing of competing claims. In Aus-
tralia, the establishment of land councils in the Northern Territory in the
1970s to deal with land transfers to traditional owners has not been with-
out controversy, as some indigenous land interests are privileged under the
land council system over others.® However, these land councils and others
which arose in states such as Western Australia, are organizations which
have proven critical in pressing forth a land rights agenda nationally and
were instrumental in the consultation surrounding the establishment in
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1993 of the cornerstone national Australian land rights legislation, the
Native Title Act.

The negotiation process, then, has implications for the collective
action of indigenous interests, both in terms of how claimant groups are
constituted and how relations between them are structured. The negotiation
process, like other instances of state-society interaction, is transformative
of the indigenous interests and the groups which are formed to represent
them. These are important consequences of a negotiation policy, and future
research may be able to evaluate their full scope.

CHANGING THE STATE?

That interaction with the state transforms social forces is an important
theme in this study and in the contemporary state-in-society literature.” The
negotiation of indigenous land claims across the globe is illustrative of this
point. What has garnered less attention within the literature on indigenous
rights movements and their effects is whether, and to what extent, the com-
panion argument of the state-in-society literature also holds true: that the
state is also transformed by the interaction with social forces:

The state is not a fixed ideological entity. Rather, it embodies an ongoing
dynamic, a changing set of goals, as it engages other social groups . . .
the formulation of state policy is as much a product of this dynamic
as it is a simple outcome of the goals of top state leaders or a straight-
forward legislative process. The results of the engagement with (and
disengagement from) other social forces may modify the state agenda
substantially; indeed, they may alter the very nature of the state.'”

That states have been transformed by interaction with indigenous
activism is demonstrable. This can be shown through ideological, judicial,
and bureaucratic change. The judiciaries in the United States, Canada, New
Zealand, and Australia have all developed an indigenous rights jurispru-
dence, exploring the fundamental nexus between Western colonial legal
systems and those of these countries’ original inhabitants. The development
of indigenous rights jurisprudence is perhaps the most studied and best
documented aspect of state transformation within the indigenous rights lit-
erature. Less studied, but clearly important, is the transformation of the
organs of the executive branch.

For a government to institute a policy which privileges the negotiation
of indigenous land claims is itself evidence of an important transformation.
However, more critically in terms of maximizing the outcomes of this policy
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change is the ability for indigenous peoples to access and mold the admin-
istrative instruments that are put into place within the policy-making struc-
ture to support claims negotiation. This includes advisory capacity within
the executive’s central agencies, as well as newly constituted administrative
centers within existing departmental structures. In most cases, the creation
of administrative centers designated to deal with land claims negotiations
represents the first time that public sector expertise comes together on such
related issues as: 1) state obligations flowing from treaties or statutory
instruments; 2) changing judicial views on land rights issues; 3) strategic
indigenous policy development; and 4) knowledge of indigenous commu-
nity goals. Land claim negotiation policies have had the perhaps mundane,
but critically important, effect of forcing pockets of public sector expertise
to talk to one another. They are forced to create information-sharing and
policy-coordination protocols not only within the administrative apparatus
traditionally charged with indigenous issues, but across public sector agen-
cies involved with land use issues generally, and which have traditionally
had nothing to do with indigenous peoples. The negotiation of land claims,
when issues other than strict monetary compensation are involved, neces-
sarily touches on the administrative turf of multiple executive departments,
and increases the profile of indigenous land issues across the larger admin-
istrative system.

Thus, land claim negotiations have provided structured opportuni-
ties with the executive branch writ large, rather than segregating the access
of indigenous actors to established indigenous affairs departments, which
historically have been responsible for the promotion and administration
of colonialist policies inimical to indigenous aspirations. The expansion
of interest in indigenous land issues across administrative boundaries also
enforces the principle that the whole executive, not simply the American
Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Canadian Department of Indian and Northern
Affairs or the New Zealand Ministry of Maori Affairs, has obligations and
interests vis-a-vis indigenous land rights which must be taken into account
within wider policy-making circles.

The coordination of policy-input across executive departments is an
important aspect of state transformation. Another example is the oppor-
tunity negotiations provide to redesign those departments which have tra-
ditionally been the lead departments in indigenous affairs. The design of
bureaucratic structures imparts important signals about a government’s
policy priorities, and these structures serve to entrench policy decisions
once they are made. While bureaucratic structures are elastic, in some sys-
tems more than others, they are not infinitely so; subsequent changes in the
administrative structures of the state are conditioned on the changes that
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came before. Once administrative bodies are created, they become more
difficult to change as time wears on, particularly when the likelihood of
oversight and policy change from cabinet ministers is low.

The entrenchment of policy choices is demonstrated in various ways,
but key among them is how policy choices are enshrined within bureau-
cratic structures and within the financial reporting of public sector organi-
zations. For instance, the Canadian federal government announced its land
claims negotiations policy in 1973, and in 1974, it created the Office of
Native Claims within the given structure of its designated lead department,
the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs (DIAND). However, the
costs in terms of human and financial resources in this new policy area
were not reported as distinct claims-related items in the annual appropria-
tions estimates cycle until the 1979-80 fiscal year. It was not until the early
1980s that this policy initiative was accorded the organizational prestige of
its own division and reporting relationship!! with DIAND’s Deputy Minis-
ter, the department’s chief bureaucratic officer. The rise of indigenous nego-
tiation structures within the DIAND bureaucracy is also mirrored by the
creation within Canada’s key central agency, the Privy Council Office, of a
section devoted to indigenous affairs issues.'?

The hope for indigenous peoples is that the administrative trans-
formations accompanying a land claims negotiation policy will support a
newly defined relationship between the government and indigenous peo-
ples, and will be enshrined within the bureaucratic mechanisms which con-
duct the daily business of indigenous-government relations. Will a culture
of agreement-making take root within the administration of government-
indigenous relations itself, to the degree that there are pockets of exper-
tise within the public sector which can resist the unilateralism of other key
policy actors, such as those within the conservative bastions of treasury
departments? Will the consciousness-raising on the importance within
indigenous communities of negotiation and compliance to those negotiated
agreements be reflected within higher levels of bureaucratic structures? Will
the machinery of government now in place to support negotiations be fol-
lowed with machinery of government which addresses the implementation
of those agreements, including mechanisms to resolve disputes arising from
their implementation?

Perhaps one of the most important transformations of the executive
brought on by a negotiation policy is its self-interest in supporting indig-
enous governing structures which are seen to be legitimate within the indig-
enous community itself. Governments have always been interested in the
capacities of indigenous leaders to act essentially as administrators and
agents of government policies, rather than as legitimate representatives of
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indigenous interests. The precedent of land claims negotiations is that for
the first time in the history of indigenous-government relations, the govern-
ment has a self-interest in whether the indigenous negotiating team does, in
fact, have an accepted mandate to act on behalf of a majority of its group
members. This self-interest occurs because the durability of a negotiated
settlement is directly related to the level of support evidenced within the
indigenous community for the settlement agreement as a product of legiti-
mate indigenous negotiators.

Once a government commits to a negotiated option, several factors
come into play so that this choice becomes institutionalized, and it is dif-
ficult for a government to back away from negotiation once it has begun.
These factors include changes in bureaucratic structures which anchor
policy choices, and a growing ideological commitment among government
administrators that indigenous rights are appropriately “special” rights
which cannot ethically be modified without explicit indigenous consent.

PARTING THOUGHTS

Land claim negotiations deal with fundamental questions about a nation’s
real estate and a nation’s sovereignty. As Cornell writes, “land occupies cen-
ter stage in the historical theatre of Indian-White relations. Around it the
drama moves.”!? But a critical question for indigenous negotiators is also
whether the agenda of the negotiations can be broadened to include other
questions of essential importance, such as self-government agreements,
redress for cultural as well as economic loss, and apologies for past wrongs.
A negotiation which is constrained to haggling over a sum of money for
the loss of a land base is of limited use to achieve the economic, political,
and cultural revitalization which indigenous peoples seek. The challenge is
to ensure that the negotiation opportunity is maximized so that it becomes
an important forum to discuss issues not only linked to land, but to indig-
enous-state relations as a whole.
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ficient testing of the process of negotiation . . . The negotiation process
is inherently superior . . . In short, it can produce viable future oriented
results while judges must concentrate on the past.” RG 33-113, vol.3, file
Minister-DIAND.

I was barred from reading the Department of Justice’s memorandum and
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